



Gender Equality Index 2021 Health

# Acknowledgements

The authors of *Gender Equality Index 2021* are Davide Barbieri, Antonio García Cazorla, Dr Laurène Thil, Blandine Mollard, Julia Ochmann, Vytautas Peciukonis, Dr Jolanta Reingardé and Dr Lina Salanauskaité of the European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE). The research efforts that went into this report were coordinated by Blandine Mollard, with the support of Julia Ochmann (EIGE).

A special thank you goes to the gender-based violence team and to Marija Grakalskiene at EIGE for their highly relevant contributions to the report, and to Jakub Caisl and Dr Marre Karu for their important research contributions. Sincere thanks to Dr Paula Franklin for her role in reviewing the report and to Jemini Pandya for her editorial support.

Many thanks to other colleagues at the EIGE for their intellectual insights, administrative support and encouragement. The thematic focus was based on a study prepared by the Praxis Centre for Policy Studies Foundation, whose authors were Mari-Liis Sepper, Mirjam Allik, Kirsti Melesk, Anne Randväli, Märt Masso, Anu Laas, Aleksandr Michelson, Priit Purge and Merlin Nuiamäe.

The thematic focus of *Gender Equality Index 2021* has benefited greatly from expert advice received from the European Commission, in particular the Gender Equality Unit at the Directorate-General for Justice and Consumers and the Directorate-General for Health and Food Safety, the World Health Organization (WHO) Regional Office for Europe, in particular Isabel Yordi Aguirre of the WHO European Office for Investment for Health and Development, and many other experts who took part in EIGE's expert consultation meetings in April 2021.

# **European Institute for Gender Equality**

The European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) is an autonomous body of the European Union established to strengthen gender equality across the EU. Equality between women and men is a fundamental value of the EU and EIGE's task is to make this a reality in Europe and beyond. This includes becoming a European knowledge centre on gender equality issues, supporting gender mainstreaming in all EU and Member State policies, and fighting discrimination based on sex.

European Institute for Gender Equality, EIGE Gedimino pr. 16 LT-01103 Vilnius LITHUANIA Tel. +370 52157444 Email: eige.sec@eige.europa.eu ♀ http://www.eige.europa.eu ♥ http://twitter.com/eurogender ♥ http://www.facebook.com/eige.europa.eu ♥ http://www.youtube.com/eurogender ♥ http://eurogender.eige.europa.eu

Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union, 2021

Print	ISBN 978-92-9482-923-8	2599-8927	doi:10.2839/622463	MH-AF-21-001-EN-C
PDF	ISBN 978-92-9482-922-1	2599-8935	doi:10.2839/035225	MH-AF-21-001-EN-N

© European Institute for Gender Equality, 2021

Cover image: © Ahmet Misirligul/Shutterstock.com

Reproduction is authorised provided the source is acknowledged.

Reuse is authorised provided the source is acknowledged, the original meaning is not distorted and EIGE is not liable for any damage caused by that use. The reuse policy of EIGE is implemented by the Commission Decision of 12 December 2011 on the reuse of Commission documents (2011/833/EU).

# Gender Equality Index 2021 Health

"Europe has made fragile gains in gender equality. But big losses are emerging as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic. The economic fallout is lasting longer for women, while life expectancy for men has dropped. Our Index findings can help Europe's leaders tackle the different effects of the pandemic on women and men and alleviate the unequal short and long-term impacts."

Carlien Scheele, EIGE's Director

# **Abbreviations**

#### EU Member State codes

BE	Belgium
BG	Bulgaria
CZ	Czechia
DK	Denmark
DE	Germany
EE	Estonia
IE	Ireland
EL	Greece
ES	Spain
FR	France
HR	Croatia
IT	Italy
CY	Cyprus
LV	Latvia
LT	Lithuania
LU	Luxembourg
HU	Hungary
MT	Malta
NL	Netherlands
AT	Austria
PL	Poland
PT	Portugal
RO	Romania
SI	Slovenia
SK	Slovakia
FI	Finland
SE	Sweden
EU	27 EU Member States (2020)

#### Other country codes

NO	Norway						
UK	United Kingdom						

#### Frequently used abbreviations

ADHD	attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder
CEO	chief executive officer
COVID-19	coronavirus disease 2019
ECDC	European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control
EHIS	European Health Interview Survey
EIGE	European Institute for Gender Equality
EQLS	European Quality of Life Survey
ETUI	European Trade Union Institute
EU	European Union
EU-LFS	European Union Labour Force Survey
EU-OSHA	European Agency for Safety and Health at Work
Eurofound	European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions
EU-SILC	European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions
EWCS	European Working Conditions Survey
FGM	female genital mutilation
FRA	European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights
FTE	full-time equivalent
GBD	Global Burden of Disease
HBSC	Health Behaviour in School-aged Children
HIV	human immunodeficiency virus
HPV	human papillomavirus
ICN	International Council of Nurses
ICT	information and communications technology
ICPD	International Conference on Population and Development
ILO	International Labour Organization

LGBTQI* (¹)	lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, queer, intersex and other non- dominant sexual orientations and gender identities in society
NCD	non-communicable disease
OECD	Organisation for Economic Co- operation and Development
p.p.	percentage point(s)
PPE	personal protective equipment
PPS	purchasing power standard
PTSD	post-traumatic stress disorder
SDG	Sustainable Development Goal
SDH	social determinants of health
SES	Structure of Earnings Survey
SRH	sexual and reproductive health
SRHR ( <sup>2</sup> )	sexual and reproductive health and rights
STD	sexually transmitted disease
STEM	science, technology, engineering and mathematics
STI	sexually transmitted infection
SUD	substance use disorder
UN	United Nations
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
WHO	World Health Organization
WHO-5	World Health Organization Five Well-Being Index
WMID	Women and Men in Decision- Making

- (1) This report uses the acronym LGBTQI\*, as it represents the most inclusive umbrella term for people whose sexual orientation differs from heteronormativity and whose gender identity falls outside binary categories. The language used to represent this very heterogeneous group continuously evolves towards greater inclusion, and different researchers and institutions have adopted different versions of the acronym (LGBT, LGBTIQ and LGBTI). This report uses those researchers' and institutions' chosen acronyms when describing the results of their work.
- (2) The report uses the acronym SRHR when the nexus of sexual and reproductive health and rights is the focus, for example concerning legal access to health services. The acronym SRH is used when outcomes and behaviours relating to sexual and reproductive health are discussed. The report uses institutions' and authors' chosen acronyms when describing the results of their work.

# Contents

Geno	der Eo	រុuality Index 2021 highlights	13
Intro	oduct	ion	21
1.	Gen	der equality in the European Union at a glance	23
	1.1.	Progress is an uphill struggle	23
	1.2.	Decision-making driving change, segregation blocking it	25
	1.3.	Small drop in disparities in gender equality across the European Union, but COVID-19 could change that	28
2.	Dom	ain of work	31
	2.1.	Fragile pace of change since 2010	32
	2.2.	Unpaid childcare still hindering women from working full time	34
	2.3.	Women bear the brunt of the impact of COVID-19 on jobs	35
3.	Dom	ain of money	37
	3.1.	Earnings and income equality still out of reach	38
	3.2.	Single women, particularly in old age, are at highest risk of poverty	39
	3.3.	COVID-19 exacerbates women's economic vulnerability and hardship	40
4.	Dom	ain of knowledge	43
	4.1.	Snail-pace progress comes to a halt	44
	4.2.	Hard-to-reach groups would benefit most from adult learning	45
	4.3.	School closures due to COVID-19 reinforce and add new inequalities in education and unpaid work	46
5.	Dom	ain of time	49
	5.1.	Gender inequalities in use of time live on	49
	5.2.	Gender differences on household chores entrenched from childhood	51
	5.3.	Unpaid care workloads and social isolation affect well-being	53
6.	Dom	ain of power	55
	6.1.	Decision-making gains drive gender equality progress	56
	6.2.	Legislative action makes a difference	58
	6.3.	Gender-balanced decision-making is imperative post pandemic	61
7.	Dom	ain of health	63
	7.1.	Enduring health inequalities stall progress	63
	7.2.	COVID-19 lowers life expectancy for men and birth rates	67

8.	Domain of violence							
	8.1.	A dearth of evidence hampers true assessment of violence against women	70					
	8.2.	Inequalities heighten the risk of violence against women	72					
	8.3.	Gender-based violence amplified by the COVID-19 pandemic	73					
9.	Ther	natic focus	75					
	9.1.	Gender inequalities in health in the European Union	77					
		9.1.1. Gender differences in health reflect lifelong inequalities	77					
		9.1.2. Health and risk behaviours are clearly gendered	96					
		9.1.3. Gender and intersecting inequalities in access to health services	103					
	9.2.	Health dimensions in focus	110					
		9.2.1. Rights, access and outcomes – sexual and reproductive health in focus	110					
		9.2.2.The COVID-19 pandemic aggravates and brings forth health inequalities	117					
10.	Cond	lusions	131					
Refe	rence	25	134					
Anne	exes		163					
	Anne	ex 1. List of indicators of the Gender Equality Index	163					
	Anne	ex 2. Gender Equality Index scores	171					
	Anne	ex 3. Indicators included in the Gender Equality Index 2021	180					
	Anne	ex 4. Indicators of health	186					

### List of figures

Figure 1. Ranges of Gender Equality Index scores for Member States, and changes over time	24
Figure 2. Gender Equality Index (changes compared with 2010 and 2018)	25
Figure 3. Gender Equality Index scores, by EU Member State, and convergence patterns (2010–2019)	29
Figure 4. Scores for the domain of work and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time	32
Figure 5. Scores for the domain of work and changes since 2010 and 2018 in the EU Member States	33
Figure 6. FTE employment rates (%) by sex, family composition, age, education level, country of birth and disability, EU, 2019	34
Figure 7. Scores for the domain of money and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time	38
Figure 8. Scores for the domain of money, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in the EU Member States	39
Figure 9. Mean equivalised net income by sex, family composition, age, education level, country of birth and disability, PPS, EU, 2019	41
Figure 10. Scores for the domain of knowledge and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time	44
Figure 11. Scores for the domain of knowledge, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in the EU Member States	45
Figure 12. Participation of women and men in formal or non-formal education and training, by family composition, age, education level and country of birth, EU, 2019	46
Figure 13. Scores for the domain of time and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time	50
Figure 14. Scores for the domain of time and changes since 2010 in the EU Member States	51
Figure 15. People cooking and/or doing housework, every day (%, population aged 18+ years), EU, 2016	52
Figure 16. Scores for the domain of power and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time	57
Figure 17. Scores for the domain of power, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in EU Member States	58
Figure 18. Percentage of women on the boards of the largest quoted companies (supervisory boards or boards of directors) and binding quotas, by EU Member State, April 2021	59
Figure 19. Share of women in single/lower houses of parliament, March 2021	60
Figure 20. Scores for the domain of health and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time	64
Figure 21. Scores for the domain of health, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in the EU Member States	65
Figure 22. Population with unmet needs for medical examination (EU, %, 16+ years, 2019)	66
Figure 23. Women victims of intentional homicide by an intimate partner or family member/relative (by 100 000 female population, 2018)	70
Figure 24. Women and men perceiving their health as good or very good by EU Member State (%, 16+ years, EU, 2019)	78

Figure 25. Women and men perceiving their health as good or very good by sex, family composition, age, education, country of birth, disability and labour status (%, 16+ years, EU, 2019)	79
Figure 26. Women and men limited in their usual activities because of health problems, by age group and level of difficulty experienced (%, EU, 2019)	81
Figure 27. Death rate of women and men due to mental and behavioural disorders, by EU Member State (% per 100 000 population, 2014–2017 average rate, total population)	84
Figure 28. Death rate of women and men due to intentional self-harm, by EU Member State (% per 100 000 population, 2014–2017 average rate, total population)	85
Figure 29. Self-rated mental well-being of women and men according to the WHO-5, by EU Member State (points out of 100, 18+ years, 2016)	86
Figure 30. Self-rated mental well-being of women and men according to the WHO-5, by sex, family composition, age, income level, country of birth and disability status (points out of 100, 18+ years, EU, 2016)	87
Figure 31. Women and men affected by a mental disorder (except SUDs) as a share of the total population, by EU Member State (%, 20+ years, 2019)	90
Figure 32. Relative differences in prevalence of mental disorders among women and men by type (%, 20+ years, EU, 2019)	91
Figure 33. Women and men performing physical activity outside working time for at least 180 minutes per week in the EU, by sex and EU Member State (%, 16+ years, 2017)	98
Figure 34. Women and men consuming at least five portions of fruits and vegetables daily, by EU Member State (%, 15–64 years, 2014)	100
Figure 35. Women and men engaging in heavy episodic drinking at least once a month, by EU Member State (%, 18–64 years, 2014)	102
Figure 36. Unmet needs for medical services for women and men with disabilities, by EU Member State (%, 16+ years, 2019)	104
Figure 37. Reasons for unmet needs for medical examinations among women and men aged 65 and over (%, EU, 2019)	107
Figure 38. Difficulties in paying for unexpected medical expenses by sex and type of medical service (rather difficult or very difficult, %, 18+ years, EU, 2016)	108
Figure 39. Women reporting unmet need for family planning, any method, by EU Member State (%, 15–49 years, 2017)	112
Figure 40. Estimated prevalence of contraceptive use of any method among women, by EU Member State (%, 15–49 years, 2020)	113
Figure 41. Adolescent birth rate by EU Member State (per 1 000 population, 15–19 years, 2018)	115
Figure 42. Cases of COVID-19 in the EU by sex and Member State (%, June 2021)	119
Figure 43. Hospitalisation rates by age and sex out of all cases until week 23, 2021 (%, 10 EU Member States)	120
Figure 44. Fatality rates by age and sex out of all cases until week 23, 2021 (%, 10 EU Member States)	121
Figure 45. Deaths of COVID-19 in the EU, by sex and Member State (%, April 2021)	122

Figure 46. Excess mortality in 2020–2021, compared with 2016–2019, by sex and EU Member State (%, overall population, latest data available)	123
Figure 47. Share of adults fully vaccinated against COVID-19, by sex and EU Member State (%, June 2021)	126
Figure 48. Self-reported mental well-being index by age group in April/May 2020 (first wave), June/July 2020 (second wave) and February/March 2021 (third wave), according to the WHO-5 (points out of 100, EU)	128
List of tables	
Table 1. Percentage contribution of different domains to Gender Equality Index progress scores in the short term (2018–2019) and long term (2010–2019) in the EU	26
Table 2. Changes in the Gender Equality Index and domain scores by Member State, long term (2010–2019) and short term (2018–2019), in points	27
Table 3. Leading causes of premature mortality among women and men (number of years of life lost, age: 20+ years, EU, 2019). Ranked by order of total number of years of life lost	83
Table 4. Gender Equality Index scores, ranks and changes in score by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019	171
Table 5. Gender Equality Index scores and ranks, by domain and EU Member State, 2010	172
Table 6. Gender Equality Index scores and ranks, by domain and EU Member State, 2019	173
Table 7. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of work and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019	174
Table 8. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of money and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019	175
Table 9. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of knowledge and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019	176
Table 10. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of time and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019	177
Table 11. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of power and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019	178
Table 12. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of health and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019	179
Table 13. Indicators included in the domain of work, by EU Member State	180
Table 14. Indicators included in the domain of money, by EU Member State	181
Table 15. Indicators included in the domain of knowledge, by EU Member State	182
Table 16. Indicators included in the domain of time, by EU Member State	183
Table 17. Indicators included in the domain of power, by EU Member State	184
Table 18. Indicators included in the domain of health, by EU Member State	185
Table 19. Self-perceived health (very good and good) by type of intersecting inequalities and groups, EU (%), different years	186
Table 20. Excess mortality in 2020–2021, compared with 2016–2019, by sex and EU Member State (%, overall population)	189

# **Gender Equality Index 2021 highlights**

- The Gender Equality Index score for the EU is 68.0 points out of 100 (<sup>3</sup>). This is an improvement of just 0.6 points since the 2020 edition and of only 4.9 points in total since 2010. Even that minimal progress on gender equality is threatened by the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic.
- Overall progress in gender equality between 2010 and 2019 was largely driven by advances in the domain of power, in particular improved gender balance on company boards and in politics. However, progress in other domains is much slower, and their impact on the overall progress in Index is lower. The contribution to the Index score of the domain of time is negative in the long term. An enormous increase in unpaid care during the COVID-19 crisis – particularly by women – has put a spotlight on long-standing gender inequalities in the home.
- Achievements in gender equality vary considerably by country. Although EU Index score generally rose from 2010 to 2019, Index scores in some Member States fluctuated and disparities among Member States differed from one year to the next one. This was largely due to varying national responses to gender inequalities in economic and political decision-making. With COVID-19 impacting Member States to different degrees, both overall and in the extent to which women and men are relatively affected, greater divergence on gender equality progress or even regression is probable.

#### **Domain of work**

 With a score of 71.6 points – an increase of only 0.2 points since 2018 – this domain signals a setback in annual progress and indicates major ongoing gender equality challenges in the EU labour market. Progress in the subdomain of participation has slowed, and strong gender segregation in the labour market continues. This is demonstrated by the particularly low and almost static score of 61.3 points for the subdomain of segregation and quality in 2019.

- Gender gaps in full-time equivalent (FTE) employment rates remain extremely large in some groups. The biggest gap, of 27 percentage points (p.p.), is between women and men taking unpaid care of children, followed by a 21 p.p. gap between foreign-born women and foreign-born men. Both reflect the negative influence of gender roles and stereotypes on women's participation in the labour market, and thus on their economic independence and empowerment.
- Not only has COVID-19 revealed gender divisions in the labour market, but its adverse effects on employment prospects have been greater, and are likely to be more prolonged, for women than for men as a result of labour market gender segregation and the highly unequal distribution of unpaid care duties. The pandemic could stall or even erase gender equality gains among groups, including foreign-born women and men, with the risk of further widening divisions in our societies.

#### **Domain of money**

 With a score of 82.4 points, the domain of money has slightly improved since the previous edition, and has risen by 3.3 points since 2010. Although access to financial resources is driving overall growth in this domain, a fall of 0.2 points in the economic situation subdomain since 2018 has slowed the overall pace of growth.

(<sup>3</sup>) The Gender Equality Index 2021 is calculated for the 27 EU Member States (EU-27).

- The gender gap in mean equivalised net income has stagnated in the EU since 2014. The gender gap among people aged 16 years or older was 925 purchasing power standard (PPS) (<sup>4</sup>) in 2019, although gaps in data hamper assessment of income inequalities among Roma people and undocumented migrants.
- The COVID-19 pandemic is likely to exacerbate the income gap between women and men because of the gender imbalance in paid and unpaid work. More women than men in the EU have lost income because they have had to assume care duties, including home schooling. Without appropriate income support, the feminisation of poverty will accelerate post pandemic.

#### Domain of knowledge

- With an EU score of 62.7 points, the score for the domain of knowledge has remained static since the 2020 edition of the Gender Equality Index, improving by only 2.9 points overall since 2010. Although educational attainment is increasing among young women and men, more significant progress in this domain is being curbed by persistent gender segregation in higher education and by low participation in lifelong learning.
- The proportions of women and men aged 15 years or older in formal or non-formal education and training remained low in the EU in 2019 – 17 % and 16 %, respectively – despite a small increase since 2010. Participation in adult learning gradually decreases with age, and engaging hard-to-reach groups remains a challenge.
- The closure of schools and childcare services during the pandemic has increased the childcare burden for parents and created new unpaid roles, such as home schooling. Women in the EU have been generally more engaged in supporting their children with online schooling during the pandemic and are

more dissatisfied with this type of schooling than their partners.

#### **Domain of time**

- Owing to the lack of updated data on time use, the score for the domain of time has not been revised for this edition and relies on information from 2016. With the most recent progress unable to be assessed, this domain's overall contribution to the Index score in the long term is negative. The score of 64.9 points reveals entrenched gender inequalities in the time women and men spend on paid and unpaid work and in recreation.
- Housework is the most unequally shared of the three most common forms of unpaid care, the other two being childcare and longterm care for older people and people with disabilities and chronic conditions. About 78 % of women in the EU dedicate at least 1 hour per day to housework, compared with 32 % of men. This gender gap of 46 p.p. increases to 62 p.p. among women and men with children.
- The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge impact on people with care responsibilities, especially women with children. Restrictions have made external care services from professional providers and social networks such as grandparents, friends and neighbours either unavailable or harder to access. Consequently, care has been provided largely from within the family. As Chapter 4, on the domain of knowledge, shows, online schooling has seen parents adopt new forms of unpaid work in their daily routine. Across the EU, increased time spent on unpaid care activities has led to acute work-life tensions, particularly for women.

#### **Domain of power**

• The domain of power is progressing the most. Since 2010, its score has increased by

(<sup>4</sup>) See the Domain of money chapter.

13.1 points; between 2018 and 2019 alone, it increased by 1.9 points. This improvement accounts for almost two thirds of all progress in the Gender Equality Index since 2010.

- Nevertheless, the score of 55.0 points for the power domain is still the lowest of all the domains. Women account for only one in three national parliamentarians. In economic decision-making, women continue to be substantially under-represented in corporate boardrooms - accounting for 30 % of boardroom members in 2021. In large companies, less than 1 in 10 board presidents or chief executive officers (CEOs) are women. Progress in corporate boardrooms has been largely driven by legislative action in seven Member States (BE, DE, EL, FR, IT, AT and PT). In countries without specific gender equality action on decision-making, it will take more than 125 years to reach gender parity.
- The glaring lack of women in decision-making has become far more obvious during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is particularly evident among entities responding to the crisis or designing economic stimulus and recovery measures. Although an overwhelming majority of EU healthcare workers are women, men dominate leadership positions in the sector. By March 2021, only one in four EU health ministers and 4 out of 10 junior/ vice ministers were women.

#### Domain of health

• The domain of health, although having the highest score of all six domains, at 87.8 points, has made minimal progress since 2010, increasing by just 1.1 points. No progress has been recorded since the 2020 Index. The subdomains of health status and access to health services have made marginal headway since 2010, increasing by 1.7 and 2.0 points, respectively. Despite a lack of updated data, the greatest gender inequalities are found in health behaviour, with an EU score of 74.8 points.

- Access to health services in the EU is still not universal. More than 3 % of women and nearly 3 % of men report unmet needs for medical examinations. The groups most likely to report unmet medical examination need are women and men with disabilities (7 % and 6 % respectively), lone parents (5 %) and specific groups of women, such as those with a low level of education and those older than 65 years (4 % each).
- While the full effects of the pandemic on people's health remain unclear, they are likely to be far-reaching. As of July 2021, COVID-19 has claimed the lives of more than 730 000 people in the EU, with another 33 million infections registered (<sup>5</sup>), which combined account for 7 % of the EU population (<sup>6</sup>). However, the burden of infection and death has been unevenly distributed across countries and population groups. Life expectancy fell in most EU countries in 2020 compared with 2019. Preliminary data shows that it decreased slightly more for men than for women in all EU Member States except Spain. The largest life expectancy falls were among men in Poland, Lithuania (both - 1.5 years) and Romania (- 1.4 years) and among women and men in Spain (- 1.6 years and - 1.4 years, respectively) (7). The greater decline in life expectancy among men can be attributed to the fact that, in most EU countries, COVID-19 fatality rates are higher among men, resulting in excess mortality rates being higher among men than among women (see Section 9.2.2).
- The pandemic is also linked to a fall in the number of registered births in late 2020 and

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>) European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) COVID-19 surveillance update, https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/cases-2019-ncov-eueea, accessed 7 July 2021.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>) Authors' elaboration based on ECDC daily data, https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/cases-2019-ncov-eueea, as of 19 May 2021, based on 2020 data for population.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup>) Authors' elaboration based on Eurostat data 'Life expectancy by age and sex', https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/databrowser/view/ demo\_mlexpec/default/table?lang=en, accessed 8 April 2021.

early 2021, especially in countries most affected by COVID-19 (<sup>8</sup>). This fall is expected to exacerbate demographic challenges posed by declining birth rates in ageing societies across the EU, with Member States in southern and central Europe particularly affected.

#### **Domain of violence**

- Regular updates to the domain of violence are a challenge because of the dearth of prevalence data. Although not comparable to the European Union Agency for Fundamental Rights' (FRA's) survey on violence against women (2014), the Fundamental Rights Survey (2021) data provides more recent insights. It shows that 8 % of women in the EU experienced physical violence (excluding sexual violence) in the 5 years before the survey, and 5 % of women experienced physical violence in the 12 months preceding the survey. Incidents were most likely to take place in women's own homes (37 %) and to be perpetrated by a family member or a relative (32 %), most often a man.
- While an average of 39 % of women in the EU experienced harassment in the 5 years preceding the survey, some groups of women are much more likely to be affected. These include women who self-identify as lesbian, bisexual or 'other' (57 %), women not citizens of the countries in which they live (51 %), women with disabilities (48 %) and women with a tertiary-level education (49 %). The daily use of social media is also accompanied by rampant online harassment and abuse against women (13 %). Among women and girls aged 16–29 years, the prevalence of online harassment is 25 % (FRA, 2021).
- Restrictive measures to tackle COVID-19 have resulted in a surge of intimate partner violence against women. The risk of violence is especially high among already disadvantaged groups, including older women, women and girls with disabilities, migrant women,

homeless women and victims of trafficking. The European Institute for Gender Equality (EIGE) reports a sharp increase in demand for victim support services, which are already struggling to continue operations, reach victims, find new support methods and deal with added strain on staff (EIGE, 2021a).

#### Thematic focus: health

#### Gender inequalities in health

#### Gender differences in health status

- Overall, women tend to report worse health than men. In the 27 Member States of the EU (EU-27), 66 % of women and 71 % of men perceive their health to be good or very good. In all age groups, health limitations tend to have a greater effect on the activities of daily living in women than in men. The greater likelihood of women experiencing poor health also manifests in data on healthy life years. Women and men in the EU can expect to be in good health until 65 and 64 years of age (<sup>9</sup>), respectively. However, as women tend to live longer, more of their life is spent in poor health – an average of 19 years, compared with 14 years for men.
- Looking at mental well-being specifically, the same trend can be seen, with women being more likely to report poor mental well-being. Analysis of the World Health Organization Five Well-Being Index (WHO-5) where a score of 100 represents the best imaginable well-being while scores of 50 or lower indicate risk of depression shows that the self-rated mental health index is higher for men (66 points) than for women (62 points). Analysis of self-assessed mental well-being across population groups shows that women report lower levels of mental well-being regardless of family composition, age, income, country of birth and disability.

<sup>(8)</sup> Compared with the same months of the previous year.

<sup>(\*)</sup> Eurostat, 'Healthy life years by sex (from 2004 onwards)', https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_hlye, 2019.

#### Health and risk behaviours

Overall, health and risk behaviours are clearly gendered in the EU. There are persistent gender gaps in health-promoting behaviour, such as healthy eating and physical activity. While more women meet the World Health Organization (WHO) target of consuming five portions of fruit or vegetables a day (14%) (<sup>10</sup>), more men meet the target of 180 minutes of physical activity a week (47%) (<sup>11</sup>). However, more men engage in high-risk behaviours such as tobacco smoking and hazardous drinking. These gendered health and risk behaviours are already visible in adolescence, and the gap between men and women widens with age.

#### Access to health services

Universal access to health services has not vet been achieved in the EU. Gender inequalities and gender norms intersect with socioeconomic, geographic and cultural factors and create structural barriers when accessing healthcare. Several population groups, such as lone parents, older people, migrants and people with disabilities, and within each of these groups women in particular, stand out as being highly vulnerable to unmet healthcare needs. Overall, about 7 % of women and 6 % of men with disabilities report unmet needs for medical services in the EU, but the levels are much higher in Estonia (29 % of women and 23 % of men), Romania (25 % of women and 23 % of men) and Greece (25 % of women and 22 % of men). In Denmark, Sweden, Hungary, Bulgaria, the Netherlands and Luxembourg, among those with disabilities, men are more likely than women to report unmet medical needs.

- Many factors can inhibit access to medical services, such as the cost associated with them, experiences of discrimination and issues related to cultural sensitivity and a lack of gender sensitivity. The cost of medical services as a barrier to access is more frequently mentioned by people aged 65 years or older than by the general population (40 % of women and 34 % of men aged 65 or older, compared with 33 % of women and 29 % of men in the adult population as a whole). Data shows that large segments of the EU population would find it difficult to pay for unexpected dental care (41 % of women and 35 % of men), mental health services (39 % of women and 33 % of men) and other hospital or medical specialist services (32 % of women and 29 % of men) (12).
- The COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated barriers to access to healthcare services in the EU either as a result of deferment and deprioritisation of certain medical procedures or because of fear of infection. In particular, the European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions (Eurofound) COVID-19 e-survey found that 21 % of respondents had missed a medical examination or treatment during the pandemic. This proportion was highest in Hungary, Portugal and Latvia. In spring 2021, 18 % of respondents were experiencing a health issue for which they could not get treatment (Eurofound, 2021c).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>) Eurostat, 'Daily consumption of fruit and vegetables by sex, age and educational attainment level', https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_ehis\_fv3e

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>) Eurostat, Persons performing physical activity outside working time by duration in a typical week, educational attainment level, sex and age', https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ilc\_hch07.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup>) European Quality of Life Survey (EQLS), 2016. Respondents were asked, for each type of medical service, 'How easy or difficult would it be for you to cover expenses for each of the following services, if you needed to use it tomorrow?' The percentages in the text are the proportions responding to 'Rather difficult' or 'Very difficult'.

#### Health dimensions in focus

#### Sexual and reproductive health

- Sexual and reproductive health and rights (SRHR) are heavily gendered within the EU. Although 95 % (<sup>13</sup>) of women in the EU can meet their need for contraceptives, health inequalities still exist. Availability, access, cost and stigma issues around contraceptives introduce barriers to SRHR, especially for young people. Laws, policies and comprehensive sexuality education vary across Member States (BZgA and IPPF EN, 2018). Access to safe abortion and high-quality maternal care remains unequal across the EU, especially for vulnerable groups such as young women and migrants.
- Severe gender data gaps persist in key areas of SRHR, ranging from comprehensive data on contraceptive use to disaggregated epidemiological data on sexually transmitted diseases (STDs) in the EU. Gender bias frames sexual and reproductive health (SRH) as a concern mainly for women and girls, leading to caveats. In particular, men are overlooked in the data collection concerning SRH, and the needs of men in the areas of reproductive health are underexplored in the scientific literature.

#### The COVID-19 pandemic

 The data shows that the likelihood of being infected with COVID-19 is similar for women and men (<sup>14</sup>), but men are at higher risk of severe disease and have a higher risk of death, with gender differences increasing with age. Data from the European Centre for Disease Prevention and Control (ECDC) for 10 EU Member States shows that, as of June 2021, overall, 8 % of women and 10 % of men infected with COVID-19 were hospitalised; however, among those aged 70–79 years, 24 % of women and 33 % of men were hospitalised. For patients aged 80 years or older, the rate of hospitalisation reached 31 % for women and 45 % for men. Since the beginning of the pandemic, men have accounted for 55 % of COVID-19 deaths. The risk of dying from COVID-19 is higher for men than for women in almost all EU countries for which data is available, with the exception of Lithuania and Slovenia.

- Women have been disproportionately exposed to infection by COVID-19 as a result of being over-represented among essential workers and frontline workers. Eurostat data shows that women represent 88 % of personal care workers, 84 % of cleaners and helpers, 73 % of education workers and 72 % of health professionals in EU countries (15). A study of 10 European countries, including seven Member States (<sup>16</sup>), found that infections among working-age women far outnumber those among working-age men until about the age of 60 years. The authors found that higher rates of infection among women have been linked to their presence in the caring professions, especially healthcare (Tomáš Sobotka et al., 2020). This is consistent with findings that poor working conditions, including the lack of appropriate occupational health and safety measures and precarious employment, contribute to high infection levels in women-dominated frontline sectors (OECD, 2020b; Pelling, 2021; Shallcross et al., 2021).
- Emerging evidence points to significant numbers of people with COVID-19 continuing to have symptoms weeks or even months after contracting the virus (Dennis et al., 2020).

- (15) EIGE, COVID-19 web page, https://eige.europa.eu/covid-19-and-gender-equality/essential-workers. Data from EU-LFS, 2018.
- (<sup>16</sup>) Belgium, Czechia, Denmark, Germany, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Spain, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.

<sup>(13)</sup> UN Database, 'Family planning indicators', https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/data/family-planning-indicators, 2017.

<sup>(14)</sup> At the time of writing, over half of all COVID-19 cases in EU countries for which data is available were among women (52 % among women and 48 % among men). Source: The Sex, Gender and COVID-19 Project, Global Health 50/50, the African Population and Health Research Center and the International Center for Research on Women. Accessed from https://globalhealth5050.org/thesex-gender-and-covid-19-project/ on 25 June 2021. EU: authors' elaboration for (BG, HR, CY, MT, data was not available). Updated on 21 June 2021.

Women of working age, people with disabilities, those living in deprived areas and people working in care professions are most likely to be affected by 'long COVID' (Ayoubkhani, 2021). Most of those affected report that symptoms adversely impact their day-to-day activities.

Apart from the direct health consequences of the virus, there are also secondary impacts on physical and mental health. These are likely to be gender specific and long-lasting. Major stressors include social isolation, fear of infection for oneself and loved ones, grief and financial distress. In spring and early summer 2021, mental well-being was at its lowest level since the outbreak began, with large segments of the population at risk of depression (Eurofound, 2021c). Women have had lower levels of mental well-being than men in each of the three pandemic waves, with the lowest levels recorded among working-age women during the third wave. Evidence is mounting on the profound mental health toll of the pandemic on frontline workers, particularly in the care sector. The true extent of the pandemic's mental health consequences will take time to unfurl, with experts warning that the peak may come long after the pandemic is controlled.

The restrictions and economic uncertainties resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic have given rise to a 'shadow pandemic' of gender-based violence; in particular, there has been a surge in intimate partner violence. Forced cohabitation brought about by lockdowns and economic and labour instability are considered stressors associated with an increase in intimate partner violence (Buller et al., 2018; Buttell and Ferreira, 2020; Jarnecke and Flanagan, 2020). Furthermore, the increase in psychological distress during lockdowns (S. K. Brooks et al., 2020; Gillespie et al., 2021) is another risk associated with intimate partner violence (Clemens et al., 2019; Curtis et al., 2019; Straus and Douglas, 2019). Lockdown measures may have compounded risks of violence against vulnerable groups such as women with disabilities; homeless women, undocumented migrants or migrants with temporary visas; families with low socioeconomic status or children; and lesbian, gay, bisexual, transgender, intersex, gueer,+ (LGBTIQ\*) couples (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2020; De Schrijver et al., 2021; Flatau et al., 2020; Pleace et al., 2021; Segrave and Pfitzner, 2020; Zero and Geary, 2020).

### Introduction

The COVID-19 crisis may have started a year and a half ago, but it is far from over. It has reversed years of progress on women's rights and gender equality – and exposed serious challenges. We are living not just a public health crisis, but also an economic and social crisis. Employment and working conditions have undergone seismic changes, with different impacts on women and men. Growing evidence shows that women bear the brunt of upheaval, suffering more acute socioeconomic consequences of the crisis.

Action is critical. In 2020, the European Commission presented its 2020-2025 gender equality strategy. Although developed before the pandemic, it sets out key actions in heavily affected crisis areas and commits to the inclusion of a gender equality perspective in all EU policy areas. The recovery and resilience facility, which came into force in February 2021, aims to mitigate the socioeconomic impact of the pandemic and make European economies and societies more sustainable and resilient. Acknowledging that women have been particularly affected by the pandemic, it requests that Member States set out how national plans will contribute to gender equality and equal opportunities for all. As countries struggle to tackle COVID-19, strategies addressing gender inequalities will be key. For these strategies to be effective, women often on the frontline of local and national responses - should be heard.

Since 2013, the Gender Equality Index has been recognised by EU institutions and Mem-

ber States as a key benchmark for gender equality in the EU. The 6th edition of the Index covers a range of indicators in the domains of society and life most affected by the COVID-19 crisis. Although Index scores are mostly based on 2019 data, and therefore cannot capture the full impact of the crisis on gender equality, the report provides ample evidence of the pandemic's negative repercussions on women in the domains of work, money, knowledge, time, power and health. It also addresses the spike in violence against women and how the most disadvantaged and marginalised groups of women and men in society have borne the brunt of the impact.

Health, the thematic focus of this report, explores an additional three dimensions – health status (including mental health), health behaviours and access to health services. It also provides a gender and intersectional analysis of SRH and the COVID-19 pandemic.

Chapter 1 presents the results of the Gender Equality Index 2021, and key trends since 2010 and since the 5th edition of the Index. The convergence analysis reveals an evolution of disparities on gender equality across Member States and provides a broader context for the main findings. Chapters 2–7 summarise the policy context, key outcomes of core domains and COVID-19's toll on gender equality in those areas. Developments in the domain of violence are covered in Chapter 8, while the thematic focus on health is explored in Chapter 9.

# 1. Gender equality in the European Union at a glance

#### 1.1. Progress is an uphill struggle

The Gender Equality Index score for the EU-27 is 68.0 points out of 100 (<sup>17</sup>), which is a 0.6-point improvement since the 5th edition in 2020. The score is only 4.9 points higher than in 2010 (Figure 1). With gender equality inching forward by only 1 point every 2 years, it will take nearly three gen-



erations to achieve gender parity at the current pace. And even that projection is threatened by COVID-19. The pandemic presents a real risk, not only slowing progress, but also rolling back fragile gains made since 2010 (Figure 1).

The greatest gender inequalities are in the domain of power, with a score of 55.0 points. The silver lining, however, is that this domain is advancing faster than others. Its score has risen by 1.9 points in 1 year and by 13.1 points since 2010. Much of this progress is due to outstanding developments in women's participation in economic and political decision-making in several Member States.

The domain of knowledge, with the second lowest score, of 62.7 points, has seen a 0.1-point decrease since the 2020 Index. Its score has improved by a mere 2.9 points in total since 2010, reflecting the fact that gender segregation in some fields of study in tertiary education is entrenched. With a score of 65.7 points, dropping by 0.3 points since 2010, the domain of time is alone in regressing to below 2010 levels. It reveals persistent and growing gender inequalities in time spent in caring and social activities. Lack of data means that the latest developments in this domain cannot be assessed. This reiterates the need for more frequent time-use data to better track progress in this area, particularly on monitoring unpaid work. EIGE will fill the gap in the near future by collecting EU-wide data on time spent on unpaid care and social activities by women and men.

The domain of work, despite having the third highest score, 71.6 points, continues to exhibit gender inequalities in employment and deep gender divides in some economic sectors and occupations. With its score increasing by 0.2 points in 1 year, and by a mere 1.9 points since 2010, gender equality in this domain remains a major issue in almost all Member States.

Scoring 82.4 points, the domain of money has seen an improvement of 0.9 points over 1 year, and of 3.3 points since 2010. However, progress in some areas, such as reducing the risk of poverty and equalising income distribution among women and men, overall, has been negative since 2010. The risk of poverty for women fractionally decreased between 2018 and 2019, but the data does not yet reflect the impact of COV-ID-19 in this area.

(<sup>17</sup>) The Gender Equality Index 2021 is calculated for the EU-27. For comparability, all previous scores were recalculated for the EU-27.





#### Figure 2. Gender Equality Index (changes compared with 2010 and 2018)

Gender equality levels vary considerably among Member States (Figure 2). Ten countries are above the EU average, nine of them scoring more than 70 points on the Index. Sweden and Denmark maintain their top two status, as in the previous edition and since 2010. The Netherlands climbed to third position, jumping two places in 1 year. France and Finland each dropped by one position, now ranking fourth and fifth, respectively. Ten Member States scored lower than 60 points, with Greece, Hungary and Romania struggling the most to advance gender equality.

Since the previous edition, the greatest increases in Index scores have been in Luxembourg, Lithuania and the Netherlands, by about 2 points or more. Austria, Croatia, Germany, Latvia, Malta and Spain have seen rises of between 1 and 1.7 points. Slovenia's score, however, decreased by 0.1 points.

Since 2010, most progress on gender equality has been in Luxembourg (+ 11.2 points), Malta (+ 10.6 points), Italy (+ 10.5 points), Austria (+ 9.3 points) and Portugal (+ 8.5 points). In Croatia, Cyprus, Estonia, France, Germany, Ireland, Latvia and Spain, Index score increases ranged between 6.0 and 8.2 points. The least progress on gender equality since 2010 has been in Czechia, Hungary and Poland, where the increase has been around 1 point. The pace of change in the remaining 11 countries has been slow, with scores improving by between 1.9 and 5 points since 2010 (Figure 2).

# 1.2. Decision-making driving change, segregation blocking it

Achievements in gender equality from 2010 differ considerably across domains and countries. From both short-term (2018–2019) and longerterm (2010–2019) perspectives, progress has been most marked in the domain of power, with this domain alone accounting for around two thirds (71 %) of the improvement in the overall 2021 Index score. since the previous edition (Table 1). The contribution of other domains is much lower, while that of the domain of time is negative over the longer term.

Since 2010, the score for the domain of power has increased by 13.1 points in the EU, reflecting gains in this area by nearly all Member States. Progress is most evident in France (+ 29.0 points), Luxembourg (+ 27.8 points), Italy (+ 27.0 points), Germany (+ 24.5 points) and Spain (+ 24.3 points). Between 2018 and 2019, progress on gender balance in decision-making was fast-paced in Spain (+ 7.5 points) and the Netherlands (+ 6.8), with Belgium (+ 5.3 points), Lithuania (+ 5.1 points) and Luxembourg (+ 5.0 points) following suit. Only Bulgaria (– 1.3 points), Slovenia (– 2.0 points) and Romania (– 2.8 points) saw reversals (Table 2).

# **Table 1.** Percentage contribution of different domains to Gender Equality Index progress scores in the short term (2018–2019) and long term (2010–2019) in the EU

	Work	Money	Knowledge	Time	Power	Health	
Short term (2018–2019)	7	18	- 3	-	71	1	
Long term (2010–2019)	6	8	12	- 11	62	2	

NB: No new data was available in 2019 for the domain of time. Last data available as of 2016.

The domain of money accounted for 8 % of the total increase in the Index between 2010 and 2019 and for 18 % of the increase from 2018 to 2019. Countries that initially had lower gender equality scores for the financial and economic situations of women and men progressed faster. From 2018 to 2019, the following countries increased their scores: Romania by 6.1 points, Lithuania by 3.8 points, Latvia by 3.5 points and Estonia by 3.2 points. Sweden was alone in seeing its score fall, by 1.4 points.

While gender equality scores in the domain of work grew steadily from 2010, progress almost

stalled in all Member States in 2018, largely because of gender segregation in employment. Only Malta (+ 1.4 points) and Luxembourg (+ 1.1 points) made gains, albeit small ones.

In the domain of knowledge, Latvia was alone in raising its score by more than 1 point (+ 1.6 points) from 2018 to 2019. However, there was regression in Malta (– 1.9 points) and Italy (– 2.9 points). Despite increased educational attainment of women and men in the EU, the gender divide in some fields of study persists, resulting in an overall reversal in the domain of knowledge.

# **Table 2.** Changes in the Gender Equality Index and domain scores by Member State, long term (2010–2019) and short term (2018–2019), in points

MS	Long-term increase/decrease (2010–2019)							MS	Short-term increase/decrease (2018–2019)						
	Index	Work		Knowledge		Power			Index	Work		Knowledge		Power	Health
EU	4.9	1.9	3.3	2.9	-0.3	13.1	1.1	EU	0.6	0.2	0.8	-0.1	0.0	1.9	0.0
BE	3.4	2.2	4.4	0.2	-5.0	13.1	-0.2	BE	1.3	0.2	1.2	-0.6	0.0	5.3	-0.2
BG	4.9	1.7	3.7	4.8	-1.2	14.4	1.9	BG	0.3	0.6	2.2	0.3	0.0	-1.3	0.0
CZ	1.1	2.5	5.1	3.1	3.5	-2.9	0.6	CZ	0.5	0.4	2.1	0.1	0.0	0.4	0.0
DK	2.6	-0.4	5.5	-2.2	2.7	8.8	-0.8	DK	0.4	-0.3	2.3	-0.3	0.0	0.6	-0.2
DE	6.0	2.4	2.8	-1.6	-4.8	24.5	1.4	DE	1.1	0.3	1.1	0.7	0.0	3.3	0.1
EE	8.2	1.3	7.7	5.7	1.0	14.7	-0.5	EE	0.9	0.4	3.2	1.0	0.0	0.5	0.6
IE	7.7	3.0	2.3	2.1	3.4	21.2	0.6	IE	0.9	0.6	1.3	0.1	0.0	2.6	0.0
EL	3.9	1.7	-1.6	1.5	9.1	4.7	0.0	EL	0.3	0.9	1.2	0.1	0.0	0.0	0.3
ES	7.3	1.9	1.3	4.4	3.2	24.3	1.7	ES	1.7	0.5	0.6	0.3	0.0	7.5	0.2
FR	8.0	1.7	2.8	5.0	0.7	29.0	0.7	FR	0.4	0.4	-0.7	0.7	0.0	1.6	0.0
HR	6.9	2.9	5.4	1.9	1.2	16.9	2.3	HR	1.3	0.2	1.4	0.2	0.0	3.9	0.1
IT	10.5	2.4	0.5	5.2	4.2	27.0	2.1	IT	0.3	0.4	0.4	-2.9	0.0	3.4	0.0
CY	8.0	0.1	1.9	0.5	5.4	14.6	1.5	CY	0.1	-0.2	0.9	-0.2	0.0	0.2	-0.1
LV	6.9	1.7	9.8	1.7	3.8	15.6	2.0	LV	1.3	0.3	3.5	1.6	0.0	1.0	0.9
LT	3.5	1.6	9.1	1.8	-1.6	6.4	-0.1	LT	2.1	0.1	3.8	-0.1	0.0	5.2	0.3
LU	11.2	5.4	0.6	4.5	-1.1	27.8	0.1	LU	2.1	1.1	2.4	0.8	0.0	5.0	0.4
HU	1.0	2.0	2.5	2.7	0.2	-0.6	1.3	HU	0.4	0.0	1.3	-0.2	0.0	0.7	-0.3
MT	10.6	11.7	5.0	-0.2	9.9	16.6	1.7	MT	1.6	1.4	1.6	-1.9	0.0	4.7	0.3
NL	1.9	2.0	0.4	0.5	-2.0	7.1	-0.1	NL	1.8	0.5	0.8	0.1	0.0	6.8	0.2
AT	9.3	1.5	4.9	5.4	5.2	19.8	0.8	AT	1.5	0.4	1.0	0.5	0.0	4.0	0.0
PL	1.1	0.9	7.2	-0.2	-1.7	0.9	1.7	PL	0.8	-0.1	1.2	0.4	0.0	1.5	0.2
РТ	8.5	1.8	1.8	6.4	8.8	18.7	0.5	PT	0.9	0.3	0.8	0.8	0.0	2.5	0.2
RO	3.7	-0.4	9.3	5.6	-0.3	3.9	1.4	RO	0.1	-0.1	6.1	0.4	0.0	-2.8	0.1
SI	4.9	1.1	3.4	1.6	4.6	11.9	1.0	SI	-0.1	-0.1	0.7	0.7	0.0	-2.0	0.9
SK	3.0	2.0	4.9	2.1	6.4	1.2	0.7	SK	0.5	0.2	0.0	0.4	0.0	1.1	0.0
FI	2.2	1.0	3.8	3.3	-2.7	5.2	0.0	FI	0.6	0.1	0.8	0.3	0.0	2.4	0.2
SE	3.8	2.7	0.1	4.5	5.6	6.7	1.4	SE	0.1	0.2	-1.4	1.0	0.0	0.3	0.1

NB: Green indicates an increase of > 1 point and red a decrease of > 1 point. For the domain of time, data for 2019 is not available.

#### 1.3. Small drop in disparities in gender equality across the European Union, but COVID-19 could change that

Although gender equality gains among Member States vary widely, progress, especially in some countries, has somewhat reduced disparities across the EU. Recent advances could be wiped out as consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic unfold. Understanding the evolution of disparities across Member States and their potential implications for upward economic and social convergence – a fundamental objective of the EU – is critical.

Upward convergence on gender equality - improving performance in Member States while simultaneously reducing gaps across the EU would see inequalities between women and men dissipate. The first convergence analysis was introduced in the Gender Equality Index 2019 report (EIGE, 2019c). This edition provides an updated analysis of convergence patterns in the Index between 2010 and 2019, building on a policy brief jointly produced by Eurofound and EIGE (Eurofound/EIGE, 2021). Despite steady progress over the period, the evolution of Index scores shows that disparities between Member States widened between 2011 and 2014. This was mainly driven by countries' different responses to gender inequalities in economic and political decision-making. While disparities subsequently narrowed, they widened again in 2019. Several countries had gained guickly on the EU average, while those below it in 2010 improved their performance at a slower pace and fell further behind. A few countries were still in the same position in 2019. Nevertheless, there is a general upward convergence trend in the EU.

Closer examination of the performance of individual Member States reveals four different trends relative to the EU average (Figure 3).

a) Flattening. The national Gender Equality Index score is higher than the EU average, but is rising more slowly than the EU average (BE, DK, NL, FI and SE).

- b) Outperforming. The national Gender Equality Index score is above the EU average and is improving at a faster rate than the EU average. As a result, the gap between the two is increasing (DE, IE, ES, FR, LU, AT and SI).
- c) Catching up. The national Gender Equality Index score was initially below the EU average, but is improving more quickly than the EU average, reducing the gap (EE, HR, IT, CY, LV, MT and PT).
- d) Slower pace. The national Gender Equality Index score is both lower than the EU average and improving at a slower rate, increasing the gap over time (BG, CZ, EL, LT, HU, PL, RO and SK).

Progress trends between 2010 and 2019 show that the greatest strides in gender equality have been mainly in southern EU countries. In France, Italy, Cyprus, Luxembourg, Malta, Austria and Portugal, the Index score increased by more than 7.5 points. Among Baltic countries, Estonia saw an impressive rise of 7.3 points. Generally, countries with lower levels of gender equality are progressing faster, while top-performing countries are slowing down. When Member States are positioned against Sweden, first placed in the Index, it can be seen that a modest reduction in disparity was achieved from 2010 to 2019. This is indicative of longterm progress in upward convergence (Eurofound/EIGE, 2021).

While the 2021 Index score shows meagre progress on gender equality between 2010 and 2019, the socioeconomic consequences of COVID-19 and their disproportionate effects on women may shift upward convergence to divergence and a downward trend in gender equality. The 2022 edition of the Gender Equality Index will examine the pandemic and its socioeconomic toll on gender equality.











# 2. Domain of work

Gender inequalities in the domain of work remain entrenched (EIGE, 2020a). They are reflected in lower levels of employment and higher levels of underemployment for women, as well as in gender segregation in the job market and related pay challenges (see Chapter 3). Gender norms and stereotypes are key pillars of gender inequalities in the world of work, with unequal distribution of care, family and other household duties a major barrier to women's equal participation in the workforce (EIGE, 2020e). Gender inequalities in the domain of work remain entrenched (EIGE, 2020a). They are reflected in lower levels of employment and higher levels of underemployment for women, as well as in gender segregation in the job market and related pay challenges (see Chapter 3). Gender norms and stereotypes are key pillars of gender inequalities in the world of work, with unequal distribution of care, family and other household duties a major barrier to women's equal participation in the workforce (EIGE, 2020e).

Most women still face cultural norms, including leaving jobs or substantially reducing paid work time to meet care needs. This has consequences for personal income, training and reskilling opportunities (EIGE, 2019e). For men, care and family duties are not a structural constraint to having jobs. However, they more often face challenges when reducing their work hours to take on more care responsibilities at home, such as resistance from employers or co-workers.

Focusing on 2019 for this analysis is important to better understand how the COVID-19 crisis is impacting job opportunities for women and men, particularly for those with multiple disadvantages in the labour market. The crisis is exposing, as never before, the crucial links between paid and unpaid work, and between the economic and health spheres.

Critical to people's lives, work also impacts well-being and health through social, physical and psychosocial hazards, including the risk of injury or occupational disease and stress, to name just a few. This leads to diverse outcomes for women and men depending on how much they work, the type of job they have and in which sector they work (Leka and Jain, 2010). Better quality of work is related to better individual health (Barnay, 2016; Henseke, 2018), and precarious employment is related to worse health outcomes (Benach et al., 2014; Siegrist et al., 2016). This implies that gender inequalities in the labour market are reflected in gender inequalities in health. Generally, policies promoting employment and better working conditions are linked to improved population health and fewer gender-based health inequalities (Naik et al., 2019).

Various recent EU policies tackle the important nexus between gender equality, work and work-related dimensions of our lives. Key objectives of the EU's 2020–2025 gender equality strategy (European Commission, 2020b) include closing gender gaps and addressing the under-representation of marginalised women in the labour market, ensuring equal participation across different sectors of the economy. The Commission's recommendation on effective active support to employment calls for policy support, backed by EU funding, to those most adversely effected by the COVID-19 crisis. This includes women, older workers and persons with disabilities (European Commission, 2021b).

The recommendation also promotes job creation and job-to-job transitions from sectors in decline to developing sectors and those lacking skilled workers, for example the information technology and care industries. The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan (European Commission, 2021d), which sets a headline target of at least 78 % of people aged 20–64 years in jobs by 2030, acknowledges that achieving this goal requires 2019 gender employment gaps to be halved at least. The plan notes that an increase is needed in the provision of formal early childhood education and care to better reconcile professional and private lives, and to support women's participation in the labour force.

# 2.1. Fragile pace of change since 2010

The domain of work (<sup>18</sup>) is among the domains to have experienced slowest progress in the EU-27 since 2010. Its score increased by only 0.2 points in 2019, following an increase of only 0.3 points in 2018 (Figure 4). This slowdown was anticipated in the 5th Index, as progress during 2010–2018 was largely driven by recovery from the 2008 economic crisis and the relative stability after the crisis (EIGE, 2020g). Given the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on women in the workforce, the score for 2019 is worrying.

Progress in this domain has been minimal in part because few gains have been made in the participation subdomain. The score increase in this subdomain was low, at 0.4 points, in 2019, lower even than 2018, when it increased by 0.5 points. The subdomain of segregation and quality of work made even less progress in 2019, increasing by only 0.2 points. Since 2010, the score for this subdomain has risen by only 0.5 points overall. Such creeping gains in the area of gender segregation in the labour force underlines the fragility of gender equality progress and the intractability of the challenge faced across the EU (Figure 4).

The progress noted above does not take account of changes in two indicators because of a lack of data availability. Specifically, an indicator on being able to take a few hours off during a working day to take care of personal or family matters and a Career Prospect Index remain unchanged, as the most recent data is from 2015. Consequently, uncertainty remains as to what extent gender equality progress or regress should be attributed to such important aspects of work-life balance, given the low Index score of 63.1 points for the subdomain of segregation and quality of work.



#### Figure 4. Scores for the domain of work and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time

(18) The domain of work measures the extent to which women and men can benefit from equal access to employment and good working conditions. The subdomain of participation combines two indicators: the rate of FTE employment and the duration of working life. Gender segregation and quality of work are included in the second subdomain. Sectoral segregation is measured through women's and men's participation in the education, human health and social work sectors. Quality of work is measured by flexible working-time arrangements and Eurofound's Career Prospects Index. The relatively high Index score of 81.3 points in the participation subdomain masks enormous gender gaps across the EU and in forms of employment. For example, women's FTE employment rate in 2019 was 16 p.p. lower than men's (see Section 2.2.). The gender gap was particularly large in Malta (21.8 p.p.), Italy (20.1 p.p.) and the Netherlands (19.2 p.p.). The situation in Italy is particularly concerning, with the women's FTE employment rate of 31.4 % being at least 10 p.p. below the EU-27 average, and the lowest in the EU. Gender gaps in FTE employment rates also reflect the fact that a higher proportion of women than of men are employed in non-standard and often precarious, jobs, including part-time jobs.

The low score for the subdomain of segregation and quality of work reflects the fact that progress in meeting a series of gender equality challenges has come to a standstill. For example, women continue to dominate the education, health and social work employment sectors, even in countries traditionally achieving higher employment participation rates for women. For example, the gender difference in these sectors amounts to 30.4 p.p. in Finland, to 30 p.p. in Denmark, to 29.8 p.p. in Sweden, to 28.4 p.p. in Belgium and to 26.5 p.p. in the Netherlands.

With tentative overall progress in the domain of work, country-level developments are especially important (Figure 5). They indicate both sustained challenges and signs of progress. In 2019, negative score changes in this domain were recorded in five countries: Poland, Romania and Slovenia saw a decrease of – 0.1 points, with greater declines in Cyprus (– 0.2 points) and Denmark (– 0.3 points). The case of Denmark reflects the fragility of gains made in previous years; the decline recorded in 2019 was the greatest contributor to an overall decline of 0.4 points since 2010. Romania is the only other country to have scored negatively over the same period, and by the same amount (– 0.4 points).



### **Figure 5.** Scores for the domain of work and changes since 2010 and 2018 in the EU Member States

The news is more positive elsewhere. Rapid gains in the domain of work continue in Malta, which recorded a 1.4 point increase in 2019, the largest of any EU country. Nevertheless, the annual change was lower than in 2018, when there was a gain of 2.1 points, indicating that Malta's progress is flattening. Other countries recording notable positive change in the Index score include Greece (+ 0.9 points), Bulgaria and Ireland (+ 0.6 points), and the Netherlands and Spain (+ 0.5 points points). Overall, Sweden remains on top, with a score of 83.1 points, followed by Denmark (79.4 points) and the Netherlands (78.3 points). The lowest scores in this domain are for Italy (63.7 points), Greece (65.3 points) and Slovakia (66.8 points), despite all making progress in 2019.

#### 2.2. Unpaid childcare still hindering women from working full time

FTE employment rates are widely divergent across population groups, and consistently disadvantageous for women. As Figure 6 shows, the largest gender gap - 27 p.p. - in FTE employment in 2019 was among couples with children, with 62 % of women, compared with 89 % of men, in this family grouping working full time. The second highest FTE employment gender gap, of 21 p.p., is among foreign-born women and men. This is followed by people with low educational qualifications, at 20 p.p. This group also had overall low rates of people working full time in 2019 – only 17 % of women and 36 % of men. FTE employment rates in 2019 for all groups of women ranged from 17 % for those with low educational gualifications to 67 % for those aged 25–49 years or for those with high educational gualifications. Among men, the lowest FTE employment rate, of 20 %, was for men with disabilities and the highest, of 89 %, was for men in couples with children (Figure 6).



**Figure 6.** FTE employment rates (%) by sex, family composition, age, education level, country of birth and disability, EU, 2019

Source: Authors' calculation, European Union Labour Force Survey (EU-LFS). The European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC) for disabilities is used (IE, IT, 2018).
Migrants face a host of barriers to employment, and often find it difficult to access better-quality jobs. For example, migrant women are usually limited to working in low-paid care jobs (Addati, 2018; EIGE, 2020c, 2021d). FRA (2019) reports very large gender gaps in employment rates among migrant populations in the EU. In particular, among people of North African origin, women are considerably less likely than men to be in paid work, with the gender gap ranging from 19 p.p. in France to 40 p.p. in Italy. Similarly, in Austria, the employment rate among women of Turkish origin is more than 45 p.p. lower than for men of Turkish origin (FRA, 2019).



Although FTE employment rates have been increasing for women and men – rising from 39 % in 2014 to 42 % in 2019 for women and from 55 % to 57 % in the same period for men – persistent and large gender

Full-time employment rate is higher for men

gaps are cause for concern. This includes the gap between women and men in couples with children, highlighting how unpaid care duties remain a major obstacle to women taking on paid jobs. This enduring gap across time also points to the failure to implement the structural change that is necessary to accelerate progress in the area of FTE employment among women with children. The COVID-19 crisis has exacerbated the situation. Despite unpaid care acting as a major buffer in managing the spread of COVID-19 and reducing the degree of economic lockdowns (Klatzer and Rinaldi, 2020), those taking on most of that unpaid care - namely parents, especially mothers - accounted for most job losses (EIGE, 2021c).

FTE employment gender gaps among people with low educational qualifications and the foreign born also increased in 2019 compared with 2014. The gap increase among the latter group is worrying because it could signal a strengthening of gender stereotypes and norms, and because there is mounting evidence that foreign-born people are disproportionately affected by the COVID-19 crisis (EIGE, 2021c).

Although the employment gap between women and men with disabilities declined in 2019, this finding should be treated with caution and further monitored. This group is relatively small, and a major contributor to the change was the statistical adjustment of the Gender Equality Index data to an EU-27 level of analysis, excluding the United Kingdom.

# 2.3. Women bear the brunt of the impact of COVID-19 on jobs

The COVID-19 crisis is distinctive in its gendered impacts across the sectors of employment. Women are over-represented among 'essential' workers, including in the health and care sectors, victim support services, education and food retail (EIGE, 2020c). Their frontline status means that not only are they among those most exposed to COVID-19, but they also experience high levels of work-related stress and emotional exhaustion (Barello et al., 2020). Emerging studies point to, for example, particularly high burnout levels among women healthcare workers with children younger than 12 years, who are struggling to manage the dual burden of increased workload and more care duties (Duarte et al., 2020).

Jobs losses during the crisis have also been concentrated in sectors in which women make up the bulk of the workforce. During the first lockdown in 2020, 1.5 million women across the EU lost jobs in highly feminised and crisis-hit sectors such as the retail trade, hospitality, residential care, domestic work and clothes manufacturing (EIGE, 2021c). Most of these sectors did not recover during the year.

Although large numbers of both women and men lost their job, EIGE research (2021c) shows that it was young women, aged 15–24 years, who fared worst in the first COVID-19 wave. Among this group, employment in quarter 2 of 2020 shrank by more than 10 % compared with the same quarter in 2019; the corresponding figure for men of the same age was 9 %. Figures vary substantially across groups of women and men, with over 2 % of women and men aged 15–64 years losing their job. Again, those with low educational attainment or who are foreign born were worst affected. The employment rate for women with low educational attainment dropped to 34 % (compared with 51 % in 2019), and that for foreign-born women dropped to 50 % (compared with 69 % in 2019), eradicating decades-long gains.

According to EIGE research (2021c), recovery in the summer of 2020 brought more men than women back to the labour market. Men recovered 1.4 million jobs, women only 0.7 million. Employment growth among women aged 25–49 years was slow, at 0.3 %, while for men of comparable age the figure was more than double that, at 0.7 %. The difference underlines the major hurdles women face in returning to the labour force at any time, but which have become more challenging because of ongoing unpaid care duties during COVID-19 restrictions (Klatzer and Rinaldi, 2020).

The shallow recovery in the summer of 2020 indicates that the socioeconomic impact of the crisis might have much longer-lasting adverse effects on women than on men, especially for groups facing the greatest challenges in getting, or being able to, work (EIGE, 2021c). Data for the last quarter of 2020 confirms this. The Eurostat index of total actual hours worked reveals that time in paid jobs fell by 6.1 index points for women and by 4.3 index points for men, compared with first-quarter data (<sup>19</sup>). Particularly worrying is the employment situation for specific groups of people, such as migrant women. The employment rates for women aged between 15 and 64 years and born outside the EU-27 dropped during the last guarter of 2020, following some recovery over the summer (<sup>20</sup>). In contrast, employment rates for men of the same age group and born outside the EU-27 increased throughout the third and fourth guarters of 2020.

(<sup>19</sup>) Authors' calculations based on Eurostat database, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/lfsi\_ahw\_q.

(<sup>20</sup>) Authors' calculations based on Eurostat database, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/lfsq\_ergacob.

### 3. Domain of money

In 2019, access to financial resources remained, overall, still more restricted for women than for men. According to Eurostat, in the EU in 2019, gross hourly earnings for women were, on average, 14 % lower than for men. Low hourly gross earnings



of lone parents, especially of lone mothers, is of particular concern (see Section 3.2). It results in women's level of economic independence remaining far lower than men's, and the feminisation of poverty is a serious concern for the EU.

Underlying causes of gender inequality in the domain of money are diverse and often interlinked. Motherhood and the unequal distribution of unpaid childcare between women and men make it harder for women to commit more time to paid work (EIGE, 2019e). The overall share of women in part-time work is greater since they balance paid jobs and unpaid care work to a greater extent than men (see Chapter 2, 'Domain of work', and Chapter 5, 'Domain of time'). Job segregation also contributes to income inequality, as women predominate in sectors and professions that are less well compensated (EIGE, 2019c).

Economic situation and financial resources, particularly income, are crucial social determinants of the health of both women and men. A higher income supports improvement in health, and better health enables an individual to earn a higher income (Deaton, 2002; Smith, 1999). Income could be causally related to health in two ways: it directly affects the material conditions necessary for biological survival, such as nutritious food and safe homes, and it indirectly affects social participation and life opportunities, such as sport and well-being activities, that could have an impact on health and health-related risks (Lynch et al., 2004; Marmot, 2002). There is a significant income-related variation in self-reported poor health between women and men across countries, even if levels of income or standards of living are comparable (Furnée et al., 2011). The design of a healthcare system is also crucial. Level of income determines whether healthcare is affordable and accessible because it affects an individual's ability to pay indirect costs, such as payments for diagnosis and treatment, out of their own pocket.

Although the right to equal pay for equal work or for work of equal value has been a cornerstone of EU treaties for more than 60 years, and despite a wealth of policies to redress gender inequality of income, women still earn less than men, on average, as reported above. The European Pillar of Social Rights enshrines equal opportunities to access financial resources, the principle of equal pay for jobs of equal value, rights to adequate minimum income benefits, and equal opportunities for women and men to acquire pension rights.

Addressing the gender pay gap and introducing binding measures on pay transparency are also high priorities for the EU. As Member States have been slow to implement, even partly, the 2014 Commission recommendation on pay transparency (<sup>21</sup>), a binding measures proposal was presented by the European Commission in 2021(<sup>22</sup>). This includes the right of employees to know the pay levels of those doing work of equal value and the obligation for companies with at least 250 employees to report their gender pay gap. In a further effort to reduce the gender pay gap, and acknowledging that women make

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup>) Commission Recommendation 2014/124/EU of 7 March 2014 on strengthening the principle of equal pay between men and women through transparency Text with EEA relevance, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32014H0124.

<sup>(22)</sup> European Commission (proposal on pay transparency), https://ec.europa.eu/transparency/documents-register/detail?ref=COM (2021)93&lang=en.

up the majority of low-wage earners, EU Directive 2020/682 on adequate minimum wages in the EU, implemented in October 2020 (<sup>23</sup>) sets out proposals to reduce gender pay and pension gaps through sufficient minimum earnings.

## 3.1. Earnings and income equality still out of reach

With a score of 82.4, the domain of money (<sup>24</sup>) improved by 0.9 points in 2019 (Figure 7). This represents continued, if slow, progress in this domain, with the score rising by only 3.3 points since 2010. Among EU member States, Lux-

embourg ranks first and Bulgaria last. Overall growth in the domain of money is driven by the access to financial resources subdomain, whose score has risen by 1.4 points since 2018 and by 6.3 points since 2010. Here too, Luxembourg and Bulgaria bookend the country rankings. However, an EU-27 score of 76.9 points means that there is still much to do on women's access to financial resources. The pace of change in the economic situation subdomain is similarly disappointing, with an increase of just 0.2 points since 2018. Here, Slovakia ranks first and Bulgaria, once more, ranks last. Alarmingly, the poverty gender gap for the EU as a whole was wider in 2019 than in 2010, by 0.4 points.





Source: Authors' calculation, European Union Labour Force Survey (EU-LFS). The European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC) for disabilities is used (IE, IT, 2018).

(<sup>23</sup>) Directive COM/2020/682, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX%3A52020PC0682.

(<sup>24</sup>) The domain of money measures gender inequalities in access to financial resources and in the economic situation. The subdomain of financial resources includes women's and men's mean monthly earnings from work and mean equivalised net income (from pensions, investments, benefits and any other source in addition to earnings from paid work). The subdomain of economic situation captures women's and men's risk of poverty and the income distribution among women and men.



### **Figure 8.** Scores for the domain of money, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in the EU Member States

Source: Authors' calculation, European Union Labour Force Survey (EU-LFS). The European Union Statistics on Income and Living Conditions (EU-SILC) for disabilities is used (IE, IT, 2018).

# 3.2. Single women, particularly in old age, are at highest risk of poverty

In 2019, the country with the highest score in the domain of money was Luxembourg, with 92.4 points, and the country with the lowest score was Bulgaria, with 64.5 points (see Figure 8). Progress has been made in nearly all countries since 2018, particularly Romania (+ 6.1 points), Lithuania (+ 3.8 points), Latvia (+ 3.5 points) and Estonia (+ 3.2 points). The countries that have made the greatest leap forward since 2010 are Latvia (+ 9.8 points), Romania (+ 9.3 points), Lithuania (+ 9.1 points) and Estonia (+ 7.7 points). By contrast, since 2018, Sweden's score has dropped by 1.4 points and France's has dropped by 0.7 points. Slovakia is alone in having recording no change since 2018. Greece is the only country to have regressed since 2010, with its score dropping by 1.6 points (Figure 8).

Family composition, age, educational attainment, migration status and (dis)ability influence income disparities between women and men. While income gaps are less visible for couples with or without children, single people and lone parents suffer striking gender inequalities. Lone mothers earn 2.125 PPS (<sup>25</sup>) less than lone fathers, but highest income gap is between single women and single men, with women earning 2.706 PPS less than men (Figure 9).

Over a lifetime, income inequalities widen, with the result that the gender gap is greatest among older people. Women aged 65 years or older receive 1.934 PPS less than men. Known as the gender pension gap, this phenomenon has multiple causes. These include fewer years in employment because of the motherhood penalty, job segregation, differences in pension systems, and work intensity and pay over a lifetime (EIGE, 2015). Across the EU, the gender pension gap

(<sup>25</sup>) PPS is an artificial currency that accounts for differences in price levels between Member States.

remains wide, despite having decreased from 35 % in 2010 to 30 % in 2018 (<sup>26</sup>). Pensions are the most important source of income for older people; therefore, gender gaps in this area result in a higher risk of poverty among pension-age women. Single women face the greatest financial hardship in old age as they cannot rely on survivor pensions or the income of a partner (European Parliament, 2016b).

#### 3.3. COVID-19 exacerbates women's economic vulnerability and hardship

Poverty or social exclusion risks were already higher for women than for men in the EU before the pandemic (EIGE, 2020g). Women were already more likely than men to be in unpaid, low-paid or temporary jobs. The COVID-19 crisis is likely to worsen women's economic situation, as their over-representation in sectors badly hit by lockdowns means that they are more likely than men to lose their job or have their working hours reduced (EIGE, 2021c; ILO, 2021). Women aged between 15 and 24 years were the group most likely to lose their job in the first half of 2020 (Eurofound, 2021a), given that they are employed in high numbers in hospitality, retail, arts and entertainment.

The closure of schools and childcare services further limited parents' employment possibilities, especially mothers, and increased the risk of poverty in households with dependent children. Eurofound's COVID-19 online surveys show that households with children struggle to make ends meet much more than those without (Mascherini and Bisello, 2020). The COV-ID-19 pandemic is likely to have increased the poverty risk, especially for lone mothers and their children.

The extent to which the burden of the COVID-19 crisis falls on women and on men depends on pre-crisis inequalities and how recovery response policies mitigate the effects of the pandemic. Since spring 2020, all Member States introduced some income support measures to those affected by the pandemic. However, women were less able than men to access income support either because a protection scheme was not available in the sectors of their work or, if it was, provided lower benefits, or because they did not meet eligibility criteria. Women predominantly work in sectors, types of firms or jobs that were not or less covered by specific crisis-related job protection schemes (Rubery and Tavora, 2020). Furthermore, women have more difficulties meeting eligibility criteria due to shorter or interrupted careers, which are of importance, for example, to access unemployment or parental leave benefits. The type of income support women receive, compared with men, reflects their different positions in the job market, as well as their disproportionate burden of care duties. Gender-sensitive recovery needs to address the gender pay gap by promoting equal share of care responsibilities and by better valorising those working in frontline, low-paid and precarious jobs, such as carers, nurses and cleaning staff.

(26) EU-SILC survey, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ilc\_pnp13.

### **Figure 9.** Mean equivalised net income by sex, family composition, age, education level, country of birth and disability, PPS, EU, 2019

				Gap change since 2014			
Family							
Single	17 107	19 813	-2 706				
Lone parents	14 848	16 973	-2 125	•			
Couple without children	23 454	23 454	0				
Couple with children	20 208	20 208	0				
Age							
15–24	17 671	17 862	-191				
25–49	19 602	19 992	-390				
50-64	21 460	22 355	-895				
65+	17 686	19 620	-1 934				
Education							
Low	15 117	15 771	-654				
Medium	18 819	19 039	-220				
High	25 619	27 913	-2 294				
Country of birth							
Native born	19 529	20 560	-1 031				
Foreign born	18 690	18 842	-152				
Disability							
With disabilities	16 822	17 746	-924				
Without disabilities	20 100	20 935	-835				
Overall							
Population, 16+ years	19 495	20 420	-925				
_ (	Gap decreased	No change	Gap increased				

Source: Authors' calculation, EU-SILC, 2019 (IE, IT, 2018).

NB: The equivalised net income is calculated at the household level, taking into account all sources of income of all members of the household. resulting total income is split between members of couple, hence explaining the absence of gender gap for couples.

Income gaps are more difficult to assess for hard-to-reach populations such as undocumented migrants and the Roma. These groups are more likely to participate in informal and infrequent work, making it harder to report their income levels. A study of six Member States found that Roma and Travellers reported struggling to make ends meet. In Sweden and the Netherlands, Roma are about 13 times more likely than the general population to live in poverty (FRA, 2020c). Roma women are also more likely to perform unpaid care work, leading to an employment gap of 18 p.p. with Roma men (FRA, 2016).

### 4. Domain of knowledge

Equal access to quality education is a key driver of change in the work, money and power domains, and is essential for gender equality. Educational attainment continues to steadily increase among both young women and men, with women now outpacing men. Gender segregation remains the key challenge in this domain. The previously upwards trend in the proportion of men studying education, health and welfare, humanities and the arts has plateaued, as has the upwards trend in the proportion of women studying science, technology, engineering and mathematics (STEM). Participation in adult learning decreases with age, and engaging hard-to-reach groups remains a challenge.

Education, training and lifelong learning have always been high on the EU policy agenda but are now critical in an increasingly digitalised economy and for recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan emphasises the importance of



part in adult learning

adults, particularly from disadvantaged groups, upskilling and reskilling to increase their employability, boost innovation, close the digital skills gap and ensure social fairness. The action plan also set a target of 60 % of adults undertaking training each year by 2030 (<sup>27</sup>). Reskilling and upskilling are also policy priorities in the recovery plan for Europe.

Equally important to tackle is segregation in education – the concentration of women and men in different fields of study and subsequent careers, including teaching. The 2020–2025 EU gender equality strategy stresses the importance of addressing gendered choices, while the 2021–2027 digital education action plan aims to boost the number of women in STEM by providing digital skills through education and training. Through the updated European Skills Agenda, the Commission aims to work closely with Member States on measures promoting gender balance in ICT-related jobs.

The COVID-19 pandemic led to the closure of education facilities and a forced shift to digital education. Digital technologies, while enabling many pupils, students and adult learners to continue learning, proved to be a major barrier for others. Many families in difficult socioeconomic situations had little or no access to the equipment required for online learning, and many parents lacked the digital skills or time needed to help their children. Adding to these barriers is the fact that the majority of educators had little, if any, experience of online teaching. For lone parents and working couples with children, especially in younger ages, there were additional difficulties due to need to continue working despite increased care responsibilities at home.

Tackling gender norms and inequality in this domain could have major benefits not only on gender-balanced learning and careers, but also in other areas. As reported in Section 9.1., well-established empirical evidence highlights how education impacts health by affecting behaviour, including the use of preventive health services (OECD, 2006). It has been found that education substantially affects health outcomes, even after factoring in characteristics such as income level and family background. This suggests that educational policies have the potential to substantially improve health (WHO, 2015). Nonetheless, research evidence points that due to gender norms educational impact on health outcomes for women and men is different (Cutler and Lleras-Muney, 2007).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>27</sup>) The Gender Equality Index indicator on women's and men's participation in education and training measures the participation during the preceding 4 weeks.

# 4.1. Snail-pace progress comes to a halt

With an overall EU score of 62.7 points, the domain of knowledge (<sup>28</sup>) has seen almost no change since the 2020 Index. The score improved by only 2.9 points overall between 2010 and 2019 (Figure 10), with the subdomain of attainment and participation driving that progress. Although this subdomain's score increased by 6.5 points from 2010 to 2019, there was little change between 2018 and 2019. Gender segregation in education remains a major block to gender equality in the EU. Not only has there been no progress since 2010, but the score for this subdomain actually fell by 0.4 points in 2019.

In 2019, the four top-performing countries in the domain of knowledge were Sweden, Belgium, Denmark and Luxembourg, all with scores higher than 70 points. At the opposite end of the spectrum were Greece, Germany, Romania, Croatia and Latvia, all with scores lower than 55 points. Most Member States saw little to no change in their domain score between 2018 and 2019. France, Slovakia and Latvia were the exceptions, with decreases of 2.9 points and 1.9 points and an increase of 1.6 points, respectively (Figure 11). The majority of Member States did, however, register a modest rise in their overall knowledge domain score from 2010 to 2019. The greatest progress was made in Lithuania (+ 6.4 points), Poland (+ 5.7 points) and Romania (+ 5.6 points). The most regress was in Belgium (- 2.2 points) and Germany (- 1.6 points).

### **Figure 10.** Scores for the domain of knowledge and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time



(<sup>28</sup>) The domain of knowledge measures gender inequalities in educational attainment and lifelong learning, and gender segregation in education. The subdomain of educational attainment is measured by two indicators: the percentages of women and men who are graduates of tertiary-level education and the participation of women and men in formal and non-formal education and training over their life course. The second subdomain targets gender segregation in tertiary education by looking at the percentages of women and men students in the education, health and welfare, humanities and arts fields.



### **Figure 11.** Scores for the domain of knowledge, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in the EU Member States

#### 4.2. Hard-to-reach groups would benefit most from adult learning

In a highly digitalised world, women and men need a wide range of knowledge, skills and opportunities, and to keep developing them throughout life. Without the right skills, both women and men are likely to end up in poor-quality jobs, to be unemployed or to be undergualified to exploit new career opportunities (European Commission, 2015b). Yet only 17 % of women and 16 % of men older than 15 years of age were in formal or informal education or training in the EU in 2019 - despite a small overall increase since 2010. The highest rates of adult learning in 2019 were among women and men aged between 15 and 24 years (74 % and 69 %, respectively), as most were still in formal education (Figure 12). However, these figures are significantly lower among those aged 25-49 years, to 15 % for women and 12 % for men. Among women and men approaching or in retirement, learning rates are in single digits.

Older people, economically inactive women and men, and people lacking basic literacy and numeracy skills are hard-to-reach groups for adult learning policies, although they could benefit the most. According to an OECD survey of adult skills in 17 EU Member States (OECD, 2013), one in five adults has a low level of literacy, while one in four has a low level of numeracy. Targeted adult learning policies improving basic skills would have positive outcomes for economic growth and competitiveness, increase inclusive and active citizenship, reduce social inequality and improve mental and physical health (European Commission, 2015a).

One in five respondents to a FRA Roma pilot survey in 11 EU Member States reported that they could neither read nor write. Portugal (35 %), Romania (31 %) and France (25 %) had similarly high rates. In all 11 participating EU countries, more Roma women than men said that they could not read or write, with illiteracy rates especially high among women aged 45 years older. **Figure 12.** Participation of women and men in formal or non-formal education and training, by family composition, age, education level and country of birth, EU, 2019



One in five respondents to a FRA Roma pilot survey in 11 EU Member States reported that they could neither read nor write. Portugal (35 %), Romania (31 %) and France (25 %) had similarly high rates. In all 11 participating EU countries, more Roma women than men said that they could not read or write, with illiteracy rates especially high among women aged 45 years older.

#### 4.3. School closures due to COVID-19 reinforce and add new inequalities in education and unpaid work

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a major impact on national education systems, with facilities either rapidly shifting to new modes of digital learning or providing no services at all. Though the transition to remote learning was challenging for all actors and at all education levels, it was especially difficult at nursery and primary school levels, as parents had to be more heavily involved in the educational process. In this highly gender-segregated sector, even the youngest educators lacked adequate levels of digital competence to quickly transition to remote learning (Carretero et al., 2021; Di Pietro et al., 2020). Not all children had access to the same level of resources for home schooling, such as laptops, reliable broadband connection and parental support – all important factors in learning outcomes. The Joint Research Centre estimated that girls and boys from lower socioeconomic backgrounds were more likely than their more privileged peers to lack access to internet connection and a quiet room for studying (Di Pietro et al., 2020). On average, these children were generally lower performers pre-pandemic, and it is highly likely that educational inequalities have widened since.

School and childcare service closures have increased the care burden and created new forms of unpaid care for working parents, including home schooling. Across the EU, it is mostly women who have supported their children with online schooling during the pandemic and who are more dissatisfied with this type of schooling than their partners (EIGE, 2021c). In Portugal, for instance, 77.5 % of mothers helped children younger than 16 years with their schoolwork, compared with 41.3 % of men (<sup>29</sup>). Lone mothers are particularly exposed to the negative consequences of closed schools and childcare services given their lower financial resources and the impossibility of sharing care demands (Alon et al., 2020).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>29</sup>) Preliminary findings of a survey carried out by the Observatory for Education Policies and Professional Development of the University of Coimbra.

### 5. Domain of time

How individuals spend their time is a fundamental aspect of gender equality. The amount of time spent in paid work, rest and recreation, or caring for others has knock-on effects on many other aspects of a person's life. This includes their health. The burden of unpaid care is increasingly regarded as a determinant of health. Policies promoting women's participation in the labour force and easing their burden of care - such as policies to improve public services or to increase fathers' access and take-up of parental leave entitlements link to lower levels of gender inequality in health (Palència et al., 2017). As discussed in Section 9.1., work-life conflicts affect mental health. How individuals spend their time is a fundamental aspect of gender equality. The amount of time spent in paid work, rest and recreation, or caring for others has knock-on effects on many other aspects of a person's life. This includes their health. The burden of unpaid care is increasingly regarded as a determinant of health. Policies promoting women's participation in the labour force and easing their disproportionate share of care responsibilities – such as policies to improve public services or to increase fathers' access and takeup of parental leave entitlements - link to lower levels of gender inequality in health (Palència et al., 2017). As discussed in Section 9.1., work-life conflicts affect mental health.

Although more women than ever before are now actively part of the labour force, unequal gender roles persist at home. Even in dual-earning households, it is mostly women who provide direct care and do housework (ILO, 2018; Kan et al., 2011). When high-quality, affordable care services are limited, women are still expected to assume a greater share of unpaid care of children, older people and people with disabilities (EIGE, 2019c). With this workload exploding at home, in hospitals and in care homes during the pandemic, the crisis has underlined the importance of both paid and unpaid care work for societies and economies to function well. However, resistance to change in gendered social norms, especially men's involvement in care duties, remains the chief obstacle to a fairer distribution of unpaid work.

Various EU initiatives aim to change the status quo. The EU 2020-2025 gender equality strategy identifies closing gender gaps in caring roles as a priority (European Commission, 2020b). The Council conclusions, approved under the German Presidency in December 2020, called for efforts to reduce gender gaps in care work to be stepped up (European Commission, 2021a). The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan includes a call for Member States to complete the transposition of the Work-life Balance Directive (<sup>30</sup>) by August 2022 (European Commission, 2021d). The directive includes new labour rights, such as parental and carers' leave, and aims to ease inherent tensions in combining paid work with caring responsibilities (EIGE, 2021d). It also recommends revising the Barcelona targets and increasing formal early childhood education and care provision (<sup>31</sup>).

# 5.1. Gender inequalities in use of time live on

The absence of updated data on time use has meant continued reliance on 2016 data. This has resulted in no change to the score for the

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>30</sup>) Directive (EU) 2019/1158 of the European Parliament and of the Council of 20 June 2019 on work-life balance for parents and carers and repealing Council Directive 2010/18/EU, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:32019L1158.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>31</sup>) In 2002, the Barcelona European Council set objectives for the availability of high-quality and affordable childcare facilities for pre-school children, through two targets: 90 % of children from age 3 years until mandatory school age and 33 % of children younger than 3 years. The Barcelona objectives (and their related targets) were restated in the European pact for gender equality (2011–2020) and referred to in the Europe 2020 strategy. While these high-level commitments have been translated into concrete progress in recent decades, childcare service provision remains very inconsistent between countries with several falling short of the Barcelona targets, especially for children younger than 3 years (EIGE, 2021d).

domain of time  $(^{32})$  since the 2020 Index, and a negative longer-term rating for 2010–2019.

As shows, the EU score of 64.9 points for this domain masks a wide variation in national scores, which range from 42.7 points in Bulgaria to 90.1 points in Sweden. As a result, the time domain has the second broadest dispersion of country scores in the Gender Equality Index, after the domain of power. Gender inequality is higher in the social activities subdomain, with a score of 61 points in 2019, than in the care subdomain (69.1 points) (Figure 13).

Since 2010, the overall domain score has fallen by 0.3 points, the result of two opposing trends at the subdomain level over the same time frame: a rise of 3.7 points in the score for the care subdomain and a drop of 4 points in the score for the social activities subdomain. These trends are important to keep in mind as research has shown that participation in social activities contributes to one's subjective well-being (Brajša-Žganec et al., 2011). Access to leisure time and activities, while essential for quality of life, is largely determined by time pressures from both paid and unpaid work (European Parliament, 2016a).

In 2019, the best-performing countries in the domain of time were Sweden, the Netherlands, Denmark, Finland and Estonia, in that order. Scores ranged from 90.1 points in Sweden to 74.7 points in Estonia. The worst-performing countries were Bulgaria, Greece, Slovakia, Portugal and Romania, in that order, with scores of 50 points or lower.



#### Figure 13. Scores for the domain of time and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time

(<sup>32</sup>) The domain of time measures gender inequalities in the allocation of time to care and domestic work and social activities. The first subdomain, of care activities, measures gender gaps in women's and men's involvement in the care and/or education of their children, grandchildren and older and disabled people. It also measures their involvement in cooking and housework. The second subdomain explores how many women and men engage in social activities. Concretely, it measures gender gaps in women's and men's participation in sport, cultural or leisure activities outside the home, combined with their engagement in voluntary and charitable activities.

5.6

-2.0

2.7

-2.7

1.0

3.4

4.6

-1.1

07

3.8

-5.0

-4.8

-0.3

9.9

3.2

5.2

4.2 3 5

0.2

-1.7

5.4

1.2

-1.6

-0.3

88

6.4

9.1

-1.2



#### Figure 14. Scores for the domain of time and changes since 2010 in the EU Member States

Since 2010, nine Member States have seen their scores fall: Belgium, Bulgaria, Germany, Lithuania, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, Poland, Romania and Finland. Countries seeing the most regression are Belgium (– 5 points), Germany (– 4.8 points) and Finland (– 2.7 points). In most EU countries scores increased over the same time frame. Malta has seen a 9.9-point increase, and there have been increases in Greece (+ 9.1 points) and Portugal (+ 8.8 points). Estonia and Croatia have seen more modest improvements, with increases of 1.0 and 1.2 points, respectively. France (+ 0.7 points) and Hungary (+ 0.2 points) saw minimal change (Figure 14).

#### 5.2. Gender differences on household chores entrenched from childhood

Time

Women are more likely to do regular housework compared to employed men

Housework is the most unequally shared of the three most common forms of unpaid care, the other two being childcare and long-term care for older people and people with disabilities and other chronic conditions (<sup>33</sup>).

(<sup>33</sup>) About 93 % of employed women regularly undertake unpaid housework (daily or several times a week), compared with 53 % of employed men, a gender gap in participation of 40 p.p.; for comparison, the gender gap for childcare is 13 p.p. (EIGE 2021d, p. 16).

About 91 % of women with children spend at least an hour per day on housework, compared with 30 % of men with children. The latest available data shows that employed women spend about 2.3 hours daily on housework; for employed men, this figure is 1.6 hours. Gender gaps in housework participation are the largest among couples with children, at 62 p.p. (Figure 15), demonstrating an enduring imbalance in unpaid care responsibilities within families (<sup>34</sup>).

Research shows that the parental role model is the primary mechanism for entrenching gender roles in terms of housework responsibilities, ensuring they pass from one generation to the next, especially from fathers to sons (Giménez-Nadal et al., 2019). Although the smallest gender gaps in housework participation are among those aged 18–24 years (20 p.p.), only 19 % of young men spend an hour on cooking and housework a day, compared with 39 % of young women (Figure 15). As most young people of this age live with their parents (<sup>35</sup>), it is clear that adolescent girls and young women do more unpaid work in the childhood home than their male counterparts – and gender roles, divisions and habits start early.

### **Figure 15.** People cooking and/or doing housework, every day (%, population aged 18+ years), EU, 2016

	Women	Men	Gender gap (p.p.)		
	Family				
Couple with children	91	30	61		
Lone parents	86	60	26		
	Age	Age			
18 to 24	39	19	20		
25 to 49	81	31	50		
50 to 64	83	33	50		
	Education				
Low	81	30	51		
Medium	78	31	47		
High	74	35	39		
	Country of birth				
Native born	78	32	46		
Foreign born	82	31	51		
	Disability				
With disabilities	78	40	38		
Without disabilities	78	30	48		
	Overall				
Population, 18+ years	78	32	46		

Source: Authors' calculation, Eurofound, European Quality of Life Survey (EQLS), 2016.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>) For example, data from the 2015 European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS) shows that women living in couples with children spend more than twice as much time on care work as women living in couples without children (5.3 hours per day, compared with 2.4 hours).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>) According to Eurostat, in 2019, among young people in the EU-27, the average age at leaving the parental home was 27.1 years for men and 25.2 years for women, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/yth\_demo\_030.

The burden of unpaid care work is greater for women in non-standard and low-paid jobs. EWCS data shows that women in temporary jobs or without a formal contract spend twice as much time providing unpaid care daily as women employed in permanent jobs (EIGE, 2021d). One reason is the lack of economic resources to rely on external services. Yet women in irregular and temporary jobs are unable to access more stable jobs because of their substantial care responsibilities. In addition, FRA data shows that in most EU countries migrant women are less likely than native women to be in paid work because of care duties (FRA, 2019).

Education levels affect the likelihood of women and men spending an hour a day on housework and cooking - in opposing ways. While the share of women spending this much time on housework decreases with higher educational level (81 % of those with a low level of education, 78 % with a medium level and 74 % with a high level), the opposite is true for men (Figure 15). This is consistent with EIGE (2021d) findings showing that highly skilled employed women often outsource household chores to cut their time spending this much time on housework so that they can engage more in paid work. Outsourcing cooking, cleaning, ironing, gardening, caring for pets, etc., has grown because there are more women in paid jobs and little headway has been made on men assuming more unpaid care duties at home (Barone and Mocetti, 2011; Forlani et al., 2015; Raz-Yurovich, 2014; Raz-Yurovich and Marx, 2019). Housework services are often provided by migrant women or women from a lower socioeconomic background, and the resulting income is frequently undeclared. It is a development that transfers gender inequalities within households into the global care chain (Morel and Carbonnier, 2015).

# 5.3. Unpaid care workloads and social isolation affect well-being

The COVID-19 pandemic has profoundly affected individuals' opportunities as regards time use and space. Multiple lockdowns, movement restrictions, the closure of leisure and educational facilities and an unprecedented shift to teleworking resulted in millions of people in the EU spending virtually all their time at home. For those caring for others, the situation has led to acute tradeoffs in dividing time between paid work, care duties and leisure activities (EIGE, 2021c).

With restrictions largely preventing external care services or help from grandparents, friends and neighbours, care has been provided mainly from within the family. The introduction of home schooling as a new and additional form of unpaid work for parents (see Chapter 4) affected families with young children the most (Eurofound, 2021b). As a result, spending more time on unpaid care duties has caused acute worklife tensions for women and men (Craig and Churchill, 2020; EIGE, 2020b, 2020g, 2021c; Eurofound, 2021c; Eurofound, 2021c; European Commission, 2021a).

Although the pandemic has led to a modest increase in time spent by men on unpaid care, particularly fathers who lost jobs and men in couples with women in essential work (EIGE, 2021c), the impact has been dramatic on mothers of children younger than 12 years, lone mothers and women engaged in informal care (Eurofound, 2021b). A survey by Eurocarers (<sup>36</sup>), the leading network of informal carers in the EU, and composed overwhelmingly of women, has revealed a 17 % increase in the weekly care workload, that care is more intense and that more people are becoming informal carers (European Commission, 2021h).

The ensuing strain is reflected in low levels of life satisfaction among families with children (Eurofound, 2021b). Women in particular consistently had lower levels of mental well-being across the three pandemic waves (see Figure 48). The lowest levels of well-being were among women

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>) The survey was carried out from between the 24<sup>th</sup> November 2020 and 8<sup>th</sup> March 20201

aged 18–34 years and 35–49 years during the third wave (42 points).

Social isolation and increased time spent at home, combined with health and financial

stressors, are thought to account for a surge in intimate partner violence (EIGE, 2021a; Šimonović, 2020; WHO, 2020b) and child abuse (Calvano et al., 2021; Katz, 2021) during the pandemic.

### 6. Domain of power

In terms of progress on gender equality in key decision-making positions in major political, economic and social institutions, the EU is only halfway towards equality (European Commission, 2021a). Although the domain of power has seen the most improvement of all do-



of board members among the largest EU companies are women

mains since 2010, progress has been slow and uneven. Women account for only one in three members of EU national parliaments. Women remain substantially under-represented in corporate boardrooms: 30 % in 2021. In large companies, less than 1 in 10 board presidents or CEOs are women. Despite women's growing involvement in research funding, media content and sports policies, their opportunities to influence decisions in these sectors remain limited.

There are many reasons for the systemic under-representation of women in decision-making positions. These include gender roles and stereotypes, the heavy burden of housework and care duties, which limits women's ability to be active in public life, discriminatory employment practices and gender-based violence. Concerns are also mounting over rampant online harassment of women in leadership, which further discourages women from engaging in public debate or running for office (EIGE, 2020a).

The glaring absence of women in COVID-19 emergency decision-making is having a direct impact on people's lives. Ensuring gender balance in decision-making on disease prevention and response in all countries can strengthen governments' responses (OECD, 2020a). The benefits of gender balance in crisis management extend beyond the immediate consequences of the pandemic to the longer-term ramifications of COVID-19 on gender equality (EIGE, 2021c).

Political representation and access to decision-making are now more frequently included among social determinants of health (SDH) (Bhui, 2018; Gerry McCartney et al., 2021), and are sometimes referred to as a political determinant of health (Ottersen et al., 2014). A 2020 WHO report found that the gap in life expectancy is correlated with the degree of political equity, and the benefit was greater for men (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020). In addition, Van de Velde et al. (2013) found that a high degree of macro-level gender equality, especially with more women in political decision-making, is associated with lower levels of depression in both women and men.

EU institutions have increasingly turned their attention to women's representation in political and economic decision-making (<sup>37</sup>). The European Commission brought the issue to the political fore in 2012. It proposed a directive to improve the gender balance among non-executive directors of listed companies, with a minimum target of 40 % of the under-represented sex. Since then, the directive has been blocked in the Council.

Gender balance in decision-making is one of the three main pillars of the EU gender equality strategy 2020–2025. It underlines the importance of having women in leadership positions across political, economic and social s (European Commission, 2020b). The Commission has also adopted the European democracy action plan. It envisages actions to mainstream equality at every level to better enable democratic engage-

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>) EIGE's Gender Statistics Database shows that, as of May 2021, the European Parliament comprises 39 % women and 61 % men. As regards the European Commission, 2019 was the best year to date in terms of gender-balanced appointments, with 12 women (44 %) and 15 men (56 %), as Member States responded to a call from President of the European Commission Ursula von der Leyen for gender parity in nominations. The replacement of the Irish Commissioner in October 2020 has improved the balance still further, to 13 women (48 %) and 14 men (52 %).

ment, including gender balance in politics and decision-making (European Commission, 2020a). Since 2010, the EU score for the domain of power (<sup>38</sup>) has increased by 13.1 points, and between 2018 and 2019 it increased by 1.9 points. Nevertheless, the overall score of 55 points remains the lowest of all the domains (Figure 16).

# 6.1. Decision-making gains drive gender equality progress

Since 2010, the EU score for the domain of power (<sup>39</sup>) has increased by 13.1 points, and between 2018 and 2019 it increased by 1.9 points. Nevertheless, the overall score of 55 points remains the lowest of all the domains.

Gender balance gains in the subdomain of economic decision-making, such as on boards of the largest companies and national central banks, has driven overall progress. There was an increase of 2.9 points between 2018 and 2019, and of 19.8 points in total since 2010. This change was triggered by binding legislative measures and other government actions in several countries. These peaked between 2012 and 2016 and have noticeably slowed since.

Gender equality in political decision-making has advanced by 1.7 points since 2018, and by 11 points overall since 2010. Here, too, government action has driven progress. From 2010 to 2019, countries with legislative electoral quotas have, on average, nearly doubled the proportion of women in parliament, compared with those without such quotas (+ 9.3 p.p. compared to + 4.8 p.p.) (EIGE, 2020a).

Progress on having more women in decision-making in research, the media and sport has been marginal, with a score increase of 0.8 points since 2018 and of 5.0 points between 2010 and 2019. These are the lowest increases of all power subdomains (Figure 16). The biggest gender imbalance is in sports, with just 17 % of women on the boards of the 10 most popular national sports federations in 2020.

- (<sup>38</sup>) The domain of power measures gender equality in the highest decision-making positions across the political, economic and social spheres. The subdomain of political power looks at the representation of women and men in national parliaments, government and regional/local assemblies. The subdomain of economic power examines the proportions of women and men on the corporate boards of the largest nationally registered companies and national central banks. The subdomain of social power includes data on the boards of research funding organisations, public broadcasters and the national sports federations of the sample of 10 most popular national sports in each country.
- (<sup>39</sup>) The domain of power measures gender equality in the highest decision-making positions across the political, economic and social spheres. The subdomain of political power looks at the representation of women and men in national parliaments, government and regional/local assemblies. The subdomain of economic power examines the proportions of women and men on the corporate boards of the largest nationally registered companies and national central banks. The subdomain of social power includes data on decision-making in research funding organisations, public broadcasters and the most popular national sports' federations.



#### Figure 16. Scores for the domain of power and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time

Nationally, gender balance in decision-making has been making rapid progress since 2010 in France (+ 29.0 points), Luxembourg (+ 27.8 points), Italy (+ 27.0 points), Germany (+ 24.5 points) and Spain (+ 24.3 points). For 11 other countries (IE, AT, PT, HR, MT, LV, EE, CY, BG, BE and SI), score gains in the domain of power vary from 21.2 points in Ireland to 11.9 points in Slovenia. All other countries score gains in the domain of power is below 10 points, and for Czechia (-2.9) and Hungary (-0.6) is negative.

Since 2018, the greatest advances have been in Spain (+ 7.5 points) and the Netherlands (+ 6.8 points), followed by Belgium (+ 5.3 points), Lithuania (+ 5.1 points) and Luxembourg (+ 5.0 points). The countries that have regressed since 2018 are Romania (– 2.8 points), Slovenia (– 2.0 points) and Bulgaria (– 1.3 points) (Figure 17).

Spain gained ground on gender balance in several decision-making bodies and institutions in 2019, particularly in government and on the boards of public broadcaster RTVE and the 10 most popular national sports federations. The Netherlands has moved closer to gender parity on the governing boards of the national central bank and the Netherlands Organisation for Scientific Research, while Belgium saw significant improvement in gender balance in the central bank (on the board of directors and the Council of Regency) and in government. Progress in Luxembourg and Malta was similarly driven by greater gender balance on the boards of both national central banks, a public broadcaster in Luxembourg (Radio 100.7) and the Malta Council of Science and Technology. In Lithuania, more women are now in parliament and government following elections in 2020, and more women are on the board of the national central bank.

However, gender parity in decision-making suffered a setback among public broadcasters in Bulgaria (BNR - Bulgarian National Radio, BNT – Bulgarian National Television) and Romania (TVR – Romanian Television), while in Slovenia there were reversals in government, parliament and on the board of the national broadcaster RTV Slovenija.



### **Figure 17.** Scores for the domain of power, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in EU Member States

# 6.2. Legislative action makes a difference

Women's representation in corporate leadership is improving, albeit slowly. In 2021, 30 % of board members of the largest publicly listed companies in Member States were women. Although this figures is an all-time high, it is still the lowest annual increase since 2010. Legislative action in a few countries may have driven boardroom progress, but there is still much to do.

France remains the only EU country to have at least 40 % of each gender on the boards of the largest companies, with women holding 45 % of all positions. Belgium, Italy and Sweden are close behind, with around 38 % of board members being women. In Denmark, Germany, the Netherlands and Finland, women account for 33 % of board members. Elsewhere, men still heavily outnumber women. In 10 Member States, women hold less than 20 % of board positions, while in Estonia, Hungary and Malta they account for 10 % or even less (Figure 18).

Overall, 23 % of the largest companies in the EU have at least 40 % of each gender on their boards. However, nearly one in five still have all-male boards. In Bulgaria, Estonia and Hungary, more than half the largest companies have no women board members at all.



#### **Figure 18.** Percentage of women on the boards of the largest quoted companies (supervisory boards or boards of directors) and binding quotas, by EU Member State, April 2021

NB: National gender quota targets: FR, IT (40 %), BE, PT (33 %), DE, AT (30 %), EL (25 %). Source: EIGE Gender Statistics Database, Women and Men in Decision-Making (WMID).

Various Member States have acted to promote more gender-balanced representation in corporate leadership. Adopted strategies vary from 'soft' measures, to encourage companies to self-regulate and take independent action, to 'hard', regulatory, approaches. These include applying legally binding quotas for minimum representation for each gender, with sanctions for non-compliance in some cases.

So far, seven Member States have taken legislative action to rectify gender imbalance in boardrooms by setting quotas for a minimum level of the under-represented sex – France and Italy (40 %) (<sup>40</sup>), Belgium and Portugal (33 %), Germany and Austria (30 %) and Greece (25 %). Greece introduced quotas in July 2020 when updating the legal framework on corporate governance. Nine other Member States (DK, IE, ES, LU, NL, PL, SI, FI and SE) have taken a softer approach (<sup>41</sup>). Spain has equality legislation that recommends a minimum of 40 % of each gender on company boards, but the recommendation is not enforceable. Meanwhile, Slovenia has a 40 % legislative quota when nominating government representatives to the boards of public companies; however, non-compliance is not sanctioned. Other countries in this group have preferred to encourage companies to self-regulate to redress boardroom gender imbalance. The remaining 11 Member States (BG, CZ, EE, HR, CY, LV, LT, HU, MT, RO and SK) have not taken any substantive action.

Quota targets have been met in France (October 2016), Germany (October 2017), Belgium (April

<sup>(40)</sup> In Italy, the quota was initially set at 33 % in 2011, but it was increased to 40 % in October 2019.

<sup>(4)</sup> In the Netherlands, a legislative proposal for a 33 % gender quota applicable to the supervisory boards of listed companies was submitted to parliament on 6 November 2020. The proposal also plans to make it obligatory for companies to set targets for improving the gender balance of management boards and other senior positions. The date on which the new law will enter into force has, however, not yet been announced.

2019) and Austria (October 2019). Italy achieved its initial target of 33 % in October 2017, and now, with 39 % of women on boards, it is close to reaching the 40 % target set in October 2019. Of the two remaining countries with established gender quotas, Portugal has seen significant progress (women's representation on boards has increased from 16 % in October 2017 to 28 % in April 2021) but in Greece the quota was introduced too recently (July 2020) to have made much difference and, as at April 2021, women make up just 15 % of board members.

The impact of binding gender quotas is clear. In April 2021, women accounted for 38 % of the board members of the largest listed companies in six Member States with binding quotas. In countries with 'soft' measures, the figure was 31 %, and in countries where no action was taken it was 16 %.

Quotas have led to the rate of change more than tripling – from 0.9 p.p. per year prior to quotas to 3 p.p. per year afterwards. The rate of change in countries with 'soft' measures is 1.5 p.p. per year, whereas, in countries without any initiatives, it idles at just 0.3 p.p. per year. At the current rate of change, countries with binding quotas will take around 4 years to achieve boardroom gender parity. In countries with 'soft' measures, parity could take about 13 years. For those taking no specific action it will take at least a startling 125 years (<sup>42</sup>).

Legislative assemblies and executive governments at all territorial levels largely fail to reflect the gender diversity of the population they represent. Women remain significantly under-represented in many cases. Progress on gender balance in political decision-making is extremely slow. At the start of 2021, women made up 33 % of members of the single/lower house of national parliaments in the EU overall. While this marks an all-time high, it is not balance.

Nationally, parliaments in Belgium, Denmark, Spain, Austria, France, Portugal, Finland and Sweden have at least 40 % of each gender. The Netherlands is close behind, at 39 %. Representation is lowest in Hungary and Malta, where women make up less than one in seven members of parliament (Figure 19).

#### Figure 19. Share of women in single/lower houses of parliament, March 2021



NB: Quotas: BE, FR (50 %); IE, EL, ES, HR, IT, LU, PT (40 %); PL, SI (35 %). Source: EIGE Gender Statistics Database, WMID.

(<sup>42</sup>) Greece has been included in the no-quota group, as legislation was passed only in July 2020.

Since France and Belgium introduced legally binding quotas, in 2000 and 2002, respectively, 11 Member States have introduced legislation setting minimum gender quotas on candidate lists put forward by political parties in national parliamentary elections. The most recent legislation was adopted in Luxembourg (2016) and Italy (2017). In 2019, both Greece and Portugal raised their quotas from 33 % to 40 %.

Ireland, Spain, Luxembourg, Poland and Slovenia all show accelerated progress after adopting quotas. Poland's progress is the most striking. Figures for women parliamentarians oscillated between 20 % and 22 % from 2004 to 2011. After the guota introduction and the 2011 elections, the figure rose to 24 %. By 2021, 28 % of Polish members of parliament were women. In Slovenia, although the guota was adopted in 2006, it came into full effect only in the 2011 elections, following which the percentage of women parliamentarians jumped from 17 % to 36 %. However, progress was short-lived. Following the 2018 elections women accounted for just 24 % of members of parliament, rising slightly to 27 % by March 2021.

Analysis shows that legislated quotas generally have a positive impact. In countries with quotas, the average annual rate of change of the proportion of women in the single/lower house has, on average, increased slightly, from 0.8 p.p. per year pre-quota adoption to 0.9 p.p. per year afterwards. However, the post-quota rate of change is nearly three times faster than in Member States without quotas, where the rate of change is 0.3 p.p. per year. At current rates of change, countries without measures in place are projected to take more than 60 years to achieve gender parity in parliament, while countries with binding quotas are expected to take less than 20 years.

#### 6.3. Gender-balanced decisionmaking is imperative post pandemic

The lack of women's presence in decision-making bodies established globally to tackle COV-ID-19 is extraordinary, despite calls for this to be redressed (WHO, 2020g). Although women make up 70 % of health professionals and 80 % of health associate professionals in the EU (EIGE, 2018b), this majority does not translate into leadership roles in the health sector, or in politics. During the pandemic and until March 2021, only one in four EU health ministers and 4 out of 10 junior/vice-ministers were women.

The small number of women in decision-making positions or as experts in key roles influenced the composition of the national task forces set up everywhere to tackle the pandemic. Assessing the gender gap in these bodies, a recent study by van Daalen et al. (2020) emphasised the exclusion of gender-diverse voices. Covering 87 UN Member States, the study found that only 3.5 % of 115 COVID-19 decision-making and expert task forces had gender parity. In 85.2 % of cases, men were in the majority. Such extensive gender gaps in decision-making strengthens unequal power structures and weakens COV-ID-19 responses, potentially costing lives.

With gender a key determinant of health, women's inclusion in crisis response decision-making is crucial (Davies and Bennett, 2016). The European Commission (2021a) has also recognised the need for more women to be part of pandemic response decision-making to take gender differences into consideration.

### 7. Domain of health

Significant gender inequalities persist in the EU in all areas, despite progress in recent decades. In the health domain (<sup>43</sup>), these include major disparities in life expectancy and self-assessed health status. There are also large gender differences in health-impacting behaviour. Men tend to engage more in risky behaviour such as smoking and excessive drinking. They are less involved in healthy pursuits, including physical activity and eating fruit and vegetables. Access to health and dental care also reveals disparities, especially when gender is analysed with other social factors such as age, education and disability.

The COVID-19 pandemic has undoubtedly placed an unprecedented strain on health systems (OECD/European Union, 2020) It has also exposed how gender and social inequalities impact people's health, for example the high toll paid by frontline and essential workers (EIGE, 2020b, 2020c; OECD, 2020a). The critical need for more gender-sensitive data and analysis to inform responses to the pandemic has been reiterated (European Commission, 2021a; GlobalHealth 50/50, 2020; WHO, 2020c).

The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan acknowledges the right to timely access to good-quality, affordable healthcare for all – both preventive and curative (European Commission, 2019). The action plan recognises the need for gender equality of access to long-term care services, healthy working environments and social protection, and emphasises that health status does not depend only on biological factors but is also influenced by numerous social determinants. Health, therefore, requires a multidisciplinary approach. The EU gender equality strategy has reaffirmed this commitment to integrating gender with all European Commission health initiatives (European Commission, 2020b). Measures to better monitor access to healthcare, to improve access to healthcare for key population groups such as people with disabilities and to reform long-term care provision in the EU are proposed in the social rights action plan (European Commission, 2021d).

This Index's thematic focus on health (Chapter 9) explores in greater detail the three dimensions of the health domain – health status, health behaviour and access to health services. It also analyses, from gender and intersectional perspectives, three other specific areas: SRH, mental health and the COVID-19 pandemic.

# 7.1. Enduring health inequalities stall progress

With data from 2019, the Gender Equality Index 2021 primarily reflects the pre-pandemic period, and the subdomain of health behaviour has not been updated because of a lack of fresh data. The domain of health has, at 87.8 points, the highest score of all six domains (Figure 20). Yet progress has been negligible since 2010 – an increase of just 1.1 points. Score improvements since 2010 have been similarly marginal for the subdomains of access to health services (+ 2 points) and health status (+ 1.7 points) (Figure 20).

Access to health services achieved the highest score among the health subdomains, at 98.2 points. This is also the subdomain that has seen the most progress since 2010 – 2 points. Nationally, Malta ranks first, although all top five countries scored above 99 points (DE, LU, MT, NL and AT). Section 9.1.3 explores in greater depth some of the gaps in healthcare access affecting key population groups in the EU.

<sup>(43)</sup> The domain of health measures three health-related aspects of gender equality: health status, health behaviour and access to health services. Health status looks at the gender differences in life expectancy, self-perceived health and healthy life years (also called disability-free life expectancy). This is complemented by a set of health behaviour factors based on WHO recommendations: fruit and vegetable consumption, engagement in physical activity, smoking and excessive alcohol consumption. Access to health services looks at the percentage of people who report unmet medical and/or dental needs.



#### Figure 20. Scores for the domain of health and its subdomains (2019), and changes over time

The subdomain of health status is less dynamic, in both scores and ranks. The EU score has risen by 1.1 points since 2010, and has seen no change since 2018.

The largest gender inequalities are found in the health behaviour subdomain, for which the EU score is 74.8 points. As discussed in Section 9.1.2, gender norms and relations affect health behaviours. Men are more likely to smoke and drink excessively, while women face multiple obstacles to physical activity. Such behaviours are major health determinants. Adopting practices that promote health is critical to preventing non-communicable diseases (NCDs) such as cardiovascular diseases, hypertension and cancer - the largest cause of premature mortality in the EU (Table 3 of the thematic focus). The EU's Beating Cancer Plan emphasises the importance of tackling risk factors, and has the objective of creating a 'tobacco-free generation'. The aim is to reduce the percentage of the population using tobacco to less than 5 % by 2040, compared with around 25 % today (European Commission, 2021c).

Regular physical activity is known to be important for good mental health and well-being (Stubbs et al., 2017); therefore, health behaviours such as physical activity are a key dimension of public health, both physical and mental. This is particularly important at present as the COVID-19 pandemic is known to have caused significant levels of mental distress (see Section 9.1.). Despite this, the most recent data on this subdomain is from 2014, hampering efforts to monitor progress effectively. A body of evidence shows that legislative and public policies can be effective in changing behaviour (WHO, 2014), but regular data collection and analysis are essential to monitor the effectiveness of national approaches.

	Scores 2019	Change since 2010	Change since 2018
SE	94.6	1.4	0.1
MT	92.3	1.7	0.3
AT	91.9	0.8	0.0
IE	91.3	0.6	0.0
DE	90.7	1.4	0.1
ES	90.3	1.7	0.2
NL	90.2	-0.1	0.2
LU	89.9	0.1	0.4
DK	89.5	-0.8	-0.2
FI	89.5	0.0	0.2
IT	88.4	2.1	0.0
CY	87.9	1.5	-0.1
EU	87.8	1.1	0.0
SI	87.8	1.0	0.9
FR	87.4	0.7	0.0
HU	86.7	1.3	-0.3
BE	86.3	-0.2	-0.2
CZ	86.3	0.6	0.0
SK	85.5	0.7	0.0
PT	84.8	0.5	0.2
EL	84.3	0.0	0.3
HR	83.8	2.3	0.1
PL	83.3	1.7	0.2
EE	82.2	-0.5	0.6
LT	80.3	-0.1	0.3
LV	79.3	2.0	0.9
BG	77.2	1.9	0.0
RO	71.3	1.4	0.1

### **Figure 21.** Scores for the domain of health, and changes since 2010 and 2018, in the EU Member States

The score for the health domain and its subdomains has remained unchanged since the previous Index edition. The five top-performing countries in this domain in 2019 were Sweden, Malta, Austria, Ireland and Germany, all with scores of above 90 points (Figure 21). At the tail end were Romania, Bulgaria, Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia, with scores ranging from 82.2 points in Estonia to 71.3 points in Romania. Since 2010, 13 countries have improved their health domain score by at least 1 point. Croatia has the highest overall score increase, 2.3 points, but significant overall gains have also been made in Bulgaria, Italy and Latvia. However, scores in five countries have declined (BE, DK, EE, LT and NL). The score changes in 2019, which range from a from trivial increase of+ 0.9 points in Latvia and Slovenia to a decline of – 0.3 points in Hungary, reveal that short-term progress on health has flatlined.

#### Cost is a key obstacle to accessing healthcare

Universal access to health services has not been fully achieved in the EU. About 3.3 % of women and 2.8 % of men report unmet needs for medical examinations. Across different population groups, gender clearly intersects with other social factors to hamper access to health. Certain groups are more likely to report unmet medical examination needs: women and men with disabilities (women, 6.6 %; men, 6 %), lone parents (women, 4.7 %; men, 4.6 %), women with a low level of education (4.2 %) and those over 65 years (4.1 %) (Figure 22).

There are important variations among coun-Health



Women aged over 65 have greater unmet needs for medical examinations than men the same age

tries on unmet medical examination needs for women and men with disabilities, with Estonia and Romania recording the highest levels (see Figure 36 in par. 9.1.3.). The most common reason cited for unmet healthcare needs is cost. Women are more likely to mention finances as an obstacle to seeking healthcare, with 33 % of women and 29 % of men saying that they cannot afford it (<sup>44</sup>). Women and men with disabilities and women with a low level of education are more likely than others to have little income because they either are not in paid work or are in precarious jobs (EIGE, 2017b).



#### Figure 22. Population with unmet needs for medical examination (EU, %, 16+ years, 2019)

Source: Authors' calculation, EU-SILC, 2019 (IE, IT, 2018).

A wealth of evidence documents LGBTQI+ women's and men's disadvantaged health status and healthcare access (Elliott et al., 2015; Fedewa and Ahn, 2011; FRA, 2020a; Rosenkrantz et al., 2017). LGBTI people across Europe still face discrimination when accessing healthcare, with 16 % of survey respondents reporting that they have felt discriminated against by healthcare or social services staff in the preceding 12 months because they are LGBTI (FRA, 2020a). Trans people report especially high levels of insensitive and disrespectful behaviour towards them by healthcare personnel (Edwards, 2012).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>44</sup>) Authors' calculations based on Eurostat, 'Unmet needs for medical examinations, by sex, age, and reasons in the EU (%), https:// ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_silc\_14, 2019.

#### 7.2. COVID-19 lowers life expectancy for men and birth rates

Despite an intensifying vaccine roll-out, at the time of writing the COVID-19 pandemic is still not under control in the EU. Though the full effects of the pandemic on people's health are not clear, they are likely to be far-reaching. By July 2021, COVID-19 had claimed more than 730 000 lives and infected 33 million people. This represents 7 % of the EU population. The burden of infection and death has been unevenly spread across countries and population groups. The greatest numbers of cases are reported in the largest countries, such as Germany, Spain, Italy and Poland (45). However, the highest shares of cases by population are in less populated countries - Czechia, Luxembourg, Slovenia and Slovakia - with rates ranging from 11 % in Luxembourg to 16 % in Czechia.

Section 9.2.2. explores the specific ways in which women and men are affected by COVID-19 in terms of infection and health outcomes. It also examines some of the gendered consequences of the pandemic restrictions on health, including mental health and exposure to gender-based violence.

Among the pandemic's more obvious effects on public health is a drop in life expectancy. In 2020, life expectancy in most EU countries was lower than in 2019. Preliminary data shows that life expectancy fell slightly more for men than for women, except in Spain. The largest decreases were for men in Poland and Lithuania (– 1.5 years) and in Romania (– 1.4 years), and for women and men in Spain (– 1.6 years and – 1.4 years, respectively) (<sup>46</sup>). The drop in men's life expectancy, while possibly temporary, is related to higher numbers of COVID-19 fatalities and higher rates of excess mortality among men in most EU countries (see Section 9.2.2.).

The pandemic has also been linked to a decline in the number of births registered in late 2020 and early 2021, especially in the countries most affected by the outbreak (47). Data from the Short-Term Fertility Fluctuations points to a drop of 10 % in Hungary in January 2021, 13 % in France and 17 % in Estonia (48). The highest fall (of 20 %) – a real 'baby crash' – was in Spain (Tomas Sobotka et al., 2021). The combination of significant health risks, psychological distress and, economic uncertainty - including largescale job losses - and much more unpaid care work for women during the pandemic have been put forward as possible reasons for couples delaying or forgoing having children (Voicu and Bădoi, 2021). As Section 9.2.1 on SRH discusses, provision of and access to these services have varied greatly across the EU and over time. This could also have been a factor, especially for couples and individuals needing to conceive with medical assistance. With populations ageing across Europe, and Member States in southern and central Europe particularly affected by low birth rates, the fall in registered births during the pandemic is expected to exacerbate ongoing demographic challenges.

<sup>(45)</sup> ECDC COVID-19 surveillance update, https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/cases-2019-ncov-eueea, accessed 7 July 2021.

<sup>(46)</sup> Authors' elaboration based on Eurostat data 'Life expectancy by age and sex, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/demo\_mlexpec, accessed 8 April 2021.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup>) Compared with the same months of the previous year.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup>) The Short-Term Fertility Fluctuations is an open access database, which supplements the Human Fertility Database by providing timely data on birth counts by month in selected countries, https://www.humanfertility.org/Docs/STFFnote.pdf.

### 8. Domain of violence

Violence against women is one of the most pervasive crimes of our time. It takes many forms, including physical, sexual, psychological and economic. It can occur among intimate partners, in broader domestic, professional and public settings, and in virtual spaces. Ageing, living with a disability, being a foreigner and other life circumstances can increase women's vulnerability to gender-based violence.

Freedom from violence and stereotyping is a key pillar of the 2020–2025 EU gender equality strategy (<sup>49</sup>). The EU strategy on victims' rights (2020–2025) (<sup>50</sup>) pays particular attention to the specific needs of victims of gender-based violence, building on the victims' rights directive (<sup>51</sup>). In 2017, the EU signed the Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence (the Istanbul Convention) (<sup>52</sup>). The EU's accession to the Convention is a key priority for the Commission.

The domain of violence is considered an additional domain of the Gender Equality Index. Its particular status stems from conceptual and statistical considerations (<sup>53</sup>). Violence against women is the most coercive manifestation of gender inequalities. It is a major cause and consequence of the structural inequalities women face in employment, income, education, power distribution, unpaid care and health. Therefore, it has an essential place in gender equality debates and monitoring. However, the domain of violence statistically focuses on violence against women, not gender gaps, and is treated differently to the other Index domains.

The domain is based on a stand-alone three-tier structure of measurement (EIGE, 2017a). It enables monitoring of the extent of various forms of violence against women, determination of contextual factors for inter-country comparison and evaluation of developments over time in the EU:

1. **A composite measure** combines indicators on prevalence, severity and disclosure of the most common and widely criminalised forms of violence against women (physical violence, sexual violence and femicide). Based on data collected by FRA in 2012 (FRA, 2014), the EU composite measure score was 27.5 out of 100 (the higher the score, the greater the level of violence against women) (EIGE, 2017a). An update of this score will be available in 2024 following the completion of the next survey on violence against women led by Eurostat (<sup>54</sup>), complemented by a FRA and EIGE joint survey (<sup>55</sup>).

2. Additional indicators cover a broader range of forms of violence against women defined in the Istanbul Convention. These forms

- (50) The 2020–2025 EU strategy on victims' rights, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0152.
- (<sup>51</sup>) https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32012L0029&from=EN

- (53) Conceptually, acts of violence targeting women are the corollary of structural inequalities experienced by women in the fields of work, health, money, power, education and time use. From this point of view, violence against women brings an important aspect to the domains of the Gender Equality Index. From a statistical perspective, the domain of violence cannot be treated in the same way as the other domains of the Gender Equality Index because it does not measure gaps between women and men. Rather, it presents women's experiences of gender-based violence. Unlike other domains, the overall objective is not to reduce the gaps in violence between women and men, but to eradicate violence altogether (EIGE, 2013, p. 31). This fundamental difference between the other domains of the Gender Equality Index and the violence against women domain justifies the fact that this domain is treated differently.
- $(^{\rm 54})$  The data collection phase is planned to take place between 2020 and 2022.
- (<sup>55</sup>) FRA and EIGE will collect data on violence against women (VAW II survey) in those EU Member States where national statistical authorities are not conducting national data collection in the context of the 'EU survey on gender-based violence against women and other forms of inter-personal violence' (EU-GBV survey), as coordinated by Eurostat. This encompasses up to 10 EU Member States that are not participating in the Eurostat initiative. The data will be published in Gender Equality Index 2024.

<sup>(49)</sup> The 2020–2025 EU gender equality strategy, https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=CELEX:52020DC0152.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>52</sup>) Council of Europe Convention on preventing and combating violence against women and domestic violence, https://rm.coe.int/ 168008482e.

of violence, for example psychological violence, sexual harassment, stalking and female genital mutilation (FGM), are analysed separately to the composite measure because of a lack of consensus on definitions or a strong policy framework at national or EU level.

3. **Contextual factors** are structured around the Istanbul Convention provisions and cover six dimensions: policies, prevention, protection and support, substantive legislation, involvement of law enforcement agencies, and societal framework.

#### 8.1. A dearth of evidence hampers true assessment of violence against women

The domain of violence cannot be updated regularly because of the serious lack of up-todate prevalence data, even for the most severe forms of violence against women. Of all the indicators used to gauge the extent of this violence, the only regularly available data is for femicide. EIGE defines femicide as '[the] killing of a woman by an intimate partner and the death of a woman as a result of a practice that is harmful to women' (<sup>56</sup>). The challenge is to capture the gendered nature of femicide, as no Member State recognises it as a separate criminal offence. The killing of women falls under the legal term 'homicide'. Currently, EIGE is using a proxy indicator and data on intentional homicide by an intimate partner or family member provided by Eurostat (Figure 23). In 2018, more than 600 murders of women by an intimate partner or family member/relative were recorded in 14 Member States. The highest rates - calculated per 100 000 women - are recorded in Finland, Malta and Latvia. Intentional homicide by an intimate partner is also relatively high in Sweden. Owing to differences in the definitions of criminal offences and data collection processes at national level, the comparability and accuracy of data must be considered with caution.

### **Figure 23.** Women victims of intentional homicide by an intimate partner or family member/ relative (by 100 000 female population, 2018)



NB: Data related to the number of women victims of intentional homicide by family and relatives in 2018 is not available for Czechia, Greece, Italy, Cyprus, Hungary, Romania, Slovakia or Sweden. Data related to the number of women victims of intentional homicide by intimate partners in 2018 is not available for Czechia, Greece, Cyprus, Hungary, Austria or Romania. Slovenia recorded zero women killed by intimate partners in 2018.

Source: Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/crim\_hom\_vrel.

(<sup>56</sup>) https://eige.europa.eu/thesaurus/terms/1128
The killing of older women is a prevalent form of femicide as a result of the specific vulnerability of this group. Women aged over 65 years can become victims of their intimate partner, but also of men outside a partnership. A study by Dobash and Dobash (2015) shows that most murders of older women are committed by men from the neighbourhood. Perpetrators are often unemployed and chronically intoxicated. Women victims appear to be selected because of their 'extra' vulnerability – being a woman and older. The same research revealed that more than three quarters of homicide–suicides – in which a man kills a woman and then himself – involved an older woman being murdered by a male partner. In many of these cases, jealousy, possessiveness and the inability to cope with separation were apparent (Dobash and Dobash, 2015).

Since EIGE's composite measure of the extent of violence was first released in 2017, no new EU-wide comparable data has been available for other forms of violence included in it. FRA's 2019 Fundamental Rights Survey (FRA, 2021) provides some EU-wide data on experiences of physical violence and harassment among women and men. Owing to differences in survey aims and methodology, this data is not comparable to FRA's 2012 violence against women survey (<sup>57</sup>).

Data from the WHO Regional Office for Europe (2021b) shows that intimate partner violence affects a significant share of women at one point in their lives. In EU countries, prevalence estimates for 2018 range from 13 % of women aged 15–49 years in Croatia and Poland to 25 % of women of the same age in Latvia saying they have experienced violence from an intimate partner at one point in their lives (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2021b).Data from the WHO Regional Office for Europe (2021b) shows that intimate partner violence affects a significant share of women at one point in their lives. In EU countries, prevalence estimates for 2018 range from 13 % of women aged 15–49 years in Croatia and Poland to 25 % of women in Latvia saying they have experienced violence from an intimate partner at one point in their lives (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2021b).

According to the Fundamental Rights Survey, 8 % of women in the EU-27 experienced physical violence (excluding sexual violence) in the 5 years before the survey, and 5 % of women experienced physical violence in the preceding 12 months. However, 13 % of women experiencing violence in the preceding 5 years indicated that it was sexual. Incidents were mostly perpetrated in a woman's own home (37 %) by a family member or a relative (32 %), and, in most cases, by men. This confirms the significant role of intimate partner violence or domestic violence in women's experiences of violence.

The prevalence of physical violence against women differs across countries. Experience of violence in the previous 5 years ranges from 16 % in Finland and Estonia to 3 % in Malta and 2 % in Italy. Physical sexual violence is most prevalent in Greece (26 %), Portugal (22 %) and Spain (20 %) (<sup>58</sup>). For violence against women at home, rates are as high as 68 % in Portugal, 64 % in Estonia, 55 % in Croatia and 53 % in Austria.

The survey also revealed that 39 % of women across all age groups experienced harassment in the previous 5 years and 28 % of women experienced harassment in the preceding 12 months. For women aged 16–29 years, these rates were 61 % and 46 % for the preceding 5 years and

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>57</sup>) According to FRA (2021), the results of the violence against women survey should be considered a better reflection of women's experiences of violence – including intimate partner violence – whereas the Fundamental Rights Survey provides data on women's and men's experiences of selected forms of violence. Although respondents in the Fundamental Rights Survey could disclose experiences of violence irrespective of the type of perpetrator, the survey did not include specific measures used in the violence against women survey to support the disclosure of intimate partner violence, such as prevalence of sexual violence against women (FRA, 2021).

<sup>(58)</sup> The results relating to prevalence of physical violence of a sexual nature in these three countries are flagged by FRA as statistically less reliable, because they are based on a small number of responses.

12 months, respectively. France (60 %), the Netherlands (59 %), Finland (57 %) and Germany (57 %) recorded the highest levels of harassment of women over the 5-year period. Of the women who experienced harassment in the preceding 5 years, 18 % said that the most recent incident was sexual in nature, with this figure rising to 30 % for women aged 16–29 years. Sexual harassment by strangers in a public setting is experienced disproportionately by women, who, as a result, often report that they avoid certain places and situations for fear of potential assault or harassment. Such worries reduce women's opportunities for engaging in public life.

Most incidents of physical violence and harassment are not reported to the police, particularly when the perpetrator is a family member or a relative. According to the Fundamental Rights Survey, only 22 % of such incidents are reported, which implies significant under-reporting of domestic and/or intimate partner violence. FRA's violence against women survey (FRA, 2014) results support this finding, as they showed that many women victims of physical and sexual violence contact doctors and health services, rather than the police.FRA's violence against women survey (FRA, 2014) results support this finding, as they showed that many women victims of physical and sexual violence contact doctors and health services, rather than the police.

Data recorded by authorities often underestimates the scope of gender-based violence. Pre-existing legal shortcomings in addressing various forms of violence against women are additional barriers to reporting. This includes not recognising psychological and economic abuse as a type of gender-based violence, or coercion-based rather than consent-based definitions of rape. As data-recording systems are rarely operated by specialists on gender-based violence, incidents are not always categorised and recorded comparably (EIGE, 2019f). To redress the situation, EIGE developed 13 indicators to help Member States meet the minimum requirements of the victims' rights directive and the Istanbul Convention, and to guide EU-wide administrative data collection by police and justice sectors on intimate partner violence and rape (EIGE, 2018a).

## 8.2. Inequalities heighten the risk of violence against women

While violence affects all women, some groups face a higher risk (EIGE, 2020a). The 2019 Fundamental Rights Survey (FRA, 2021) revealed higher harassment rates in the preceding 5 years among specific groups. These include women self-identifying as lesbian, bisexual or 'other' (57 %); women not citizens of where they live (51 %); women educated to tertiary level (49 %); and women with disabilities hampering their ability to take part in common activities (48 %).



The violence against women survey (FRA, 2014) also showed that disability substantially increases women's vulnerability to violence, especially from a close or intimate About partner.

a third of **women with disabilities** (34 %) suffered intimate partner violence, compared with 19 % of women without a disability. Yet women with disabilities are usually missing from strategies to combat violence against women, and often are physically unable to access shelters and other facilities, forcing them to remain in violent situations (Mandl et al., 2014).

Increased social media use and digital technology advances have seen an upsurge in online harassment and abuse, particularly against young women and girls. In the EU, 13 % of women have overall experienced cyber-harassment. Among 16- to 29-year-olds, it is more prevalent, at 25 % (FRA, 2021). Consequently, girls and young women (aged 15-18 years) considerably restrict what they express online for fear of harassment, gossip and hateful comments (EIGE, 2019a). Eventually such violence can silence women and discourage them from taking a prominent role in public life. For example, about 4 out of 10 journalists have reported self-censorship following online abuse (EIGE, 2020a). Many women in public roles, especially those fighting for the rights of women and minorities (politicians, lawyers, activists, etc.), are victims of gender-based cyber-harassment (European Parliament, 2018, 2021).

Since 2012, EIGE has been mapping the prevalence of **FGM** in the EU by estimating the number of women and girls (aged 0-18 years) at risk of FGM and identifying good practices to tackle it. The most recent assessment, carried out in Denmark, Spain, Luxembourg and Austria (59), shows that the risk of FGM is less pronounced when a woman or girl is in the EU (EIGE, 2021b). However, the risk increases when unmarried girls and women return to their country of origin. In Denmark, Luxembourg and Austria, girl asylum seekers are at a higher estimated risk of FGM than the general migrant population. This highlights the importance of having gender-sensitive asylum procedures in place to prevent FGM and protect girls at risk, and to help women and girls who have undergone FGM (EIGE, 2021b). The study also demonstrates the need to strengthen sensitivity to intersecting inequalities, including through culturally sensitive approaches in sexual and reproductive healthcare systems (see Section 9.2.1.).

FRA's second LGBTI survey, conducted in 2019 (FRA, 2020b), found that 1 in 10 **lesbian women** (10 %) in the EU-27 were physically or sexually attacked in the 5 years before the survey because of their sexual orientation. FRA's second LGBTI survey, conducted in 2019 (FRA, 2020b), found that 1 in 10 **lesbian women** (10 %) in the EU-27 were physically or sexually attacked in the 5 years before the survey because of their sexual orientation. Prevalence ranged from 16 % in Croatia to 3 % in Portugal. Only 16 % of lesbian women reported the most recent hate-motivated physical and sexual attack to any organisation, including the police. This was mostly because of fear of homophobic reaction.

Harassment (60) is the most widespread form of violence against lesbian women, with 56 % experiencing in-person harassment for any reason in the previous 5 years and 11 % suffering cyber-harassment over the same time frame. In the 12 months before the survey, 48 % of lesbian women were harassed for any reason and 40 % were harassed because of their sexual orientation. Prevalence rates vary from 52 % in Latvia, 50 % in Lithuania and 48 % in Belgium to 22 % in Cyprus and 28 % in Malta and Portugal. Of the most recent incidents of hate-motivated harassment against this group, 71 % were perpetrated by men. In 62 % of cases, the perpetrator was unknown to the woman (FRA, 2020b) (<sup>61</sup>).

#### 8.3. Gender-based violence amplified by the COVID-19 pandemic

Social distancing and restrictions on movement to contain COVID-19 have trapped women and girls at home with their abusers. If victims of violence had legal and social support networks, these were shattered, making it almost impossible to seek immediate support or to escape their situation.

Anti-COVID-19 measures can compound and connect different intersecting forms of discrimination against women and heighten the risk of violence against women belonging to vulnerable and marginalised groups. This includes older women, women and girls with disabilities, migrant women, homeless women and victims of trafficking, among others. For instance, lockdown and 'stay-at-home' orders exacerbate factors that put older women at particular risk of violence, for example loneliness, anxiety, depression, the financial dependency of caregivers and the dependency of older people on

 $(^{\rm 61})\,$  EU-27: authors' calculations based on microdata.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>59</sup>) Conducted in 2018 for Spain and in 2019 for Denmark, Luxembourg and Austria.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>60</sup>) The questionnaire did not use the term 'harassment', to avoid varying interpretations. Instead, the specific acts of harassment were assessed. Specifically, it asked respondents if somebody had made offensive or threatening comments in person, such as insulting them or calling them names; had threatened them with violence in person; had made offensive or threatening gestures or stared at them inappropriately; had loitered, waited for them or deliberately followed them in a threatening way; had sent them offensive or threatening emails or text messages (SMS); or had posted offensive or threatening comments about them online – for example on Facebook or Twitter (FRA, 2020b).

caregivers, as well as alcohol and substance use among caregivers. The reduction of staff in long-term care facilities due to illness and self-isolation and the suspension of family visits have increased residents' isolation and the already high risk of violence, particularly against women (Šimonović, 2020).

The lack of comparable administrative or prevalence data on gender-based violence makes it difficult to capture the extent of any increase in gender-based violence during the pandemic. Since it began, media and women's organisations have reported a sharp increase in demand for services such as shelters or helplines for women victims of violence. For example, the 1522 helpline run by the Italian government received 5 031 telephone calls between 1 March and 16 April 2020, 73 % more than over the same period in 2019. In Spain, there was a 48 % increase in calls to helplines (Šimonović, 2020).

The COVID-19 crisis has exposed and exacerbated serious pre-existing gaps in the prevention of violence against women and in adequate available victim support services. An EIGE (2021a) study revealed that counter-pandemic measures introduced from March to September 2020 led to many major challenges for service providers. These include ensuring continuity of service delivery, finding new ways to provide support, meeting a surge in service demand, dealing with the strain on service provider staff, reaching victims, identifying the risk level of victims, and insufficient funding (EIGE, 2021a).

The study highlighted an important gap in crisis preparedness and crisis management planning during the pandemic's first wave. No EU Member State had a gender-sensitive disaster plan in place to address possible surges in violence against women. The COVID-19 outbreak prompted 11 countries to develop a national

policy or action plan to address issues arising from an increased level of intimate partner violence, but in only three countries did the plan or policy include specific measures to tackle the issues (EIGE, 2021a).

Nevertheless, some interesting practices to protect women victims of violence were identified in the EIGE study. Eight countries used national legislation to deem support services essential, two countries used digital technology to continue criminal proceedings, and four countries introduced helplines or email/instant messaging services for victims. In addition, 11 countries provided more sheltered accommodation in either public housing or private hotels, but measures focused on removing perpetrators from the home were far less common (EIGE, 2021a).

Many victim support service providers have struggled with insufficient funding and have been forced to adapt to new ways of working, for example offering services remotely. Continuing uncertainty and spikes in COVID-19 cases and reported domestic violence cases have caused further stress. This has made it particularly difficult for service providers to ensure work-life balance for their own employees, and their health and safety. The EIGE study interviews show that support to cope with these challenges came from non-government service providers rather than from governmental institutions (EIGE, 2021a).

For many women and their children, the lack of immediate, specialised and long-term response to gender-based and domestic violence will have longer-lasting consequences than the COVID-19 pandemic. As the UN Special Rapporteur on violence against women recognises, the pandemic of gender-based violence preceded COVID-19 and will most likely outlast it (Šimonović, 2020).

### 9. Thematic focus

#### Introduction

Despite vaccine roll-outs gathering pace across the EU by mid 2021, the COVID-19 pandemic has continued to take lives, shattering initial hopes that the crisis would be short-lived. As the toll on human health and lives has grown, the intertwined social, economic and health dimensions of our lives have come into sharp relief. Although health was designated the thematic focus of the Gender Equality Index 2021 prior to the pandemic, COVID-19 has led to two important conclusions: challenges affecting people's health relate to their social and economic situation and socioeconomic inequalities are ultimately reflected in differentiated health outcomes.

This focus aims to bring together evidence on gender inequalities as a determinant of health and to explore how converging inequalities affect health outcomes. As reasons for unequal health outcomes between women and men vary, this chapter examines the role of social constructs, including masculinity and workfamily roles. The focus also touches upon other broad causes of gender inequality, such as economic and public policy factors. Gender inequalities in health status, including mental health, risky health behaviours, access to health services and SRHR, are explored, while data and evidence are provided on the gendered impacts of the pandemic.

Defined by WHO, the SDH are the economic, social and environmental conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work and age, with these shaped by the global, national and local distribution of money, power and resources (WHO, 2008). Some of these factors promote health, such as better education, access to clean water and safe housing. Others can be detrimental, for example gender-based violence or gender inequalities in accessing medical services. Different models have been proposed to understand and systematically analyse SDH. Common to these are the inclusion of a very wide range of individual social circumstances – income, education, employment, housing, neighbourhood conditions and social networks. Similarly, various structural factors, such as public policies on education, housing, health and the economy, as well as cultural contexts, are included. Social factors, individual or structural, typically receive much attention from academia and policymakers because these can be more easily modified through policy.

Individuals experience life in a gendered body with its biological endowment, implying that some health issues are sex specific, such as ovarian and prostate cancers. Gender inequality and gendered norms have an impact on health because exposure and vulnerability to disease and injuries, health-related behaviours and access to care differ between women and men. Gender-biased health research and healthcare systems also reinforce and reproduce gender inequalities (Heise et al., 2019; Sen and Östlin, 2008).

Living in a community also suggests that gender is socially constructed by norms upheld by institutional factors. This 'gender system' interacts with other power and privilege axes, for example race, class and ability, influencing an individual's social position in relation to others. Generally, a cross-cutting approach to health asserts that various factors are simultaneously at play when explaining health outcomes (Hankivsky and Christoffersen, 2008). This approach in health research, with gender an important dimension, is being increasingly taken in health inequality literature on European countries (EuroHealthNet, 2020; JAHEE; WHO, 2008, 2019e)

All domains of the Gender Equality Index have direct or indirect linkages to health inequali-

ties, with sources of inequalities ranging from individual to national levels (see Chapters 2-6 and 8). Employment, income and education are closely related and widely recognised as SDH, with gender being a significant layer to better understand inequalities in relation to these dimensions. Time use and unpaid care work, as measured by the domain of time, and access to decision-making, as reflected in the domain of power, are increasingly identified as important determinants of health (see Chapters 5 and 6). Violence per se has a direct effect on various dimensions of health, be it physical or mental. At the national level, it has also been argued that inequalities in population health, such as a gender gap in the health of older people, is more evident in gender-unegual countries (Bracke et al., 2020). A recent report also notes that, in countries with greater representation of women and greater gender equity in politics, men's health appears to improve and life expectancy increases for both women and men, with the benefit being greater for men (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020c).

Gendered patterns in the labour market are similarly reflected in health inequalities. Factors associated with unemployment that affect health include a lack of financial and social network resources, social isolation, stress and loss of self-esteem.

Employment can affect health directly through the physical work environment, for example exposure to toxins. Occupational cancers are estimated to account for more than 100 000 deaths a year in the EU (ETUI, 2018). Physical strain and psychosocial demands can lead to musculoskeletal disorders. According to EU-OS-HA (2019), three out of every five workers in the EU report musculoskeletal complaints, with prevalence rates higher for women workers than for men. The mental health of employees can be adversely affected not only by discrimination, bullying and stress at work, but also by the financial strain that accompanies precarious employment conditions and a lack of rights and protection (Ferrante et al., 2019; Rönnblad et al., 2019). Gender differences in employment and working conditions have a major impact on work-related health outcomes for women and

men. However, work-related risks to women's safety and health have been both underestimated and neglected compared with research on the work-related risks faced by men, and their prevention (EU-OSHA, 2013). Occupational health policies and prevention practices also continue to be built on a gender-neutral model of 'workers', although the referent is implicitly male (ETUI, 2021). The gender mainstreaming of occupational safety and health is, therefore, very important (ILO, 2013).

Income, material resources and education affect access to important factors directly influencing health. These include access to medical treatment, housing, food and knowledge on health and healthcare systems. The gender role here is often unexplored. In the rare cases where it has been explored, a systematic review of the effect of income change on health, for example, argues that higher income does not always mean significant positive change for women (Gunasekara et al., 2011).

The primary responsibility to provide health and social care lies with Member States. While the EU can complement and support national policy, it is unable to determine it except in a few areas, such as research and cross-border threats (E. Brooks et al., 2020).

Ensuring universal access to appropriate, affordable and quality healthcare is an EU policy priority. The European Pillar of Social Rights demonstrates this by making such access a right (European Commission, 2019). Universal healthcare coverage is also a target of Goal 3 of the UN Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) (UN, 2015). To implement the SDGs in the EU, the Commission adopted a sustainable development package in 2016 to help Member States achieve this goal. In 2020, the EU gender equality strategy reaffirmed the commitment to integrate a gender perspective in all Commission health initiatives, for example the EU's Beating Cancer Plan (European Commission, 2021c).

To help address the growing need for health and social care among older people in an ageing population, the EU has implemented policies focused on 'active ageing'. These aim to improve older people's health, ensure that health and social care systems are sustainable, and contribute to the competitiveness of EU industry (European Commission, 2018). The Green Paper on Ageing calls for reforms and investments in long-term services, as well as renewed efforts to reduce gender gaps in employment, pay and pensions to prevent old-age poverty and social exclusion, especially among women (European Commission, 2021g).

Access to mental healthcare has also been an EU priority for many years. The European Framework for Action on Mental Health and Well-being highlights the challenge of meeting the mental health needs of women, while stressing the need for health services to be gender sensitive (EU Joint Action on Mental Health and Wellbeing, 2016). In addition, a European Parliament resolution on promoting gender equality in mental health and clinical research emphasised the gendered aspects of mental health and called for further action by the Commission and Member States. It highlighted the importance of clinical trials reflecting the needs of those who would use the products, and called for the collection of sex-disaggregated data to identify gendered differences in side effects (European Parliament, 2017). The implementation of the Clinical Trials Regulation (62) may help address ongoing inequalities (EIWH, 2018).

Following reverses on women's rights and gender equality in the EU, a 2019 European Parliament resolution found that regression on key areas, such as SRHR, was common across Member States (European Parliament, 2019).

Yet another European Parliament resolution, in July 2020, on the EU's public health strategy post

COVID-19, acknowledges that access to SRHR services has been affected by the pandemic, and that women, children and LGBTQI people have faced a higher risk of violence and discrimination (European Parliament, 2020). The European Parliament calls on Member States to guarantee learning on the cognitive, emotional, social, interactive and physical aspects of sexuality (sexuality education), ready access to family planning for women, and the full range of SRH services during or outside crises, including modern contraceptive methods and safe and legal abortion.

## 9.1. Gender inequalities in health in the European Union

### 9.1.1. Gender differences in health reflect lifelong inequalities

NCDs are the leading cause of poor health in the EU, with varying impacts on women and men. Exposure and vulnerability to NCDs is shaped by biological factors, as well as gender roles and norms (WHO, 2019g). In particular, gender-specific mental health disorders also have different impacts on health status. Poor mental health also contributes to the overall burden of NCDs, including cardiovascular diseases, diabetes and cancer (<sup>63</sup>) (Pikhart and Pikhartova, 2015; Stein et al., 2019).

This section covers specific aspects of the health status of the EU population from a gender perspective, namely self-reported health, health limitations, the main causes of premature death, mental well-being and the prevalence of mental disorders. It also explores how social determinants and gender norms affect health.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>62</sup>) Clinical trials - Regulation EU No 536/2014, https://ec.europa.eu/health/sites/default/files/files/eudralex/vol-1/reg\_2014\_536/reg\_ 2014\_536\_en.pdf.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>63</sup>) Mental health is considered an important factor in NCDs, with a meta-analysis by WHO showing that psychosocial factors affect NCDs in Europe and, particularly, that 'Psychosocial distress may also have a direct effect on NCDs such as coronary heart disease independent of these other factors' (Pikhart and Pikhartova, 2015).

### Men are more likely to perceive their health as good

Gender Inequalities In Health Status



Self-reported health (self-rated health, self-assessed health) or self-perceived health) is a person's subjective evaluation of their current health status (Lorem et al., 2017). Overall,

women tend to report worse health than men (Nesson and Robinson, 2019), except on hearing problems and cardiovascular diseases (Caroli and Weber-Baghdiguian, 2016). In a 2002–2004 study of 59 countries globally, women reported significantly poorer health than men on all self-reported health indicators at all ages – although differences were smaller from 60 years onwards – and in all regions, with the smallest disparities in high-income European countries (Boerma et al., 2016).

In the EU-27, 66 % of women and 71 % of men perceive their health to be good or very good (Figure 24). Gender gaps in self-reported health are greater in Portugal, Latvia and Lithuania (10 p.p.), and in Romania and Bulgaria (9 p.p.). Only in Ireland do women and men equally perceive being in good health. The share of women considering themselves in good health is lowest in Hungary, Estonia, Portugal, Latvia and Lithuania.

Among adolescents, gender gaps in self-reported health are slightly more pronounced than for the adult population, with 30 % of girls and 39 % of boys rating their health as excellent (<sup>64</sup>).



Figure 24. Women and men perceiving their health as good or very good by EU Member State



Source: Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_silc\_01.

Age, disability and education are important markers in shaping individual health status, with self-reported health levels the lowest for women with disabilities, women over 65 years and retired women (Figure 25).

(<sup>64</sup>) Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey for children aged 11, 13 and 15 years, 2017/2018. Authors' calculations. NB: EU: unweighted average.



**Figure 25.** Women and men perceiving their health as good or very good by sex, family composition, age, education, country of birth, disability and labour status (%, 16+ years, EU, 2019)

Table 19 in Annex 4 presents the share of people across population groups reporting their health as being good or very good from various data sources. It signalises how gender intersects with income levels, living environments (rural, suburban or urban), sexual orientation and migration status to determine a person's likelihood of having good health.

According to WHO, many conditions and factors impacting people's health are not under individual control. These include income, social status, education, physical environment, social support networks, genetics, health services and gender.

Research has highlighted gender-specific effects of three major SDH – education, employment and income levels. Education has long been known to be a crucial life resource for maintaining good health. Research in nine EU countries shows that higher levels of education have positive effects on the health of women and men (Uccheddu et al., 2019), particularly in countries promoting more women's employment. Similarly, an analysis based on EU-SILC data indicates both that the probability of poor self-perceived health generally is higher among women than among men and that the biggest gender differences in self-perceived health are among individuals with relatively low levels of education in countries with the greatest gender employment gaps, that is in southern and eastern European countries (Gumà et al., 2019).

Employment status influences people's health through income, social status and its impact on distress (Marmot et al., 2012).Employment and higher quality of work are linked to bette r health at individual level (Barnay, 2016; Henseke, 2018). Although working has a significant positive impact on the health of women and men, its effects are stronger for men (Hosseinpoor et al., 2012). In the EU, working women and men are more likely than those not in paid work, the unemployed or retirees to rate their health as good or very good (Figure 25).

Lack of paid work is likely to affect women's health disproportionately. For instance, Boerma et al. (2016) found that greater gender gaps in

NB: EU-born and non-EU born are based on 21 countries (DE, EE, LV, MT, RO and SI are excluded). Source: Authors' calculation with microdata, EU-SILC, 2019 (IE, IT, 2018).

employment and education lead to greater gender gaps in health assessment, to women's detriment. This is particularly the case in Greece, Spain, Cyprus and Portugal, where women's labour market participation is low (Palència et al., 2014). Therefore, being in employment may result in lower health gains for women than for men, but being employed still leads to better health outcomes than being unemployed. Gender inequalities in employment and working conditions are also connected to inequalities in health. Precarious employment is considered an SDH (Benach et al., 2014; Siegrist et al., 2016). For example, a review of 27 studies found that temporary work explained between 11 % and 23 % of the variation in poor mental health (Vives Vergara, 2010). Less is known about how gender inequalities in employment and occupational position are related to health and health inequalities. An umbrella review of macroeconomic determinants of health shows that job promotion and improved working conditions can help enhance health and reduce gender-based health inequalities (Naik et al., 2019).

Income is closely linked to individual health higher income supports good and improved health, while better health enables higher income (Deaton, 2002; Smith, 1999). Income could be causally related to health through a direct effect on the material conditions necessary for biological survival, and indirectly through social participation and ability to control life circumstances that condition health and health risks (Lynch et al., 2004; 2002). Depending on the healthcare system, level of income determines whether healthcare is affordable and accessible because it affects an individual's ability to pay for medical services out of their own pocket (OECD/European Union, 2018). The effect of income on health varies according to gender. A quantitative meta-analysis (Furnée et al., 2011) found significant income-related variation in self-reported poor health between women and men in different countries, even if income or standards of living were comparable.

The extent to which income impacts health status across the EU depends on country-specific contexts. Factors such as pension and wage policies play an important role (Paul Leigh et al., 2019). They are particularly relevant to the health and well-being of older people, especially women, whose income in old age reflects limited economic independence and the cumulative effect of gender inequalities over a lifetime (<sup>65</sup>) (EIGE, 2015, 2016, 2020e, 2020g).

#### Women are more likely to have health limitations over their lifetime

One in four adults in the EU reports that health problems affect what they can usually do (<sup>66</sup>), ranging from 9 % of people younger than 25 years to 40 % of those aged between 65 and 74 years. As health limitations increase with age and affect women and men differently, any analysis of ill health must consider age, gender and the severity of limitations.

Women suffer greater health limitations than men in all age groups (Figure 26). This is attributed to women being more likely than men to report symptoms of ill health. While normative masculinity is closely associated with physical strength and independence, seeking treatment and discussing symptoms is considered more socially acceptable for women.

Women are also affected by disabilities and chronic conditions from a younger age and to a greater degree than men (WHO and World Bank, 2011). Reasons include unmet needs for medical examinations, poor working conditions and low socioeconomic status, and gender-based violence (Garcia-Moreno and Watts, 2011; WHO, 2016d).

These factors help explain why gender differences in the extent to which health limitations affect daily activities are higher among older groups, to women's detriment (Ogg and Rašticová, 2020). For example, among those aged

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>65</sup>) The financial impact of gender inequalities over the life course is reflected in the gender pension gap. In the EU in 2019, the average pension received by women at age 65 was 30 % lower than that of men. Eurostat, EU-SILC survey, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ilc\_pnp13.

<sup>(66)</sup> Eurostat, Health variables of EU-SILC, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_silc\_06, 2019.



### **Figure 26.** Women and men limited in their usual activities because of health problems, by age group and level of difficulty experienced (%, EU, 2019)

NB: Data labels refer to the total percentage of women and men of each group reporting some or severe health limitations. Source: Eurostat, EU-SILC 2019, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_silc\_06.

55–64 years, the proportion of individuals who report that everyday activities are limited by their health is only 2 p.p. higher among women than among men, at 31 % and 29 %, respectively Among those aged between 75 and 84 years, that difference rises to 8 p.p.: 58 % of women and 50 % of men.

The greater likelihood of women experiencing poor health is supported by data on healthy life years. Women and men in the EU can expect to be in good health until 65 and 64 years of age (<sup>67</sup>), respectively. However, as women tend to live longer, more of their life is spent in poor health – an average of 19 years, compared with 14 years for men (<sup>68</sup>) (Bambra, Albani, et al., 2020; EIGE, 2019c; WHO, 2016d, 2018b). While women appear to have a 'mortality advantage', it is offset by this higher morbidity (Bambra,

Albani, et al., 2020; EIGE, 2019c; WHO, 2016d, 2018b), a phenomenon described by some as the 'gender and health' paradox (Bambra, Albani, et al., 2020; Doyal, 1995).

Gender differences across various indicators of self-reported health can also be accentuated by significant gender gaps in health literacy (<sup>69</sup>). Several studies show that women are more likely to have general health knowledge and understanding, including of public health guidelines, common symptoms of specific health problems and their own health status (Baker, 2019). Lower levels of health literacy are associated with lower levels of information-seeking behaviours (Beck et al., 2014; Manierre, 2015; Nölke et al., 2015; Saab et al., 2018) and with men not seeking timely help for cancer symptoms (Baker, 2019; Fish et al., 2019).

<sup>(67)</sup> Eurostat, mortality data, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_hlye, 2019.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>68</sup>) 'Years of ill health' is defined as a difference between 'life expectancy at birth' and 'healthy life years'. Healthy life years and years of ill health add up to expected life expectancy at birth. Eurostat, mortality data, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-da-tasets/-/hlth\_hlye, 2019.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>69</sup>) WHO defines health literacy as 'the cognitive and social skills which determine the motivation and ability of individuals to gain access to, understand and use information in ways which promote and maintain good health' and explains that 'health literacy implies the achievement of a level of knowledge, personal skills and confidence to take action to improve personal and community health by changing personal lifestyles and living conditions' (Nutbeam, 1998).

### The main causes of premature mortality are gendered

Life expectancy at birth is defined as how long a newborn can expect to live, on average, if current death rates do not change. As a main indicator of human longevity, life expectancy is often used to characterise the health status of a population (Johnson et al., 2020). On average, women in the EU are expected to live until 84 years of age, which is 5.5 years more than men, at 78.5 years. However, this figure varies substantially between countries (<sup>70</sup>) (Franklin et al., 2021; OECD/European Union, 2020).

As mentioned in the domain of health chapter (see Chapter 7), COVID-19 has negatively affected life expectancy in most EU countries, particularly for men.

The gender gap in life expectancy is often attributed to a combination of biology and modifiable factors, such as risky behaviour, smoking and excessive alcohol consumption (Kolip, 2012; Stephens et al., 2017), as well as the different societal roles of women and men (Hoffmann et al., 2018). Men's lower life expectancy reflects their thinking on masculinity and way of life, which determines their exposure to risk, their health-seeking behaviours and how health providers address men and their health needs (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018).

Education – one of the most documented social determinants of life expectancy – is used to measure the impact of social and economic status on longevity. Here, too, men are particularly affected. The OECD found that the average difference in life expectancy among 30-year-old men between those without an upper secondary education and those with a tertiary education was 7 years. The impact of education is particularly notable – amounting to a difference of 10 years – in Hungary, Poland and Slovakia (OECD/European Union, 2020). Similarly, studies show that women educated to tertiary level live longer than those with lower qualifications (WHO, 2016d). For example, Roma women have a shorter life expectancy than women in the population at large (EPHA, 2018).

Such gender differences are reflected in data on causes of premature mortality in EU countries. Men are more likely than women to die from causes related to risky health behaviour. According to Global Burden of Disease (GBD) 2019 data (<sup>71</sup>), the rate of premature mortality (<sup>72</sup>) from external causes, such as accidents, suicides, injuries, homicides and other violent deaths, is higher among men (10 %) than among women (5 %).

The main causes of premature death among adults also affect women and men to different degrees (Table 3). For example, while cardiovascular diseases and strokes are the principal causes of death for both women and men, many more men than women die from ischaemic heart disease (+ 31 p.p.). As WHO notes, such diseases are perceived as men's issues, with health systems tending to minimise or overlook risk factors in women (WHO, 2016d).

Among other common causes of premature death for men are liver disease and suicide – ranking sixth and seventh, respectively. Alzheimer's disease and other dementias, as well as hypertensive heart disease, are among the most common causes for women – ranking fifth and ninth, respectively. Sex-specific cancers similarly lead to significant early loss of life among women and men. Breast cancer is the third highest-ranking cause of premature death for women, while prostate cancer ranks eighth for men.

(<sup>72</sup>) Years of life lost because of premature mortality are calculated by multiplying the number of deaths by the standard life expectancy at the age of death.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>70</sup>) Life expectancy by age and sex, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/demo\_mlexpec, 2019. Data extracted on 8 April 2021.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>71</sup>) The GBD data set is a collection of a wide range of data, including from the national health registries, as well as health-related survey evidence. More information on the list of data sources used can be found online http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-2019.

**Table 3.** Leading causes of premature mortality among women and men (number of years of life lost, age: 20+ years, EU, 2019). Ranked by order of total number of years of life lost

Cause	Women	Men	Gender gap (p.p.)
Ischaemic heart disease	5 406 350	7 832 577	31
Stroke	3 613 705	3 315 024	- 9
Tracheal, bronchus and lung cancer	2 114 608	4 545 089	53
Colon and rectum cancer	1 541 334	2 079 668	26
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	1 293 433	1 945 706	34
Alzheimer's disease and other dementias	1 918 196	978 477	- 96
Cirrhosis and other chronic liver diseases	832 997	1 839 797	55
Self-harm	496 962	1 801 050	72
Lower respiratory tract infections	1 036 074	1 244 853	17
Pancreatic cancer	932 009	1 090 042	14
Diabetes mellitus	771 538	868 921	11
Chronic kidney disease	760 603	737 302	- 3
Stomach cancer	529 536	894 968	41
Sex-specific cancers			
Prostate cancer		1 500 678	
Breast cancer	2 276 349		
Ovarian cancer	768 439		

Source: Number of years of life lost, 2019, GBD. Authors' calculations.

Data from the European Cancer Information System shows that in 2020 more men than women were diagnosed with cancer, with men accounting for 54 % of cancer diagnoses in that year (and women 46 %). Most new cases among men are lung, colorectal and prostate cancer. For women, breast cancer is the most prevalent, at 29 %, followed by colorectal cancer at 12 %, and lung cancer at 9 % (OECD/European Union, 2020).

Gender differences in death associated with mental health, such as dementia, suicide and alcohol and drug abuse, are particularly stark. For example, in 2018, the rate of mortality from overdoses among people aged between 15 and 64 years was 22.3 per million, but the rate was almost four times higher among men than among women. Men aged between 35 and 44 years were most affected, with a mortality rate of 53.7 deaths per million. This is more than double the average for all ages, and more than three times the rate of mortality from overdose of women in the same age group, which was 13.9 deaths per million (European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction, 2020).

Eurostat's mortality data on suicide and mental and behavioural disorders, including deaths from alcohol and drug abuse, also reveals that more men than women die from these causes (Figure 27) (<sup>73</sup>).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>73</sup>) To account for the yearly variations in death rates, particularly in small countries and due to specific causes, a 4-year average (2014-2017) age-standardised death rate is used.

Only in eight countries – Cyprus, Greece, Ireland, Italy, Malta, Netherlands, Spain and Sweden – do more women than men die of mental and behavioural disorders. This can be attributed to the high prevalence of Alzheimer's disease and other dementias among women. In those countries where mortality from mental and behavioural disorders is higher among men, the difference is mainly due to a large gender gap in deaths from alcohol-related causes. A systematic review highlights that men are more likely than women to die from suicide, although more young women than young men attempt suicide (Miranda-Mendizabal et al., 2019) (<sup>74</sup>). Gender differences in suicide are large, especially in central and eastern Europe. Here, the age-standardised mortality rate for suicide is five times higher for men than for women. In western Europe, it is 3.3 times higher for men than for women (Naghavi, 2019).





NB: EU-27 average not available. Mental and behavioural disorders include dementia and mental and behavioural disorders due to use of alcohol, drug dependence and toxicomania, as well as other mental and behavioural disorders. Source: Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_cd\_asdr2.

(<sup>74</sup>) A number of different theories have been proposed to explain the higher proportion of non-fatal suicidal behaviour among womenand the preponderance of menwho complete suicides. These include men's choice of more lethal methods for suicide; women's better recall of suicide attempts in social surveys; higher levels of alcohol and drug abuse, and other perceived 'masculine' self-destructive behaviours, among men; and men's reluctance to seek help, and related underdiagnosis of mental health problems, but also poor treatment compliance among men (Mościcki, 1994; Schrijvers et al., 2012).



### **Figure 28.** Death rate of women and men due to intentional self-harm, by EU Member State (% per 100 000 population, 2014–2017 average rate, total population)

NB: EU-27 average not available.

Source: Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_cd\_asdr2.

Similarly, deaths from intentional self-harm are far more prevalent among men than women in all EU countries (Figure 28). The variations in suicide rates between countries are particularly large among men, while differences among women are much smaller. Gender differences in deaths from self-harm are particularly evident in central and eastern Europe.

#### Women report poorer mental well-being than men

Mental health is defined as the state of well-being in which individuals can realise their own potential, cope with the normal stresses of life, work productively and con-



Men **2.1** times more likely to suffer from substance use disorders

tribute to their community (WHO, 2018a). Mental health disorders refer to a wide range of conditions affecting mood, thinking, behaviour and relationships with others. With the COV-ID-19 pandemic posing an unprecedented challenge to collective mental well-being, mental health issues could hamper recovery if they are not addressed.

Understanding how poor mental health affects women and men, and the role that gender norms and relations play in shaping it, can help improve overall health status in the EU. The following sections give an overview of gender differences in mental health over the life course and explore how gender contributes to shaping mental health.

Developed in 1998 by the WHO Regional Office in Europe, the WHO-5 ( $^{75}$ ) measures cur-

(<sup>75</sup>) The WHO-5 is a short, self-reported measure of current mental well-being of the EQLS. The WHO-5 consists of five statements, which respondents rate on a scale from 0 (at no time) to 5 (all of the time) in relation to the preceding 2 weeks. The five statements are (1) I have felt cheerful and in good spirits, (2) I have felt calm and relaxed, (3) I have felt active and rigorous, (4) I woke up feeling fresh and rested and (5) My daily life has been filled with things that interest me. The total raw score, ranging from 0 to 25, is multiplied by 4 to give the final score, with 0 representing the worst imaginable well-being and 100 representing the best imaginable well-being.

rent mental well-being. It is considered a valid tool for measuring mental health and screening depression in various populations (Topp et al., 2015; WHO, 1998).

Analysis of the WHO-5 2016 – where a score of 100 represents the best imaginable well-being, while scores of 50 or lower indicate risk of depression – shows that the self-rated mental health index among those over 18 is slightly higher for men than for women.

The average score in Europe is 66 points for men and 62 points for women. Women, as well

as showing lower levels of mental well-being (Dreger et al., 2016), are significantly more likely to report feeling unhappy, depressed unable to overcome problems and a loss of self-confidence (Olafsdottir, 2017).

Mental well-being varies across European countries. It is highest for men in Ireland and Denmark, at above 70 points, and lowest in Croatia and Italy, at below 60 points. Although there are clear differences between Member States in self-rated mental well-being, gender differences are small, with an average gap of 4 points (Figure 29).





Source: EQLS, 2016. Countries are sorted by their overall WHO-5 scores.



# **Figure 30.** Self-rated mental well-being of women and men according to the WHO-5, by sex, family composition, age, income level, country of birth and disability status (points out of 100, 18+ years, EU, 2016)

Source: Authors' calculations, EQLS, 2016.

Analysis of self-assessed mental well-being across population groups (Figure 30) shows that women report lower levels of mental well-being regardless of family composition, age, income level, country of birth or disability. Further assessment of levels and gender gaps indicates that social determinants of mental health are potentially at play.

Family structure can also impact mental health. (Figure 30). Caregiving is an important factor influencing the physical and mental health of those providing care, who experience accumulated chronic stressors and often neglect their own health (Young et al., 2020).

Research in Europe shows that being a lone mother or father has a substantial effect on depressive symptoms, regardless of gender (Niedzwiedz et al., 2016) . Similar results have been found in other studies, with single parents suffering worse mental health than couples with children (Chiu et al., 2017; Wade et al., 2011). However, single parenthood can affect the health of mothers and fathers differently. One study found mortality from all causes to be higher among lone fathers (Chiu et al., 2018) while another found that lone mothers had worse mental health than other parents (Collings et al., 2014).

While lone parents are generally agreed to be at increased risk of mental health problems, the combined impact of family structure and gender on mental health can depend on the country and its welfare environment (Niedzwiedz et al., 2016; Palència et al., 2017). On average in the EU, lone mothers report poorer mental well-being than lone fathers (Figure 30). As women are far more likely to be lone parents than men, poor mental health and other single-parent challenges affect a larger proportion of mothers than fathers.

Self-assessed mental health declines with age for both women and men, but is lower for women in all age groups. The gender gap for good mental health is highest among young adults aged 18–24 years, with men scoring 74 points and women 68 points. The gap is lower among those aged 25–64 years, rising again in retirement (Figure 30). Girls are also more likely to self-report lower levels of life satisfaction (Currie, 2016; Inchley et al., 2020). Data from the Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey reveals that 63 % of boys aged 11–15 years in the EU are satisfied with their life, compared with 56 % of same-age girls (<sup>76</sup>). Similarly, girls of this age are much more likely than boys to report multiple health complaints – 44 % and 29 %, respectively – possibly indicating higher levels of somatisation among girls (<sup>77</sup>).

Women and men with a higher income have better well-being than those with a lower income. Data shows that income increase affects the mental well-being of women slightly more than it does men. The difference in women's mental well-being index score between the lowest and highest income groups is 9 points. For men, it is 7 points. The gender gap is highest in the lowest income guartile, reiterating how women's mental health suffers more when their socioeconomic status is low. The same data set also indicates similar findings for education, although gender differences are lower. There is an 8-point difference in women's mental well-being between those with the lowest and those with the highest levels of education; for men, the difference is 6 points. However, men tend to benefit slightly more in terms of mental well-being when moving from unemployment to employment – by 7 points, compared with 6 points for women. While the findings mirror the analysis of self-reported health, it is important to note that these differences are small and more data is needed to explore these relationships further. Generally, research evidence confirms that social exclusion and material deprivation are the strongest social determinants of poor mental health (Dreger et al., 2014).

Despite limited available data, mental health has clearly and significantly suffered during the pandemic, as discussed in Section 9.2.2.

### Gender differences in mental disorders begin early in life

Mental health disorders are defined using international diagnostic criteria, such as the those in the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition* (DSM-5) (American Psychiatric Association, 2020), or the International Classification of Mental and Behavioural Disorders (WHO, 2020e). Large-scale meta-analyses have identified mood complaints, including depression, anxiety and substance use disorders (SUDs), as the most common mental health conditions among adults (Baxter et al., 2013; Steel et al., 2014).

Depending on how they manifest, mental illnesses are often broadly classified as either internalising or externalising disorders. Internalising disorders are characterised by thoughts and emotions within oneself and include mood disorders and anxieties. Externalising disorders are primarily denoted by actions in the external world, and include SUDs and attention-deficit hyperactivity disorder (ADHD). Across the EU, women have consistently higher rates of internalising disorders, for example depression, anxiety, phobias, and suicidal thoughts and attempts. Men self-report twice as high levels of externalising disorders, such as alcohol abuse, ADHD, and conduct and drug-use disorders (Boyd et al., 2015).

### Mental health disorders among children and youth

According to WHO, half of all mental health conditions begin by 14 years of age, but most are undetected and untreated (WHO, 2020c). Mental health disorders are one of the most common sources of disease burden in children and young people, particularly adolescent girls (Baranne and Falissard, 2018). WHO estimates that between 10 % and 20 % of adolescents globally experience mental health conditions,

(<sup>77</sup>) Health Behaviours in School-aged children (HBSC) 2017/2018. Authors' calculations NB: EU: unweighted average. Young people were asked how often they had experienced the following symptoms in the last 6 months: headache; stomach ache; backache; feeling low; feeling irritable or bad tempered; feeling nervous; difficulties in getting to sleep; and feeling dizzy. Response options for each symptom ranged from 'about every day' to 'rarely or never'. Findings presented here show the proportions with multiple (two or more) health complaints more than once a week in the last 6 months.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>76</sup>) Health Behaviours in School-aged Children (HBSC) 2017/2018. Authors' calculations NB: EU: unweighted average.

making it critical to investigate causes of poor mental health and to intervene as quickly as possible during childhood and adolescence.

Gender-specific data on pre-school children's mental health is scarce. More evidence on gender differences is available 10-19-year-olds. Boys are generally more affected by autism, particularly Asperger's syndrome, anxiety and conduct disorders, while girls tend to suffer from anxiety, conduct disorders and depression (Baranne and Falissard, 2018).

Among children and adolescents aged 6-17 years and 5-17 years, the prevalence of ADHD and conduct disorders is estimated at around 5 % and 3 %, respectively (Wittchen et al. 2011). Boys are three times more likely to be affected by both ADHD and conduct disorders than girls. The prevalence of common mental health disorders among adolescents, for example depressive and anxiety disorders, is estimated at between 25 % and 31 %, depending on the diagnostic criteria, with girls more affected (S. A. Silva et al., 2020). Regarding overall self-reported mental health, 10 % of boys and 14 % of girls aged 11 years in 28 European countries noted 'feeling low' more than once a week, on average (OECD, 2018). These figures rise significantly with age; gender differences become more pronounced, with 29 % of girls aged 15 years saying they felt low, compared with 13 % of boys the same age.

#### Mental health disorders among adults

Analysis of GBD (<sup>78</sup>) data shows that in 2019 36.7 million women and 34.1 million men aged over 20 years in the EU suffered from mental disorders (<sup>79</sup>). These figures represent 20 % and 18 % of the total adult population of women and men, respectively.

There are important gender differences in prevalence rates for internalising and externalising mental health disorder, Figure 31, based on GBD data, shows the distribution of internalising mental disorders in women and men across countries. In all EU countries, the proportion of adults with mental disorders, excluding SUDs, is higher among women than among men. Prevalence rates among women range from 20 % or higher in Portugal, Spain and Greece to 12 % in Poland. The difference between countries is lower for men, ranging from 16 % in Portugal, Ireland and Greece to around 11 % in many eastern European countries (Figure 31). The highest prevalence of mental disorders among women and the greatest gender gaps are in western European countries. This does not mean that the mental health burden is lower in eastern Europe. The results are influenced by access to mental healthcare and stigma related to seeking professional help, both of which can vary across countries. As shown in Figure 31, women in northern and central European countries turn to mental healthcare professionals more often than women and men elsewhere.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>78</sup>) GBD data set is a collection of a wide range of data, including from the national health registries, as well as health-related survey evidence, http://ghdx.healthdata.org/gbd-2019.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>79</sup>) Mental disorders include schizophrenia, depressive disorders, bipolar disorders, anxiety, eating disorders, autism spectrum disorders, ADHD, conduct disorder, idiopathic developmental intellectual disability and other mental disorders, as well as SUDs.





NB: The data includes mental disorders without SUDs. Source: GBD Study 2019. Authors' calculations.

Older age groups are at risk of specific types of mental disorders, such as dementia, with Alzheimer's disease accounting for between 60 % and 70 % of all dementia cases (Mielke, 2018). An estimated 5 % of people aged 60 years or older in the EU suffer from dementia, and women are about 1.6 times more likely to be affected than men (Wittchen et al., 2011). This gender gap is partly due to life expectancy, as women live longer than men. Dementia is less common in eastern Europe than in the rest of Europe (Wittchen et al., 2011) because of women's comparatively lower life expectancy in eastern Europe. However, it is not yet clear whether women have a higher risk of dementia than men after accounting for differences in life expectancy. While some risk factors are more common among women, such as depression and lower educational levels, others are more prevalent among men, including sleep apnoea (Mielke, 2018). This means that it is possible that the gender gap in dementia is partly determined by sex differences, and not only by gender inequalities.

#### Gender differences in mental disorders

As mentioned above, mental illness tends to manifest differently in women and men, with the distinction between internalising and externalising disorders particularly relevant.





Source: GBD study 2019. Results, authors' calculations.

GBD data reveals that the prevalence of depression in the EU is 1.7 times higher in women than in men (Figure 32), while anxiety disorders are twice more prevalent among women. Gender differences in eating disorders are even higher, with almost three times more adult women than men suffering from this illness (<sup>80</sup>). The gender gap is reversed in cases of SUDs, which are 2.1 times more prevalent among men. This is consistent with earlier findings on internalising mental health disorders being more common among women and SUDs being more common among men.

Depression is the most widespread mental illness in the EU (Wittchen et al., 2011). Some scholars estimate it to be about twice as prevalent among women as among men (Kuehner, 2017; Van de Velde et al., 2013; Wittchen et al., 2011; Yu, 2018). For women, one in 10 of all healthy life years lost is lost because of depression. For men, it is roughly one in 20.

Men are more likely to suffer from alcohol, opioid and cannabis dependence, with men-to-women ratios of 3.3:1, 1.4:1 and 2.5:1, respectively. Alcohol use disorders make up the greatest mental health disease burden among men (Wittchen et al., 2011). However, some recent research suggests that the gender gap in SUDs may be narrowing, especially among adolescents (Thibaut, 2018).

Gender-specific mental health disorders have different impacts on health status. Overall, poor mental health contributes to the overall burden of disease, including NCDs (<sup>81</sup>).

While the percentage of healthy life years lost (<sup>82</sup>) that is attributable to mental disorders is almost the same for women and men aged over 20 years in the EU – 9 % and 8 %, respective-ly – the proportion of healthy life years lost as a result of SUDs is higher among men. On aver-

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>80</sup>) Across the EU-27, more than 900 000 adult women (aged over 20 years) suffered from eating disorders in 2019, which is three times higher than for men (317 000) (GBD 2019 data).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>81</sup>) Mental health is considered an important factor in NCDs, with a meta-analysis by WHO showing that psychosocial factors are affecting NCDs in Europe and, particularly, that 'Psychosocial distress may also have a direct effect on NCDs such as coronary heart disease independent of these other factors' (Pikhart and Pikhartova, 2015).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>82</sup>) 'Lost healthy life years' refers to the number of years lost as a result of premature deaths and years lived with disability, based on life expectancy.

age, 37 % of all healthy years lost through SUDs are lost from alcohol or drug abuse. Figures are highest in the Baltic countries, Denmark and Poland, at more than 50 %. In contrast, SUDs account for only 13 % of all healthy years of life lost among EU women overall. This share differs across EU countries. It ranges from 24–25 % in Estonia and Poland, to less than 10 % in southern European countries and the Netherlands. This is consistent with the analysis of men's premature mortality being disproportionately impacted by alcohol and substance abuse (Table 3).

### Gender norms and relations impact mental health

Research in various parts of the world connects the level of gender inequalities in society with their impact on individual women's mental health. Using measures for women's political participation, economic independence, employment and SRHR to assess levels of gender equality, Chen et al. (2005) found that low gender equality scores were associated with higher levels of depressive symptoms in women. The link was particularly notable among certain groups of women - younger, unmarried and non-white. Similar findings in the EU by Van de Velde et al. (2013) showed that macro-level gender equality supported good mental health for women and men. Some groups were affected more than others by certain aspects of gender equality. Research in various parts of the world connects the level of gender inequalities in society with their impact on individual women's mental health. Using measures for women's political participation, economic independence, employment and SRHR to assess levels of gender equality, Chen et al. (2005) found that low scores were associated with higher levels of depressive symptoms. The link was particularly notable among certain groups of women - younger, unmarried and non-white. Similar findings in the EU by Van de Velde et al. (2013) showed that macro-level gender equality supported good mental health for women and men. Some groups were affected more than others and by certain aspects of gender equality.

Other research in Europe also argues that the gender gap in mental health over the life course is affected by a country's gender equality levels, measured by the Global Gender Gap Index. For example, the mental health of older women in gender-unequal countries is worse than in more gender-equal countries (Bracke et al., 2020). This could suggest that the effects of disadvantage, such as being a woman in a gender-unequal country, accumulate over a lifetime and result in more pronounced health inequalities. This is consistent with previous research linking rigid gender norms with poor levels of cognition in old age (Bonsang et al., 2017).

#### Gender-based violence (83)

Violence and power imbalances adversely affect the mental health of women and men victims (Bhui, 2018). For example, exposure to interpersonal violence heightens the risk of suicide among youth and young adults (Miranda-Mendizabal et al., 2019). Since women are more likely to face gender-based violence and power imbalances, they are also more likely to suffer from mental health problems (Oram et al., 2017). Violence is, therefore, an important contributor to gender differences in poor mental health.

The definition of gender-based violence varies, including through each country's legal framework and the scope of action (FRA, 2014). Gender-based violence also takes many forms: domestic violence, intimate partner violence, sexual violence, forced and early marriage,

<sup>(83)</sup> Literature on the links between mental health and other types of gender-based violence is scarce. Studies suggest that women victims of human trafficking often suffer high levels of depression, anxiety, post-traumatic stress, psychotic disorders and SUDs (Oram et al., 2015, 2016; Ottisova et al. 2016). The risk of suffering mental health problems is increased by physical and sexual violence, and the is related to the duration and the severity of the trafficking experience. Mental health problems may be present in the long term, even after the victim has escaped from the trafficker, and can be reinforced by poor social support (Abas et al., 2013; Kiss et al., 2015). Studies suggest that women subjected to FGM, in addition to experiencing physical health problems, are also more likely to have mental health problems such as anxiety, depression, somatisation, post-traumatic stress and low self-esteem (Berg et al., 2010; Knipscheer et al., 2015).

'honour' crimes, FGM and human trafficking. However, intimate partner and sexual violence are its most common forms worldwide (Sian Oram et al., 2017). In the EU, physical and sexual violence by a current or former partner or spouse is the most prevalent (FRA, 2014) form of gender-based violence. More than one in five women (22 %) has suffered it. Different forms of gender-based violence consistently lead to a range of mental illnesses globally, including anxiety, depression, suicide, post-traumatic stress and substance abuse (Escribà-Agüir et al., 2010; Ferrari et al., 2016; Riedl et al., 2019). FRA's most recent Fundamental Rights Survey shows that incidents of a sexual nature, in particular, have a profound long-term psychological impact on victims - 50 % of women victims feel anxious, 49 % feel vulnerable, 39 % lose confidence and 36 % are depressed. Other effects include 35 % of women victims having difficulties sleeping and 33 % experiencing panic attacks (FRA, 2021).

Research on victims of intimate partner violence – physical, psychological and sexual – reveals the impact of abuse on the development of mental health problems. Among these are trauma and stressor-related disorders, eating and addiction disorders, insomnia, depression and suicidal tendencies (Campbell et al., 2002; Halim et al., 2018; Sarkar, 2008). Victims of intimate partner violence have a threefold increased risk of a depressive disorder and a fourfold increased risk of developing an anxiety disorder. However, post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is the most common mental health problem among women victims of intimate partner violence, with risk increasing sevenfold (Chandan et al., 2019; Ferrari et al., 2016; Shen and Kusunoki, 2019). The probability of psychotropic drug use, as well as psychological distress, increases with the duration of violence over a lifetime (Bonomi et al., 2006; Ruiz-Pérez and Plazaola-Castaño, 2005). Although women are more likely to be victims of intimate partner violence, a major contributor to the mental health gender gap, men suffering such violence are similarly impacted (Sian Oram et al., 2017).

Women who have recently experienced severe episodes of violence generally experience high-

er levels of distress (Hegarty et al., 2013); these levels decrease in time, independently of whether or not women are offered treatment (Coker et al., 2012; Sullivan and Bybee, 1999). Some victims still experience high levels of psychological distress and trauma-related symptoms years later (Riedl et al., 2019), demonstrating the enduring effects of intimate partner violence on mental health (Campbell et al., 2002).

Health services should consider symptoms of mental illness as a potential indicator of past or current intimate partner violence or non-partner domestic violence (Ferrari et al., 2016). Several 'risk factors' also need to be included in any analysis of the relationship between intimate partner violence and mental health - gender, socioeconomic status, age, social and family network, previous mental health problems and abuse during childhood (Abramsky et al., 2011; Finkelhor et al., 2007; Hughes et al., 2017; Jewkes, 2002). Mental health services, therefore, need to be aware of interpersonal violence experienced and perpetrated by women and men, and to provide gender-sensitive and cross-cutting services to address it (Sian Oram et al., 2017).

Hate-motivated violence against the LGBTI community has significant and lasting consequences for individual victims. Psychological problems and a fear of going out are the two most frequently mentioned impacts of physical and sexual attacks on health and well-being reported by 49 % and 30 %, respectively (FRA, 2020b). Trans and intersex victims of physical and sexual attacks experience a higher rate of psychological problems, including depression or anxiety (FRA, 2020b). LGBTI people are two to three times more likely to report an enduring psychological or emotional problem - suicidal thoughts and attempts, substance misuse and deliberate self-harm – than the general population (European Commission, 2017). For example, a meta-analysis revealed that lesbian and bisexual women are nearly 1.82 times more likely to attempt suicide than heterosexual women (M. King et al., 2008).

**Violence and harassment at work** can also result in poor mental health (Eurofound, 2015).

Sexual harassment in the workplace is an often neglected form of gender-based violence, receiving inadequate organisational responses. More than one in three women are victims of it (O'Neil et al., 2018). They are likely to suffer psychological problems such as depression, anxiety and PTSD (Sojo et al., 2016). Even after the removal of the threat, victims are likely to show psychological distress years afterwards (Nielsen and Einarsen, 2012), as sexual harassment acts as a chronic stressor.

New forms of gender-based violence have emerged with digitalisation. Cyber-violence against women is rising and spreading, abetted by the anonymity afforded to aggressors, enabling them to perpetrate violence with relative impunity (Cuenca-Piqueras et al., 2020). Younger women, the main users of social media, are disproportionately affected (WHO, 2020f). Cyber-violence encompasses cyberstalking, hacking, impersonation, cyberbullying, sexual harassment and image-based sexual abuse (Faith and Fraser, 2018). Each of these can take myriad forms. For example, image-based sexual abuse incudes revenge porn, upskirting (taking secret, sexually intrusive photographs) and sexualised Photoshopping as well as sextortion and voyeurism (McGlynn et al., 2017). Increased internet activity during the COVID-19 pandemic has been accompanied by a sharp rise in cyber-violence (EIGE, 2020g; WHO, 2020f), which lowers victims' self-esteem and exacerbates their distress when interacting with others online. Victims of cyber-violence can experience concentration problems, stress, anxiety, depression and panic attacks as a result, and can feel helpless, pessimistic about the future and unable to control their own lives (European Parliament, 2021).

#### Work stressors

The working environment for those in paid jobs often causes chronic stress and may lead to burnout and depressive symptoms. Workers suffering from prolonged stress can simultaneously develop serious physical health problems

such as cardiovascular disease or musculoskeletal conditions (84). With entrenched gender segregation in the labour market, women's over-representation in precarious work and the continued difficult articulation between paid and unpaid work, work-related stressors are likely to have different impacts on women and men. For example, women constitute 70 % of the global health workforce and are highly visible on the frontlines of the COVID-19 pandemic. Their working hours, shift assignments and great exposure to infection create extremely high levels of distress and risk burnout (WHO, 2020c). The effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of workers, especially those deemed 'essential workers', are likely to be profound and are analysed in Section 9.2.2.

In Europe, severe forms of burnout are rather infrequent, at below 5 %, based on diagnostic criteria, while more moderate and mostly self-assessed forms of burnout are reported by between 15 % and 25 % of respondents in different cross-cutting studies(Eurofound, 2018b). The same Eurofound study found that women are more likely than men to be affected by burnout in Belgium, Czechia, Germany and the Netherlands. In other countries, for example Austria, Finland and Slovenia, there appears to be no significant gender gap. However, women and men may experience burnout differently. For example, women tend to feel more emotionally and physically exhausted and overextended at work, whereas men become more depersonalised, which can manifest in them distancing themselves psychologically from clients and co-workers (Purvanova and Muros, 2010). Contrary to expectation, occupation does not moderate gender-specific patterns of burnout.

A substantial proportion of the European working population – 22 % of women and 19 % of men – report depressive symptoms, and it is suggested that work-related risk factors for depressive symptoms are gender specific (Ardito et al., 2014). Among women, high psychological and intermediate emotional demands significantly enhance the risk of depressive symptoms.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>84</sup>) Comprehensive information on psychosocial risks and stress at work is available on the EU-OSHA website, https://osha.europa.eu/ en/themes/psychosocial-risks-and-stress.

Conversely, high levels of decision authority and support from managers, intermediate support from colleagues, a positive social climate, and job rewards and security are protective. Among men, the relative risk of depressive symptoms is significantly raised by exposure to intermediate psychological demands and high pressure to hide emotions. However, a variety of work, opportunity for skills use and development, support from colleagues and managers, and job rewards and security greatly reduce the risk.

#### Work-life balance tensions

Work-life balance and conflict are other important aspects affecting the mental health of the working population (Eurofound, 2017, 2018b). Both the work-to-family conflict, namely spending extra time at work and reducing time with family, and family-to-work conflict, namely domestic obligations affecting work hours, are strongly correlated with burnout (Purvanova and Muros, 2010). A meta-analysis demonstrates that women are more likely to experience family-to-work conflict, while men more often face work-to-family conflict (Byron, 2005). OECD statistics on time in paid and unpaid work show that men spend more time in paid work (85). Women, in contrast, spend more time in unpaid work, but also spend more time in total on work, paid and unpaid combined.

EIGE (2021d) has highlighted the continued burden of unpaid care on women, whether or not they are employed. It has also shown that women in precarious jobs face higher time demands than women in stable work. However, the demands of unpaid care are rarely analysed as a social determinant of mental health. Of 1 522 papers covered in a recent gender-sensitive literature review of the impact of precarious jobs on mental health, none considered the distribution of domestic work (Valero et al., 2020).

Gender disparities in unpaid care widened during the COVID-19 pandemic. The closure

of schools, childcare and other services put women with care responsibilities under particular strain (EIGE, 2021d). For lone mothers, the loss of childcare support and related economic fallouts, such as income loss, have been especially consequential in terms of physical, economic and mental health (Bauer et al., 2021).

#### Traditional norms of masculinity

Traditional gender roles place expectations on men to be the sole breadwinner in the family. Gender equality progress and profound changes in the labour market may have given greater prominence to dual-earning family models, with men encouraged to embrace more caring masculinities and roles (EIGE, 2019c), but the conventional vision of the male provider can affect men's sense of self-esteem (Gough and Novikova, 2020).

Reducing the burden of mental disorders on individuals and societies, including suicide mortality, requires greater encouragement of those in distress to seek help. Men are less likely to seek help for mental health than women (<sup>86</sup>). Young men are among the least likely to ask for help from friends or medical professionals for mental health problems (Biddle et al., 2004; Oliver et al., 2005).

Lower levels of health-seeking behaviour are shown to be related to social construction and cultural representations of masculinities (Baker, 2019; Brown et al., 2019; Gough and Novikova, 2020). Men's conformity to traditional masculinity norms can affect their health behaviour in multiple ways. These include an inability to recognise depressive symptoms and displaying atypical symptoms such as violence, anger and substance abuse, as well as reluctance to seek professional help except as a last resort and a reluctance to use therapies if considered unacceptable, for example medication (Seidler et al., 2016). WHO argues that men who adhere to traditional masculinity norms, including

<sup>(85)</sup> OECD Time Use Database, https://stats.oecd.org/index.aspx?queryid=54757.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>86</sup>) Analysis of the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS) data indicates that women turn to mental healthcare professionals more often than men (based on self-reported consultation of a mental healthcare professional, including a psychologist, psychotherapist or a psychiatrist). In the EU-27, 4 % of men and 7 % of women report having sought the help of a mental healthcare professional.

self-reliance, emotional control, anti-femininity and toughness, are more likely to avoid talking about and seeking help for mental health issues (Gough and Novikova, 2020). Such norms and attitudes are often reinforced at work, particularly in male-dominated sectors, where displays of weakness are discouraged, competition between peers is encouraged and violence is sometimes condoned.

Common factors affecting help-seeking behaviour include a preference to handle the problem by oneself, little perceived need and low mental health literacy (Andrade et al., 2014; Schnyder et al., 2017). Stigma surrounding assistance, causing internal shame and embarrassment, hinders people across all population groups from asking for help. It may disproportionately affect minority groups, young people, men, and those working in the military and health (Clement et al., 2015). As highlighted in Section 9.1.2, fear of disclosure and cultural norms and stigma around mental health explain why men, and some more than others, are less likely to seek help (Gough and Novikova, 2020; Han et al., 2018; Magaard et al., 2017).

### Body image drives poor mental health, especially in youth

Analysis of the 2017–2018 WHO HBSC survey shows that girls report poorer mental health than boys. Nearly one in two girls - 47 % - report mental health difficulties at least once a week, compared with 34 % of boys. Some reasons for higher rates of mental health problems among girls and young women may be related to permanent concerns over physical appearance and body dissatisfaction, including weight. WHO notes that eating disorders commonly emerge during adolescence and young adulthood, and they mostly affect girls (WHO, 2020a). While boys are more likely to be overweight or obese, girls more often report perceiving their body to be too fat and being on weight-reducing diets. Gender differences increase with age (Inchley et al., 2016; Inchley et al., 2020). The share of adolescents reporting

poor mental health grows significantly in tandem with greater dissatisfaction over body image (<sup>87</sup>). In contrast, actual body mass index or objectively being obese does not have a strong effect on mental health. Therefore, whether or not a person is overweight is irrelevant; rather, it is perceived overweight that is linked to increased risks of depressive symptoms and suicidality. This link has been observed irrespective of study location and the age or gender of participants (Haynes et al., 2019).

As highlighted in EIGE (2019b), adolescent girls' concern over physical appearance correlates highly with their social media use. The 'beauty myth', by which girls and women are subjected to unachievable standards of beauty, balancing low self-esteem and self-confidence with competition with other women, is reinforced in online spaces (EIGE, 2019b). Comparisons with peers and professional models on social media (Carey et al., 2014) have been associated with body image concerns among adolescent girls, with social media playing an intermediary role (Tiggemann and Slater, 2013, 2014).

### 9.1.2. Health and risk behaviours are clearly gendered

WHO defines health behaviour as 'any activity undertaken by an individual, regardless of actual or perceived health status, for the purpose of promoting, protecting or maintaining health, whether or not such behaviour is objectively effective towards that end' (Nutbeam, 1998). Health behaviour and health status are interlinked, since the activities shaping the first influence the outcomes of the second. Health behaviours have different characteristics and aims. While health-promoting behaviours are purposefully espoused to protect and maintain health status, risk behaviours are adopted despite their harmful consequences (Nutbeam, 1998). The Gender Equality Index monitors both types of health behaviour. Indicators for health-protecting behaviour include diet and

<sup>(87)</sup> HBSC study, 2013–2014, authors' calculations. NB: Data is missing for Cyprus and Lithuania.

exercise, while health risk behaviour covers activities such as heavy drinking and smoking (<sup>88</sup>).

Gender is an important social determinant of health, shaping and reproducing how women and men engage in health behaviour. Research often frames women as as engaging in health-promoting behaviour, whereas men are portrayed as taking more risks (Courtenay, 2000), a pattern visible in the EU. However, **on average, the EU population does too little physical activity and consumes insufficient fruit and vegetables regardless of gender**, despite WHO recommendations.

### Women are less physically active but eat more healthily

Physical activity is an important component of healthy behaviour recommended for all ages and in stages of the life cycle, including during pregnancy and post partum. The health benefits of exercise range from better cognitive and mental health to improved cardiovascular activity and, ultimately, lower all-cause mortality rates. The WHO recommends that all adults aged between 18 and 64 years engage in at least 150–300 minutes of moderate-intensity aerobic activity or between 75 and –150 minutes of vigorous-intensity aerobic exercise every week (WHO, 2020h).

On average, approximately more than half the EU adult population is missing the target of 3 hours a week (Figure 33). The gender gap in physical activity across the EU is 5 p.p. in men's favour. Estonia is the only Member State where slightly more women than men engage in physical activity, and it is also the country with the highest proportion (85 %) of people exercising (<sup>89</sup>). Belgium has the largest gap (11.7 p.p.) in weekly exercise between women and men, while Denmark is the only Member State without a gender gap. Throughout life (16–75+ years), gender gaps in physical activity remain the lowest, at 1 p.p., between the ages of 50 and 64 years. The biggest gender gaps are among young adults (16-24 years) and elderly people (75+ years). In both cases, the gender gap is 10 p.p. to women's detriment (90).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>88</sup>) It is important to note that the Index consults the share of the population that is not engaging in risk-taking health behaviour to have consistent measurements reflecting health-promoting behaviour. Therefore, a higher Index score for health behaviour indicates that a higher share of the population engages in physical activity and healthy diets, and drinks and smokes less.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>89</sup>) Values for Estonia are estimates. The reliability of the data is limited.

<sup>(90)</sup> EIGE calculations based on Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ilc\_hch07.





Source: Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ilc\_hch07. Notes

EU: Eurostat estimation, EE, LT, SK: low reliability

In the EU, gender gaps in physical activity emerge before adulthood. WHO underlines the importance of exercise for children and adolescents, recommending even higher amounts of daily activity because of ongoing physical and cognitive development during this life stage (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020a). HBSC survey data shows that children's level of activity tends to decline between the ages of 11 and 15 years, especially among girls (WHO, 2016a, WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2017), with parental income key to determining children's access to sports (Richter et al., 2009). Among 11-, 13- and 15-year-olds, boys more often than girls report daily moderate to vigorous physical activity of at least 60 minutes. The EU gender gap in this instance is 7 p.p. The largest gender gaps are noted in Spain, at 14 p.p., and Austria, Finland and Ireland – all at 11 p.p.

Gaps are even more pronounced in the share of girls and boys engaging in vigorous physical activity at least four times a week. Here the EU gender gap doubles to 15 p.p., again to the detriment of girls. France and Luxembourg have the highest gaps, of 23 p.p. (<sup>91</sup>). Exercise in adolescence is particularly important because regular physical activity, such as school-based high-impact exercise protocols, can improve bone mass and prevent osteoporosis. This condition affects half of all women in old age, but only a fifth of men (Xu et al., 2016). Adolescence is also when physical activity habits lasting into adulthood are established (Currie, 2016).

Physical and social activity have been proven to be positively associated with better health (Roychowdhury, 2020). However, women and men have different patterns of social activities

(<sup>91</sup>) HBSC survey 2017/2018, authors' calculations. NB: EU: unweighted average.

and different amounts and uses of leisure time (EIGE, 2020g) (<sup>92</sup>). The diminishing boundaries between professional and personal time created by digitalisation have seen paid work increasingly encroaching on leisure time, especially for women in precarious employment (EIGE, 2020g; European Parliament, 2016a; Wajcman, 2015).

#### Gender Inequalities In Health Behaviour



do at least 3 hours of exercise a week

Research suggests that less physically active women tend to report more barriers to exercise (E. S. Edwards and Sackett, 2016). Since women generally do most of the childcare and

housework, they have less leisure time available for physical activities than do men (The Lancet Public Health, 2019). Environmental and socioeconomic factors also determine women's and men's engagement in physical activities. A Eurofound study on social insecurities and resilience suggests that women and men have different risk perceptions of outdoor surroundings after dark. Women living in the poorest urban settings feel the most insecure in their neighbourhood (Eurofound, 2018a). For them, physical activity outside is a safety risk, discouraging them from exercising, including walking or running.

Although it is too soon to know the long lasting effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on activity levels, there are already indications of gendered changes in physical activity. Lockdown measures at the start of the pandemic led to men, particularly younger men, doing less physical activity. Research in Croatia (Sekulic et al., 2020) and Italy (Giustino et al., 2020) suggests that this is because young men rely more on outdoor and team sports, which were more severely restricted by social distancing orders than the home-based, individual exercise women more often participate in. A systematic review found that people who exercised regularly before the pandemic increased their physical activity during lockdown, while those who did not were even more sedentary (Khan et al., 2021).

Healthy diets are key to prevent or delay NCDs such as diabetes, hypertension, cancer and osteoporosis (WHO, 2003). This is particularly important during the COVID-19 pandemic, as NCDs put individuals at greater risk of severe health outcomes and death in the case of infection. Men's higher mortality rate during the pandemic is partly due to their higher levels of NCDs (see Section 9.2.2.).

For adults, healthy eating involves at least 400 g (or five portions) of fruit and non-starchy vegetables as daily target (WHO, 2020d). Although the exact breakdown, preparation method and weight amount differ across Member States, all have implemented WHO guidelines and recommend eating at least five portions of fruit and vegetables daily in their national dietary guidelines (European Commission, 2021f).

(<sup>92</sup>) As highlighted in EIGE (2020g), data from the time domain shows that, among working adults, rates of regular participation in sport, cultural and leisure activities outside the home are extremely low in some countries, especially among women. The share of working women engaging in regular social activities outside the home varies widely, being lowest in in Romania (6 %), Portugal and Cyprus (10 % each) and Bulgaria and Greece (11 % each) and highest in Denmark (53 %), the Netherlands (56 %) and Finland (60 %).



### **Figure 34.** Women and men consuming at least five portions of fruits and vegetables daily, by EU Member State (%, 15–64 years, 2014)

Source: Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_ehis\_fv3e.

Data from the European Health Interview Survey (EHIS) (2014) shows that barely 1 in 10 adults meet these recommendations, and large gender gaps exist in healthy eating across the EU. On average, the share of women who consume the recommended five daily portions of fruit and vegetables is almost twice that for men (Figure 34). The share of women meeting the daily target is lowest in eastern and south-eastern Member States, and highest in Ireland and Denmark. Ireland also has the most men meeting WHO recommendations, with more recent data on living conditions in Europe confirming this (93). Although Ireland, Denmark and the Netherlands have more men eating the required daily amounts of fruit and vegetables, substantial gender gaps remain when compared with women. Overall, men are more likely to have poor diets and to engage in dietary risk behaviour. This is particularly so among men over 50 years. The highest rates of loss of healthy life years among men attributable to poor diet are in eastern Europe, but men in western Europe also show distinct patterns of unhealthy eating behaviour, with diets low in fruits, nuts and vegetables (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018).

Gender differences in healthy dietary behaviour exist across the age spectrum. For example, the Healthy Lifestyle by Nutrition in Adolescence (HELENA) study examines healthy eating behaviours among adolescents in 10 Member States. Girls have a greater variety of healthy diet patterns, greater availability of fruit at home and more awareness of what it means to eat healthily than boys (González-Gil et al., 2019). In addition, the authors noted that healthy diet patterns are determined by the food choices parents provide, regardless of gender. Both these observations - the gender gap in fruit consumption and parental influence on adolescents' healthy eating behaviour - are also made in a WHO report examining the health behaviour of school-aged children (Inchley et al., 2016). The report also shows that income and family affluence are a driving factor for healthy eating behaviour. Adolescents living in more affluent households are more likely to share meals with family members and have more access to fruit. Adolescents from

(93) EU-SILC, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ilc\_hch11, 2017.

low-affluence households, especially girls, reported a higher consumption of sugared drinks. These findings underline the need for healthy foods, such as fruit and vegetables, to be affordable, available and accessible to all ages, and for their consumption to not be feminised.

A systematic review of dietary behaviour during the COVID-19 pandemic concluded that gender and low income are determinants of weight gain (Khan et al., 2021). These factors play a particularly influential role in the health behaviour of lone mothers, who are likely to spend a disproportionate amount of their income on healthy food for their children, neglecting their own health by going without food or making cheap, unhealthy, choices, often leading to weight gain (Martin and Lippert, 2012). As of 2015, Finland was the only country to provide free school meals for all pupils and students at all levels, from pre-primary to upper secondary (Polish Eurydice Unit, 2016). While all Member States provide some school meal discounts for low-income families, school closures during the COVID-19 pandemic led to food insecurity for school-aged children and adolescents from less affluent backgrounds (Nicola et al., 2020).

Dietary behavioural change during the pandemic has been noted in women, but not necessarily in men. In a study of three Member States (DK, DE and SI), Janssen et al. (2021) noted that women increased their consumption of fruit and vegetables during the first month of the lockdown in 2020, in contrast to men. The authors attribute the growing gap in fruit and vegetable consumption to wider gendered patterns in health, since women are more likely to control their healthy eating behaviour and prevent or mitigate a possible COVID-19 infection.

#### Men are more likely to smoke and drink

Sociocultural norms and gendered attitudes shape willingness to engage in health-promoting or risky behaviours. Harmful perceptions of masculinity limit boys and men in their selfcare and create barriers to healthy living and well-being. Acceptable norms for women and men, in terms of health behaviour, structure men's health in two ways. First, societal gender norms discourage men from participating in health-promoting behaviour, usually seen as feminine, including using sunscreen (Courtenay, 2000), being a vegetarian (Bogueva et al., 2020) or getting psychological counselling (Seidler et al., 2016). Second, social acceptance of certain risky health behaviours. including unprotected sex, excessive use of harmful substances, extreme sports, violence, smoking and excessive alcohol consumption, is greater when such practices are carried out by men (Baker, 2019; Courtenay, 2000).

Between 2003 and 2005, smoking and hazardous drinking were responsible for substantial proportions of the mortality gender gap in 30 European countries. Smoking-related deaths accounted for 40–60 % of this gender gap in all surveyed countries; alcohol-related mortality accounted for 20–30 % of the gap in eastern Europe and 10–20 % elsewhere in Europe (G. Mc-Cartney et al., 2011). Although 15-year-old girls are slightly more likely to smoke than boys of the same age – 19 % compared with 17 % – the trend among adult is reversed (OECD/European Union, 2020).

In 2014, more men than women smoked daily in 26 Member States, with Sweden the only exception (Eurostat, 2020). Nationally, daily smoking figures ranged from 7.5 % in Sweden to 37.3 % in Cyprus for men, and from 8.3 % in Romania to 22 % in Austria for women. Several studies have identified factors linked to smoking and adverse health outcomes for women, including biological, genetic and hormonal factors, socioeconomic determinants, occupational exposure, job stress, personal lifestyle and passive smoking, or a combination of these factors (Syamlal et al., 2014). In addition, women find it harder to stop smoking than men. This is especially true for younger women with lower income and education levels, who are also more likely to continue smoking during pregnancy (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2021a). The same report found that only 11 % of warning images on tobacco packaging feature women, implying a gender gap in female representation in health prevention measures.

WHO Europe has declared the growing use of electronic cigarettes, especially among adolescents, as alarming for public health. Although there is no complete data set for the EU-27, countries with a high prevalence of adolescents using e-cigarettes are Poland (23.4 %), Latvia (18%) and Italy (17.5%) (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020b). As with tobacco smoking, gendered patterns are visible in e-cigarette use. A systematic review covering the WHO Europe region found a higher prevalence of e-cigarette use among men, adolescents and young adults, tobacco cigarette smokers and former smokers (Kapan et al., 2020). Though further research is needed, a study on 14 to 17 year-olds in seven Member States found that boys are more likely than girls to use only e-cigarettes (Kinnunen et al., 2021). The same study also shows that more boys than girls smoke both tobacco and e-cigarettes.

Alcohol consumption is considered one of four key contributors to NCDs, for example diabetes, cancer, cardiovascular diseases and epilepsy. Harmful drinking is a risky health behaviour, with gendered implications. Drunkenness can lead to gender-based violence, hinder effective contraceptive use and cause adverse pregnancy outcomes such as fetal alcohol syndrome (WHO, 2019d). According to a WHO Europe report, Europe has the highest alcohol consumption worldwide, irrespective of gender (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2018). However, there is a pronounced gender difference in average heavy episodic or binge drinking (94). Men engage in this behaviour twice as often as women (Figure 35). The lowest shares of men binge drinking at least once a month are in southern and Mediterranean Member States, at less than one in five, while more than a third of men drink excessively in Latvia and Lithuania.





Source: Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_ehis\_al3e. No data available for FR and NL.

(<sup>24</sup>) Heavy episodic drinking is defined as 60 g or more of pure alcohol on at least once per month (WHO, 2019d).

Alcohol consumption patterns differ when considering various socioeconomic factors. According to the OECD (2015), men with lower incomes do more heavy drinking than those with higher incomes. For women, this pattern is reversed. Drinking to relieve distress is noted predominantly in men, and far less so in women. Distress in men increases harmful drinking, including alcohol dependence, binge and hazardous drinking, and intoxication (de Goeij et al., 2015).

Research on 50 to 64 year-olds in 15 EU Member States and Switzerland shows that the prevalence of hazardous drinking is significantly higher among men than among women in most countries. Likewise, the risk of becoming a hazardous drinker is 1.69 times higher for men than for women (Bosque-Prous et al., 2015). Lower values on the gender empowerment measure (95) 'economic and political participation, and power over economic resources' and higher unemployment rates are linked to greater gender differences in such drinking. The authors suggest that this can be attributed to gendered patterns, as unemployed men drink more and unemployed women drink less, widening the overall gap (Bosque-Prous et al., 2015). Countries with the greatest gender differences in hazardous drinking are those with the greatest gender inequalities in daily life, while smaller gender differences seem to be related to higher consumption among women (Bosque-Prous et al., 2015). The authors note that women's higher alcohol consumption in more gender-equal countries could be related to more progressive gender norms, making it easier for women to be targeted in alcohol adverts and for their risky drinking behaviour to be more acceptable.

A systematic review of alcohol consumption during economic crises over a 25-year period also reveals gendered differences. Emotional stress leads men to drink more whereas financial limitations result in women drinking less (De Goeij et al., 2015). In Poland, a study on health behavioural changes during the COVID-19 pandemic found that overall alcohol consumption has increased among men. Women are drinking the same amount as before, but are drinking different types of alcohol (Sidor and Rzymski, 2020). Robust evidence is still scarce and mostly based on national research

### 9.1.3. Gender and intersecting inequalities in access to health services

Timely access to good-quality, affordable healthcare (both preventive and curative) plays a critical role in maintaining good health. It is considered an important social determinant of health (WHO, 2019e). In the EU context, access to health services has been acknowledged as a right and recognised as a key principle of the European Pillar of Social Rights. In a survey carried out by EIGE, respondents ranked nine public services in order of the extent to which they enabled their participation in different everyday life activities (96). The respondents, women and men alike, ranked health services as the most important type of public service and those that have the most transformative potential towards advancing gender equality in society. They create opportunities for people to be involved in education, employment and leisure (EIGE, 2020d).

Despite the EU standing out among industrialised regions for the health coverage of its population (OECD, 2019), universal access to health services is not yet achieved, and there are great variations in the level of access across the EU (Burns et al., 2019). Ethnic minority groups and migrant populations are seen to be over-represented among the population without, or with inadequate, health coverage (OECD, 2019). This section analyses which population groups are lagging behind in terms of access to health services and explores some of the reasons behind this.

<sup>(95)</sup> The gender empowerment measure has since been integrated into the United Nations Development Programme's Gender Inequality Index, http://hdr.undp.org/en/content/gender-inequality-index-gii.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>96</sup>) In general, health services were perceived to enable a person's participation in activities such as employment, domestic work, leisure and education. Health services and medical centres enable a variety of activities, but to different degrees for women and men. A majority of women perceived health services and medical centres to be very important for participating in education, carrying out domestic and care work, and participating in employment; the proportion of men with this perception was smaller

### Gender intersects with other social positions to hamper access to healthcare

Gender inequalities and gender norms intersect with socioeconomic, geographic and cultural factors and create structural barriers when accessing healthcare (WHO, 2019a). As highlighted in the domain of health chapter (Figure 22), several population groups, such as lone parents, older people, migrants and people with disabilities, and women in particular, stand out as highly vulnerable to unmet healthcare needs. Gender is an important determinant of healthcare access and uptake. Gender socialisation tends to deter men from seeking diagnosis and treatment, resulting in men being less likely than women to visit medical practitioners. A study in the United Kingdom found that men were 8 % less likely to consult a doctor than women, even when excluding consultations for reproductive reasons (Wang et al., 2013). The fact that women's greater familiarity with the health and social services system is often attributed to the fact that they dedicate more of their time to childcare and long-term care.

Globally, people with disabilities have unequal access to healthcare services, and therefore have more unmet healthcare needs than the general population (WHO and World Bank, 2011). At the EU level, 7 % of women and 6 % of men with disabilities report unmet needs for medical services, but these figures are much higher in Estonia (29 % of women and 23 % of men), Romania (25 % of women and 23 % of men) and Greece (25 % of women and 22 % of men) (Figure 36). Gender gaps are modest in the majority of countries, with the exception of Estonia (6 p.p.). In Denmark, Sweden, Hungary, Bulgaria, the Netherlands and Luxembourg, men with disabilities are more prone than women to having their medical needs unmet.





Source: Author's calculation with microdata, EU-SILC, 2019 (IE, IT, 2018).

Older adults with disabilities and those living in rural areas experience difficulties in accessing appropriate transport to get to their medical healthcare providers (Gibson and O'Connor, 2010). Physical or structural barriers make it difficult for women with disabilities, especially when they live in rural areas, to access healthcare services, and as a result they may be dissuaded from attending screening for cervical or breast cancer (Ramjan et al., 2016). Furthermore, people with disabilities may have poor access to health promotion and disease prevention initiatives. This results in women with disabilities being less likely to receive screening for breast and cervical cancer than women without disabilities, and men with disabilities are less likely to be screened for prostate cancer (WHO and World Bank, 2011). The recently adopted 2021-2030 strategy on the rights of persons with disabilities includes access to healthcare (97). The European Commission is also planning some guidance on access to healthcare based on inclusive, accessible, person-centred healthcare and free and informed consent, in line with the objectives of the UN Convention on the Rights of Persons with Disabilities.

Beyond medical services, access to long-term care services is critical to autonomous living and the well-being of people with disabilities and health limitations, especially in the context of the EU's ageing population (EIGE, 2020f, 2021d). As shown by EIGE (2020f), barriers to accessing professional home-based care ae affect women disproportionately, as they are over-represented among the population most in need. In the EU, about 29 % of households reported unmet need for professional home care services in 2016 (EIGE, 2019d). Households were slightly more likely to report unmet needs (30 %) if a woman completed the survey than if a man did so (28 %). Women are more likely than men to report an unmet need for professional home care services in all but five Member States (LU, NL, AT, PT and SE) and the United Kingdom. The Member States with the highest unmet needs for professional home care services were Portugal (reported by 85 % of women and 86 % of men), Greece and Cyprus.

Nearly a quarter of women and men live in households that rely on informal care, which may either be insufficient or not be the most suitable / preferred arrangement for either the carer or the one cared for.

Access to palliative care or end-of-life care is also very uneven across the EU. Because palliative care revolves around pain relief and contributes to easing the physical and emotional suffering of patients and families, it is considered fundamental to human dignity (Council of Europe, 2018). The Council of Europe has highlighted the need to factor in rising needs for palliative care services as a corollary of ageing and an increase in the burden of disability. It raised particular concerns over 'the lack of access to appropriate pain relief leading to situations in which patients suffer for months and even years and experience avoidable painful deaths'. Limited palliative care services have profound gendered impacts, with women bearing the brunt of lack of services not only as patients (women being more likely to suffer from health limitations, especially in older age groups, as shown in Figure 26) but also as informal carers whose own well-being and financial independence is put at risk by the burden of care (EIGE, 2019c, 2020e; Eurofound, 2020; Gott et al., 2020).

#### Reasons for unmet needs and underutilisation of medical services

This section will touch on three main sets of factors inhibiting access to medical services, namely the cost associated with them, experiences of discrimination and issues related to cultural sensitivity and a lack of gender sensitivity.

While unmet needs for medical services is a self-reported measure and, as such, could reflect certain biases, exploring reasons why individuals are not accessing the medical services

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>97</sup>) Union of equality: strategy on the rights of persons with disabilities 2021–2030 (easy-to-read version) – Employment, Social Affairs and Inclusion – European Commission, https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_21\_810.

they need can point to certain important determinants and inequalities and how they affect certain groups in particular.

#### Cost

According to EU-SILC data, about one guarter of individuals who reported unmet medical needs gave cost as a reason for being unable to access care ('Could not afford to (too expensive)'). The other most common reasons for unmet medical care needs were 'Wanted to wait and see if problem got better on its own', lack of time ('Could not take time because of work, care for children or for others') and waiting times. In the case of dental care, the proportion of unmet needs due to financial reasons is far higher: half of the respondents gave this as an explanation. Women were a little more likely than men to mention cost as the main reason for not consulting, for either medical or dental care (Chaupain-Guillot and Guillot, 2015). Likewise, the cost of healthcare is a reason why women in financially unstable situations avoid care services, for example those who experience homelessness (Kneck et al., 2021).

As highlighted in Section 7.2., on the domain of health, women aged over 65 are slightly more likely than women overall to experience unmet needs for medical services (98). The share of women and men aged 65+ experiencing unmet needs is highest in Estonia (22 % of women and 15 % of men), Romania and Greece (18 % of men and 13 % of women) (99). Difficulties in accessing healthcare in old age are related to the fact that women are at higher risk of poverty or social exclusion than men when they reach old age (EIGE, 2020g), which reflects the accumulation of economic inequality over the life course. This is of particular importance since women are more likely than men to experience health limitations in old age (Ogg and Rašticová, 2020). Among people aged 65 and older, the leading reasons for unmet medical needs are affordability, especially among women, followed by being on a waiting list. Men are more likely than women to delay medical examination in the hope that the health issue will resolve itself (Figure 37).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>98</sup>) At the EU level, 4 % of women over 65 and 3 % of men of the same age report unmet needs for medical services, compared with 3 % of women and men in the overall adult population.

<sup>(99)</sup> Authors' calculation with microdata, EU-SILC, 2019 (IE, IT, 2018).


### **Figure 37.** Reasons for unmet needs for medical examinations among women and men aged 65 and over (%, EU, 2019)

Source: Authors' calculations based on Eurostat, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/hlth\_silc\_14.

Cost of medical services as a barrier to access is more frequently mentioned by people aged 65 and over than in the adult population as a whole (40 % of women and 34 % of men aged 65 and over, compared with 33 % of women and 29 % of men of the total adult population). This is not to say that other population groups are not experiencing difficulties in affording healthcare. Data shows that large segments of the EU population would find it difficult to pay for unexpected dental care (41 % of women and 35 % of men), mental health services (39 % of women and 33 % of men) and other hospital or medical specialist services (32 % of women and 29 % of men) (Figure 38).



### **Figure 38.** Difficulties in paying for unexpected medical expenses by sex and type of medical service (rather difficult or very difficult, %, 18+ years, EU, 2016)

NB: Respondents were asked, for each type of medical service, 'How easy or difficult would it be for you to cover expenses for each of the following services, if you needed to use it tomorrow?'. Answers selected: 'Rather difficult' and 'Very difficult'. Source: EQLS, 2016.

The financial impact of health expenses, especially on a low-income population, can be captured by two indicators, namely 'catastrophic health spending', a situation in which households spend a high proportion of their resources on healthcare via out-of-pocket payments, and 'impoverishing health spending', in which a household either falls below the poverty line as a result of health expenses or is further impoverished by them (OECD, 2019). While 'impoverishing health spending' affects up to 6 % of households, catastrophic health spending is more common across the EU, affecting from around 1 % of households in Slovenia, Czechia and Ireland to 15 % in Lithuania (WHO, 2019b). Across the EU, households at the bottom of the income ladder, a group among which women and lone mothers are over-represented, were considerably more likely to be affected.

#### Discrimination and other systemic barriers

Accessing health services involves social interactions between patients and health workers in which societal power relations shape patients' experiences (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2016b). WHO's 2019 global monitoring report on primary healthcare sheds light on how gender norms and power influence access to health services. The report found that gender norms and power relations influence women's access to health services and timely diagnosis, while harmful notions of masculinity increase men's risk-taking and reduce their willingness to use health services (WHO, 2019f).

Age, wealth, marital status, ethnicity, religion, caste, disability, education level, homelessness and migration status can lead to stigma and discrimination, which influence access to and use of health services (WHO, 2019a).

A survey by FRA found that 16 % of respondents felt discriminated against by healthcare or social services staff because of being LGBTI in the preceding 12 months (100). Trans and intersex people were the most affected, with 34 % of respondents reporting feeling discriminated against in a health context, followed by lesbian women (16 %), bisexual women (14 %), gay men (11 %) and bisexual men (10 %). Members of the LGBTI community are still, at times, refused healthcare services or experience discrimination, and many feel unable to be open with healthcare professionals about their sexual and/or gender identity, or about being intersex. In the EU-28, 46 % of LGBTI respondents reported that none of their medical providers was aware of their LGBTI status. However, this figure varied greatly by country, from 28 % in Denmark to 82 % in Lithuania (101). Discriminative behaviours experienced by LGBTQI individuals include stigma, denial or refusal of healthcare, and verbal or physical abuse. Knowledge and educational levels, beliefs and religion affect healthcare providers' attitudes towards LGBTQI patients and can lead to homophobic behaviour (Ayhan et al., 2020). Heterosexism, transphobia and homophobia are barriers to healthcare service access; these phenomena are systemic factors, not just individual practices, and may cause LGBTQI people to avoid treatment altogether (Smalley, 2018).

A body of literature explores the gap in the health and health needs of non-EU migrants, which may differ greatly from those of the general European population (Fair et al., 2020, Keygnaert et al., 2015, 2014a, 2014b). Compared with the general EU population, non-EU migrant women have less access to family planning and contraception and less access to SRH services (Abubakar et al., 2018; Fair et al., 2020). Migrant women may face specific access barriers exacerbated by the intersection of gender, socioeconomic status and migration status. Such barriers may include less access to health information, cultural and religious beliefs, fear for their social, labour and administrative situation, housing and pressing economic needs and a deficient or a non-existent network of social and family support (Sánchez-López and Limiñana-Gras, 2017). Migrant girls may use health services less frequently than boys, depending on the study setting and ethnic group; however, further gender-based analyses of immigrant children's healthcare use are needed, since the reasons behind the differences are largely unstudied (Pulver et al., 2016). Many studies have focused on how healthcare practices based on Western cultural concepts influence migrant and refugee women in mental healthcare services, but not many studies have examined how social support, gender, and institutional and organisational structures present barriers to women's health-seeking behaviour (O'Mahony and Donnelly, 2010). Cultural barriers are seen to exacerbate other barriers to access, especially when it comes to mental health services for certain marginalised groups such as refugees or asylum seekers (Satinsky et al., 2019).

The COVID-19 pandemic has further exacerbated barriers to access to healthcare services in the EU either because of deferment and deprioritisation of certain medical procedures or because of fear of infection. In particular, the Eurofound COVID-19 e-survey (2021c) found that 21 % of respondents had missed a medical examination or treatment during the pandemic. This proportion has remained stable at EU level since the onset of the pandemic and was highest in Latvia, Hungary and Portugal. In spring 2021, 18 % of respondents were experiencing a health issue for which they could not get treatment (Eurofound, 2021c).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>100</sup>) Source: Authors' calculations for EU-27 based on FRA, EU-LGBTI II 2019 in the 12 months before the survey. Respondents were asked the question 'In the past 12 months have you ever felt discriminated against due to being LGBTI by healthcare or social services personnel (e.g. a receptionist, nurse or doctor, a social worker)?'.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>101</sup>) Respondents were asked 'To how many medical staff/healthcare providers are you open about being LGBTI?' Source: FRA, EU-LG-BTI II Survey, 2020.

### 9.2. Health dimensions in focus

The following section on SRHR highlights some of the specific barriers that certain groups of women and men face when attempting to access information and services.

# 9.2.1. Rights, access and outcomes – sexual and reproductive health in focus

'Good sexual and reproductive health is a state of complete physical, mental and social well-being in all matters relating to the reproductive system. It implies that people are able to have a satisfying and safe sex life, the capability to reproduce, and the freedom to decide if, when, and how often to do so' (UNFPA, 2021).

The 1994 International Conference on Population and Development (ICPD) framed SRH as a basic human right. Building on landmark agreements of the ICPD in Cairo and the Fourth World Conference on Women in Beijing (1995), governments and advocates have worked to realise and expand international commitments on SRH. Since then, the protection and promotion of SRH without any discrimination, while tackling gender inequalities on this issue, have been on UN agendas and included in the SDGs.

Gender inequalities significantly impact SRH outcomes. They are shaped and structured in accordance with gender norms and unequal power relations in society, and may strip women and men of their ability to control their SRHR. However, biological sex determines the extent to which an individual can access SRH. Women, in particular, are subjected to sexual and reproductive control and limited in their bodily autonomy (UNFPA, 2021). Inequalities based on age, (dis)ability, race, ethnicity, migration status and sexual orientation, as well as gender, influence access to SRH. This section looks specifically at family planning and birth control, sexually transmitted infections (STIs) and STDs, and abortion and pregnancies. It also explores SRH developments during the COVID-19 pandemic. Gender-based violence is considered a contributing factor to poor SRH, and specific findings are included where relevant.

### Gender-sensitive approaches to sexual and reproductive health are key to public health

Women and men have different SRH needs, and gender-specific approaches to SRHR highlight sex-specific diseases, for example breast or prostate cancer. Unique challenges in this area constrain the health of both women and men.

Women may experience a range of gynaecological conditions influencing their SRH. Issues relating to the female reproductive cycle – from menstruation to menopause – including painful periods and endometriosis, are particularly common. Other SRH problems faced by women and girls are uterine fibroids, interstitial cystitis, polycystic ovary syndrome, infertility of various causes, limited access to abortion, and the impacts of sexualised violence. Unplanned pregnancies, complications around pregnancy and childbirth, unsafe abortions, gender-based violence, STIs, STDs and reproductive cancers threaten the well-being not only of women, but also of men and families (Starrs et al., 2018).

Men's reproductive health issues include male factor infertility, androgen deficiency, undescended testis, testis mass, scrotal disorders, phimosis, congenital chordee, Peyronie's disease, premature ejaculation and sexual dysfunction, as well as concerns over contraception, HIV infection and STIs (Wessells, 2021).

Since the 1994 ICPD, governments have been advised to encourage and enable men to take responsibility for their sexual and reproductive behaviour. Hawkes and Hart (2000) note the importance of recognising from the outset that men's reproductive concerns are unrelated to those of their female partners, and to acknowledge that 'men' around the world are not a homogeneous group with the same needs and worries. Just like women, men are characterised not only by their sex and gender, but also by their age, ethnicity, sexuality, educational status, income and occupation, geographical location, their position within a family, and their access to information and ability to use it.

Wessells (2021), while pointing out that urological disease burden among men becomes significant only after the age of 45 years, suggests that identifying men's health risks and engaging them in their own health promotion should begin decades earlier. However, men have different priorities over their lifespan, and manage health risks differently from women. Often reluctant to seek medical attention even when symptoms are noticeable, men typically wait until a problem can no longer be ignored before contacting a healthcare professional (Pell, 2021).

Framing certain SRH conditions as affecting only one sex can be detrimental to health outcomes and reinforce gendered inequalities in health. WHO (2011) considers health interventions as gender transformative when they recognise gender differences and challenge and change the status quo of harmful gender norms, roles and relations.

Sex-based approaches to reproductive health focus on cervical and breast cancer, as these are also among the most common cancers among women. However, women-only cancers are not a concern for girls and women only. For example, cervical cancer is caused by human papillomavirus (HPV) (<sup>102</sup>), which also causes tongue and tonsil cancer, both of which can affect everyone, regardless of gender or sexual identity. Although the prevalence of high-risk HPV types is higher in women, and women are overall more likely than men to develop cancer as a result of HPV infection (Wendland et al., 2020), tongue and tonsil cancers are more common in men (Näsman et al., 2020).

Gender-transformative strategies for SRH interventions include offering HPV vaccinations to boys and men, and Italy was the first EU Member State to do so (Audisio et al., 2016). Vaccinating boys as well as girls not only protects both sexes from tonsil and tongue cancer but also reduces the circulating pool of virus in the male population, thus reducing the risk of transmission to women during sexual intercourse and the risk of cervical cancer. In addition, HPV vaccination for all, to prevent poor SRH, has proven to be cost-effective, and is explicitly recommended for all Member States (ECDC, 2020b). However, according to data provided by WHO in 2019, only 14 Member States include boys in the primary group for HPV vaccinations, and in only 10 of these is HPV vaccination for boys funded (Bonanni et al., 2020).

### Gender-biased reproductive health often overlooks men

Counselling, access to information and services, and birth control methods used to avoid unintended pregnancy enable people to make informed choices in their sex lives. Starrs et al. (2018) state that modern contraception was arguably the most revolutionary intervention in SRH in the 20th century, facilitating the delinking of sex and reproduction and enabling couples and individuals to choose the number and timing of their children.

On average, almost 95 % of family planning needs are met among women in the EU, but differences remain between Member States. In Slovenia, only 3 % of women and girls report having unmet needs for family planning, but in Spain this figure is more than double that (8 %) (Figure 39).

(<sup>102</sup>) HPV – a sexually transmitted infectious disease, the main cause of cervical cancer and genital warts (ECDC, 2020).



### **Figure 39.** Women reporting unmet need for family planning, any method, by EU Member State (%, 15–49 years, 2017)

Note: Percentage of women of reproductive age (15 -49 years) who want to stop or delay childbearing but are not using a method of contraception.

Source: UN database, family planning indicators, https://www.un.org/development/desa/pd/data/family-planning-indicators, 2017.

Studies from Europe and worldwide show that family planning and birth control methods largely remain women's responsibility, with men frequently kept out of contraceptive the decision-making



process (de Irala et al., 2011; Dereuddre et al., 2017). Although contraceptive options include methods for men, and some require their participation, family planning programming has predominantly focused on women. Contraceptive options and methods follow a gender-binary approach in their design, since they concern male condoms and female hormonal contraception, for example the pill or injections. Female condoms have existed for decades, but are either less known or perceived as too expensive in comparison with the male version (Peters et al., 2010). Similarly, male hormonal contraception is still under development, with clinical trials previously being interrupted because of

side effects such as dizziness, depression and changes in weight (Yuen et al., 2020).

In their literature review covering Europe, Canada and the United States, Gold et al. (2021) found that ambivalence towards pregnancy, miscommunication between sex partners and/ or between patients and healthcare professionals increase women's inconsistent contraceptive use. Research on men's contraceptive behaviour is still limited, but findings from France suggest that miscommunication with partners also seems to contribute to unplanned pregnancies. Half of male survey respondents who had not used contraception, leading to an unplanned pregnancy, said they thought their female partners were using birth control (Kågesten et al., 2015).

Contraception availability and accessibility are not the only criteria for uptake. Reliable supply and low-cost interventions are other crucial factors for SRH outcomes. In Romania, Roma women have access to and know about contraceptives, for example the pill, injections and intrauterine devices, but they cannot necessarily afford them long term. Free SRH programmes are often discontinued or are not affordable because of transportation costs or corrupt health staff demanding bribes from Roma women (Kühlbrandt, 2019).

Overall, the UN estimates that 59 % of women in the EU can cover their contraception needs, with Finland outperforming all other Member States (Figure 40). However, data on contraceptive prevalence is lacking for men and for those defining their gender identity differently.

Male condoms and female hormonal contraception are the most prevalent birth control methods used by adolescents in the EU. On average, 65 % of 15-year-old girls and boys report using male condoms during their last intercourse, with the pill used by 28 % (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2020a). A guarter of adolescents do not use either during intercourse, while more than a third in Croatia, Lithuania, Malta and Slovakia report not using any contraceptives (Inchley et al., 2020). Contraceptive access, availability, affordability and accountability vary greatly between Member States. According to the latest European Contraception Atlas (2020) (103), only seven Member States have comprehensive contraception policies (BE, DE, FR, LU, NL, PT and SE). Eastern European Member States (CZ, LT, HU, PL and SK) are the worst performing, although only in Poland has access to contraception been further restricted in the last 4 years. However, it should be noted that limited access to contraception is not associated with increased fertility rates: the 10 countries with the lowest access to contraception have lower fertility rates than the 10 countries with the highest contraception access.



### **Figure 40.** Estimated prevalence of contraceptive use of any method among women, by EU Member State (%, 15–49 years, 2020)

Note: Percentage of women of reproductive age (15-49 years) who are currently using any method of contraception Citation: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2021). Model-based Estimates and Projections of Family Planning Indicators 2021, custom data acquired via website Source: UN database, 2020.

(<sup>103</sup>) The European Contraception Atlas, https://www.epfweb.org/european-contraception-atlas, has been produced since 2017 by the European Parliamentary Forum for Sexual and Reproductive Rights, a network of Members of Parliament throughout Europe who are committed to protecting sexual and reproductive rights. The Atlas stratifies 46 European countries by traffic light colours according to their access to contraceptive supplies, family planning counselling and online information.

## Women and men both vital to stop sexually transmitted illnesses

Not only do contraceptive methods help prevent pregnancies, but barrier methods such as condoms also make sex safer by limiting the spread of STDs and STIs. The most common STI in the EU is chlamydia, in many cases a symptomless infection in both women and men. Safer sex habits and testing are, therefore, essential tools to stop chlamydia from spreading. Infection rates are highest among women younger than 24 years (ECDC, 2020a), but social stigma can result in young women often avoiding chlamydia testing (Balfe et al., 2010). However, understanding men's risk-taking behaviour can play an important role in preventing the spread of chlamydia. A study of young Swedish men tested for STDs revealed a variety of sexual risk behaviours and reasons why different subgroups did not use condoms. Migrant men reported more unprotected sex and more sexual partners overall, while men who have sex with men reported greater exposure to coercion to have unprotected sex (Helsing et al., 2021). Therefore, chlamydia prevention cannot solely rely on testing and safer sex practices. External factors, such as gender-based violence and gendered social stigma, also need to be taken into consideration in prevention policies.

According to WHO (2016c) and ECDC (2019) data, gonorrhoea is increasingly resistant to conventional antibiotics in Europe. Although this heightens the health risk for all people, gender implications need attention. While infertility is a serious consequence of an untreated gonorrhoeal infection for women and men, it is also associated with adverse pregnancy outcomes. Mother-to-child transmission of gonorrhoea can cause blindness in the newborn (WHO, 2016b). Since gonorrhoea is mostly asymptomatic, especially in women, women partners of those diagnosed should be screened. Prevention efforts should also include the supply of male and female condoms (Ndowa et al., 2012).

Cross-cutting research creates nuanced and context-specific evidence to improve SRHR policies, taking global, regional and local diversity into account. In the case of HIV, for example, such research would help policymakers move beyond individual focus to consider the multilevel root causes of HIV infections, such as biased and/or gender-blind healthcare systems, not enough funding for or ill-equipped prevention programs, etc. Co-factors such as drug use, poverty, low health literacy, and the relationship between different factors shaping health inequalities (Hankivsky, 2012).

Gender inequalities in relation to HIV determine access to prevention and treatment outcomes, especially for women and girls. Factors such as younger age, pregnancy, gender-based violence, limited access to transportation and financial resources, and lack of bodily autonomy expose women and girls to HIV risk (Ghanotakis et al., 2012; UNFPA, 2021). Primary health services should not only respond to the effects of HIV, but should also begin to address the underlying gendered problems of HIV so that interventions are better attuned to different population groups. HIV prevention, for example, mostly targets men who have sex with men, despite the fact that 30–40 % of new cases are in heterosexual men infected by women (Weber and Castellow, 2012).

While sex between men is the main driver of HIV transmission in the EU, heterosexual HIV transmission is the second most common mode overall. In nine Member States – Estonia, France, Italy, Latvia, Luxembourg, Portugal, Romania, Finland and Sweden – it accounts for most new infections (ECDC/WHO, 2019). This underlines the need for women and men of all sexual orientations to be included in HIV awareness campaigns. The same holds true for other interventions and policies concerning STIs and STDs. The ECDC continuously advocates for gender, age, HIV status and other characteristics to be recorded to obtain better-quality data to help tackle STIs and STDs in the EU (ECDC, 2021).

### Abortion, pregnancy and maternal care disparities across the European Union

Estimates suggest that almost half (48 %) of pregnancies worldwide are unplanned (Bearak et al., 2020). This shows that abortion services and care are essential components of public health, to ensure high-quality SRH for women and girls (WHO, 2012). The physical and mental health of women and girls who have an abor-

tion requires more than just that the procedure is medically safe. Abortion can be considered safe only when it is performed without the risk of criminal or legal sanction, stigmatisation, stress or isolation (Starrs et al., 2018). Laws and policies on accessing abortion services, with reproductive health consequences for those using them, vary greatly across Europe. Although barriers to legal abortions differ across the EU, all Member States except one allow it under certain conditions. In Malta, all abortions are banned (IPPF, 2019).

Eleven Member States – Belgium, Germany, Ireland, Spain, Italy, Latvia, Luxembourg, Hungary, the Netherlands, Portugal and Slovakia – have a mandatory waiting period. Belgium, Germany, Italy, Lithuania, Hungary, the Netherlands and Slovakia mandate pre-abortion counselling. The only countries not requiring third-party consent, for example parental consent, for abortion in underaged children, are Belgium, Ireland, the Netherlands, Portugal and Finland (IPPF, 2019). Legal provisions can change in both directions: more liberal abortion policies were recently adopted in Ireland (UNFPA, 2021), while Poland tightened its already restrictive abortion legislation in 2020. Overall, eastern European Member States have the most unwanted pregnancies and 66% of unintended pregnancies end in abortion here (Bearak et al., 2020). They also rank low on the Contraception Atlas (2020), suggesting inadequate SRHR policies. According to the most recent WHO data available (2015–17) (<sup>104</sup>), the fewest abortions in the EU are in Member States with the most restrictive abortion laws – Ireland (<sup>105</sup>), Malta and Poland.

Lastly, many abortions are carried out unregistered, either by medical staff or outside the healthcare system altogether, which can explain that in the UN European region, between 2010 and 2014, 11 % of all abortions were deemed unsafe (Ganatra et al., 2017). The same study also found that countries with highly restrictive abortion laws and policies had a higher share of unsafe abortions than countries with less restrictive laws.



#### **Figure 41.** Adolescent birth rate by EU Member State (per 1 000 population, 15–19 years, 2018)

Source: SDG 3.7.2., UN, https://unstats.un.org/sdgs/unsdg, 2018.

(<sup>104</sup>) WHO, European Health Information Gateway, https://gateway.euro.who.int/en/hfa-explorer/#cyDZ8PKNUc, 2018. (<sup>105</sup>) Recent changes in abortion legislation in Ireland (2018) are not reflected in the data yet.

Sexuality education is essential to prevent unplanned pregnancies in adolescence. Young people are in need of comprehensive sexuality education to understand and enact their rights to health, well-being and dignity. Access to rights-based sexuality and relationship education varies between Member States (EIGE, 2020a). The German Federal Centre for Health Education (BZqA) (106) developed sexuality education standards for Europe in 2010 as a framework for policymakers, education and health authorities, and specialists (WHO Regional Office for Europe and BZqA, 2010). An assessment carried out in 2018 (BZgA and IPPF EN, 2018) found that the implementation of sexuality education differed widely between and within EU countries. While sexuality education is mandatory in most Member States (except Bulgaria, Italy, Cyprus, Lithuania, Poland and Romania), exemptions can be granted based on faith and moral grounds (EIGE, 2020a). Inadequate sexuality education, along with other factors, such as lack of access to contraceptives, can contribute to higher birth rates among adolescents. In the EU, birth rates in this group are highest in the eastern European Member States, with rates in Bulgaria, Hungary, Romania and Slovakia more than double the EU average (Figure 41). In these countries, sexuality education is optional, with students also start learning about sexual health issues later in their school life in comparison to their peers in other Member States. (Picken, 2020).

### Maternal care inequalities persist, especially for migrants

Although maternal and child mortality has been steadily decreasing in the EU, pregnancy still carries health risks (WHO, 2017). Some health conditions occur only during or after pregnancy and require assessment from a gender-informed perspective. Researchers and practitioners alike have long overlooked several pre- and postnatal health conditions, with care in these areas requiring improvement. For example, hyperemesis gravidarum, or chronic morning sickness, affects an estimated 2–4 % of pregnancies and is potentially deadly (McCarthy et al., 2014). Yet it is often unrecognised by healthcare professionals and classified as something imagined or exaggerated by women suffering it (Jansen et al., 2020). Likewise, violence in childbirth, known as obstetric violence, poses a risk to maternal health in the EU (<sup>107</sup>).

UNICEF data shows that the maternal mortality ratio (per 100 000 live births) in the 27 Member States in 2017 ranged from 2 in Italy and Poland to 19 in Latvia and Romania. Maternal mortality and care inequalities are higher among marginalised and vulnerable communities such as migrants, refugees, asylum seekers, women with disabilities, prisoners and victims of trafficking. Access to maternal healthcare services and midwifery in the EU is affected by the interplay between health systems, laws, policies, socioeconomic factors and attitudes of healthcare professionals and users.

In the EU, only 11 Member States - Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, the Netherlands, Portugal, Romania and Sweden have laws regulating free or subsidised maternal care for undocumented migrants (Center For Reproductive Rights, 2020). However, implementation of legal frameworks is not necessarily automatic. Greece, Spain and Italy, which receive more than half of all migrant arrivals in the Mediterranean, have unfavourable maternal health outcomes for documented and undocumented migrants, despite existing policies granting access to care (Grotti et al., 2018). Undocumented pregnant migrants in Germany, Croatia, Slovenia and Sweden fear deportation if they seek medical assistance, as healthcare staff in these countries are required to report their patients' immigration status (Make Mothers Matter, forthcoming 2022). But it is not only undocumented migrants who can experience limited access to maternal care. Foreign workers' visa status also determines their access to SRHR. In some Member States, women who work as au pairs must

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>106</sup>) The BZgA has been designated a WHO collaborating centre for sexual and reproductive health since 2003. The BZgA has a close cooperation with the IPPF EN.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>107</sup>) For further information, Section 3.2.2 of the report Gender Equality and Health in the EU offers a detailed overview of obstetric violence in the EU, https://op.europa.eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/5b59409f-56e4-11eb-b59f-01aa75ed71a1.

be unmarried and without children as a precondition for obtaining a visa. Au pairs who become pregnant are effectively stripped of their residency permit and, consequently, their right to healthcare (PICUM, 2016).

Roma women also have less favourable access to maternal care than the majority population in their EU Member States (Franklin et al., 2021). This is particularly worrying, as some Member States with high maternal mortality rates have large Roma populations (FRA, 2016). Other racial inequalities in maternal mortality are well documented in the United Kingdom, where black mothers are at least four times as likely, and Asian mothers twice as likely, to die during childbirth as their white peers (MBRRACE-UK, 2020).

# 9.2.2. The COVID-19 pandemic aggravates and brings forth health inequalities

In the early summer of 2021, most EU countries were simultaneously battling a third wave of COVID-19 and aggressively rolling out large-scale vaccination programmes. Various levels of restrictions were in place and progressively being lifted. At the time of writing, the EU had reported more than 33 million cases and at least 730 000 direct COVID-19-related deaths (108). France, Germany, Italy, Spain and Poland have had the highest number of cases - from nearly 3 million in Poland to more than 5.7 million in France (109). If, overall, about 7 % of the EU population has been infected, the highest shares of cases by population are in less populated countries - Czechia, Slovakia, Slovenia and Luxembourg – with rates ranging from 11 % in Luxembourg to 16 % in Czechia (<sup>110</sup>). The shock of such a staggering loss of life in little more than a year and the ramifications of many people suffering long-term effects from COVID-19 will be felt for years to come.

The pandemic's impact has been very unequal across the EU and over time. Western and southern European Member States were more affected than central European countries during the first wave in spring 2020. In contrast, the second and third pandemic waves have seen central and eastern European countries such as the Baltic states, Czechia, Poland and Romania more affected (OECD/European Union, 2020).

The pandemic has impacted different groups of people differently, and to different degrees, depending on a varitey of factors including the level of exposure to the virus and prior health status. many authors, such as Bambra et al. (2020b), have pointed out, differences in COV-ID-19 infection rates and mortality have highlighted pre-existing socioeconomic inequalities and the unequal burden of chronic disease across the population. Some authors have described the current situation as a 'syndemic' in which the interaction of a pandemic and a NCD, each exacerbating the effect of the other, against the backdrop of significant social and economic disparity, has led to adverse outcomes for large segments of the population (Bambra et al., 2020b; Horton, 2020).

This section presents data gathered during the pandemic on mortality, morbidity, and vaccine uptake and hesitancy. Analysis is also provided on three specific gendered impacts of the pandemic on health: poor mental health, a rise in gender-based violence and the provision of SRH services in a crisis.

### COVID-19 deadlier for men, 'long COVID' more likely for women

There are considerable variations in how data is provided across countries. For example, the number of people tested differs greatly between countries. Some countries test individuals more than once and provide data on the number of tests, some countries provide data on the number of individuals tested, and other countries test only people who are severely ill or hospitalised (Rozenberg et al., 2020). In addition, data on testing, prevalence and mortality is not

<sup>(108)</sup> ECDC COVID-19 surveillance update, https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/cases-2019-ncov-eueea, accessed 7 July 2021.

<sup>(109)</sup> ECDC COVID-19 surveillance update, https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/cases-2019-ncov-eueea, accessed 7 July 2021.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>110</sup>) Authors' elaboration based on ECDC daily data, https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/en/cases-2019-ncov-eueea, accessed as of 19 May 2021, based on 2020 data for population.

always separated by sex, with evidence showing no progress, or even a decline, in the number of countries reporting sex-disaggregated data over time (<sup>111</sup>). According to the Global Health 50/50 initiative, which tracks sex-disaggregated data on COVID-19 from 119 countries, the most frequently reported data relates to confirmed cases (68 % of countries) and deaths (55 % of countries) (Global Health 50/50, 2020).

Early in the pandemic, women were more likely to get tested than men, as priority was given to healthcare and residential care workers – both groups mostly composed of women. At the time of writing, data on COVID-19 cases disaggregated by sex and age is unavailable for all Member States, hindering a comprehensive gender analysis of the pandemic's toll.

#### Men are more likely to have severe outcomes

Early in the pandemic, overall infection rates appeared to be similar among women and men across EU countries (Rozenberg et al., 2020). Likewise, at the time of writing, women accounted for just over half of all cases in EU countries

for which data is available (52 %) (Figure 42). In only three Member States (Greece, Malta and Finland) were COVID-19 rates higher among men.

When age is taken to account, large gender differences are revealed in the number of cases. A study of 10 European countries, including seven EU Member States (<sup>112</sup>), found that, among those of working age (i.e. up until about the age of 60), infections in women far outnumber those among men; at older ages, infection is more common in men. The highest rates of infection among men are among those aged between 70 and 79 years. Higher rates of infection among women have been linked to their presence in caring professions, especially healthcare (Tomáš Sobotka et al., 2020). This is consistent with reports that poor working conditions, including a lack of appropriate occupational health and safety measures and precarious employment, contribute to high infection levels in women-dominated frontline sectors (OECD, 2020b; Pelling, 2021; Shallcross et al., 2021).

(<sup>112</sup>) Belgium, Czechia, Denmark, Germany, Italy, Norway, Portugal, Spain.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup>) The COVID-19 Sex-disaggregated Data Tracker: April update report, Global Health 50/50, https://globalhealth5050.org/wp-content/uploads/April-2021-Data-tracker-update.pdf.



Figure 42. Cases of COVID-19 in the EU by sex and Member State (%, June 2021)

Source: The Sex, Gender and COVID-19 Project, Global Health 50/50, the African Population and Health Research Center and the International Center for Research on Women. EU: authors' elaboration (BG, CY, HR, MT data was not available). Updated on 21 June 2021. Data extracted on 25 June 2021.

Evidence shows that men are more likely than women to become severely ill or die from COV-ID-19 complications (<sup>113</sup>), with gender differences often quite large (Parra-Bracamonte et al., 2020; Rozenberg et al., 2020). In spring 2020, the mortality rate related to COVID-19 infections was significantly higher among European men than among European women (Pérez-López et al., 2020). The rates of all-cause mortality within 30 days of COVID-19 diagnosis and of intensive care unit admission were also higher among men (Kragholm et al., 2020).

Across the world, the Global Health 50/50 data for April 2021 shows clear gender differences in health outcomes. Although women are more

likely to be tested – women account for 57 % of COV-ID-19 tests overall – women and men are similarly affected. Of confirmed cases, women accounted for 51 % and men for



**COVID-19** 

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>113</sup>) This is in line with research on other infectious diseases, which has found that mortality from infectious sepsis is 70 % higher in men than in women. Men are also more likely than women to die from severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) and Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) (21.9 % vs 13.2 %) (Rozenberg et al., 2020).

49 % globally (<sup>114</sup>). However, men are more likely to be hospitalised and to be admitted to an intensive care unit, accounting for 53 % of hospitalised patients and 64 % of those requiring intensive care.

Data from the ECDC for 10 EU Member States reflects similar trends, that is that men are at higher risks of severe disease (as measured by the need to hospitalise) and death from COVID-19, with gender differences increasing with age (Figure 43). Overall, 8 % of women and 10 % of men infected with COVID-19 were hospitalised as a result; however, among those aged 70–79 years who contracted COVID-19, 24 % of women and 33 % of men were hospitalised. For those aged 80 years or older, the rate of hospitalisation reached 31 % for women and 45 % for men.

**Figure 43.** Hospitalisation rates by age and sex out of all cases until week 23, 2021 (%, 10 EU Member States)



Source: ECDC, data for 10 EU Member States (CZ, DE, IT, CY, LU, MT, AT, PL, SK, FI and SE). Data extracted on 17 June 2021.

Similarly, data on fatality from COVID-19 shows that, in the 10 EU Member States reporting data disaggregated by age and sex, about 2 % of women and girls who tested positive for COV-ID-19 died from the disease, compared with 3 % of boys and men. Disaggregating by age group shows that overall fatality rates, as well as gender differences, are considerably higher among patients aged 70–79 years (6 % of women and 12 % of men) and among patients aged 80 years and older (17 % of women and 28 % of men dying) (Figure 44).

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>114</sup>) The COVID-19 Sex-disaggregated Data Tracker: April update report, Global Health 50/50, https://global-health-summit.europa.eu/ rome-declaration\_en.



**Figure 44.** Fatality rates by age and sex out of all cases until week 23, 2021 (%, 10 EU Member States)

Source: ECDC, data for 10 EU Member States (CZ, DE, IT, CY, LU, MT, AT, PL, SK, FI and SE). Data extracted on 17 June 2021.

Overall in the EU, men account for 55 % of COV-ID-19 deaths. Their increased risk of dying is reflected in almost all EU countries for which data is available, with the exception of Lithuania and Slovenia (Figure 45).





Source: The Sex, Gender and COVID-19 Project, Global Health 50/50, the African Population and Health Research Center and the International Center for Research on Women. EU: authors' elaboration (BG, CY, HR, MT data was not available). Updated on 21 June 2021. Data extracted on 25 June 2021.

Figure 44 presents for each group the case fatality rate, that is the number of deaths divided by the number of COVID-19 cases confirmed by testing. It indicates the severity of infection among different population groups. However, it can be misleading, as values for both the number of cases and the number of deaths are likely to be underestimated, for example because of insufficient testing. It has been recommended that fatality rates (Figure 44) and data on COV-ID-19 deaths (Figure 45) be read in conjunction with excess mortality to best capture the toll (Hantrais, 2021; Islam et al., 2021). In the EU, men's mortality in 2020/2021 was, on average, 17 % higher than in an average week in previous years, and 14 % higher for women (Figure 46). The excess mortality among men in 2020/2021 was highest in Czechia, Poland and Slovakia, at 30 %, 26 % and 25 %, respectively. The same three countries accounted for the highest excess mortality among women in the EU: 22 %, 22% and 23 %, respectively (Figure 46).

These findings confirms WHO data showing that analyses of numbers of registered COV-ID-19 deaths underestimate the full toll of the pandemic (<sup>115</sup>). A similar analysis of 29 high-income countries concluded that estimated excess mortality substantially exceeded the number of reported deaths from COVID-19 in many countries. The highest excess death rates (per 100 000) for men were in Hungary, Italy, Lithuania, Poland and Spain; the highest rates for women were in Belgium, Hungary, Lithuania, Slovenia and Spain (Islam et al., 2021).

The COVID-19 pandemic has been particularly devastating for nursing home residents. Miralles et al. (2021) found that the highest COV-ID-19 mortality rates in nursing homes in six EU countries ranged from 26 % to 66 %. Gender differences in severe COVID-19 infections and associated mortality are often attributed to comorbidities, behavioural habits and biology, including differences in immune systems (Kragholm et al., 2020; Rozenberg et al., 2020). Health behaviours such as smoking, and comorbidities such as cardiovascular disease, hypertension and diabetes, which are more common among men, are linked to increased COVID-19 mortality rates. This may explain some gender differences (Franklin et al., 2021; OECD, 2020a; Rozenberg et al., 2020). Evidence shows that women are more likely than men to follow hand hygiene practices (Baker, 2019), to adhere to social distancing and other public health recommendations, such as mask wearing (Capraro and Barcelo, 2020; Galasso et al., 2020), and to seek preventive care (Sharma et al., 2020), all of which can reduce infection rates and improve health outcomes.



**Figure 46.** Excess mortality in 2020–2021, compared with 2016–2019, by sex and EU Member State (%, overall population, latest data available)

NB: Excess mortality is the number of additional deaths in a week (average of 2020–2021) compared with a baseline period and is expressed as a percentage. The baseline is given by average weekly deaths in 2016–2019. The higher the value, the more additional deaths have occurred, compared with the baseline. (1) Last week in 2021 for which data is available. EU calculated using week 4, available for all Member States. \*Includes only 26 Member States (IE data was not available). Data is provided in Annex 4, Table 20. Source: Authors' calculations, based on Eurostat, Deaths by week and sex, https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/web/products-datasets/-/ demo\_r\_mwk\_ts, extracted on 27 April 2021 (2021, provisional data).

(<sup>115</sup>) The true death toll of COVID-19: Estimating global excess mortality, https://www.who.int/data/stories/the-true-death-toll-of-covid-19-estimating-global-excess-mortality. Beyond sex and age, understanding the full impact of the pandemic requires analysis of the other groups who have been most affected.

#### Gender intersects with occupation, age, and migration status to increase vulnerability to infection

The COVID-19 outbreak has led to an unprecedented shift in remote working to help slow spread of the virus (ILO, 2020). However, teleworking has not been equally accessible to all workers. Key gender differences exist between those who are able to follow 'stay at home' orders and those whose physical presence is still required at work (EIGE, 2021c). Most governments in the EU established lists of occupations deemed 'critical', 'essential' or 'key' (EIGE, 2021c). In most cases, they involved roles considered necessary for national socioeconomic functioning and which could not be carried out remotely. These jobs are mostly in health and care, victim support services, law enforcement, education, agro-industry, supermarkets, pharmacies and banks.

Women are over-represented among essential workers. Eurostat data shows that women account for 88 % of personal care workers, 84 % of cleaners and helpers, 73 % of education workers and 72 % of health professionals in EU countries (<sup>116</sup>). Fasani and Mazza (2020) estimated that migrant workers constitute 13 % of all key workers and are also over-represented in some low-skill essential jobs, for example personal care workers, drivers, transport and storage labourers, and food-processing workers. As highlighted by the International Organization for Migration, some EU countries with the highest COVID-19 numbers on 1 March 2021 also have some of the highest numbers of foreign-born workers in healthcare - Czechia, Germany, Spain, France and Italy (<sup>117</sup>).

Workers on the frontline of the pandemic response are likely to have more contact with the general public, including those who are possibly infected (OECD, 2020b; Pelling, 2021; Shallcross et al., 2021). This both increases their risk of infection and magnifies the physical and psychological pressure they experience (King et al., 2020). An index of social distancing risks identified accommodation, food services, wholesale and retail trade, and social and personal services as the sectors whose workers face the greatest risk of COVID-19 exposure as a result of regular interpersonal communication, teamwork and customer service tasks (Pouliakas and Branka, 2020). It also estimated that vulnerable workforce groups, such as women, older employees, foreigners and those with a lower level of education, are disproportionately exposed to infection risk at work. Also at increased risk are those working longer hours, on multiple sites or in micro-sized workplaces (Pouliakas and Branka, 2020).

In Germany, Italy, Spain and the United States, around 70 % of confirmed infections among health workers have occurred in women (Rozenberg et al., 2020). Globally, women accounted for an estimated 72 % of COVID-19 cases among healthcare workers, as of April 2021 (<sup>118</sup>). Preliminary EU-OSHA data reveals a stark increase in psychosocial risks in the health and social care sectors. Workforce shortages, partly due to healthcare staff being off sick or in self-isolation, have led to busy schedules, long working days, failure to take time off work and constant struggles with work-life balance (EU-OSHA, forthcoming 2022). These findings support the hypothesis of higher levels of infection and psychosocial risks among working-age women being linked to occupational risks (Tomáš Sobotka et al., 2020).

Migrant workers, especially women, are particularly vulnerable to COVID-19 infection because of their over-representation in care and domes-

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>116</sup>) EIGE, COVID-19 web page, https://eige.europa.eu/covid-19-and-gender-equality/essential-workers. Data from EU-LFS, 2018.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>117</sup>) International Organization for Migration, Migration Data Portal 'Migration data relevant for the COVID-19 pandemic', https://migrationdataportal.org/themes/migration-data-relevant-covid-19-pandemic, accessed 19 May 2021.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>118</sup>) The COVID-19 Sex-disaggregated Data Tracker: April update report, https://globalhealth5050.org/wp-content/uploads/April-2021-Data-tracker-update.pdf, Global Health 50/50.

tic work and lower socioeconomic status. Structural inequalities affecting ethnic minorities and people of low socioeconomic status aggravate infection risk already experienced at work through crowded housing and long commuting times, making physical distancing and self-isolation difficult (Bhala et al., 2020).

#### Women are more likely to have 'long COVID'

Emerging evidence points to significant numbers of people with COVID-19 continuing to have symptoms weeks or even months after contracting the virus (Dennis et al., 2020). The intensity of symptoms does not always mirror the severity of the initial infection. Symptoms can linger, appear for the first time or become worse (Gousseff et al., 2020). Although the prevalence and risk factors remain unclear, this syndrome, termed 'long COVID' or 'post-COVID-19 syndrome', can affect multiple organs and lead to long-lasting health issues such as diabetes (Nalbandian et al., 2021).

More than 1 year into the pandemic, estimates of the prevalence of long COVID are emerging, with some studies finding that the phenomenon could affect half of COVID-19 survivors after 14 weeks (Moreno-Pérez et al., 2021), with three quarters of COVID-19 patients showing at least one ongoing symptom after 6 months (Huang et al., 2021). Long COVID has been referred to as a major public health crisis in waiting. Figures from the UK Office for National Statistics show that 1 million people have self-symptoms 4 weeks after first being infected, and nearly 400 000 people still report symptoms after a year (Ayoubkhani, 2021). Women of working age, people with disabilities, those living in deprived areas and people working in care professions are most likely to be affected with long COVID (Ayoubkhani, 2021). Most respondents report that symptoms adversely impact their day-to-day activities.

A study in the United Kingdom found that women younger than 50 years are five times less likely than men and older women to report feeling fully recovered from infection. They are twice as likely as men of the same age to report greater fatigue, seven times more likely to be breathless and generally more likely to have increased difficulties or new disabilities. More than half of COVID-19 patients report not being fully recovered 7 months after having the first symptoms, with younger women most affected. Long-term outcomes are more frequent among individuals who were previously healthy (Sigfrid et al., 2021).

Another study in the United Kingdom has highlighted that the majority of hospitalised patients are not fully recovered after 5 months, with white middle-aged women among those experiencing more than nine persistent symptoms (<sup>119</sup>).

Patients' associations point to a lack of recognition by health and social protection systems of some severe health limitations associated with long COVID, particularly when it concerns classifying long COVID as an occupational disease.

#### Vaccine uptake and hesitancy

In the EU, vaccination roll-outs organised by national governments have prioritised health professionals and age groups most at risk of severe outcomes. Studies from various countries show broad public support for such approaches (Duch et al., 2021; Persad et al., 2021), possibly acknowledging healthcare workers' essential role in the pandemic response. High vaccination rates are considered essential to end the pandemic. So too is vaccine uptake among high-priority groups (Zintel et al., 2021).

As mentioned previously, women and men have been affected differently by the infection – if only to a degree – depending on age, comorbidities and occupational exposure. While infections among women of working age outnumber those among men, many more men have died from COVID-19.

<sup>(&</sup>lt;sup>119</sup>) Each participant reported an average of nine persistent symptoms such as muscle pain, fatigue, impaired sleep quality and shortterm memory loss.

A systematic review of gender differences in vaccination intentions conducted in January 2021 pointed to men being much more likely than women to report that they wanted a vaccination (Zintel et al., 2021). In contrast, the February/March 2021 Eurofound COVID-19 e-survey reported 29 % of male respondents as vaccine hesitant, compared with 25 % of female respondents (Eurofound, 2021c). Results by country show a significant east-west divide. Vaccination intentions were above 60 % in most western European Member States. Among eastern European countries, the rate was much lower - ranging from 59 % in Romania to 33 % in Bulgaria. These figures reveal significant vaccine hesitancy in the EU, particularly in sparsely populated areas, among the self-employed or unemployed, among those with an illness or disability and among those using social media as their main information sources or who

spend a lot of time on social media (Eurofound, 2021c). A Eurobarometer survey from May 2021 confirms the east-west divide in vaccine hesitancy: the proportion of respondents who reported that they would not like to be vaccinated ranged from 23 % in Bulgaria to just 4 % in Spain and Portugal. However, the gender gap is small: overall in the EU with 9 % of women said that they would never want to receive a vaccine, while 8 % of men responded the same (European Commission, 2021e).

In terms of actual uptake in the EU, in June 2021, women were more likely than men to be fully vaccinated in all Member States for which data was available (Figure 47), accounting for 70 % in Lithuania, 59 % in Sweden and Latvia, 57 % in Belgium, Denmark and France, 56 % in Estonia, 55 % in Austria and 53 % in Slovenia.





Source: The Sex, Gender and COVID-19 Project, Global Health 50/50, the African Population and Health Research Center and the International Center for Research on Women. EU: authors' elaboration (BG, CY, HR, MT data was not available). Updated on 21 June 2021. Data extracted on 25 June 2021.

### A pandemic in hand with a mental health crisis

As the Index domain chapters show, the full effects of the COVID-19 pandemic may still be unfolding, but preliminary findings point to profoundly unequal social and economic consequences across the EU. Social isolation, fear of infection for oneself and loved ones, grief and financial distress are enormous stressors. Evidence of the impact of these consequences on mental well-being is emerging, with multiple accounts of different population groups showing increased signs of distress such as PTSD, suicidality, eating disorders and burnout. These manifestations are likely to exacerbate pre-existing levels of poor mental health and its gender-specific impacts, as discussed in Section 9.1.1. This section mainly focuses on the mental health of the general public and of healthcare professionals.

### Mental well-being levels are at their lowest since pandemic outbreak

Pandemic lockdown measures have led to a rise in loneliness, recognised as a major public health concern globally. Groups at most risk before and during the pandemic are near identical – young adults, women, people with lower education or income, the unemployed, people living alone and urban residents (Bu et al., 2020).

Lockdowns and other social distancing measures are known to have had a significant impact on opportunities for physical activity, as discussed in Section 9.1.2. A study on social distancing among UK adults found that those who were physically active had better overall mental health, that is they had fewer depressive and anxiety symptoms and more positive mental well-being (Jacob et al., 2020). In Italy, total physical activity has significantly decreased during the pandemic in all age groups, especially among men. This fall in total physical activity has had a profoundly negative impact on psychological health and well-being (Maugeri et al., 2020).

A recent Eurofound survey on COVID-19 effects measured the level of mental well-being across three pandemic waves – April 2020, July 2020 and February/March 2021 (Eurofound, 2021c). Mental well-being, as measured using the WHO-5, was significantly lower than in 2016 in both women and men and across all age groups (Figure 29 and Figure 30). While the results are not directly comparable because of different methodological approaches, they do indicate a worrying deterioration of mental well-being in the EU, with large segments of the population at risk of depression (Figure 48).

On average, mental well-being across the EU-27 fell between e-survey rounds 2 and 3 in summer 2020 and spring 2021, despite having improved earlier in the pandemic. Women consistently had lower mental well-being across the three pandemic waves (Figure 48), with the lowest levels during the third wave being in women aged 18-34 years (42 points) and 35-49 years (41 points). This could be due both to social isolation and to the increased unpaid workload from school closures or movement restrictions (EIGE, 2021c). As highlighted in the domain of time, people with care responsibilities, especially lone parents, have faced acute tensions from balancing the demands of paid and unpaid work when support services and social networks have been profoundly disrupted.





Source: Eurofound (2020), Living, working and COVID-19 data, https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/data/covid-19, Dublin NB: The data shows the mean for respondents in the EU-27 when asked. WHO-5 is WHO's mental well-being index, with a scale of 0–100. People with a WHO-5 score of 50 or lower are considered at risk of depression.

People aged 50 years or older had better mental well-being scores in round 3 of the e-survey than younger people. However, this older group also saw a large drop in average mental well-being from summer 2020 to spring 2021.

Eurofound (2021c) highlights an overall increase in negative feelings in spring 2021, including tension, anxiety, loneliness and depression, across most social groups in the EU. Among both young men and women, there was a 13-p.p. increase. The greatest jump in loneliness was recorded among women older than 50 years – an increase of 13 p.p. compared with summer 2020 findings. For young women, the findings also reveal an increase in pre-existing levels of anxiety and depressive disorders (see Section 9.1.1.), including a spike in hospital referrals for eating disorders (Solmi et al., 2021). Almeida et al. (2020) discovered that pregnant women and women who are experiencing postpartum or miscarriage are more likely to endure mental health problems during the pandemic. Such alarming accounts of mental well-being, especially among young people, may result in more people resorting to unhealthy coping mechanisms, including substance abuse, which is already common among young men. Studies also warn that the mental health consequences of the crisis are likely to be felt for a long time, peaking only after the pandemic has subsided (Costanza et al., 2020; European Commission, 2021h; Meherali et al., 2021; Standish, 2021).

#### Care workers face acute distress

Evidence is mounting on the profound mental health toll of the pandemic on frontline workers, particularly in the care sector. Scholars note that health workers are already at higher risk of poor mental health in normal times. That risk increased with COVID-19 and the stress of poor pandemic preparedness of health systems (Mortier et al., 2021), trauma from having to prioritise care and seeing patients suffer or die (Greenberg et al., 2020), insufficient rest and overwork, and the fear of infection or infecting others. Psychological symptoms include high rates of stress, depression, anxiety and insomnia. Healthcare workers and those directly engaged with affected patients report PTSD and psychological distress (Kisely et al., 2020). Systematic reviews show that frontline healthcare workers and those with pre-existing mental health issues are at higher risk of poor mental health than others (Bekele and Hajure, 2021).

In Spain, where the health system was under enormous strain during the first wave, data from a 30-day period shows that about 8 % of hospital workers – mostly men – had suicidal thoughts and behaviours (Mortier et al., 2021). Evidence from France shows that half of the staff in the social care sector, facing the death of residents, experienced post-traumatic stress (EU-OSHA, forthcoming 2022).

The high level of distress experienced by health workers increased because of staff attrition in the medical field, especially in female-dominated professions. Women make up the majority of medical staff in low-level positions, such as nurses, and occupational segregation is a key reason why women nurses leave the profession (WHO, 2019c). With significant exposure to infected patients, fewer social support systems and different coping mechanisms, women are at greater risk than men of developing PTSD as a result of the pandemic (Carmassi et al., 2020).

According to the International Council of Nurses (ICN), there was already a global shortage of nursing staff before the COVID-19 pandemic, amounting to a deficit of 6 million worldwide. The pandemic exacerbates the attrition of nursing staff. Women nurses report occupational hazards, such as ill-fitting personal protective equipment (PPE), more often than men (Regenold and Vindrola-Padros, 2021). According to EU-OSHA, 'almost half of carers did not have adequate PPE in April 2020 and one in five care workers ... considered guitting over the lack of PPE' (European Commission, 2021h). Surveys in Sweden show that 7 % of nurses considered leaving the profession altogether (ICN Policy Brief, 2021). In Denmark, a survey among nurses working in regions and municipalities found that 88 % of respondents were

considering looking for a new job, with 37 % wanting a job outside the nursing profession (DSR, 2020). The ICN argues that the pandemic-induced health crisis is worsening the gender inequalities, gender-based violence and social stigmatisation that nurses experience generally (ICN, 2021).

#### An epidemic of gender-based violence

Governments in 142 countries around the world imposed lockdown measures in early 2020 (Hale and Webster, 2020), which contributed to the global surge in intimate partner violence (Graham-Harrison et al., 2020; WHO, 2020b), causing a 'shadow pandemic' (UN Women, 2020). Forced cohabitation and economic and labour instability are stressors known to be associated with an increase in intimate partner violence (Buller et al., 2018; Buttell and Ferreira, 2020; Jarnecke and Flanagan, 2020); these factors have been exacerbated by the pandemic and this, combined with the increased psychological distress resulting from lockdown (S. K. Brooks et al., 2020; Gillespie et al., 2021), has led to an increased risk of intimate partner violence (Clemens et al., 2019; Curtis et al., 2019; Straus and Douglas, 2019).

For example, in Spain the incidence of intimate partner violence increased by 24 % during the 3 months of lockdown. This increase can be explained by the lockdown itself as well as by economic stress, health concerns, working under pressure, closure of schools and increased caring demands (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2020). The stressors arising from the guarantine and having to live with an aggressor without options to escape can aggravate violent dynamics between members of a couple (Hsu and Henke, 2020; Hussein, 2020). As discussed in the domain of violence chapter, lockdown restrictions make it more difficult to find help arise, thereby increasing tensions and leading to a rise in violence (Hsu and Henke, 2020), including femicide (Townsend, 2020; Vagianos, 2020). It is broadly recognised that the end of the lockdown will not lead to a decline in intimate partner violence; the consequent economic instability is highly likely to aggravate already high levels of violence (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2020).

Researchers have also noted that new forms of control have emerged as a result of the pandemic (Peterman et al., 2020). Perpetrators use the 'fear of contracting COVID-19' as an excuse to control a partner's movements and prevent them from having contact with their support networks (Gearing, 2020) and from accessing services, family or friends (Smyth et al., 2021). This constant control impairs victims' autonomy, and leads to fear and loss of control over their own lives (Weil, 2020). As a result, many cases of intimate partner violence remain unreported (UN Women and WHO, 2020).

Lockdown measures may have compounded the risks of violence against vulnerable groups such as women with disabilities, homeless women, undocumented migrants or migrants with temporary visa, families with low socioeconomic status, families with children and LGBTIQ\* couples (Arenas-Arroyo et al., 2020; De Schrijver et al., 2021; Flatau et al., 2020; Pleace et al., 2021; Segrave and Pfitzner, 2020; Zero and Geary, 2020). While evidence is still scarce, lockdown measures leading to the closure of temporary shelters are likely to have exposed homeless women to greater risks of violence. Even before the pandemic, homeless shelters were not fully able to address the complex issues of women suffering gender-based violence (Bretherton and Mayock, 2021). More evidence is available on the impact of COVID-19 on sexual minorities (ILGA Europe, 2020; Phillips et al., 2020). Stressors such as the lack of social support (Song et al., 2020), specifically for those who did not share their sexual orientation/identity with their family or are part of a family that rejects their orientation/identity (ILGA Europe, 2020), may increase the likelihood of intimate partner violence. Research in Belgium shows that a third of the LGBTIQ\* community experienced some form of violence at home during the first 6 weeks of the lockdown (De Schrijver et al., 2021).

#### The COVID-19 pandemic challenges the quality of sexual and reproductive health services

There is increasing evidence of the pandemic's severe toll on the SRHR of women, girls and other marginalised groups.

With abortion banned in Malta and pandemic-related travel restrictions preventing women from travelling abroad for an abortion, imports of abortion pills in Malta surged (Caruana-Finkel, 2020). During the pandemic, Poland passed additional restrictive legislation, while Hungary was the only Member State to suspend surgical abortions because of pandemic pressure on public hospitals. Belgium, Germany, Latvia, Luxembourg and Slovenia introduced longer waiting periods for abortions for those who tested positive for COVID-19 or were symptomatic (Moreau et al., 2020).

Lockdown led to isolation of pregnant women, during childbirth, as fathers and birth partners were not allowed to attend. This could have long-term consequences for parent–child bonding and increase post-partum depression. Elsewhere, it has been estimated that disruptions to counselling programmes will lead to an increase in FGM of 2 million cases over the next decade (UNFPA, 2020), while school closures have generally curtailed access to SRHR information for young people.

More positively for SRH, the COVID-19 pandemic has made telemedicine more common (Porter et al., 2020). The option to receive sexual and reproductive healthcare online or through messenger apps has made healthcare more accessible and available for people with limited mobility or who are unable to leave home because of care responsibilities.

# **10. Conclusions**

### Gender inequalities in health

The conditions in which women and men live, work and spend their time affect their health. Gender and other factors, such as age, education, ethnicity, economic status, sexual orientation or disability, influence the resources that women and men can access, their exposure to environmental risks, their options for tackling ill health and the support they can receive from public institutions.

Men's lower life expectancy and women's poorer mental well-being reflect the effect of gender inequality and gendered norms on health by leading to differences in exposures and vulnerabilities to disease, health-related behaviours and access to care. Employment status influences people's physical and mental health through working conditions, income and social status, while gender-biased health research and healthcare systems reinforce and reproduce gender inequalities.

In the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic, health inequalities will continue to accumulate and have the greatest impact on those not in paid work and those with a low income, such as women with a low level of education and women and men with disabilities. Although healthcare in the EU is generally accessible, these groups are most likely to be in poor health and to have poor access to healthcare services. With costs and waiting lists the most common reasons for unmet health needs in 2019, any pandemic-related economic crisis and unemployment could be expected to significantly restrict healthcare access for far more people. The EU's population is ageing, and this means that access to affordable and high-quality long-term care is increasingly important. The European Pillar of Social Rights reflects this. A strong commitment to the implementation of the recommendations of the European Pillar of Social Rights - particularly those relating to long-term care needs - has taken on a greater urgency in the light of the COVID-19 pandemic.

# Pathways to poor health are gendered

Gender influences the development and course of risk factors and conditions for **NCDs**, with norms and behaviours profoundly affecting health throughout life. The COVID-19 pandemic is taking a particularly high toll on women and men already suffering from NCDs. A renewed commitment to fully implement the WHO strategies adopted in 2016 and 2018 relating to the health of women and men is needed to mitigate the impact of gender inequalities on public health (WHO Regional Office for Europe, 2016a, 2018b).

**Mental health** disorders have profound consequences on an individual's ability to learn and work, and on family and social life, as well as ramifications for society as a whole. Untreated mental illnesses are a significant economic cost to society through reduced productivity and lost healthy years of life (Mackenbach et al., 2011; Stefko et al., 2020). Of particular concern is morbidity and mortality among young people.

There is ample evidence of the connection between low socioeconomic status and poor mental and physical health. It is widely argued that reducing socioeconomic inequalities would improve overall population health (Allen et al., 2014; Cairns et al., 2017; Reiss, 2013; Silva et al., 2016). Social policies to reduce gender and income inequalities through universal health coverage, providing care leave to improve work-life balance and expanding educational attainment opportunities can also reduce gender inequalities in mental health morbidity and mortality (Cairns et al., 2017; Patel et al., 2018). Preventing all types of violence against women is among the most effective and impactful mental and physical health interventions (Bhui, 2018). Providing treatment and support is just as important. Mental illness symptoms observed by health service providers should be considered as a potential indicator of past or current intimate partner violence or non-partner domestic violence (Ferrari et al., 2016). Mental health services need to be both aware of such violence among women and men and provide gender-sensitive and cross-cutting support to address it (Sian Oram et al., 2017).

Harmful gender norms, such as toxic masculinities and unachievable beauty standards, have similarly far-reaching negative impacts on mental health. This is exemplified by high suicide rates among young men, poor mental health among LGBTI people and the high prevalence of anxiety and eating disorders among young women. Stigma remains a barrier to seeking help for mental health problems, affecting men more than women (Clement et al., 2015). Reducing mental health stigma should be a health priority, as it would encourage more people to seek help, reduce mental health treatment gaps and improve mental health globally (Wainberg et al., 2017).

# Sexual and reproductive health and rights

Gender inequalities undermine the ability of women and men to control their SRHR, with significant consequences. Availability, access, cost and stigma issues around contraceptives introduce barriers to SRH, especially for young people. In parallel, laws, policies and comprehensive sexuality education vary across the EU. The curricula in many Member States focus on the biological aspects of SRHR, leaving knowledge gaps on key areas, such as sexual pleasure, consent, gender-based violence and access to abortion (BZqA and IPPF EN, 2018; Picken, 2020). Such gaps contribute to higher birth rates among adolescents (UNFPA, 2021). Abortion services and care are an essential part of public health and are essential for good SRH outcomes for women and girls (WHO, 2012). Abortion legislation and services also vary across the EU. With free movement of people and goods a pillar of the European single market, abortion tourism (Mecinska et al., 2020) and cross-border sales of abortion pills (Calkin, 2021) enable women and girls to obtain otherwise inaccessible services. However, age, (dis)ability, race, ethnicity, migration status and sexual orientation influence

access to SRH, meaning that certain groups of women are disproportionately affected.

Data gaps on SRH prevail, particularly on men's contraceptive use and unmet family planning needs. SRH data needs to be broader in its scope and demographics to make this aspect of public health a visible concern for everyone, not just girls and women. Information on laws and regulations providing women and men equal access to SRH services and education - an SDG indicator essential for monitoring SRH (UNFPA, 2021) - is incomplete in most Member States. This limits the ability to evaluate and compare key SRHR policy areas across the EU, for example on maternal health and abortion. Another gap concerns the thorough disaggregation of data for the most common STIs by gender, age, sexual orientation and HIV status (ECDC, 2021). Without this, the mechanisms of transmission and options for prevention remain unknown, ensuring HIV's continued threat to public health.

Although the EU 2020–2025 anti-racism action plan calls for race to be mainstreamed into EU public policies, race is often not recorded in EU research. Based on the findings of UK research, it is very likely that the race gap in maternal mortality in the EU-27 is underexplored. Most women and girls exposed to FGM are black and face racial and gender inequalities, limiting their access to and representation in maternal healthcare.

### The COVID-19 pandemic

The full impact of the pandemic on the EU population will take time to emerge, as numbers of registered cases and deaths are believed to be underestimated. On average, the mortality rate between 2020 and 2021 was 17 % higher for men than in previous years and 14 % higher for women. Beyond the effects of biological differences, pre-existing gender inequalities in society have shaped the pandemic's impact on the health and lives of all women and men.

With NCDs linked to an increased risk of severe COVID-19, the pandemic has underlined the importance of tackling causes of illness, such as

unhealthy lifestyles or highly gendered risky behaviours. The need for immediate and longterm mental healthcare acknowledging gender differences has become clearly evident.

The pandemic has taken a high toll on men. While infection rates are rather similar for women and men overall, men have been at significantly higher risk of hospitalisation and death from COVID-19. As of June 2021, EU data shows that men account for 55 % of COVID-19-related deaths. Older men, men with NCDs and those in essential and precarious jobs have been particularly affected. The pandemic has also been devastating for nursing home residents.

Working-age women in the EU have been greatly exposed to infection, partly because of their over-representation in some frontline professions. Vulnerable workers, such as migrant women or women in precarious jobs, have been most at risk. Evidence is emerging that women are more affected by 'long COVID', pointing to potentially long-term consequences for large segments of the female population. Classifying COVID-19 as an occupational disease would help ensure that workers have adequate social protection while dealing with long-terms effects of the infection.

Apart from the direct health consequences of the virus, there are also secondary impacts on physical and mental health. These are likely to be gender specific and long-lasting. The true extent of the pandemic's mental health consequences will take time to unfurl, with experts warning that the peak may come long after the pandemic is controlled. Mental well-being is the lowest since the outbreak, with large segments of the population at risk of depression (Eurofound, 2021c). Women have had lower levels of mental well-being than men in each of the three pandemic waves, with the lowest levels noted among working-age women during the third wave. This reflects not only the pervasive impact of social isolation, but also the increased and sustained burden of unpaid work triggered

by school closures and movement restrictions during lockdowns (EIGE, 2021c).

The COVID-19 pandemic has raised barriers to accessing healthcare services in the EU, including for SRHR. This is either because some medical procedures and treatments have been deferred or deprioritised, or because help has not been sought for fear of infection. The situation has put long-term strain on public healthcare systems, which are now expected to resolve this care debt with very limited resources. Healthcare professionals are at particular risk of severe mental illnesses and should have access to appropriate mental healthcare services. The pandemic has also highlighted poor working conditions and staff shortages in the health and social care sector. These will need urgent redress if health system resilience is to be strengthened.

There is great concern over the global surge in intimate partner violence (Graham-Harrison et al., 2020; UNFPA, 2021; WHO, 2020c), causing a 'shadow pandemic' (UN Women, 2020) that is likely to peak only when restrictions are lifted.

In this situation, the strategic objectives of the EU health programme within and between Member States and WHO's strategy to improve health and reduce health inequalities will not be achieved without a clearly gendered approach to mitigating the impact of COVID-19. At the Global Health Summit in Rome in May 2021, the EU and G20 countries committed to 16 principles to guide action on managing the current pandemic and preparing for future health emergencies (120). Among them are the need to invest in the health and care workforce and the need to develop gender-sensitive public health responses to future health crises. High-level political will and resources are required in policy responses to long-term health impacts - and to build resilient and gender-responsive health systems better able to tackle all health inequalities.

(<sup>120</sup>) Global Health Summit, the Rome Declaration, https://global-health-summit.europa.eu/rome-declaration\_en.

### References

Abas, M., Ostrovschi, N. V., Prince, M., Gorceag, V. I., Trigub, C., and Oram, S. (2013). Risk factors for mental disorders in women survivors of human trafficking: a historical cohort study. *BMC psychiatry*, *13*(1), 1-11.

Abramsky, T., Watts, C. H., Garcia-Moreno, C., Devries, K., Kiss, L., Ellsberg, M., Heise, L. (2011). What factors are associated with recent intimate partner violence? Findings from the WHO multi-country study on women's health and domestic violence. *BMC Public Health*, *11*(1), 1-17.

Abubakar, I., Aldridge, R. W., Devakumar, D., Orcutt, M., Burns, R., Barreto, M. L., Zhou, S. (2018). The UCL–Lancet Commission on Migration and Health: the health of a world on the move. *The Lancet, 392*(10164), 2606-2654. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(18)32114-7

Addati, A. (2018). *Care work and care jobs for the future of decent work*. Retrieved from http://www.ilo.org/global/publications/books/WCMS\_633135/lang--en/index.htm

Allen, J., Balfour, R., Bell, R., and Marmot, M. (2014). Social determinants of mental health. *International Review of Psychiatry*, *26*(4), 392-407. doi:10.3109/09540261.2014.928270

Almeida, M., Shrestha, A. D., Stojanac, D., and Miller, L. J. (2020). The impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on women's mental health. *Archives of women's mental health*, 1-8.

Alon, T., Doepke, M., Olmstead-Rumsey, J., and Tertilt, M. (2020). *The Impact of COVID-19 on Gender Equality* (w26947). Retrieved from Cambridge, MA: http://www.nber.org/papers/ w26947.pdf

American Psychiatric Association. (2020). Psychiatry Online | DSM Library. Retrieved from https:// dsm.psychiatryonline.org/doi/book/10.1176/ appi.books.9780890425596 Andrade, L. H., Alonso, J., Mneimneh, Z., Wells, J., Al-Hamzawi, A., Borges, G., De Graaf, R. (2014). Barriers to mental health treatment: results from the WHO World Mental Health (WMH) Surveys. *Psychological Medicine*, *44*(6), 1303.

Ardito, C., D'Errico, A., and Leombruni, R. (2014). Exposure to psychosocial factors at work and mental well-being in Europe. *Medicina del Lavoro, 105*(2), 85-99. Retrieved from https://europepmc.org/article/med/24909041

Arenas-Arroyo, E., Fernández-Kranz, D., and Nollenberger, N. (2020). *Can't Leave You Now! Intimate Partner Violence under Forced Coexistence and Economic Uncertainty*. Retrieved from https://www.iza.org/publications/dp/13570/ cant-leave-you-now-intimate-partner-violence-under-forced-coexistence-and-economic-uncertainty

Audisio, R. A., Icardi, G., Isidori, A. M., Liverani, C. A., Lombardi, A., Mariani, L., Pecorelli, S. (2016). Public health value of universal HPV vaccination. *Critical reviews in oncology/hematology, 97*, 157-167.

Ayhan, C. H. B., Bilgin, H., Uluman, O. T., Sukut, O., Yilmaz, S., and Buzlu, S. (2020). A Systematic Review of the Discrimination Against Sexual and Gender Minority in Health Care Settings. *International Journal of Health Services*, *50*(1), 44-61. doi:10.1177/0020731419885093

Ayoubkhani, D. (2021). Prevalence of ongoing symptoms following coronavirus (COVID-19) infection in the UK: 1 April 2021. Office for National Statistics, UK, 2021. Retrieved from https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/healthandsocialcare/conditionsanddiseases/bulletins/prevalenceofongoingsymptomsfollowingcoronaviruscovid19infectionintheuk/4june2021

Baker, P. (2019). Who self-cares wins: an updated perspective on men and self-care. *Trends in Urology & Men's Health, 10*(3), 19-22. Balfe, M., Brugha, R., O'Donovan, D., O'Connell, E., and Vaughan, D. (2010). Young women's decisions to accept chlamydia screening: influences of stigma and doctor-patient interactions. *BMC Public Health, 10*(1), 1-11.

Bambra, C., Albani, V., and Franklin, P. (2020). COVID-19 and the gender health paradox. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 49*(1), 17-26. doi:10.1177/1403494820975604

Bambra, C., Riordan, R., Ford, J., and Matthews, F. (2020). The COVID-19 pandemic and health inequalities. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, 74(11), 964-968.

Baranne, M. L., and Falissard, B. (2018). Global burden of mental disorders among children aged 5–14 years. *Child and adolescent psychiatry and mental health, 12*(1), 19.

Barello, S., Palamenghi, L., and Graffigna, G. (2020). Burnout and somatic symptoms among frontline healthcare professionals at the peak of the Italian COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychiatry Research, 290*, 113129.

Barnay, T. (2016). Health, work and working conditions: a review of the European economic literature. *The European Journal of Health Economics*, *17*(6), 693-709.

Barone, G., and Mocetti, S. (2011). With a little help from abroad: the effect of low-skilled immigration on the female labour supply. *Labour Economics*, *18*(5), 664-675.

Bauer, L., Buckner, E., Estep, S., Moss, E., and Welch, M. (2021). Ten Economic Facts on How Mothers Spend Their Time. Retrieved from https://www.hamiltonproject.org/assets/files/ Maternal\_Time\_Use\_Facts\_final.pdf

Baxter, A. J., Patton, G., Scott, K. M., Degenhardt, L., and Whiteford, H. A. (2013). Global Epidemiology of Mental Disorders: What Are We Missing? *PLOS ONE, 8*(6), e65514. doi:10.1371/journal. pone.0065514

Bearak, J., Popinchalk, A., Ganatra, B., Moller, A.-B., Tunçalp, Ö., Beavin, C., Alkema, L. (2020).

Unintended pregnancy and abortion by income, region, and the legal status of abortion: estimates from a comprehensive model for 1990–2019. *The Lancet Global Health, 8*(9), e1152-e1161. doi:10.1016/S2214-109X(20)30315-6

Beck, F., Richard, J.-B., Nguyen-Thanh, V., Montagni, I., Parizot, I., and Renahy, E. (2014). Use of the internet as a health information resource among French young adults: results from a nationally representative survey. *Journal of Medical Internet Research, 16*(5), e128.

Bekele, F., and Hajure, M. (2021). Magnitude and determinants of the psychological impact of COVID-19 among health care workers: A systematic review. *SAGE Open Medicine*, *9*, 20503121211012512.

Benach, J., Vives, A., Amable, M., Vanroelen, C., Tarafa, G., and Muntaner, C. (2014). Precarious employment: understanding an emerging social determinant of health. *Annual review of public health*, *35*, 229-253.

Berg, R. C., Denison, E. M.-L., and Fretheim, A. (2010). *Psychological, social and sexual consequences of female genital mutilation/cutting (FG-M/C): a systematic review of quantitative studies:* Norwegian Knowledge Centre for the Health Services.

Bhala, N., Curry, G., Martineau, A. R., Agyemang, C., and Bhopal, R. (2020). Sharpening the global focus on ethnicity and race in the time of COV-ID-19. *The Lancet, 395*(10238), 1673-1676.

Bhui, K. (2018). Gender, power and mental illness. *The British Journal of Psychiatry, 212*(3), 191-192. doi:10.1192/bjp.2018.30

Biddle, L., Gunnell, D., Sharp, D., and Donovan, J. L. (2004). Factors influencing help seeking in mentally distressed young adults: a cross-sectional survey. *British Journal of General Practice*, *54*(501), 248-253.

Boerma, T., Hosseinpoor, A. R., Verdes, E., and Chatterji, S. (2016). A global assessment of the gender gap in self-reported health with survey data from 59 countries. *BMC Public Health, 16*(1), 675. doi:10.1186/s12889-016-3352-y

Bogueva, D., Marinova, D., and Gordon, R. (2020). Who needs to solve the vegetarian men dilemma? *Journal of Human Behavior in the Social Environment, 30*(1), 28-53.

Bonanni, P., Faivre, P., Lopalco, P. L., Joura, E. A., Bergroth, T., Varga, S., Drury, R. (2020). The status of human papillomavirus vaccination recommendation, funding and coverage in WHO Europe countries (2018-2019). *Expert Review of Vaccines, 19*(11), 1073-1083. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1080/14760584.2020.1858057

Bonomi, A. E., Thompson, R. S., Anderson, M., Reid, R. J., Carrell, D., Dimer, J. A., and Rivara, F. P. (2006). Intimate partner violence and women's physical, mental, and social functioning. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *30*(6), 458-466.

Bonsang, E., Skirbekk, V., and Staudinger, U. M. (2017). As you sow, so shall you reap: Gender-role attitudes and late-life cognition. *Psychological Science*, *28*(9), 1201-1213.

Bosque-Prous, M., Espelt, A., Borrell, C., Bartroli, M., Guitart, A. M., Villalbí, J. R., and Brugal, M. T. (2015). Gender differences in hazardous drinking among middle-aged in Europe: the role of social context and women's empowerment. *The European Journal of Public Health*, *25*(4), 698-705. doi:10.1093/eurpub/cku234

Boyd, A., Van de Velde, S., Vilagut, G., de Graaf, R., O'Neill, S., Florescu, S., Kovess-Masfety, V. (2015). Gender differences in mental disorders and suicidality in Europe: Results from a large cross-sectional population-based study. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 173*, 245-254. doi:10.1016/j. jad.2014.11.002

Bracke, P., Delaruelle, K., Dereuddre, R., and Van de Velde, S. (2020). Depression in women and men, cumulative disadvantage and gender inequality in 29 European countries. *Social Science & Medicine, 267*, 113354. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2020.113354 Brajša-Žganec, A., Merkaš, M., and Šverko, I. (2011). Quality of life and leisure activities: How do leisure activities contribute to subjective well-being? *Social Indicators Research, 102*(1), 81-91.

Bretherton, J., and Mayock, P. (2021). Women's homelessness: European evidence review. *FEANTSA*. Retrieved from https://eprints.whiterose.ac.uk/172737/

Brooks, E., de Ruijter, A., and Greer, S. L. (2020). COVID-19 and European Union health policy: From crisis to collective action. *Social Policy in the European Union: State of Play.* Retrieved from https://www.etui.org/sites/default/files/2021-01/04-Chapter2-Covid%E2%80%9119%20 and%20European%20Union%20health%20policy.pdf

Brooks, S. K., Webster, R. K., Smith, L. E., Woodland, L., Wessely, S., Greenberg, N., and Rubin, G. J. (2020). The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *The Lancet, 395*(10227), 912-920.

Brown, J. S. L., Sagar-Ouriaghli, I., and Sullivan, L. (2019). Help-Seeking Among Men for Mental Health Problems. In J. A. Barry, R. Kingerlee, M. Seager, & L. Sullivan (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Male Psychology and Mental Health* (pp. 397-415). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Bu, F., Steptoe, A., and Fancourt, D. (2020). Who is lonely in lockdown? Cross-cohort analyses of predictors of loneliness before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Public Health, 186*, 31-34. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2020.06.036

Buller, A. M., Peterman, A., Ranganathan, M., Bleile, A., Hidrobo, M., and Heise, L. (2018). A mixed-method review of cash transfers and intimate partner violence in low-and middle-income countries. *The World Bank Research Observer, 33*(2), 218-258.

Burns, R., Aldridge, R. W., Graversen, P., Miller, A. K., Bader, C., Offe, J., and Fille, F. (2019). 2019 Observatory Report - Left Behind: The State of Universal Healthcare Coverage in Europe Burns, *R., Aldridge, R. W., Graversen, P., Miller, A. K., Bader, C., Offe, J. & Fille, F.* Retrieved from https:// mdmeuroblog.files.wordpress.com/2020/06/ dotw\_2019\_lowress\_alt.pdf

Buttell, F., and Ferreira, R. J. (2020). The hidden disaster of COVID-19: Intimate partner violence. *Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice, and policy, 12*(S1), S197.

Byron, K. (2005). A meta-analytic review of workfamily conflict and its antecedents. *Journal of Vocational Behavior, 67*(2), 169-198. doi:10.1016/j. jvb.2004.08.009

BZgA, and IPPF EN. (2018). Sexuality Education in Europe and Central Asia: State of the Art and Recent Developments. Retrieved from https://www. bzga-whocc.de/fileadmin/user\_upload/Dokumente/BZgA\_IPPFEN\_ComprehensiveStudyReport\_Online.pdf

Cairns, J.-M., Graham, E., and Bambra, C. (2017). Area-level socioeconomic disadvantage and suicidal behaviour in Europe: A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine, 192*, 102-111. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2017.09.034

Calkin, S. (2021). Transnational abortion pill flows and the political geography of abortion in Ireland. *Territory, Politics, Governance, 9*(2), 163-179.

Calvano, C., Engelke, L., Di Bella, J., Kindermann, J., Renneberg, B., and Winter, S. M. (2021). Families in the COVID-19 pandemic: parental stress, parent mental health and the occurrence of adverse childhood experiences—results of a representative survey in Germany. *European child & adolescent psychiatry*, 1-13. doi:10.1007/s00787-021-01739-0

Campbell, J., Jones, A. S., Dienemann, J., Kub, J., Schollenberger, J., O'Campo, P., Wynne, C. (2002). Intimate partner violence and physical health consequences. *Archives of internal medicine*, *162*(10), 1157-1163.

Capraro, V., and Barcelo, H. (2020). The effect of messaging and gender on intentions to wear a face covering to slow down COVID-19 transmission. *arXiv preprint arXiv:2005.05467*.

Carey, R. N., Donaghue, N., and Broderick, P. (2014). Body image concern among Australian adolescent girls: The role of body comparisons with models and peers. *Body Image, 11*(1), 81-84.

Carmassi, C., Foghi, C., Dell'Oste, V., Cordone, A., Bertelloni, C. A., Bui, E., and Dell'Osso, L. (2020). PTSD symptoms in healthcare workers facing the three coronavirus outbreaks: What can we expect after the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychiatry Research, 292*, 113312. Retrieved from https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113312

Caroli, E., and Weber-Baghdiguian, L. (2016). Self-reported health and gender: The role of social norms. *Social Science & Medicine, 153*, 220-229. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2016.02.023

Carretero, S., Napierala, J., Bessios, A., Mägi, E., Pugacewicz, A., Ranieri, M., Mantanari, M. (2021). *What did we learn from schooling practices during the COVID-19 lockdown?* (9276284184). Retrieved from Luxembourg: https://op.europa. eu/en/publication-detail/-/publication/1e0ccef2-509f-11eb-b59f-01aa75ed71a1/language-en/format-PDF/source-183562912

Caruana-Finkel, L. (2020). Abortion in the time of COVID-19: perspectives from Malta. *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters, 28*(1), 1780679.

Center For Reproductive Rights. (2020). Perilous Pregnancies. Retrieved from http://reproductiverights.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/03/ Updated-GLP-EUROPE-PerilousPregnancies-2020-Web.pdf

Chandan, J. S., Thomas, T., Raza, K., Bradbury-Jones, C., Taylor, J., Bandyopadhyay, S., and Nirantharakumar, K. (2019). Intimate partner violence and the risk of developing fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue syndrome. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence*, 0886260519888515. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1177/0886260519888515

Chaupain-Guillot, S., and Guillot, O. (2015). Health system characteristics and unmet care needs in Europe: an analysis based on EU-SILC data. *The European Journal of Health Economics*, *16*(7), 781-796. doi:10.1007/s10198-014-0629-x Chen, Y.-Y., Subramanian, S., Acevedo-Garcia, D., and Kawachi, I. (2005). Women's status and depressive symptoms: a multilevel analysis. *Social Science & Medicine*, *60*(1), 49-60.

Chiu, M., Rahman, F., Kurdyak, P., Cairney, J., Jembere, N., and Vigod, S. (2017). Self-rated health and mental health of lone fathers compared with lone mothers and partnered fathers: a population-based cross-sectional study. *J Epidemiol Community Health*, *71*(5), 417-423. doi:10.1136/jech-2016-208005

Chiu, M., Rahman, F., Vigod, S., Lau, C., Cairney, J., and Kurdyak, P. (2018). Mortality in single fathers compared with single mothers and partnered parents: a population-based cohort study. *The Lancet Public Health*, *3*(3), e115-e123. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(18)30003-3

Clemens, V., Berthold, O., Witt, A., Sachser, C., Brähler, E., Plener, P. L., Fegert, J. M. (2019). Child maltreatment is mediating long-term consequences of household dysfunction in a population representative sample. *European psychiatry*, *58*, 10-18.

Clement, S., Schauman, O., Graham, T., Maggioni, F., Evans-Lacko, S., Bezborodovs, N., Thornicroft, G. (2015). What is the impact of mental health-related stigma on help-seeking? A systematic review of quantitative and qualitative studies. *Psychological Medicine*, *45*(1), 11-27. doi:10.1017/S0033291714000129

Coker, A. L., Follingstad, D., Garcia, L. S., Williams, C. M., Crawford, T. N., and Bush, H. M. (2012). Association of intimate partner violence and childhood sexual abuse with cancer-related well-being in women. *Journal of Women's Health*, *21*(11), 1180-1188.

Collings, S., Jenkin, G., Carter, K., and Signal, L. (2014). Gender differences in the mental health of single parents: New Zealand evidence from a household panel survey. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epidemiology, 49*(5), 811-821. doi:10.1007/s00127-013-0796-6

Costanza, A., Di Marco, S., Burroni, M., Corasaniti, F., Santinon, P., Prelati, M., Ambrosetti, J. (2020). Meaning in life and demoralization: A mental-health reading perspective of suicidality in the time of COVID-19. *Acta Bio Medica: Atenei Parmensis, 91*(4).

Council of Europe. (2018). *The provision of palliative care in Europe*. Retrieved from https:// pace.coe.int/en/aplist/committees/25/committee-on-social-affairs-health-and-sustainable-development

Courtenay, W. H. (2000). Constructions of masculinity and their influence on men's well-being: a theory of gender and health. *Social Science & Medicine, 50*(10), 1385-1401.

Craig, L., and Churchill, B. (2020). Dual-earner parent couples' work and care during COV-ID-19. *Gender, Work & Organization, n/a*(n/a). doi:10.1111/gwao.12497

Cuenca-Piqueras, C., Fernández-Prados, J. S., and González-Moreno, M. J. (2020). Face-to-face versus online harassment of European women: Importance of date and place of birth. *Sexuality* & *Culture*, *24*(1), 157-173.

Currie, D. (2016). Growing Up Unequal: Gender and Socioeconomic Differences in Young People's Health and Well-being. Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) Study: International Report from the 2013/2014 Survey: World Health Organization.

Curtis, A., Vandenberg, B., Mayshak, R., Coomber, K., Hyder, S., Walker, A., Miller, P. G. (2019). Alcohol use in family, domestic and other violence: Findings from a cross-sectional survey of the Australian population. *Drug and Alcohol Review, 38*(4), 349-358.

Cutler, D. M., and Lleras-Muney, A. (2007). Education and Health. Policy Brief# 9. *National Poverty Center, University of Michigan*.

Davies, S., and Bennett, B. (2016). A gendered human rights analysis of Ebola and Zika: locating gender in global health emergencies. *International Affairs, 92*(5), 1041-1060. De Goeij, M. C., Suhrcke, M., Toffolutti, V., van de Mheen, D., Schoenmakers, T. M., and Kunst, A. E. (2015). How economic crises affect alcohol consumption and alcohol-related health problems: a realist systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine, 131*, 131-146.

De Irala, J., Osorio, A., Carlos, S., Ruiz-Canela, M., and López-del Burgo, C. (2011). Mean Age of First Sex: Do They Know What We Mean? *Archives of Sexual Behavior, 40*(5), 853-855. doi:10.1007/s10508-011-9779-4

De Schrijver, L., De Buyser, S., Uzieblo, K., Vandeviver, C., and Keygnaert, I. (2021). Mental Health and Domestic Violence in LGB+ Persons during Lockdown Measures in Belgium. *Tijdschrift voor Genderstudies, 24*(2), 143 - 160.

Deaton, A. (2002). Policy Implications Of The Gradient Of Health And Wealth. *Health Affairs, 21*(2), 13-30. doi:10.1377/hlthaff.21.2.13

Dennis, A., Wamil, M., Kapur, S., Alberts, J., Badley, A., Decker, G. A., Banerjee, A. (2020). Multi-organ impairment in low-risk individuals with long COVID. *medRxiv*. Retrieved from https://doi. org/10.1101/2020.10.14.20212555

Dereuddre, R., Buffel, V., and Bracke, P. (2017). Power and the gendered division of contraceptive use in Western European couples. *Social Science Research, 64*, 263-276. doi:10.1016/j.ssresearch.2016.10.004

Di Pietro, G., Biagi, F., Costa, P., Karpiński, Z., and Mazza, J. (2020). *The likely impact of COVID-19 on education: Reflections based on the existing literature and recent international datasets* (Vol. 30275): Publications Office of the European Union.

Dobash, R. E., and Dobash, R. (2015). *When men murder women*: Oxford University Press, USA.

Doyal, L. (1995). *What makes women sick: Gender and the political economy of health*. London: Macmillan International Higher Education.

Dreger, S., Buck, C., and Bolte, G. (2014). Material, psychosocial and sociodemographic determinants are associated with positive mental health in Europe: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open, 4*(5).

Dreger, S., Gerlinger, T., and Bolte, G. (2016). Gender inequalities in mental wellbeing in 26 European countries: do welfare regimes matter? *European Journal of Public Health, 26*(5), 872-876. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckw074

DSR. (2020). *Sygeplejerskers overvejelser om jobskifte*. Retrieved from https://dsr.dk/sites/ default/files/50/notat\_sygeplejersker\_om\_job-skifte-overvejelser\_.pdf

Duarte, I., Teixeira, A., Castro, L., Marina, S., Ribeiro, C., Jácome, C., Silva, A. R. (2020). Burnout among Portuguese healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Public Health*, *20*(1), 1-10.

Duch, R., Roope, L. S., Violato, M., Becerra, M. F., Robinson, T., Bonnefon, J.-F., Melegaro, A. (2021). Who should be first in line for the COVID-19 vaccine? Surveys in 13 countries of the publics preferences for prioritisation. *medRxiv*. Retrieved from https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/ 2021.01.31.21250866v1.full.pdf

ECDC. (2019). Gonococcal antimicrobial susceptibility surveillance in Europe – Results summary 2017 (2315-0947). Retrieved from https://www. ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/ Euro-GASP-2017.pdf

ECDC. (2020a). *Chlamydia infection*. Retrieved from https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/AER-for-2018-STI-chlamydia.pdf

ECDC. (2020b). *Guidance on HPV vaccination in EU countries: focus on boys, people living with HIV and 9-valent HPV vaccine introduction*. Retrieved from https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/files/documents/Guidance-on-HPV-vaccination-in-EU-countries2020-03-30.pdf

ECDC. (2021). Technologies, strategies and approaches for testing populations at risk of sexually transmitted infections in the EU/EEA. Retrieved from https://www.ecdc.europa.eu/sites/default/ files/documents/Technologies-strategies-approaches-testing-populations-at-risk-for-STIs. pdf

ECDC/WHO. (2019). *HIV/AIDS surveillance in Europe 2019: 2018 data*. Luxembourg: Publications Office.

Edwards, E. S., and Sackett, S. C. (2016). Psychosocial Variables Related to Why Women are Less Active than Men and Related Health Implications: Supplementary Issue: Health Disparities in Women. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Women's Health, 9s1*, CMWH.S34668. doi:10.4137/CMWH. S34668

Edwards, J. (2012). The Healthcare Needs of Gay and Lesbian Patients. In E. Kuhlmann & E. Annandale (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Gender and Healthcare* (pp. 290-305). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.

EIGE. (2013). *Gender Equality Index - Main findings*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gender-equality-index-main-findings

EIGE. (2015). Gender gap in pensions in the EU: Research note to the Latvian Presidency. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gendergap-pensions-eu-research-note-latvian-presidency

EIGE. (2016). Poverty, gender and intersecting inequalities in the EU. Review of the implementation of Area A: Women and Poverty of the Beijing Platform for Action. Retrieved from https://eige. europa.eu/publications/poverty-gender-and-intersecting-inequalities-in-the-eu

EIGE. (2017a). Gender Equality Index 2017: Measuring gender equality in the European Union 2005-2015. Retrieved from https://eige.europa. eu/rdc/eige-publications/gender-equality-index-2017-measuring-gender-equality-european-union-2005-2015-report

EIGE. (2017b). Study and work in the EU: set apart by gender. Review of the implementation of the Beijing Platform for Action in the EU Member States. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/ publications/study-and-work-eu-set-apart-gender-report EIGE. (2018a). *Indicators on intimate partner violence and rape for the police and justice sectors*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/indicators-intimate-partner-violence-and-rape-police-and-justice-sectors

EIGE. (2018b). Study and work in the EU: set apart by gender - Review of the implementation of the Beijing Platform for Action in the EU Member States. ISBN 978-92-9493-894-7. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/rdc/ eige-publications/study-and-work-eu-set-apartgender-report

EIGE. (2019a). *Gender equality and youth: opportunities and risks of digitalisation – Main report.* Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gender-equality-and-youth-opportunities-and-risks-digitalisation

EIGE. (2019b). *Gender equality and youth: opportunities and risks of digitalisation. Beijing Platform for Action.* Retrieved from https://eige.europa. eu/publications/gender-equality-and-youth-opportunities-and-risks-digitalisation

EIGE. (2019c). *Gender Equality Index 2019. Worklife balance*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa. eu/publications/gender-equality-index-2019work-life-balance

EIGE. (2019d). *Gender Equality Index 2019. Worklife balance.* Retrieved from https://eige.europa. eu/publications/gender-equality-index-2019work-life-balance

EIGE. (2019e). *Tackling the gender pay gap: not without a better work-life balance*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/tackling-gender-pay-gap-not-without-better-work-life-balance

EIGE. (2019f). Understanding intimate partner violence in the EU: the role of data. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/under-standing-intimate-partner-violence-eu-role-da-ta

EIGE. (2020a). *Beijing* + 25: *the fifth review of the implementation of the Beijing Platform for Action in the EU Member States*. Retrieved from https://

eige.europa.eu/publications/beijing-25-fifth-review-implementation-beijing-platform-action-eu-member-states

EIGE. (2020b). COVID-19 and Gender Equality. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/topics/ health/covid-19-and-gender-equality

EIGE. (2020c). COVID-19 and Gender Equality. Essential Workers. Retrieved from https://eige. europa.eu/covid-19-and-gender-equality/essential-workers

EIGE. (2020d). *Gender equality and health service infrastructures* (978-92-9482-386-1). Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gender-equality-and-health-service-infrastructures

EIGE. (2020e). *Gender Equality and Long-Term Care at home*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gender-equality-and-long-term-care-home

EIGE. (2020f). *Gender Equality and Long-Term Care at home: Research note to the Croatian Presidency.* Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gender-equality-and-long-term-care-home

EIGE. (2020g). *Gender Equality Index 2020: Digitalisation and the future of work*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gender-equality-index-2020-report

EIGE. (2021a). *The Covid-19 pandemic and intimate partner violence against women in the EU*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/covid-19-pandemic-and-intimate-partner-violence-against-women-eu

EIGE. (2021b). Estimation of girls at risk of female genital mutilation in the European Union: Denmark, Spain, Luxembourg and Austria. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/estimationgirls-risk-female-genital-mutilation-european-union-denmark-spain-luxembourg-and-austria

EIGE. (2021c). *Gender equality and the socio-economic impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. Research note.* Retrieved from https://eige.europa. eu/about/projects/gender-equality-and-socio-economic-consequences-covid-19-crisis

EIGE. (2021d). *Gender inequalities in care and consequences for the labour market*. Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/gender-inequalities-care-and-consequences-labour-market

EIWH. (2018). Manifesto for women's health 2018 - Background Briefing. Retrieved from https://eurohealth.ie/our-manifesto-forwomens-health-2018-a-background-briefing/?highlight=women%20and%20vaccination

Elliott, M. N., Kanouse, D. E., Burkhart, Q., Abel, G. A., Lyratzopoulos, G., Beckett, M. K., Roland, M. (2015). Sexual Minorities in England Have Poorer Health and Worse Health Care Experiences: A National Survey. *Journal of General Internal Medicine, 30*(1), 9-16. doi:10.1007/s11606-014-2905-y

EPHA, E. P. H. A. (2018). *Closing the Life Expectancy Gap of Roma in Europe.* . Retrieved from https://epha.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/02/ closing-the-life-expectancy-gap-of-roma-in-europe-study.pdf

Escribà-Agüir, V., Ruiz-Pérez, I., Montero-Piñar, M. I., Vives-Cases, C., Plazaola-Castaño, J., Martín-Baena, D., and Spain, G. f. t. S. o. G. V. i. (2010). Partner violence and psychological well-being: buffer or indirect effect of social support. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *72*(4), 383-389.

ETUI. (2018). *Cancer and work: understanding occupational cancers and taking action to eliminate them*. Retrieved from https://www.etui.org/ publications/books/cancer-and-work-understanding-occupational-cancers-and-taking-action-to-eliminate-them

ETUI. (2021). *Gender, working conditions and health*. Retrieved from https://www.etui.org/pub-lications/gender-working-conditions-and-health

EU-OSHA. (2013). New risks and trends in the safety and health of women at work: European risk observatory. Literature Review. Retrieved from https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/reports/new-risks-and-trends-in-the-safety-andhealth-of-women-at-work

EU-OSHA. (2019). *Work-related musculoskeletal disorders: prevalence, costs and demographics in the EU*. Retrieved from https://osha.europa.eu/en/publications/msds-facts-and-figures-overview-prevalence-costs-and-demographics-msds-europe

EU-OSHA. (forthcoming 2022). Human health and social work - evidence from the European Survey of Enterprises on New and Emerging Risks (ESENER) Retrieved from www.esener.eu

EU Joint Action on Mental Health and Wellbeing. (2016). European Framework for Action on Mental Health and Wellbeing. Retrieved from https:// ec.europa.eu/research/participants/data/ref/ h2020/other/guides\_for\_applicants/h2020-SC1-BHC-22-2019-framework-for-action\_en.pdf

Eurofound. (2015). *Violence and harassment in European workplaces: Causes, impacts and policies*. Retrieved from https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/sites/default/files/ef\_comparative\_analytical\_report/field\_ef\_documents/ef1473en.pdf

Eurofound. (2017). *Work-life balance and flexible working arrangements in the European Union*. Retrieved from https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/customised-report/2017/ work-life-balance-and-flexible-working-arrangements-in-the-european-union

Eurofound. (2018a). *Social insecurities and resilience*. Retrieved from https://www.eurofound. europa.eu/publications/policy-brief/2018/social-insecurities-and-resilience

Eurofound. (2018b). *Striking a balance: Reconciling work and life in the EU*. Retrieved from https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/ report/2018/striking-a-balance-reconcilingwork-and-life-in-the-eu

Eurofound. (2020). *The long-term care workforce: employment and working conditions*. Retrieved from https://www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/customised-report/2020/long-term-careworkforce-employment-and-working-conditions Eurofound. (2021a). COVID-19: Implications for employment and working life. *Publications Office of the European Union, Luxembourg.* 

Eurofound. (2021b). Education, healthcare and housing: How access changed for children and families in 2020. Retrieved from https:// www.eurofound.europa.eu/publications/policy-brief/2021/education-healthcare-and-housing-how-access-changed-for-children-and-families-in-2020

Eurofound. (2021c). *Living, working and COVID-19* (Update April 2021): Mental health and trust decline across EU as pandemic enters another year. Retrieved from https://www.eurofound.europa. eu/sites/default/files/ef\_publication/field\_ef\_ document/ef21064en.pdf

Eurofound/EIGE. (2021). Upward Convergence in Gender Equality: How close is the union of equality? Retrieved from https://eige.europa.eu/publications/upward-convergence-gender-equality-how-close-union-equality?lang=sk

EuroHealthNet. (2020). The European Health Inequalities Portal. Retrieved from https:// eurohealthnet.eu/media/news-releases/ new-online-portal-resources-and-information-health-inequalities

European Commission. (2015a). Improving Policy and Provision for Adult Learning in Europe. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

European Commission. (2015b). An in-depth analysis of adult learning policies and their effectiveness in Europe. *Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.* 

European Commission. (2017). *Heath4LGBTI. Reducing health inequalities experienced by LG-BTI people* Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/ health/sites/default/files/social\_determinants/ docs/stateofart\_report\_en.pdf

European Commission. (2018). Commission staff working document: Progress of the European Innovation Partnership on Active and Healthy Ageing. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eip/
ageing/library/commission-staff-working-document-progress-european-innovation-partnership-active-and\_en.html

European Commission. (2019). The European pillar of social rights in 20 principles. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/ info/strategy/priorities-2019-2024/economy-works-people/jobs-growth-and-investment/ european-pillar-social-rights/european-pillar-social-rights-20-principles\_en

European Commission. (2020a). Communication from the Commission to the European Parliament, the Council, the European Economic and Social Committee and the Committee of the Regions on the european democracy action plan. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/ files/edap\_communication.pdf

European Commission. (2020b). A Union of Equality: Gender Equality Strategy 2020-2025. Retrieved from https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/?uri=COM%3A2020%3A152%3AFIN

European Commission. (2021a). 2021 report on gender equality in the EU. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/aid\_devel-opment\_cooperation\_fundamental\_rights/an-nual\_report\_ge\_2021\_printable\_en\_0.pdf

European Commission. (2021b). *Commission recommendation of 4.3.2021 on an effective active support to employment following the covid-19 crisis (EASE)*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/social/BlobServlet?docId=23699&langId=en

European Commission. (2021c). Communication From The Commission To The European Parliament And The Council. Europe's Beating Cancer Plan. Retrieved from https://eur-lex. europa.eu/resource.html?uri=cellar:8dec-84ce-66df-11eb-aeb5-01aa75ed71a1.0002.02/ DOC\_1&format=PDF

European Commission. (2021d). *The European Pillar of Social Rights Action Plan*. Retrieved from https://op.europa.eu/webpub/empl/europeanpillar-of-social-rights/downloads/KE0921 008ENN.pdf European Commission. (2021e). *Flash Eurobarometer 494, Attitudes on vaccination against Covid-19* (978-92-76-38836-4). Retrieved from https://europa.eu/eurobarometer/surveys/detail/2512

European Commission. (2021f). Food-Based Dietary Guidelines in Europe - table 3. Retrieved from https://knowledge4policy.ec.europa.eu/health-promotion-knowledge-gateway/ food-based-dietary-guidelines-europe-table-3\_ en

European Commission. (2021g). *Green Paper On Ageing*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/info/sites/default/files/1\_en\_act\_part1\_v8\_0.pdf

European Commission. (2021h). *Mental health and the pandemic: living, caring, acting! Conference Report*. Retrieved from: https://ec.europa.eu/health/non\_communicable\_diseases/events/ev\_20210510\_en

European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction. (2020). *European drug report 2020: trends and developments*. Luxembourg: Publications Office of the European Union.

European Parliament. (2016a). *Differences in men's and women's work, care and leisure time*. Retrieved from https://www.europarl.europa. eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2016/556933/IPOL\_ STU(2016)556933\_EN.pdf

European Parliament. (2016b). *The Gender Pension Gap: Differences between Mothers and Women without Children*. Retrieved from https:// www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ STUD/2016/571363/IPOL\_STU(2016)571363\_ EN.pdf

European Parliament. (2017). Resolution promoting gender equality in mental health and clinical research. Retrieved from http://www. europarl.europa.eu/sides/getDoc.do?pubRef=-// EP//TEXT+TA+P8-TA-2017-0028+0+DOC+XM-L+V0//EN

European Parliament. (2018). *Cyber violence and hate speech online against women. Women's Rights* & Gender Equality. A study for the FEMM commit*tee.* Retrieved from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/STUD/2018/604979/ IPOL\_STU(2018)604979\_EN.pdf

European Parliament. (2019). European Parliament resolution of 13 February 2019 on experiencing a backlash in women's rights and gender equality in the EU. Retrieved from https://www. europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-8-2019-0111\_EN.html

European Parliament. (2020). *European Parliament resolution of 10 July 2020 on the EU's public health strategy post-COVID-19* Retrieved from https://www.europarl.europa.eu/doceo/document/TA-9-2020-0205\_EN.html

European Parliament. (2021). *Combating gender-based violence: Cyber violence. European added value assessment*. Retrieved from https:// www.europarl.europa.eu/RegData/etudes/ STUD/2021/662621/EPRS\_STU(2021)662621\_ EN.pdf

Eurostat. (2020). *Tobacco consumption statistics*. Retrieved from https://ec.europa.eu/eurostat/ statistics-explained/index.php/Tobacco\_consumption\_statistics

Fair, F., Raben, L., Watson, H., Vivilaki, V., van den Muijsenbergh, M., Soltani, H., and team, O. (2020). Migrant women's experiences of pregnancy, childbirth and maternity care in European countries: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(2), e0228378. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0228378

Faith, B., and Fraser, E. (2018). What Works to Prevent Cyber Violence Against Women and Girls. *VAWF Helpdesk Research Report, UKAID DFID* Retrieved from http://www.sddirect.org. uk/media/1646/vawg-helpdesk-report-212what-works-cybervawg.pdf

Fasani, F., and Mazza, J. (2020). Immigrant Key Workers: Their Contribution to Europe's COVID-19 Response. Retrieved from https:// ec.europa.eu/migrant-integration/librarydoc/immigrant-key-workers-their-contribution-to-europes-covid-19-response Fedewa, A. L., and Ahn, S. (2011). The Effects of Bullying and Peer Victimization on Sexual-Minority and Heterosexual Youths: A Quantitative Meta-Analysis of the Literature. *Journal of GLBT Family Studies*, 7(4), 398-418. doi:10.1080/155042 8X.2011.592968

Ferrante, G., Fasanelli, F., Gigantesco, A., Ferracin, E., Contoli, B., Costa, G., Minardi, V. (2019). Is the association between precarious employment and mental health mediated by economic difficulties in males? Results from two Italian studies. *BMC Public Health*, *19*(1), 1-9.

Ferrari, G., Agnew-Davies, R., Bailey, J., Howard, L., Howarth, E., Peters, T. J., Feder, G. S. (2016). Domestic violence and mental health: a cross-sectional survey of women seeking help from domestic violence support services. *Global Health Action, 9*(1), 29890.

Finkelhor, D., Ormrod, R. K., and Turner, H. A. (2007). Poly-victimization: A neglected component in child victimization. *Child Abuse & Neglect*, *31*(1), 7-26.

Fish, J. A., Prichard, I., Ettridge, K., Grunfeld, E. A., and Wilson, C. (2019). Understanding variation in men's help-seeking for cancer symptoms: A semistructured interview study. *Psychology of Men & Masculinities, 20*(1), 61.

Flatau, P., Seivwright, A., Hartley, C., Bock, C., and Callis, Z. (2020). Homelessness and Covid-19: CSI Response. In: Centre for Social Impact. Retrieved from: https://apo.org.au/node/302978

Forlani, E., Lodigiani, E., and Mendolicchio, C. (2015). Impact of low-skilled immigration on female labour supply. *The Scandinavian Journal of Economics*, *117*(2), 452-492.

FRA. (2014). *Violence against women: An EU-wide survey*. Retrieved from https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra\_uploads/fra-2014-vaw-survey-main-results-apr14\_en.pdf

FRA. (2016). Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey. Roma women in nine EU Member States. Retrieved from https:// fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra\_uploads/

### fra-2019-eu-minorities-survey-roma-women\_ en.pdf

FRA. (2019). Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey. Migrant women - selected findings Retrieved from https://fra.europa. eu/sites/default/files/fra\_uploads/fra-2019-eumidis-ii-migrant-women\_en.pdf

FRA. (2020a). *EU-LGBTI II. A long way to go for LG-BTI equality*. Retrieved from https://fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra\_uploads/fra-2020-lgb-ti-equality\_en.pdf

FRA. (2020b). *A long way to go for LGBTI equality*. Retrieved from https://fra.europa.eu/sites/ default/files/fra\_uploads/fra-2020-lgbti-equality-1\_en.pdf

FRA. (2020c). Roma and Travellers in six countries. Retrieved from https://fra.europa.eu/sites/ default/files/fra\_uploads/fra-2020-roma-travellers-six-countries\_en.pdf

FRA. (2021). *Crime, safety and victims' rights – Fundamental Rights Survey.* . Retrieved from https:// fra.europa.eu/sites/default/files/fra\_uploads/ fra-2021-crime-safety-victims-rights\_en.pdf

Franklin, P., Bambra, C., and Albani, V. (2021). *Gender equality and health in the EU*. Retrieved from https://op.europa.eu/s/p79A

Furnée, C. A., Groot, W., and Pfann, G. A. (2011). Health and income: A meta-analysis to explore cross-country, gender and age differences. *European Journal of Public Health, 21*(6), 775-780. doi:10.1093/eurpub/ckq166

Galasso, V., Pons, V., Profeta, P., Becher, M., Brouard, S., and Foucault, M. (2020). Gender differences in COVID-19 attitudes and behavior: Panel evidence from eight countries. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences, 117*(44), 27285-27291.

Ganatra, B., Gerdts, C., Rossier, C., Johnson, B. R., Tunçalp, Ö., Assifi, A., Alkema, L. (2017). Global, regional, and subregional classification of abortions by safety, 2010–14: estimates from a Bayesian hierarchical model. *The Lancet, 390*(10110), 2372-2381. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31794-4

Garcia-Moreno, C., and Watts, C. (2011). Violence against women: an urgent public health priority. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization, 89*, 2-2.

Gearing, A. (2020). Coronavirus and 'domestic terrorism': how to stop family violence under lockdown. *The Conversation. 31st March.* 

Gerdts, C., DeZordo, S., Mishtal, J., Barr-Walker, J., and Lohr, P. A. (2016). Experiences of women who travel to England for abortions: an exploratory pilot study. *The European Journal of Contraception & Reproductive Health Care, 21*(5), 401-407.

Ghanotakis, E., Peacock, D., and Wilcher, R. (2012). The importance of addressing gender inequality in efforts to end vertical transmission of HIV. *Journal of the International AIDS Society, 15*, 17385.

Gibson, J., and O'Connor, R. (2010). Access to health care for disabled people: a systematic review. *Social Care and Neurodisability, 1*(3), 21-31. doi:10.5042/scn.2010.0599

Gillespie, S. M., Jones, A., Uzieblo, K., Garofalo, C., and Robinson, E. (2021). Coping using sex during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak in the United Kingdom. *The Journal of Sexual Medicine*, *18*(1), 50-62.

Giménez-Nadal, J. I., Mangiavacchi, L., and Piccoli, L. (2019). Keeping inequality at home: The genesis of gender roles in housework. *Labour Economics*, *58*, 52-68.

Giustino, V., Parroco, A. M., Gennaro, A., Musumeci, G., Palma, A., and Battaglia, G. (2020). Physical activity levels and related energy expenditure during COVID-19 quarantine among the Sicilian active population: a cross-sectional online survey study. *Sustainability, 12*(11), 4356.

GlobalHealth 50/50. (2020, 2020/02/12/). Global Health 50/50. Retrieved from https:// globalhealth5050.org/ Gold, N., Viviano, M., and Yaron, M. (2021). Contraception: what is the resistance all about? *The European Journal of Contraception & Reproductive Health Care, 26*(1), 62-72.

González-Gil, E. M., Martínez-Olivan, B., Widhalm, K., Lambrinou, C. P., Henauw de, S., Gottrand, F., Kersting, M. (2019). Healthy eating determinants and dietary patterns in European adolescents: the HELENA study. *Child and Adolescent Obesity, 2*(1), 18-39.

Gott, M., Morgan, T., and Williams, L. (2020). Gender and palliative care: a call to arms. *Palliative Care and Social Practice*, *14*, 2632352420957997.

Gough, B., and Novikova, I. (2020). *Mental health, men and culture: how do sociocultural constructions of masculinities relate to men's mental health help-seeking behaviour in the WHO European Region?* Copenhagen: WHO. Retrieved from: https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/hand le/10665/332974/9789289055130-eng.pdf

Gousseff, M., Penot, P., Gallay, L., Batisse, D., Benech, N., Bouiller, K., Joseph, C. (2020). Clinical recurrences of COVID-19 symptoms after recovery: viral relapse, reinfection or inflammatory rebound? *Journal of Infection*, *81*(5), 816-846.

Graham-Harrison, E., Giuffrida, A., Smith, H., and Ford, L. (2020). Lockdowns around the world bring rise in domestic violence. *The guardian, 28*. Retrieved from https://www.theguardian.com/ society/2020/mar/28/lockdowns-world-rise-domestic-violence

Greenberg, N., Docherty, M., Gnanapragasam, S., and Wessely, S. (2020). Managing mental health challenges faced by healthcare workers during covid-19 pandemic. *BMJ, 368*.

Grotti, V., Malakasis, C., Quagliariello, C., and Sahraoui, N. (2018). Shifting vulnerabilities: gender and reproductive care on the migrant trail to Europe. *Comparative Migration Studies, 6*(1), 23. doi:10.1186/s40878-018-0089-z

Gumà, J., Solé-Auró, A., and Arpino, B. (2019). Examining social determinants of health: the role of education, household arrangements and country groups by gender. *BMC Public Health, 19*(1), 699. doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7054-0

Gunasekara, F. I., Carter, K., and Blakely, T. (2011). Change in income and change in self-rated health: Systematic review of studies using repeated measures to control for confounding bias. *Social Science & Medicine*, *72*(2), 193-201.

Hale, T., and Webster, S. (2020). Oxford COV-ID-19 government response tracker. *Blavatnik School of Government*. Retrieved from www.bsg. ox.ac.uk/covidtracker

Halim, N., Beard, J., Mesic, A., Patel, A., Henderson, D., and Hibberd, P. (2018). Intimate partner violence during pregnancy and perinatal mental disorders in low and lower middle income countries: A systematic review of literature, 1990–2017. *Clinical Psychology Review, 66*, 117-135.

Han, J., Batterham, P. J., Calear, A. L., and Randall, R. (2018). Factors influencing professional help-seeking for suicidality: A systematic review. *Crisis: The Journal of Crisis Intervention and Suicide Prevention, 39*(3), 175-196. doi:10.1027/0227-5910/a000485

Hankivsky, O. (2012). Women's health, men's health, and gender and health: Implications of intersectionality. *Social Science & Medicine*, *74*(11), 1712-1720. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2011.11.029

Hankivsky, O., and Christoffersen, A. (2008). Intersectionality and the determinants of health: a Canadian perspective. *Critical Public Health*, *18*(3), 271-283.

Hantrais, L. (2021). Policy learning from COVID-19 in Europe. *Emerald Open Res, 3*. Retrieved from http://emeraldopenresearch.s3.amazonaws. com/posters/docs/emeraldopenres-184530.pdf

Hawkes, S., and Hart, G. (2000). Men's sexual health matters: promoting reproductive health in an international context. *Tropical Medicine and International Health*, *5*(7), A37-A44. doi:10.1046/j.1365-3156.2000.00594.x

Haynes, A., Kersbergen, I., Sutin, A., Daly, M., and Robinson, E. (2019). Does perceived over-

weight increase risk of depressive symptoms and suicidality beyond objective weight status? A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review, 73*, 101753. doi:10.1016/j. cpr.2019.101753

Hegarty, K. L., O'Doherty, L. J., Chondros, P., Valpied, J., Taft, A. J., Astbury, J., Feder, G. S. (2013). Effect of type and severity of intimate partner violence on women's health and service use: findings from a primary care trial of women afraid of their partners. *Journal of Interpersonal Violence, 28*(2), 273-294.

Heise, L., Greene, M. E., Opper, N., Stavropoulou, M., Harper, C., Nascimento, M., Rao Gupta, G. (2019). Gender inequality and restrictive gender norms: framing the challenges to health. *The Lancet, 393*(10189), 2440-2454. doi:10.1016/ S0140-6736(19)30652-X

Helsing, B., Frisén, A., and Hwang, C. P. (2021). Sexual risk-taking among young Swedish men testing for STI. *The European Journal of Contraception & Reproductive Health Care, 26*(2), 155-159.

Henseke, G. (2018). Good jobs, good pay, better health? The effects of job quality on health among older European workers. *The European Journal of Health Economics, 19*(1), 59-73.

Hoffmann, R., Kröger, H., and Pakpahan, E. (2018). Health Inequalities and the Interplay of Socioeconomic Factors and Health in the Life Course. In M. Meloni, J. Cromby, D. Fitzgerald, & S. Lloyd (Eds.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Biology and Society* (pp. 611-637). London: Palgrave Macmillan UK.

Horton, R. (2020). Offline: COVID-19 is not a pandemic. *Lancet (London, England), 396*(10255), 874.

Hosseinpoor, A. R., Williams, J. S., Amin, A., Carvalho, I. A. d., Beard, J., Boerma, T., Chatterji, S. (2012). Social Determinants of Self-Reported Health in Women and Men: Understanding the Role of Gender in Population Health. *PLOS ONE*, *7*(4), e34799. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0034799

Hsu, L.-c., and Henke, A. (2020). The Effect of Social Distancing on Police Reports of Domestic Violence. *Feminist Economics*, *27*(1-2), 362-379. doi:10.1080/13545701.2020.1830145

Huang, C., Huang, L., Wang, Y., Li, X., Ren, L., Gu, X., Zhou, X. (2021). 6-month consequences of COVID-19 in patients discharged from hospital: a cohort study. *The Lancet, 397*(10270), 220–232. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(20)32656-8

Hughes, K., Bellis, M. A., Hardcastle, K. A., Sethi, D., Butchart, A., Mikton, C., Dunne, M. P. (2017). The effect of multiple adverse childhood experiences on health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *The Lancet Public Health, 2*(8), e356-e366.

Hussein, J. (2020). COVID-19: What implications for sexual and reproductive health and rights globally? *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters*, 28(1).

ICN. (2021). Gender inequalities exposed by COVID 19 International Council of Nurses challenges gender bias against nurses *e-report*. Retrieved from https://adobeindd.com/view/ publications/f618d9a4-9dee-4aa2-9521-ef-1460c491f8/1/publication-web-resources/pdf/ ICN\_2020\_YONM\_COVID\_4.0.pdf

ICN Policy Brief. (2021). The Global Nursing shortage and Nurse Retention. Retrieved from https://www.icn.ch/sites/default/files/inline-files/ICN%20Policy%20Brief\_Nurse%20Short-age%20and%20Retention.pdf

ILGA Europe. (2020). COVID-19 impacts on LG-BTI communities in Europe and Central Asia: A rapid assessment report. Retrieved from https://www.ilga-europe.org/sites/default/files/ covid19-lgbti-assessment-2020.pdf

ILO. (2013). *10 Keys for Gender Sensitive OSH Practice – Guidelines for Gender Mainstreaming in Occupational Safety and Health*. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/--ed\_protect/---protrav/---safework/documents/ publication/wcms\_324653.pdf ILO. (2018). *Care work and care jobs for the future of decent work*. Retrieved from https://www.ilo. org/global/publications/books/WCMS\_633135/ lang--en/index.htm

ILO. (2020). *Teleworking during the COVID-19 pandemicand beyond - Apractical guide*. Retrieved from https://www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/ ---ed\_protect/---protrav/---travail/documents/ instructionalmaterial/wcms\_751232.pdf

ILO. (2021). Assessment of the Social Security Responses to COVID-19. Retrieved from https:// www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---europe/---ro-geneva/---sro-budapest/documents/publication/wcms\_775160.pdf

Inchley, J., Currie, D., Young, T., Samdal, O., Torsheim, T., Augustson, L., Organization, W. H. (2016). Growing up unequal: gender and socioeconomic differences in young people's health and well-being: Health Behaviour in School-Aged Children (HBSC) Study: international report from the 2013/2014 survey (978-92-890-5136-1). Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/ pdf\_file/0020/303464/HBSC-No.7\_Key-Findings. pdf

Inchley, J., Currie, D. B., Budisavljevic, S., Torsheim, T., Jastad, A., Cosma, A., Arnasson, A. M. (2020). *Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being. Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (HBSC) survey in Europe and Canada. International report. Volume 1. Key findings.* Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/332091/9789289055000eng.pdf

IPPF. (2019). *The IPPF EN Partner Survey: Abortion Legislation and its Implementation in Europe and Central Asia*. Retrieved from https://www.ippfen.org/resource/ippf-en-partner-survey-abortion-legislation-and-its-implementation-europe-and-central-asia

Islam, N., Shkolnikov, V. M., Acosta, R. J., Klimkin, I., Kawachi, I., Irizarry, R. A., Jdanov, D. A. (2021). Excess deaths associated with covid-19 pandemic in 2020: age and sex disaggregated time series analysis in 29 high income countries. *BMJ*, *373*(n1137). doi:10.1136/bmj.n1137

Jacob, L., Tully, M. A., Barnett, Y., Lopez-Sanchez, G. F., Butler, L., Schuch, F., Smith, L. (2020). The relationship between physical activity and mental health in a sample of the UK public: A cross-sectional study during the implementation of COVID-19 social distancing measures. *Mental Health and Physical Activity, 19*, 100345. doi:10.1016/j.mhpa.2020.100345

JAHEE. Joint Action Health Equity Europe. Retrieved from https://jahee.iss.it/

Jansen, L. A. W., Koot, M. H., van 't Hooft, J., Dean, C. R., Duffy, J. M. N., Ganzevoort, W., Roseboom, T. J. (2020). A core outcome set for hyperemesis gravidarum research: an international consensus study. *BJOG: An International Journal of Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 127*(8), 983-992.

Janssen, M., Chang, B. P., Hristov, H., Pravst, I., Profeta, A., and Millard, J. (2021). Changes in Food Consumption During the COVID-19 Pandemic: Analysis of Consumer Survey Data From the First Lockdown Period in Denmark, Germany, and Slovenia. *Frontiers in nutrition, 8*, 60.

Jarnecke, A. M., and Flanagan, J. C. (2020). Staying safe during COVID-19: How a pandemic can escalate risk for intimate partner violence and what can be done to provide individuals with resources and support. *Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice, and policy, 12*(S1), S202.

Jewkes, R. (2002). Intimate partner violence: causes and prevention. *The Lancet, 359*(9315), 1423-1429.

Johnson, O., Diggle, P., and Giorgi, E. (2020). Dealing with spatial misalignment to model the relationship between deprivation and life expectancy: a model-based geostatistical approach. *International Journal of Health Geographics, 19*(1), 6. doi:10.1186/s12942-020-00200-w

Kågesten, A., Bajos, N., Bohet, A., and Moreau, C. (2015). Male experiences of unintended pregnancy: characteristics and prevalence. *Human Reproduction, 30*(1), 186-196.

Kan, M. Y., Sullivan, O., and Gershuny, J. (2011). Gender convergence in domestic work: Discerning the effects of interactional and institutional barriers from large-scale data. *Sociology, 45*(2), 234-251.

Kapan, A., Stefanac, S., Sandner, I., Haider, S., Grabovac, I., and Dorner, T. (2020). Use of electronic cigarettes in European populations: a narrative review. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *17*(6), 1971.

Kasstan, B., and Crook, S. (2018). Reproductive rebellions in Britain and the Republic of Ireland: Contemporary and past abortion activism and alternative sites of care. *Feminist Encounters: A Journal of Critical Studies in Culture and Politics,* 2(2), 1-16.

Katz, C. (2021). What happened to the prevention of child maltreatment during CoViD-19? A yearlong into the pandemic reflection. *International Journal on Child Maltreatment: Research, Policy and Practice, 4*(2), 137–144. doi:10.1007/ s42448-021-00076-8

Keygnaert, I., and Guieu, A. (2015). What the eye does not see: a critical interpretive synthesis of European Union policies addressing sexual violence in vulnerable migrants. *Reproductive Health Matters, 23*(46), 45-55. doi:10.1016/j. rhm.2015.11.002

Keygnaert, I., Guieu, A., Ooms, G., Vettenburg, N., Temmerman, M., and Roelens, K. (2014a). Sexual and reproductive health of migrants: Does the EU care? *Health Policy, 114*(2-3), 215-225. doi:10.1016/j.healthpol.2013.10.007

Keygnaert, I., Vettenburg, N., Roelens, K., and Temmerman, M. (2014b). Sexual health is dead in my body: participatory assessment of sexual health determinants by refugees, asylum seekers and undocumented migrants in Belgium and the Netherlands. *BMC Public Health*, *14*(1), 416. doi:10.1186/1471-2458-14-416

Khan, M. A., Menon, P., Govender, R., Samra, A., Nauman, J., Ostlundh, L., Al Kaabi, J. M. (2021). Systematic review of the effects of pandemic confinements on body weight and their determinants. *British Journal of Nutrition*, 1-74. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1017/ S0007114521000921

King, Hewitt, B., Crammond, B., Sutherland, G., Maheen, H., and Kavanagh, A. (2020). Reordering gender systems: can COVID-19 lead to improved gender equality and health? *The Lancet, 396*(10244), 80-81. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(20)31418-5

King, M., Semlyen, J., Tai, S. S., Killaspy, H., Osborn, D., Popelyuk, D., and Nazareth, I. (2008). A systematic review of mental disorder, suicide, and deliberate self harm in lesbian, gay and bisexual people. *BMC psychiatry, 8*(1), 1-17.

Kinnunen, J. M., Rimpelä, A. H., Lindfors, P. L., Clancy, L., Alves, J., Hoffmann, L., Lorant, V. (2021). Electronic cigarette use among 14-to 17-year-olds in Europe. *European journal of public health*, *31*(2), 402-408.

Kisely, S., Warren, N., McMahon, L., Dalais, C., Henry, I., and Siskind, D. (2020). Occurrence, prevention, and management of the psychological effects of emerging virus outbreaks on healthcare workers: rapid review and meta-analysis. *BMJ*, 369.

Kiss, L., Pocock, N. S., Naisanguansri, V., Suos, S., Dickson, B., Thuy, D., Borland, R. (2015). Health of men, women, and children in post-trafficking services in Cambodia, Thailand, and Vietnam: an observational cross-sectional study. *The Lancet Global Health, 3*(3), e154-e161.

Klatzer, E., and Rinaldi, A. (2020). "# nextGenerationEU" Leaves Women Behind. Retrieved from https://alexandrageese.eu/wp-content/uploads/ 2020/07/Gender-Impact-Assessment-NextGenerationEU\_Klatzer\_Rinaldi\_2020.pdf

Kneck, Å., Mattsson, E., Salzmann-Erikson, M., Klarare, A., and in collaboration with Women Advisory Board for Inclusion, H. (2021). "Stripped of dignity" - Women in homelessness and their perspectives of healthcare services: A qualitative study. *International journal of nursing studies*, *120*, 103974. doi:10.1016/j.ijnurstu.2021.103974 Knipscheer, J., Vloeberghs, E., van der Kwaak, A., and van den Muijsenbergh, M. (2015). Mental health problems associated with female genital mutilation. *BJPsych bulletin*, *39*(6), 273-277.

Kolip, P. (2012). Primary Prevention and Health Promotion: Towards Gender-sensitive Interventions. In A. E. Kuhlmann E. (Ed.), *The Palgrave Handbook of Gender and Healthcare* (pp. 371-388). London: Palgrave Macmillan.

Kragholm, K., Andersen, M. P., Gerds, T. A., Butt, J. H., Østergaard, L., Polcwiartek, C., Fosbøl, E. L. (2020). Association between male sex and outcomes of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (Covid-19) – a Danish nationwide, register-based study. *Clinical Infectious Diseases*. doi:10.1093/cid/ciaa924

Kuehner, C. (2017). Why is depression more common among women than among men? *The Lancet Psychiatry, 4*(2), 146-158. doi:10.1016/S2215-0366(16)30263-2

Kühlbrandt, C. (2019). Confronting racism in family planning: a critical ethnography of Roma health mediation. *Sexual and Reproductive Health Matters, 27*(1), 83-92.

Leka, S., and Jain, A. (2010). Health impact of psychosocial hazards at work: an overview. Re-trieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/44428/?sequence=1

Levels, M., Sluiter, R., and Need, A. (2014). A review of abortion laws in Western-European countries. A cross-national comparison of legal developments between 1960 and 2010. *Health Policy, 118*(1), 95-104.

Lorem, G. F., Schirmer, H., Wang, C. E. A., and Emaus, N. (2017). Ageing and mental health: changes in self-reported health due to physical illness and mental health status with consecutive cross-sectional analyses. *BMJ Open*, *7*(1), e013629. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013629

Lynch, J., Smith, G. D., Harper, S., Hillemeier, M., Ross, N., Kaplan, G. A., and Wolfson, M. (2004). Is Income Inequality a Determinant of Population Health? Part 1. A Systematic Review. *The*  *Milbank Quarterly, 82*(1), 5-99. doi:10.1111/j.0887-378X.2004.00302.x

Mackenbach, J. P., Meerding, W. J., and Kunst, A. E. (2011). Economic costs of health inequalities in the European Union. *Journal of Epidemiology* & *Community Health*, *65*(5), 412-419. doi:10.1136/ jech.2010.112680

Magaard, J. L., Seeralan, T., Schulz, H., and Brütt, A. L. (2017). Factors associated with help-seeking behaviour among individuals with major depression: A systematic review. *PLOS ONE, 12*(5), e0176730. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0176730

Make Mothers Matter. (forthcoming 2022). Maternal Health Care in Europe.

Mandl, S., Sprenger, C., Schachner, A., Traustadottir, R., Woodin, S., Sha, S., and Schröttle, M. (2014). Access to specialised victim support services for women with disabilities who have experienced violence. *Journal of Applied Research in Intellectual Disabilities, 27*(4).

Manierre, M. J. (2015). Gaps in knowledge: tracking and explaining gender differences in health information seeking. *Social Science & Medicine*, *128*, 151-158.

Marmot, M. (2002). The influence of income on health: views of an epidemiologist. *Health Affairs (Project Hope), 21*(2), 31-46. doi:10.1377/ hlthaff.21.2.31

Marmot, M., Allen, J., Bell, R., Bloomer, E., and Goldblatt, P. (2012). WHO European review of social determinants of health and the health divide. *The Lancet, 380*(9846), 1011-1029. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)61228-8

Martin, M. A., and Lippert, A. M. (2012). Feeding her children, but risking her health: the intersection of gender, household food insecurity and obesity. *Social Science & Medicine*, 74(11), 1754-1764.

Mascherini, M., and Bisello, M. (2020). Covid-19 fallout takes a higher toll on women, economically and domestically. Retrieved from https://

### www.socialeurope.eu/covid-19-fallout-takeshigher-toll-on-women

Maugeri, G., Castrogiovanni, P., Battaglia, G., Pippi, R., D'Agata, V., Palma, A., Musumeci, G. (2020). The impact of physical activity on psychological health during Covid-19 pandemic in Italy. *Heliyon*, *6*(6), e04315. doi:10.1016/j.heliyon.2020.e04315

MBRRACE-UK. (2020). Saving Lives, Improving Mothers' Care: Executive Summary. Retrieved from https://www.npeu.ox.ac.uk/assets/ downloads/mbrrace-uk/reports/maternal-report-2020/MBRRACE-UK\_Maternal\_Report\_ Dec\_2020\_-\_Ex\_Summary\_v10.pdf

McCarthy, F. P., Lutomski, J. E., and Greene, R. A. (2014). Hyperemesis gravidarum: current perspectives. *International Journal of Women's Health, 6*, 719.

McCartney, G., Dickie, E., Escobar, O., and Collins, C. (2021). Health inequalities, fundamental causes and power: towards the practice of good theory. *Sociology of health & illness, 43*(1), 20-39.

McCartney, G., Mahmood, L., Leyland, A. H., Batty, G. D., and Hunt, K. (2011). Contribution of smoking-related and alcohol-related deaths to the gender gap in mortality: evidence from 30 European countries. *Tobacco Control, 20*(2), 166-168. doi:10.1136/tc.2010.037929

McGlynn, C., Rackley, E., and Houghton, R. (2017). Beyond 'revenge porn': The continuum of image-based sexual abuse. *Feminist Legal Studies, 25*(1), 25-46.

Mecinska, L., James, C., and Mukungu, K. (2020). Criminalization of women accessing abortion and enforced mobility within the European Union and the United Kingdom. *Women & Criminal Justice, 30*(5), 391-406.

Meherali, S., Punjani, N., Louie-Poon, S., Abdul Rahim, K., Das, J. K., Salam, R. A., and Lassi, Z. S. (2021). Mental health of children and adolescents amidst CoViD-19 and past pandemics: a rapid systematic review. *International journal of*  environmental research and public health, 18(7), 3432.

Mielke, M. M. (2018). Sex and Gender Differences in Alzheimer Disease Dementia. *Psychiatric Times*, *35*(11). Retrieved from https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/sex-and-gender-differences-alzheimer-disease-dementia

Miralles, O., Sanchez-Rodriguez, D., Marco, E., Annweiler, C., Baztan, A., Betancor, É., Gąsowski, J. (2021). Unmet needs, health policies, and actions during the COVID-19 pandemic: a report from six European countries. *European geriatric medicine, 12*(1), 193-204.

Miranda-Mendizabal, A., Castellví, P., Parés-Badell, O., Alayo, I., Almenara, J., Alonso, I., Alonso, J. (2019). Gender differences in suicidal behavior in adolescents and young adults: systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *International journal of public health*, *64*(2), 265-283. doi:10.1007/s00038-018-1196-1

Moreau, C., Shankar, M., Glasier, A., Cameron, S., and Gemzell-Danielsson, K. (2020). Abortion regulation in Europe in the era of COVID-19: a spectrum of policy responses. *BMJ sexual & reproductive health*. doi:10.1136/bmjsrh-2020-200724

Morel, N., and Carbonnier, C. (2015). Taking the low road: the political economy of household services in Europe. In *The political economy of household services in Europe* (pp. 1-36): Springer.

Moreno-Pérez, O., Merino, E., Leon-Ramirez, J.-M., Andres, M., Ramos, J. M., Arenas-Jiménez, J., Galan, I. (2021). Post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. Incidence and risk factors: A Mediterranean cohort study. *Journal of Infection*, *82*(3), 378-383.

Mortier, P., Vilagut, G., Ferrer, M., Serra, C., Molina, J. D., López-Fresneña, N., Emparanza, J. I. (2021). Thirty-day suicidal thoughts and behaviors among hospital workers during the first wave of the Spain COVID-19 outbreak. *Depression and anxiety, 38*(5), 528-544.

Mościcki, E. K. (1994). Gender differences in completed and attempted suicides. *Annals of* 

*Epidemiology, 4*(2), 152-158. doi:10.1016/1047-2797(94)90062-0

Naghavi, M. (2019). Global, regional, and national burden of suicide mortality 1990 to 2016: systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2016. *BMJ*, *364*(194). doi:10.1136/bmj. 194

Naik, Y., Baker, P., Ismail, S. A., Tillmann, T., Bash, K., Quantz, D., Bambra, C. (2019). Going upstream - An umbrella review of the macroe-conomic determinants of health and health inequalities. *BMC Public Health, 19*(1). doi:10.1186/s12889-019-7895-6

Nalbandian, A., Sehgal, K., Gupta, A., Madhavan, M. V., McGroder, C., Stevens, J. S., Sehrawat, T. S. (2021). Post-acute COVID-19 syndrome. *Nature medicine*, *27*, 1-15. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-021-01283-z

Näsman, A., Du, J., and Dalianis, T. (2020). A global epidemic increase of an HPV-induced tonsil and tongue base cancer–potential benefit from a pan-gender use of HPV vaccine. *Journal of internal medicine, 287*(2), 134-152.

Ndowa, F., Lusti-Narasimhan, M., and Unemo, M. (2012). The serious threat of multidrug-resistant and untreatable gonorrhoea: the pressing need for global action to control the spread of antimicrobial resistance, and mitigate the impact on sexual and reproductive health. *Sexually Transmitted Infections, 88*, 317-318. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1136/sextrans-2012-050674

Nesson, E. T., and Robinson, J. J. (2019). On the measurement of health and its effect on the measurement of health inequality. *Economics & Human Biology, 35*, 207-221. doi:10.1016/j. ehb.2019.07.003

Nicola, M., Alsafi, Z., Sohrabi, C., Kerwan, A., Al-Jabir, A., Iosifidis, C., Agha, R. (2020). The socio-economic implications of the coronavirus and COVID-19 pandemic: a review. *International journal of surgery, 78*, 185-193.

Niedzwiedz, C. L., Mitchell, R. J., Shortt, N. K., and Pearce, J. R. (2016). Social protection spending and inequalities in depressive symptoms across Europe. *Social Psychiatry and Psychiatric Epide-miology, 51*(7), 1005-1014. doi:10.1007/s00127-016-1223-6

Nielsen, M. B., and Einarsen, S. (2012). Prospective relationships between workplace sexual harassment and psychological distress. *Occupational medicine, 62*(3), 226-228.

Nölke, L., Mensing, M., Krämer, A., and Hornberg, C. (2015). Sociodemographic and health-(care-) related characteristics of online health information seekers: a cross-sectional German study. *BMC Public Health*, *15*(1), 1-12.

Nutbeam, D. (1998). Health promotion glossary. *Health promotion international*, *13*(4), 349-364.

O'Mahony, J., and Donnelly, T. (2010). Immigrant and refugee women's post-partum depression help-seeking experiences and access to care: a review and analysis of the literature: Literature review of immigrant women's post-partum depression experiences. *Journal of Psychiatric and Mental Health Nursing*, *17*(10), 917-928. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2850.2010.01625.x

O'Neil, A., Sojo, V., Fileborn, B., Scovelle, A. J., and Milner, A. (2018). The# MeToo movement: an opportunity in public health? *The Lancet, 391*(10140), 2587-2589.

OECD. (2006). Measuring the Effects of Education on Health and Civic Engagement. Proceedings of the Copenhagen Symposium. Retrieved from http://www.oecd.org/education/innovation-education/37437718.pdf

OECD. (2013). OECD Skills Outlook 2013: First results from the Survey of Adult Skills. Retrieved from http://skills.oecd.org/OECD\_Skills\_Outlook\_ 2013.pdf

OECD. (2015). Tackling harmful alcohol use economics and public health policy: Economics and public health policy. Paris: OECD publishing. Retrieved from: https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/ social-issues-migration-health/tackling-harmful-alcohol-use\_9789264181069-en#page1 OECD. (2018). Children & Young People's Mental Health in the Digital Age. Shaping the Future. In: OECD.

OECD. (2019). *Health for Everyone*? Paris: OECD Publishing. Retreived from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/3c8385d0-en/index.html?item-Id=/content/publication/3c8385d0-en

OECD. (2020a). Women at the core of the fight against COVID-19 crisis Retrieved from https://read.oecd-ilibrary.org/view/?ref=127\_127000-awfnqj80me&title=Women-at-the-core-of-the-fight-against-COVID-19-crisis&\_ga=2.200662630.915551805.1621574840-307602527.1620737804

OECD. (2020b). Workforce and safety in longterm care during the COVID-19 pandemic. Retrieved from https://www.oecd.org/coronavirus/ policy-responses/workforce-and-safety-in-longterm-care-during-the-covid-19-pandemic-43fc5d50/

OECD/European Union. (2018). *Health at a Glance: Europe 2018: State of Health in the EU Cy-cle*: OECD. Retreived from: https://www.oecd-il-ibrary.org/sites/health\_glance\_eur-2018-en/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/health\_glance\_eur-2018-en

OECD/European Union. (2020). *Health at a Glance: Europe 2020: State of Health in the EU Cycle*. Retrieved from https://www.oecd-ilibrary. org/sites/82129230-en/index.html?itemId=/content/publication/82129230-en

Ogg, J., and Rašticová, M. (2020). Introduction: Key Issues and Policies for Extending Working Life. In Á. Ní Léime, J. Ogg, M. Rašticová, D. Street, C. Krekula, M. Bédiová, & I. Madero-Cabib (Eds.), *Extended Working Life Policies* (pp. 3-27). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Olafsdottir, S. (2017). Gendered health inequalities in mental well-being? The Nordic countries in a comparative perspective. *Scandinavian Journal of Public Health, 45*(2), 185-194. doi:10.1177/1403494816686027 Oliver, M. I., Pearson, N., Coe, N., and Gunnell, D. (2005). Help-seeking behaviour in men and women with common mental health problems: cross-sectional study. *The British Journal of Psychiatry, 186*(4), 297-301.

Oram, S., Abas, M., Bick, D., Boyle, A., French, R., Jakobowitz, S., Howard, L. (2016). Human trafficking and health: a survey of male and female survivors in England. *American Journal of Public Health*, *106*(6), 1073-1078.

Oram, S., Khalifeh, H., and Howard, L. M. (2017). Violence against women and mental health. *The Lancet Psychiatry, 4*(2), 159-170. doi:10.1016/ S2215-0366(16)30261-9

Oram, S., Khondoker, M., Abas, M., Broadbent, M., and Howard, L. M. (2015). Characteristics of trafficked adults and children with severe mental illness: a historical cohort study. *The Lancet Psychiatry*, *2*(12), 1084-1091.

Ottersen, O. P., Dasgupta, J., Blouin, C., Buss, P., Chongsuvivatwong, V., Frenk, J., Gyapong, J. (2014). The political origins of health inequity: prospects for change. *The Lancet, 383*(9917), 630-667.

Ottisova, L., Hemmings, S., Howard, L. M., Zimmerman, C., and Oram, S. (2016). Prevalence and risk of violence and the mental, physical and sexual health problems associated with human trafficking: an updated systematic review. *Epidemiology and Psychiatric Sciences, 25*(4), 317-341.

Palència, L., De Moortel, D., Artazcoz, L., Salvador-Piedrafita, M., Puig-Barrachina, V., Hagqvist, E., Borrell, C. (2017). Gender Policies and Gender Inequalities in Health in Europe: Results of the SOPHIE Project. *International Journal of Health Services, 47*(1), 61-82. doi:10.1177/0020731416662611

Palència, L., Malmusi, D., De Moortel, D., Artazcoz, L., Backhans, M., Vanroelen, C., and Borrell, C. (2014). The influence of gender equality policies on gender inequalities in health in Europe. *Social Science & Medicine, 117*, 25-33. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.07.018 Patel, V., Burns, J. K., Dhingra, M., Tarver, L., Kohrt, B. A., and Lund, C. (2018). Income inequality and depression: a systematic review and meta-analysis of the association and a scoping review of mechanisms. *World Psychiatry*, *17*(1), 76-89. doi:10.1002/wps.20492

Paul Leigh, J., Leigh, W. A., and Du, J. (2019). Minimum wages and public health: A literature review. *Preventive Medicine*, *118*, 122-134. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2018.10.005

Pell, M. (2021). Future Directions in Men's Health Technology. In J. P. Alukal, S. Lamm, & T. J. Walsh (Eds.), *Design and Implementation of the Modern Men's Health Center* (pp. 261-271). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

Pelling, L. (2021). On the Corona Frontline The Experiences of Care Workers in Nine European Countries – Summary Report. Retrieved from http://library.fes.de/pdf-files/bueros/stockholm/17490.pdf

Pérez-López, F. R., Tajada, M., Savirón-Cornudella, R., Sánchez-Prieto, M., Chedraui, P., and Terán, E. (2020). Coronavirus disease 2019 and gender-related mortality in European countries: A meta-analysis. *Maturitas*, *141*, 59-62. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2020.06.017

Persad, G., Emanuel, E. J., Sangenito, S., Glickman, A., Phillips, S., and Largent, E. A. (2021). Public Perspectives on COVID-19 Vaccine Prioritization. *JAMA network open, 4*(4), e217943-e217943.

Peterman, A., Potts, A., O'Donnell, M., Thompson, K., Shah, N., Oertelt-Prigione, S., and Van Gelder, N. (2020). *Pandemics and violence against women and children* (Vol. 528): Center for Global Development Washington, DC.

Peters, A., Jansen, W., and van Driel, F. (2010). The female condom: the international denial of a strong potential. *Reproductive Health Matters*, *18*(35), 119-128.

Phillips, G., II, Felt, D., Ruprecht, M. M., Wang, X., Xu, J., Pérez-Bill, E., Beach, L. B. (2020). Addressing the disproportionate impacts of the COV-ID-19 pandemic on sexual and gender minority populations in the united states: actions toward equity. *LGBT health, 7*(6), 279-282.

Picken, N. E. C. (2020). *Sexuality education across the European Union: An overview*. Retrieved from https://op.europa.eu/s/qqzp

PICUM. (2016). The sexual and reproductive health rights of undocumented migrants - narrowing the gap between their rights and the reality in the EU. Retrieved from http://picum.org/ wp-content/uploads/2017/11/Sexual-and-Reproductive-Health-Rights\_EN.pdf

Pikhart, H., and Pikhartova, J. (2015). *The relationship between psychosocial risk factors and health outcomes of chronic diseases: a review of the evidence for cancer and cardiovascular diseases*. Copenhagen: WHO Regional Office for Europe. Retreived from: https:// www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/ relationship-between-psychosocial-risk-factors-and-health-outcomes-of-chronic-diseases-a-review-of-the-evidence-for-cancer-and-cardiovascular-diseases-the

Pleace, N., Baptista, I., Benjaminsen, L., Busch-Geertsema, V., O'Sullivan, E., and Teller, N. (2021). *European Homelessness and COVID 19*. Retrieved from https://www.feantsaresearch. org/public/user/Observatory/2021/European\_ Homlessness\_and\_COVID-19Web\_(1).pdf

Polish Eurydice Unit. (2016). School meals in Europe. Retrieved from http://www.eurydice.org. pl/wp-content/uploads/2016/05/meals\_raport\_ ENG.pdf

Porter, C., Lord, J., and Church, K. (2020). Early medical abortion using telemedicine-acceptability to patients. *medRxiv*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.11.11.20229377

Pouliakas, K., and Branka, J. (2020). EU Jobs at Highest Risk of COVID-19 Social Distancing: Will the Pandemic Exacerbate Labour Market Divide? *IZA DISCUSSION PAPER*(no. 13281). Retrieved from https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract\_id=3608530 Pulver, A., Ramraj, C., Ray, J. G., O'Campo, P., and Urquia, M. L. (2016). A scoping review of female disadvantage in health care use among very young children of immigrant families. *Social Science & Medicine*, *152*, 50-60. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2016.01.027

Purvanova, R. K., and Muros, J. P. (2010). Gender differences in burnout: A meta-analysis. *Journal of Vocational Behavior*, 77(2), 168-185. doi:10.1016/j.jvb.2010.04.006

Ramjan, L., Cotton, A., Algoso, M., and Peters, K. (2016). Barriers to breast and cervical cancer screening for women with physical disability: A review. *Women & Health, 56*(2), 141-156. doi:10.1 080/03630242.2015.1086463

Raz-Yurovich, L., and Marx, I. (2019). Outsourcing Housework and Highly Skilled Women's Labour Force Participation—An Analysis of a Policy Intervention. *European Sociological Review*, *35*(2), 205-224.

Raz-Yurovich, L. (2014). A transaction cost approach to outsourcing by households. *Population and Development Review, 40*(2), 293-309.

Regenold, N., and Vindrola-Padros, C. (2021). Gender Matters: A Gender Analysis of Healthcare Workers' Experiences during the First COV-ID-19 Pandemic Peak in England. *Social Sciences*, *10*(2), 43.

Reiss, F. (2013). Socioeconomic inequalities and mental health problems in children and adolescents: A systematic review. *Social Science & Medicine, 90*, 24-31. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2013.04.026

Richter, M., Vereecken, C. A., Boyce, W., Maes, L., Gabhainn, S. N., and Currie, C. E. (2009). Parental occupation, family affluence and adolescent health behaviour in 28 countries. *International journal of public health, 54*(4), 203-212.

Riedl, D., Exenberger, S., Daniels, J. K., Böttcher, B., Beck, T., Dejaco, D., and Lampe, A. (2019). Domestic violence victims in a hospital setting: prevalence, health impact and patients' preferences-results from a cross-sectional study. *European journal of psychotraumatology, 10*(1), 1654063.

Rönnblad, T., Grönholm, E., Jonsson, J., Koranyi, I., Orellana, C., Kreshpaj, B., Bodin, T. (2019). Precarious employment and mental health: a systematic review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies. *Scandinavian journal of work, environment & health, 45*(5), 429-443.

Rosenkrantz, D. E., Black, W. W., Abreu, R. L., Aleshire, M. E., and Fallin-Bennett, K. (2017). Health and health care of rural sexual and gender minorities: A systematic review. *Stigma and Health, 2*(3), 229-243. doi:10.1037/sah0000055

Roychowdhury, D. (2020). Using physical activity to enhance health outcomes across the life span. *Journal of Functional Morphology and Kinesiology, 5*(1), 2.

Rozenberg, S., Vandromme, J., and Charlotte, M. (2020). Are we equal in adversity? Does Covid-19 affect women and men differently? *Maturitas*, *138*, 62-68. doi:10.1016/j.maturitas.2020.05.009

Rubery, J., and Tavora, I. (2020). The Covid-19 crisis and gender equality: risks and opportunities. *Social Policy in the EU*, 2021-2001. Retrieved from https://www.etui.org/sites/ default/files/2021-01/06-Chapter4-The%20 Covid%E2%80%9119%20crisis%20and%20gender%20equality.pdf

Ruiz-Pérez, I., and Plazaola-Castaño, J. (2005). Intimate partner violence and mental health consequences in women attending family practice in Spain. *Psychosomatic Medicine*, *67*(5), 791-797.

Saab, M. M., Reidy, M., Hegarty, J., O'Mahony, M., Murphy, M., Von Wagner, C., and Drummond, F. J. (2018). Men's information-seeking behavior regarding cancer risk and screening: A meta-narrative systematic review. *Psycho-oncology*, *27*(2), 410-419.

Sánchez-López, M., and Limiñana-Gras, R. M. (2017). Health From a Gender Perspective: The State of the Art. The State of the Art. In M. Sánchez-López, Limiñana-Gras, R. M. (Ed.), *The*  Psychology of Gender and Health: Conceptual and Applied Global Concerns (pp. 1-52).

Sarkar, N. (2008). The impact of intimate partner violence on women's reproductive health and pregnancy outcome. *Journal of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, 28*(3), 266-271.

Satinsky, E., Fuhr, D. C., Woodward, A., Sondorp, E., and Roberts, B. (2019). Mental health care utilisation and access among refugees and asylum seekers in Europe: A systematic review. *Health Policy*, *123*(9), 851-863.

Schnyder, N., Panczak, R., Groth, N., and Schultze-Lutter, F. (2017). Association between mental health-related stigma and active help-seeking: systematic review and meta-analysis. *The British Journal of Psychiatry, 210*(4), 261-268.

Schrijvers, D. L., Bollen, J., and Sabbe, B. G. C. (2012). The gender paradox in suicidal behavior and its impact on the suicidal process. *Journal of Affective Disorders, 138*(1), 19-26. doi:10.1016/j. jad.2011.03.050

Segrave, M., and Pfitzner, N. (2020). *Family violence and temporary visa holders during COVID* (0648896633). Retrieved from Clayton Vic Australia: https://research.monash.edu/en/publications/family-violence-and-temporary-visa-holders-during-covid

Seidler, Z. E., Dawes, A. J., Rice, S. M., Oliffe, J. L., and Dhillon, H. M. (2016). The role of masculinity in men's help-seeking for depression: A systematic review. *Clinical Psychology Review*, *49*, 106-118. doi:10.1016/j.cpr.2016.09.002

Sekulic, D., Blazevic, M., Gilic, B., Kvesic, I., and Zenic, N. (2020). Prospective analysis of levels and correlates of physical activity during COV-ID-19 pandemic and imposed rules of social distancing; gender specific study among adolescents from Southern Croatia. *Sustainability*, *12*(10), 4072.

Sen, G., and Östlin, P. (2008). Gender inequity in health: why it exists and how we can

change it. *Global Public Health, 3*(sup1), 1-12. doi:10.1080/17441690801900795

Shallcross, L., Burke, D., Abbott, O., Donaldson, A., Hallatt, G., Hayward, A., Wardman, L. (2021). Factors associated with SARS-CoV-2 infection and outbreaks in long-term care facilities in England: a national cross-sectional survey. *The Lancet Healthy Longevity, 2*(3), e129-e142.

Sharma, G., Volgman, A. S., and Michos, E. D. (2020). Sex differences in mortality from COV-ID-19 pandemic: are men vulnerable and women protected? *Case Reports, 2*(9), 1407-1410.

Shen, S., and Kusunoki, Y. (2019). Intimate partner violence and psychological distress among emerging adult women: A bidirectional relationship. *Journal of Women's Health, 28*(8), 1060-1067.

Sidor, A., and Rzymski, P. (2020). Dietary choices and habits during COVID-19 lockdown: experience from Poland. *Nutrients, 12*(6), 1657.

Siegrist, J., Rosskam, E., and Leka, S. (2016). Work and worklessness: Final report of the task group on employment and working conditions, including occupation, unemployment and migrant workers. *World Health Organization (Ed). Copenhagen.* 

Sigfrid, L., Drake, T. M., Pauley, E., Jesudason, E. C., Olliaro, P., Lim, W. S., McPeake, J. (2021). Long Covid in adults discharged from UK hospitals after Covid-19: A prospective, multicentre cohort study using the ISARIC WHO Clinical Characterisation Protocol. *medRxiv*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1101/2021.03.18.21253888

Silva, M., Loureiro, A., and Cardoso, G. (2016). Social determinants of mental health: A review of the evidence. *European Journal of Psychiatry, 30*(4), 259-292. Retrieved from http://www.scopus.com/record/display.uri ?eid=2-s2.0-85010458329&origin=results list&sort=plf-f&src=s&sid=feee411256b82b-823d37427684dd4f66&sot=a&sdt=a&sl=13 4&s=TITLE-ABS-KEY%28gender%29+AND+-TITLE-ABS-KEY%28health%29+AND+-TITLE-ABS-KEY%28%22social+determinant\*%22%29+AND+TITLE-ABS-KEY+%28re-

### view%29+AND+PUBYEAR+%3e+2015&relpos=129&citeCnt=46&searchTerm=

Silva, S. A., Silva, S. U., Ronca, D. B., Gonçalves, V. S. S., Dutra, E. S., and Carvalho, K. M. B. (2020). Common mental disorders prevalence in adolescents: A systematic review and meta-analyses. *PLOS ONE*, *15*(4), e0232007. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0232007

Šimonović, D. (2020). Intersection between the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic and the pandemic of gender-based violence against women, with a focus on domestic violence and the "peace in the home" initiative. Retrieved from www.ohchr.org/Documents/Issues/Women/SR/ SRVAW\_CEDAW\_FrameworkCooperation.pdf.

Smalley, K. B. (2018). Gender and sexual minority health: history, current state, and terminology. In K. B. Smalley, Warren, J. C., Barefoot, K. N (Ed.), *LGBT health-meeting the needs of gender and sexual minorities*. New York: Springer Publishing Company.

Smith, J. P. (1999). Healthy Bodies and Thick Wallets: The Dual Relation Between Health and Economic Status. *The journal of economic perspectives : a journal of the American Economic Association, 13*(2), 144-166. Retrieved from https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/ PMC3697076/

Smyth, C., Cullen, P., Breckenridge, J., Cortis, N., and Valentine, K. (2021). COVID-19 lockdowns, intimate partner violence and coercive control. *Australian Journal of Social Issues*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1002/ajs4.162

Sobotka, T., Brzozowska, Z., Muttarak, R., Zeman, K., and di Lego, V. (2020). Age, gender and COV-ID-19 infections. *medRxiv*. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1101/2020.05.24.20111765

Sobotka, T., Jasilioniene, A., Galarza, A. A., Zeman, K., Nemeth, L., and Jdanov, D. (2021). Baby bust in the wake of the COVID-19 pandemic? First results from the new STFF data series. Retrieved from https://osf.io/preprints/socarxiv/mvy62/ Sojo, V. E., Wood, R. E., and Genat, A. E. (2016). Harmful workplace experiences and women's occupational well-being: A meta-analysis. *Psychology of Women Quarterly, 40*(1), 10-40.

Solmi, F., Downs, J. L., and Nicholls, D. E. (2021). COVID-19 and eating disorders in young people. *The Lancet Child & Adolescent Health, 5*(5), 316-318.

Song, C., Buysse, A., Zhang, W., Lu, C., Zhao, M., and Dewaele, A. (2020). Coping with minority stress in romantic relationships among lesbian, gay and bisexual people. *Current Psychology*, 1-12. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/ s12144-020-01188-z

Standish, K. (2021). A coming wave: Suicide and gender after COVID-19. *Journal of Gender Studies, 30*(1), 114-118.

Starrs, A. M., Ezeh, A. C., Barker, G., Basu, A., Bertrand, J. T., Blum, R., Ashford, L. S. (2018). Accelerate progress—sexual and reproductive health and rights for all: report of the Guttmacher– Lancet Commission. *The Lancet, 391*(10140), 2642-2692. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30293-9

Steel, Z., Marnane, C., Iranpour, C., Chey, T., Jackson, J. W., Patel, V., and Silove, D. (2014). The global prevalence of common mental disorders: a systematic review and meta-analysis 1980–2013. *International Journal of Epidemiology, 43*(2), 476-493. doi:10.1093/ije/dyu038

Stefko, R., Gavurova, B., Ivankova, V., and Rigelsky, M. (2020). Gender Inequalities in Health and Their Effect on the Economic Prosperity Represented by the GDP of Selected Developed Countries—Empirical Study. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *17*(10), 3555. doi:10.3390/ijerph17103555

Stein, D. J., Benjet, C., Gureje, O., Lund, C., Scott, K. M., Poznyak, V., and van Ommeren, M. (2019). Integrating mental health with other non-communicable diseases. *BMJ*, *364*(1245). doi:10.1136/bmj.l295

Stephens, A. S., Gupta, L., Thackway, S., and Broome, R. A. (2017). Socioeconomic, remoteness and sex differences in life expectancy in New South Wales, Australia, 2001–2012: a population-based study. *BMJ Open*, 7(1), e013227. doi:10.1136/bmjopen-2016-013227

Straus, M. A., and Douglas, E. M. (2019). Concordance between parents in perpetration of child mistreatment: how often is it by father-only, mother-only, or by both and what difference does it make? *Trauma, Violence, & Abuse, 20*(3), 416-427.

Stubbs, B., Vancampfort, D., Rosenbaum, S., Firth, J., Cosco, T., Veronese, N., Schuch, F. B. (2017). An examination of the anxiolytic effects of exercise for people with anxiety and stress-related disorders: a meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Research, 249*, 102-108.

Sullivan, C. M., and Bybee, D. I. (1999). Reducing violence using community-based advocacy for women with abusive partners. *Journal of Consulting and Clinical Psychology*, *67*(1), 43.

Syamlal, G., Mazurek, J. M., and Dube, S. R. (2014). Gender Differences in Smoking Among U.S. Working Adults. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *47*(4), 467-475. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2014.06.013

The Lancet Public Health. (2019). Time to tackle the physical activity gender gap. *The Lancet Public Health*, *4*(8), e360. doi:10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30135-5

Thibaut, F. (2018). Gender Differences in Addiction: Clinical Implications. *Psychiatric Times*, *35*(11). Retrieved from https://www.psychiatrictimes.com/view/gender-differences-addiction-clinical-implications

Tiggemann, M., and Slater, A. (2013). NetGirls: The Internet, Facebook, and body image concern in adolescent girls. *International Journal of Eating Disorders, 46*(6), 630-633.

Tiggemann, M., and Slater, A. (2014). NetTweens: The Internet and body image concerns in preteenage girls. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, *34*(5), 606-620. Topp, C. W., Østergaard, S. D., Søndergaard, S., and Bech, P. (2015). The WHO-5 Well-Being Index: a systematic review of the literature. *Psychotherapy and psychosomatics*, *84*(3), 167-176.

Townsend, M. (2020). Shock new figures fuel fears of more lockdown domestic abuse killings in UK. *The guardian*. Retrieved from https://www. theguardian.com/society/2020/nov/15/shocknew-figures-fuel-fears-of-more-lockdown-domestic-abuse-killings-in.uk

Uccheddu, D., Gauthier, A. H., Steverink, N., and Emery, T. (2019). Gender and Socioeconomic Inequalities in Health at Older Ages across Different European Welfare Clusters: Evidence from SHARE Data, 2004-2015. *European Sociological Review, 35*(3), 346-362. doi:10.1093/esr/jcz007

UN. (2015). Transforming our world: The 2030 agenda for sustainable development. *New York: United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs.* 

UN Women. (2020). The Shadow Pandemic: Violence against women during COVID-19. Retrieved from https://www.unwomen.org/en/news/in-focus/in-focus-gender-equality-in-cov-id-19-response/violence-against-women-during-covid-19

UN Women, and WHO. (2020). Violence against women and girls: Data collection during COV-ID-19. *New York: UN Women and WHO*.

UNFPA. (2020). International Technical and Programmatic Guidance on Out-of-School Comprehensive Sexuality Education (CSE). Retrieved from https://www.unfpa.org/sites/default/files/pubpdf/Out\_of\_School\_CSE\_Guidance\_with\_References\_for\_Web.pdf

UNFPA. (2021). *My Body is My Own. Claiming the Right to Autonomy and Self-Determination.* Retrieved from https://www.unfpa.org/sites/ default/files/pub-pdf/SoWP2021\_Report\_-\_EN\_ web.3.21\_0.pdf

Vagianos, A. (2020). COVID-19's economic impact is forcing some victims of violence to return to their abusers. . *The Huffington Post*.

Retrieved from https://www.huffpost.com/ entry/economic-impact-coronavirus-sexual-assault-domestic-violence-me-too\_n\_5fb-53351c5b664958c7c9c60

Valero, E., Martin, U., Bacigalupe, A., and Utzet, M. (2020). The impact of precarious jobs on mental health: a gender-sensitive literature review. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, *94*, 1-13. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1007/s00420-020-01605-7

van Daalen, K. R., Bajnoczki, C., Chowdhury, M., Dada, S., Khorsand, P., Socha, A., Torres, I. (2020). Symptoms of a broken system: the gender gaps in COVID-19 decision-making. *BMJ global health*, *5*(10), e003549.

Van de Velde, S., Bracke, P., and Levecque, K. (2010). Gender differences in depression in 23 European countries. Cross-national variation in the gender gap in depression. *Social Science & Medicine*, *71*(2), 305-313. doi:10.1016/j. socscimed.2010.03.035

Van de Velde, S., Huijts, T., Bracke, P., and Bambra, C. (2013). Macro-level gender equality and depression in men and women in Europe. *Sociology of health & illness, 35*(5), 682-698.

Vives Vergara, A. (2010). A multidimensional approach to precarious employment: measurement, association with poor mental health and prevalence in the Spanish workforce: Universitat Pompeu Fabra.

Voicu, M., and Bădoi, D. (2021). Fertility and the COVID-19 crisis: do gender roles really matter? *European Societies, 23*(sup1), S199-S214. doi:10.1 080/14616696.2020.1822537

Wade, T. J., Veldhuizen, S., and Cairney, J. (2011). Prevalence of Psychiatric Disorder in Lone Fathers and Mothers: Examining the Intersection of Gender and Family Structure on Mental Health. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry, 56*(9), 567-573. doi:10.1177/070674371105600908

Wainberg, M. L., Scorza, P., Shultz, J. M., Helpman, L., Mootz, J. J., Johnson, K. A., Arbuckle, M. R. (2017). Challenges and Opportunities in Global Mental Health: a Research-to-Practice Perspective. *Current Psychiatry Reports, 19*(5), 28. doi:10.1007/s11920-017-0780-z

Wajcman, J. (2015). *Pressed for time: The acceleration of life in digital capitalism*. Retrieved from Chicago:

Wang, Y., Hunt, K., Nazareth, I., Freemantle, N., and Petersen, I. (2013). Do men consult less than women? An analysis of routinely collected UK general practice data. *BMJ Open*, *3*(8).

Weber, L., and Castellow, J. (2012). Feminist Research and Activism to Promote Health Equity. In S. Hesse-Biber (Ed.), *Handbook of Feminist Research: Theory and Praxis* (2 ed., pp. 434-454). doi:10.4135/9781483384740

Weil, S. (2020). Gendering–Coronavirus (COV-ID-19) and Femicide. *The European Sociologist, 1*(45).

Wendland, E. M., Villa, L. L., Unger, E. R., Domingues, C. M., and Benzaken, A. S. (2020). Prevalence of HPV infection among sexually active adolescents and young adults in Brazil: The POP-Brazil Study. *Scientific Reports*, *10*(1), 1-10.

Wessells, H. (2021). Urologic Disease in the Aging Male: A Look Across the Lifespan. In J. P. Alukal, S. Lamm, & T. J. Walsh (Eds.), *Design and Implementation of the Modern Men's Health Center* (pp. 3-11). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

WHO. (1998). Wellbeing measures in primary health care/the DEPCARE project: report on a WHO meeting, Stockholm, Sweden 12-13 February 1998. Paper presented at the Wellbeing measures in primary health care/the DEPCARE project: report on a WHO meeting, Stockholm, Sweden 12-13 February 1998.

WHO. (2003). *Diet, nutrition, and the prevention of chronic diseases: report of a joint WHO/FAO expert consultation* (Vol. 916). Geneva: World Health Organization.

WHO. (2008). Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health - Final report of the commission on social determinants of health. *World Health Organization, Commission on Social Determinants of Health*. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/43943/9789241563703\_eng.pdf;jsessionid=365271ACE2052888542881700EED-CA8B?sequence=1

WHO. (2011). WHO Gender Responsive Assessment Scale: criteria for assessing programmes and policies. Retrieved from https://www.who. int/gender/mainstreaming/GMH\_Participant\_ GenderAssessmentScale.pdf

WHO. (2012). *Safe abortion: technical and policy guidance for health systems*. Geneva: World Health Organization.

WHO. (2014). Policy summary 15. What do we know about the strengths and weakness of different policy mechanisms to influence health behaviour in the population? Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_ file/0003/270138/PS15-web.pdf

WHO. (2015). Health 2020: Education and health through the life-course. Sector brief on Education health. Retrieved from https://www.euro. who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0007/324619/ Health-2020-Education-and-health-throughthe-life-course-en.pdf

WHO. (2016a). Growing Up Unequal: Gender and Socioeconomic Differences in Young People's Health and Well-being (9289051361). Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/ pdf\_file/0003/303438/HSBC-No.7-Growing-upunequal-Full-Report.pdf

WHO. (2016b). *WHO guidelines for the treatment of Neisseria gonorrhoeae*. Geneva: World Health Organization.

WHO. (2017). Fact sheets on sustainable development goals: health targets: Maternal health. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/ assets/pdf\_file/0006/354921/3.1-SDG-Factsheet-Maternal-Health.pdf WHO. (2018). Fact sheets on sustainable development goals: health targets. Mental health Retrieved from http://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0017/348011/Fact-sheet-SDG-Mental-health-UPDATE-02-05-2018.pdf

WHO. (2019a). Breaking barriers: Towards more gender-responsive and equitable health systems. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/healthin-fo/universal\_health\_coverage/report/gender\_gmr\_2019.pdf?ua=1

WHO. (2019b). *Can people afford to pay for health care? New evidence on financial pro-tection in Europe* (9289054050). Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/hand le/10665/311654/9789289054058-eng.pdf.

WHO. (2019c). *Delivered by women, led by men:* A gender and equity analysis of the global health and social workforce (978-92-4-151546-7). Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/311322/9789241515467-eng.pd-f?ua=1

WHO. (2019d). *Global status report on alcohol and health 2018*. Geneva: World Health Organization. https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/ 9789241565639

WHO. (2019e). *Healthy, prosperous lives for all: the European health equity status report* (9289054255). Retrieved from https://www.euro. who.int/en/publications/abstracts/health-equity-status-report-2019

WHO. (2019f). Primary health care on the road to universal health coverage: 2019 monitoring report: executive summary. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/docs/default-source/documents/2019-uhc-report-executive-summary

WHO. (2019g). Why using a gender approach can accelerate noncommunicable disease prevention and control in the WHO European Region. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_ data/assets/pdf\_file/0003/399063/GenderApproachAndNCDsPreventionAndControl-eng.PDF WHO. (2020a). *Adolescent mental health*. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/adolescent-mental-health

WHO. (2020b). COVID-19 and violence against women. What the health sector/system can do. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/reproduc-tivehealth/publications/vaw-covid-19/en/

WHO. (2020c). *Gender and COVID-19*. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/332080/WHO-2019-nCoV-Advocacy\_ brief-Gender-2020.1-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

WHO. (2020d). Healthy diet Retrieved from https://www.who.int/news-room/fact-sheets/ detail/healthy-diet

WHO. (2020). International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/standards/ classifications/classification-of-diseases

WHO. (2020f). *Mental health and psychosocial considerations during the COVID-19 outbreak* Retrieved from https://www.who.int/docs/de-fault-source/coronaviruse/mental-health-con-siderations.pdf

WHO. (2020g). Strengthening Preparedness for Health Emergencies; Implementation of International Health Regulations. Draft resolution proposed by Argentina, Chile, Finland, France, Indonesia, Netherlands, Rwanda, Singapore and Zambia. Paper presented at the Executive Board: 146th session. https://apps.who.int/gb/ebwha/pdf\_ files/EB146/B146\_CONF17-en.pdf

WHO. (2020h). WHO guidelines on physical activity and sedentary behaviour. Retrieved from https://www.who.int/publications/i/item/978 9240015128

WHO and World Bank. (2011). *World Disability Report* (978-92-4-156418-2). Retrieved from https://www.who.int/teams/noncommunicable-diseases/sensory-functions-disability-and-rehabilita-tion/world-report-on-disability

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2016a). *Strategy on women's health and well-being in the WHO European Region*. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0003/333912/strategy-womens-health-en.pdf?ua=1

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2016b) *Women's health and well-being in Europe: beyond the mortality advantage*. Retrieved from https:// www.euro.who.int/en/publications/abstracts/ womens-health-andwell-being-in-europe-beyond-the-mortality-advantage-2016

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2017). Adolescent obesity and related behaviours: trends and inequalities in the WHO European Region, 2002– 2014. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who. int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0019/339211/WHO\_ ObesityReport\_2017\_v3.pdf

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2018a). *Strategy on the health and well-being of men in the WHO European Region*. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_file/0010/394894/MHR\_strategy\_Eng\_online.pdf

WHO Regional Office for Europe (2018b). Strategy on the health and well-being of men in the WHO European Region. Retrieved from https://www.euro.who.int/\_\_data/assets/pdf\_ file/0010/394894/MHR\_strategy\_Eng\_online.pdf

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2020a). Spotlight on adolescent health and well-being. Findings from the 2017/2018 Health Behaviour in School-aged Children (rHBSC)r survey in Europe and Canada. International report. Volume 2. Key data. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/ handle/10665/332104

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2020b). *Summary results of the Global Youth Tobacco Survey in selected countries of the WHO European Region*. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/336752/WHO-EURO-2020-1513-41263-56157-eng.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2020c). *The WHO European health equity status report initi-*

ative: understanding the drivers of health equity: the power of political participation. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/337952/WHO-EURO-2020-1697-41448-56504-eng.pdf

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2021a). *Through a gender lens: women and tobacco in the WHO European Region.* . Retrieved from https://apps. who.int/iris/bitstream/handle/10665/339328/ WHO-EURO-2021-1847-41598-56811-eng.pdf

WHO Regional Office for Europe. (2021b). VIO-LENCE AGAINST WOMEN PREVALENCE ESTIMATES, 2018. Retrieved from https://apps.who.int/iris/ bitstream/handle/10665/341602/WHO-SRH-21.9-eng.pdf

WHO Regional Office for Europe and BZgA. (2010). Standards for Sexuality Education in Europe: A framework for policy makers, educational and health authorities and specialists (C. Winkelmann Ed. 1.1.9.10 ed.). Köln: BZgA. Retrieved from: https://www.amsterdamuas.com/safe/lecturers/ literature/standards-for-sexuality-education-in-europe.html#:~:text=A%20framework%20for%20policy%20makers%2C%20 educational%20and%20health,countries%20 should%20entail%2C%20ordered%20according%20to%20age%20groups.

Wittchen, H. U., Jacobi, F., Rehm, J., Gustavsson, A., Svensson, M., Jönsson, B., Steinhausen, H. C. (2011). The size and burden of mental disorders and other disorders of the brain in Europe 2010. *European Neuropsychopharmacology, 21*(9), 655-679. doi:10.1016/j.euroneuro.2011.07.018

Xu, J., Lombardi, G., Jiao, W., and Banfi, G. (2016). Effects of exercise on bone status in female subjects, from young girls to postmenopausal women: an overview of systematic reviews and meta-analyses. *Sports Medicine*, *46*(8), 1165-1182.

Young, H. M., Bell, J. F., Whitney, R. L., Ridberg, R. A., Reed, S. C., and Vitaliano, P. P. (2020). Social determinants of health: Underreported heterogeneity in systematic reviews of caregiver interventions. *The Gerontologist, 60*(Supplement\_1), S14-S28.

Yu, S. (2018). Uncovering the hidden impacts of inequality on mental health: a global study. *Translational Psychiatry, 8*(1), 1-10. doi:10.1038/ s41398-018-0148-0

Yuen, F., Nguyen, B. T., Swerdloff, R. S., and Wang, C. (2020). Continuing the search for a hormonal male contraceptive. *Best Practice & Research Clinical Obstetrics & Gynaecology, 66*, 83-94. Retrieved from https://doi.org/10.1016/j. bpobgyn.2020.02.003

Zero, O., and Geary, M. (2020). COVID-19 and Intimate Partner Violence: A Call to Action. *Rhode Island medical journal, 103*(5).

Zintel, S., Flock, C., Arbogast, A. L., Forster, A., von Wagner, C., and Sieverding, M. (2021). Gender differences in the intention to get vaccinated against COVID-19-A systematic review and meta-analysis. Retrieved from https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.3803323

# Annexes

## Annex 1. List of indicators of the Gender Equality Index

	Cult							Inde	ex edition		
Domain	domain	Ν	population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
Domain     Sub- domain     N     I       Now     I     I     I       I     I     I     I						Da	ita used				
	Participation	1	FTE employment rate (%, 15+ population)	The FTE employment rate is a unit to measure employed persons in a way that makes them comparable even though they may work a different number of hours per week. The unit is obtained by comparing an employee's average number of hours worked to the average number of hours worked by a full-time worker. A full- time worker is therefore counted as one FTE employee, while a part-time worker gets a score in proportion to the hours she or he works. For example, a part-time worker employed for 20 hours a week where full-time work consists of 40 hours is counted as 0.5 FTE.	Eurostat, EU-LFS Eurostat calculations according to EIGE's request (2005–2015). Author's calculations 2017, 2018, 2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
WORK		2	Duration of working life (years, 15+ population)	The duration of working life indicator measures the number of years a person aged 15 is expected to be active in the labour market throughout his/her life.	Eurostat, EU-LFS Duration of working life (lfsi_dwl_a)	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
	f work	3	Employed people in education, human health and social work activities (%, 15+ employed)	Percentage of people employed in the following economic activities out of total employed (based on NACE Rev. 2) are included: P. Education + Q. Human health and social work, as percentage of total activities (all NACE activities).	Eurostat, EU-LFS Employment by sex, age and economic activity (lfsa_egan2)	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
	n and quality o	4	Ability to take 1 or 2 hours off during working hours to take care of personal or family matters (%,15+ workers)	Percentage of persons who answered 'very easy' out of total (1, 2, 3, 4), question Q47. Would you say that, for you, arranging to take an hour or two off during working hours to take care of personal or family matters is? (1) Very easy; (2) Fairly easy; (3) Fairly difficult; (4) Very difficult.	Eurofound, European Working Conditions Survey (EWCS) Author's calculation with microdata	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015
	Segregatio	5	Career Prospects Index (points, 0–100)	The Career Prospects Index combines the indicators of employment status (self-employed or employee), type of contract, the prospects for career advancement as perceived by the worker, perceived likelihood of losing one's job and experience of downsizing in the organisation. It is measured on a scale of 0–100, where the higher the score, the higher the job quality.	Eurofound, EWCS Calculated by Eurofound	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015

/
---

								Inde	ex edition		
Domain	Sub- domain	N	population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
								Da	ata used		
	Financial resources	6	Mean monthly earnings (PPS, working population)	Mean monthly earnings in PPS (Purchasing Power Standard), in the sectors of Industry, construction and services (except public administration, defence, compulsory social security) (NACE_R2: B-S_X_O, total age group, working in companies with 10 or more employees)	Eurostat, Structure of Earnings Survey (SES) Mean monthly earnings by sex, age and economic activity (earn_ses10_20), (earn_ses14_20), (earn_ ses18_20)	2010	2010	2014 EL and HR 2010	2014	2014	2018 EL 2014
MONEY	Financial resources	7	Mean equivalised net income (PPS, 16+ population)	Equivalised disposable income in PPS (Purchasing Power Standard), is the total income of a household, after tax and other deductions, that is available for spending or saving, divided by the number of household members converted into equalised adults; household members are equalised or made equivalent by weighting each according to their age, using the so-called modified OECD equivalence scale.	Eurostat, EU-SILC Mean and median income by age and sex [ilc_di03] EU27: Author's calculations (2010, 2012, 2015, 2017)	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
	uation	8	Not-at-risk-of-poverty, ≥60 % of median income (%, 16+ population)	Reversed indicator of at-risk-of poverty rate, calculated as 100 minus at-risk-of-poverty rate. The at-risk-of-poverty rate is the share of people with an equivalised disposable income (after social transfers) below the at-risk-of-poverty threshold, which is set at 60 % of the national median equivalised disposable income after social transfers.	Eurostat, EU-SILC At-risk-of-poverty rate by poverty threshold, age and sex (ilc_li02)	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
	Economic sit	9	S20/S80 income quintile share (16+ population)	Calculated as 1/'S80/S20 income quintile share ratio' * 100. The income quintile share ratio (also called the S80/S20 ratio) is a measure of the inequality of income distribution. It is calculated as the ratio of total income received by the 20 % of the population with the highest income (the top quintile) to that received by the 20% of the population with the lowest income (the bottom quintile). The Index uses a 'reversed' version of this indicator.	Eurostat, EU-SILC Eurostat calculations on EIGE's request	2010	2012	2015 IE 2014	2017	2018	2019

				ence Description				Ind	ex edition		
Domain	Sub- domain	Ν	Indicator and reference population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
								Da	ata used		
	articipation	10	Graduates of tertiary education (%, 15+ population)	Educational attainment measures the share of highly educated people among men and women. People with tertiary education as their highest level successfully completed (levels 5–8), percentage from total +15 population	Eurostat, EU-LFS Eurostat calculations as per EIGE's request (2005–2015). Author's calculations 2017, 2018, 2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
OWLEDGE	Attainment and p	11	People participating in formal or non-formal education and training (%, 15+ population)	Percentage of people participating in formal or non- formal education and training, out of total population of 15+. Lifelong learning encompasses all purposeful learning activity, whether formal, non-formal or informal, undertaken on an ongoing basis with the aim of improving knowledge, skills and competence. The reference period for the participation in education and training is the 4 weeks preceding the interview.	Eurostat, EU-LFS Eurostat calculations as per EIGE's request (2005–2015). EIGE's calculations 2017, 2018, 2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
KN	Segregation	12	Tertiary students in the fields of education, health and welfare, humanities and art (tertiary students) (%, 15+ population)	Percentage of persons who are studying in the following areas: (2010–2012), EF14 (teacher training and education science) + EF2 (humanities and arts) + EF7 (health and welfare) out of total students. (2013–2018) (F01 – education, F02 – arts and humanities, F09 – health and welfare) Until 2012, International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED) levels 5–6; after that, ISCED levels 5–8.	Eurostat, education statistics Tertiary students by field of education and sex (2010–2012) (educ_enrl5). Students enrolled in tertiary education by education level, programme orientation, sex and field of education (2013–2018) [educ_uoe_enrt03]	2010 LU 2011	2012	2015 IE, EL, 2014	2017 BG, CZ, IE, EL, FR, HR, IT, CY, HU, MT, PT, RO, SK, FI, SE, UK. 2016. SI, ED7 (Master or equivalent) n/a, 2016 used	2017 SI, ED7 (Master or equivalent) n/a, 2016 used	2018 BG, EE, EL, LT, RO, FI, ED5 – short-cy- cle tertiary education n/a

								Inde	ex edition		
Domain	Sub- domain	N	Indicator and reference population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
								Da	ata used	î	
	Care activities	13	People caring for and educating their children or grandchildren, elderly or people with disabilities, every day (%, 18+ population)	Percentage of people involved in at least one of these caring activities outside paid work every day: care for children, grandchildren, elderly and/or disabled people. Question: (in general) how often are you involved in any of the following activities outside paid work? 2016: Q42a Caring for and/or educating your children; Q42b Caring for and/or educating your grandchildren; Q42d Caring for disabled or infirm family members, neighbours or friends under 75 years old; Q42e Caring for disabled or infirm family members, neighbours or friends aged 75 or older; 2012: Q36a caring for your children/grandchildren; Q36c Caring for elderly or disabled relatives; 2003: Q37a Caring for and educating children; Q37c Caring for elderly or disabled relatives	Eurofound, EQLS EIGE's calculation with microdata	2007	2012	2016	2016	2016	2016
TIME	activities	14	People doing cooking and/ or housework, every day (%, 18+ population)	Percentage of people involved in cooking and/or housework outside paid work, every day. Questions: How often are you involved in any of the following activities outside paid work? 2016: Q42c Cooking and/or housework; 2012 Q36b Cooking and/or housework; 2007: Q36b Cooking and housework; 2003:Q37b Housework	Eurofound, EQLS EIGE's calculation with microdata	2007	2012	2016	2016	2016	2016
	Social	15	Workers doing sporting, cultural or leisure activities outside their home, at least daily or several times a week (%, 15+ workers)	Percentage of working people doing sporting, cultural or leisure activities at least every other day (daily + several times a month out of total). Question: 2015 On average, how many hours per day do you spend on the activity? Q95g Sporting, cultural or leisure activity outside your home.	Eurofound, EWCS EIGE's calculation with microdata	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015	2015
	Social activities	16	Workers involved in voluntary or charitable activities, at least once a month (%, 15+ workers)	Percentage of working people involved in voluntary or charitable activities, at least once a month. Questions: 2015 On average, how many hours per day do you spend on the activity? Q95a Voluntary or charitable activities; daily; several times a week; several times a month; less often; never. (1–3 out of total (who answered 1–5)). 2005 (EF4.1a), 2010 (EF3a) In general, how often are you involved in voluntary or charitable activity outside your home/outside work? (1) Every day for 1 hour or more; (2) Every day or every second day for less than 1 hour; (3) Once or twice a week; (4) Once or twice a month; (5) Once or twice a year; (6) Never. (1–4 out of total (who answered 1–6)).	Eurofound, EWCS EIGE's calculation with microdata	2010	2010	2015	2015	2015	2015

								Ind	ex edition		
Domain	Sub- domain	Ν	Indicator and reference population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
								Da	ata used		,
		17	Share of ministers (% W, M)	Share of ministers.	EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID EIGE's calculation	2009- 2010- 2011	2011- 2012- 2013	2014– 2015– 2016	2016–2017– 2018	2017– 2018–2019	2018– 2019–2020
	tical	18	Share of members of parliament (% W, M)	Share of members of parliament.	EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID EIGE's calculation	2009- 2010- 2011	2011– 2012– 2013	2014– 2015– 2016	2016–2017– 2018	2017- 2018-2019	2018– 2019–2020
WER	Polit	19	Share of members of	Share of members of regional assemblies.	EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID	Regional assembly 2009– 2010– 2011	Regional assem- bly 2011– 2012– 2013	Regional assembly 2014– 2015– 2016	Regional assembly 2016–2017– 2018	Regional assembly 2017– 2018–2019	Regional assembly 2018– 2019–2020
		W, M) Share of members of			EIGE's calculation	Local level politics 2011	Local level politics 2013	Local level politics 2015	Local level politics 2017	Local level politics 2019	Local leve politics 2020
	mic	20	Share of members of boards in largest quoted companies, supervisory board or board of directors	Share of members of boards in largest quoted companies.	EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID EIGE's calculation	2009- 2010- 2011	2011– 2012– 2013	2014– 2015– 2016	2016–2017– 2018	2017– 2018–2019	2018- 2019-2020
PC	Econo	21	Share of board members of central bank (% W, M)	Share of board members of central bank.	EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID	2009- 2010- 2011	2011- 2012- 2013	2014– 2015– 2016	2016–2017– 2018	2017– 2018–2019	2018– 2019–2020
-		22	Share of board members of research funding	Members of the highest decision-making bodies of research funding organisations	EIGE's calculation EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID	2017	2017	2017	2017-2018	2017- 2018-2019 IT, RO: only 2018	2018– 2019–2020 IT, RO: only 2018
			of research funding organisations (% W, M)	M)	EIGE's calculation				2017	(break in time series)	(break in time series)
	Social	23	Share of board members in publicly owned broadcasting organisations (% W, M)	Share of board members in publicly owned broadcasting organisations.	EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID EIGE's calculation	2014	2014	2014– 2015– 2016	2016–2017– 2018	2017– 2018–2019	2018– 2019–2020
		24	Share of members of highest decision- making body of the national Olympic sport	Share of members of highest decision-making body of the 10 most popular national Olympic sport organisations.	EIGE, Gender Statistics Database, WMID	2015	2015	2015	2015-2018	2015- 2018-2019	2018– 2019–2020
			organisations (% W, M)		EIGE's calculation						

### Annexes

Domain								Inde	ex edition		
Domain	Sub- domain	N	Indicator and reference population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
								Da	ita used		
	Status	25	Self-perceived health, good or very good (%, 16+ population)	Percentage of people assessing their health as 'Very good' or 'Good' out of total. The concept is operationalised by a question on how a person perceives his/her health in general using one of the answer categories very good/good/fair/bad/very bad.	Eurostat, EU-SILC Self-perceived health by sex, age and labour status (%) [hlth_silc_01]	2010	2012 HR, 2011 (M)	2015	2017	2018	2019
НЕАLTH	st	26 Life expectancy in absolute value at birth (years) Life expectancy at a certain age is the mean addition number of years that a person of that age can expect to live, if subjected throughout the rest of his or her life to the current mortality conditions (age-specific probabilities of dying, i.e. the death rates observed f the current period).		Eurostat, Mortality data Healthy life years (from 2004 onwards) [hlth_hlye], indicators F_0_LE – Life expectancy in absolute value at birth – females and M_0_ LE – Life expectancy in absolute value at birth.	2010 Total: av- erage of women and men IT: 2009	2012 Total: average of wom- en and men SE: 2011	2015 Total: av- erage of women and men	2016 Total: average of women and men	2018	2019	
	Statı	27	Healthy life years in absolute value at birth (years)	Healthy life years measures the number of remaining years that a person of specific age is expected to live without any severe or moderate health problems. Healthy life years is a composite indicator that combines mortality data with health status data from health mini- module (EU-SILC): the self-perceived question, which aims to measure the extent of any limitations, for at least 6 months, because of a health problem that may have affected respondents as regards activities they usually do.	Eurostat, EU-SILC and mortality data Healthy Life Years (from 2004 onwards) [hlth_hlye], indicators F_0_DFLE – Healthy life years in absolute value at birth – females and M_0_DFLE – Healthy life years in absolute value at birth – males	2010 Total: av- erage of women and men IT: 2009	2012 Total: average of wom- en and men SE: 2011	2015 Total: av- erage of women and men	2016 Total: average of women and men	2018	2019 BE: break in times series

								Ind	ex edition		
Domain	Sub- domain	Ν	Indicator and reference population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
Domain         Sub- domain         N         Ir           Image: Sub- port         28         Per Per Per Per Per Per Per Per Per Per					_	Da	ata used				
	iour	28	People who do not smoke and are not involved in harmful drinking (%, 16+ population)	Percentage of people who are not involved in risky behaviour, that is do not smoke and are not involved in heavy episodic drinking. Heavy episodic drinking is intaking six drinks or 60+ g of pure alcohol on one occasion, monthly or more often, during the previous 12 months. A drink is defined as a glass of wine, glass of beer, shot of whiskey, etc. Everyone smoking and/or involved in harmful drinking is regarded as exercising risky behaviour.	Eurostat, EHIS Eurostat calculations according to EIGE's request	2014 EU: Non- weighted average FR, NL: EIGE estima- tion	2014 EU: Non- weighted average FR, NL: EIGE estima- tion	2014 EU: Non- weighted average FR, NL: EIGE estima- tion	2014 EU: Non- weighted average FR, NL: EIGE estimation	2014 EU: Non- weighted average FR, NL: EIGE estimation	2014 EU: Non- weighted average FR, NL: EIGE estimation
HEALTH	Behav	29	People doing physical activities and/or consuming fruits and vegetables (%, 16+ population)	Percentage of people who are physically active for at least 150 minutes per week and/or consume at least five portions of fruit and vegetables per day. Both reflect the official recommendation of WHO. Eurostat provides information on the time spent on health-enhancing (non-work-related) aerobic physical activity (in minutes per week), including sports and cycling to get to and from places. Five portions (400 g) of fruit and vegetables exclude juices from concentrates and potatoes (starches).	Eurostat, EHIS Eurostat calculations on EIGE's request	2014 EU: Non- weighted average BE, NL: EIGE estima- tion	2014 EU: Non- weighted average BE, NL: EIGE estima- tion	2014 EU: Non- weighted average BE, NL: EIGE estima- tion	2014 EU: Non- weighted average BE, NL: EIGE estimation	2014 EU: Non- weighted average BE, NL: EIGE estimation	2014 EU: Non- weighted average BE, NL: EIGE estimation
	ccess	30	Population without unmet needs for medical examination (%, 16+ population)	Self-reported unmet needs for medical examination. The variables refer to the respondent's own assessment of whether he or she needed examination or treatment, but did not have it. Percentage of persons 'No unmet needs to declare'. Medical care: refers to individual healthcare services (medical examination or treatment excluding dental care) provided by or under direct supervision of medical doctors or equivalent professions according to national healthcare systems.	Eurostat, EU-SILC Self-reported unmet needs for medical examination by sex, age, detailed reason and income quintile (%) [hlth_silc_08]	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
	A	31	People without unmet needs for dental examination (%, 16+ population)	Self-reported unmet needs for dental examination. The variables refer to the respondent's own assessment of whether he or she needed the examination or treatment, but did not have it. Percentage of persons 'No unmet needs to declare'. Dental care: refers to individual healthcare services provided by or under direct supervision of stomatologists (dentists). Healthcare provided by orthodontists is included.	Eurostat, EU-SILC Self-reported unmet needs for dental examination by sex, age, detailed reason and income quintile (%) [hlth_silc_09]	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019

### Annexes

								Ind	ex edition		
Domain	Sub- domain	N	population	Description	Source	2013	2015	2017	2019	2020	2021
								Da	ata used		
Additional variable			Population in age group 18+	Number of people aged 18 years and older in the country	Eurostat, population statistics (1) Population on 1 January by broad age group and sex [demo_ pjanbroad] (2) Population on 1 January by age and sex [demo_pjan]	2009– 2010– 2011	2011- 2012- 2013	2014– 2015– 2016	2016-2017- 2018	2017- 2018-2019	2018- 2019-2020



# Annex 2. Gender Equality Index scores

Table 4.	Gender Equalit	y Index scores,	ranks and cha	nges in score b	y EU Member State,	, 2010, 2012,	2015, 2017,	2018 and 2019
----------	----------------	-----------------	---------------	-----------------	--------------------	---------------	-------------	---------------

	Scores (points)           2010         2012         2015         2017           63.1         64.4         65.7         66.9					19 2010 2012		Ran	iks			Changes	in scores	
IVIS	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010 to 2019	2018 to 2019
EU	63.1	64.4	65.7	66.9	67.4	68.0	-	-	-	-	-	-	4.9	0.6
BE	69.3	70.2	70.5	71.1	71.4	72.7	5	5	6	7	8	8	3.4	1.3
BG	55.0	56.9	58.0	58.8	59.6	59.9	16	14	15	18	18	18	4.9	0.3
CZ	55.6	56.7	53.6	55.7	56.2	56.7	13	16	22	20	22	22	1.1	0.5
DK	75.2	75.6	76.8	77.5	77.4	77.8	2	2	2	2	2	2	2.6	0.4
DE	62.6	64.9	65.5	66.9	67.5	68.6	10	11	11	11	11	10	6.0	1.1
EE	53.4	53.5	56.7	59.8	60.7	61.6	20	21	19	16	17	17	8.2	0.9
IE	65.4	67.7	69.5	71.3	72.2	73.1	8	7	7	6	6	7	7.7	0.9
EL	48.6	50.1	50.0	51.2	52.2	52.5	27	27	27	27	27	27	3.9	0.3
ES	66.4	67.4	68.3	70.1	72.0	73.7	7	8	10	8	7	6	7.3	1.7
FR	67.5	68.9	72.6	74.6	75.1	75.5	6	6	5	3	3	4	8.0	0.4
HR	52.3	52.6	53.1	55.6	57.9	59.2	24	22	23	21	19	19	6.9	1.3
IT	53.3	56.5	62.1	63.0	63.5	63.8	21	17	13	13	13	14	10.5	0.3
CY	49.0	50.6	55.1	56.3	56.9	57.0	26	26	21	19	20	21	8.0	0.1
LV	55.2	56.2	57.9	59.7	60.8	62.1	15	18	16	17	16	16	6.9	1.3
LT	54.9	54.2	56.8	55.5	56.3	58.4	17	20	18	22	21	20	3.5	2.1
LU	61.2	65.9	69.0	69.2	70.3	72.4	11	10	8	9	9	9	11.2	2.1
HU	52.4	51.8	50.8	51.9	53.0	53.4	23	24	26	26	26	26	1.0	0.4
MT	54.4	57.8	60.1	62.5	63.4	65.0	18	13	14	14	14	13	10.6	1.6
NL	74.0	74.0	72.9	72.1	74.1	75.9	3	4	4	5	5	3	1.9	1.8
AT	58.7	61.3	63.3	65.3	66.5	68.0	12	12	12	12	12	11	9.3	1.5
PL	55.5	56.9	56.8	55.2	55.8	56.6	14	15	17	23	23	23	1.1	0.8
PT	53.7	54.4	56.0	59.9	61.3	62.2	19	19	20	15	15	15	8.5	0.9
RO	50.8	51.2	52.4	54.5	54.4	54.5	25	25	24	24	25	25	3.7	0.1
SI	62.7	66.1	68.4	68.3	67.7	67.6	9	9	9	10	10	12	4.9	- 0.1
SK	53.0	52.4	52.4	54.1	55.5	56.0	22	23	25	25	24	24	3.0	0.5
FI	73.1	74.4	73.0	73.4	74.7	75.3	4	3	3	4	4	5	2.2	0.6
SE	80.1	79.7	82.6	83.6	83.8	83.9	1	1	1	1	1	1	3.8	0.1

### Scores (points) Ranks MS Index Work Knowledge Health Index Work Knowledge Health Power Time Power Time EU 63.1 69.7 79.1 65.2 41.9 86.7 59.8 5 7 3 7 7 13 69.3 72.7 85.5 70.6 70.3 47.9 86.5 4 24 55.0 67.9 43.9 75.3 16 24 23 26 60.8 50.4 45.8 19 8 55.6 64.9 73.8 55.4 53.8 31.0 85.7 13 24 17 16 19 15 16 2 7 75.2 79.8 83.6 73.2 80.4 58.0 90.3 2 1 3 3 5 62.6 70.0 83.2 38.3 89.3 10 17 9 14 9 10 56.3 69.8 9 21 53.4 71.2 65.5 51.6 73.7 21.9 82.7 20 14 23 22 5 25 8 6 3 7 3 65.4 73.5 85.5 65.3 70.8 37.2 90.7 6 11 48.6 63.6 75.3 53.4 35.6 22.3 84.3 27 26 16 21 27 24 19 15 77.1 7 11 8 13 5 10 66.4 71.8 63.5 60.8 52.6 88.6 8 12 52.4 12 9 11 67.5 71.5 83.5 62.0 66.6 86.7 6 6 52.3 67.2 68.6 49.9 49.8 28.4 81.5 24 20 22 25 22 20 23 53.3 78.9 53.8 55.1 25.2 86.3 21 27 14 20 15 22 15 61.3 49.0 70.5 80.7 55.5 45.9 15.4 86.4 26 16 11 15 23 27 14 27 25 8 26 12 13 55.2 72.6 58.9 49.2 62.0 34.8 77.3 15 20 17 9 25 24 54.9 72.6 60.8 54.3 52.2 32.9 80.4 19 14 11 15 1 5 8 21 61.2 70.9 91.8 66.3 70.2 25.6 89.8 7 52.4 66.0 70.8 54.5 54.1 23.5 85.4 23 22 19 18 18 23 17 54.4 65.1 79.2 65.4 54.3 20.9 90.6 18 23 13 6 16 26 4 2 3 74.0 76.3 86.6 66.9 85.9 56.9 90.3 3 4 1 4 6 12 10 14 58.7 75.3 82.8 58.9 56.0 28.4 91.1 4 11 19 2 55.5 66.3 69.5 57.8 54.2 30.6 81.6 14 21 21 13 17 17 22 20 53.7 71.4 71.8 50.1 38.7 34.9 84.3 19 13 18 24 26 12 21 27 67.9 47.2 25 18 26 27 16 50.8 59.8 50.6 30.8 69.9 62.7 71.9 80.3 55.0 68.3 41.1 86.8 9 10 12 17 10 9 11 25 53.0 64.8 70.2 59.5 39.9 29.5 22 25 20 10 18 18 84.8 73.1 74.5 84.1 58.6 80.1 69.1 89.5 4 5 6 12 4 2 8 5 2 80.1 80.4 85.3 70.7 84.5 77.8 93.2 1 1 2 1 1

### Table 5. Gender Equality Index scores and ranks, by domain and EU Member State, 2010

			9	Scores (points)							Ranks			
MS	Index	Work	Money	Knowledge	Time	Power	Health	Index	Work	Money	Knowledge	Time	Power	Health
EU	68.0	71.6	82.4	62.7	64.9	55.0	87.8	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
BE	72.7	74.9	89.9	70.8	65.3	61.0	86.3	8	9	2	4	11	8	16
BG	59.9	69.6	64.5	55.2	42.7	60.2	77.2	18	20	27	22	27	9	26
CZ	56.7	67.4	78.9	58.5	57.3	28.1	86.3	22	23	15	14	17	25	17
DK	77.8	79.4	89.1	71.0	83.1	66.8	89.5	2	2	3	2	3	5	9
DE	68.6	72.4	86.0	54.7	65.0	62.8	90.7	10	17	9	24	12	7	5
EE	61.6	72.5	73.2	57.3	74.7	36.6	82.2	17	16	23	16	5	20	23
IE	73.1	76.5	87.8	67.4	74.2	58.4	91.3	7	6	5	6	6	10	4
EL	52.5	65.3	73.7	54.9	44.7	27.0	84.3	27	26	20	23	26	26	20
ES	73.7	73.7	78.4	67.9	64.0	76.9	90.3	6	12	16	5	14	3	6
FR	75.5	73.2	86.3	67.0	67.3	81.4	87.4	4	14	8	8	9	2	14
HR	59.2	70.1	74.0	51.8	51.0	45.3	83.8	19	19	19	26	21	17	21
IT	63.8	63.7	79.4	59.0	59.3	52.2	88.4	14	27	14	13	16	14	11
CY	57.0	70.6	82.6	56.0	51.3	30.0	87.9	21	18	13	21	20	24	12
LV	62.1	74.3	68.7	50.9	65.8	50.4	79.3	16	10	26	27	10	15	25
LT	58.4	74.2	69.9	56.1	50.6	39.3	80.3	20	11	24	20	22	18	24
LU	72.4	76.3	92.4	70.8	69.1	53.4	89.9	9	7	1	3	8	12	8
HU	53.4	68.0	73.3	57.2	54.3	22.9	86.7	26	21	22	17	18	27	15
MT	65.0	76.8	84.2	65.2	64.2	37.5	92.3	13	5	11	9	13	19	2
NL	75.9	78.3	87.0	67.4	83.9	64.0	90.2	3	3	7	7	2	6	7
AT	68.0	76.8	87.7	64.3	61.2	48.2	91.9	11	4	6	10	15	16	3
PL	56.6	67.2	76.7	57.6	52.5	31.5	83.3	23	24	17	15	19	22	22
PT	62.2	73.2	73.6	56.5	47.5	53.6	84.8	15	13	21	19	24	11	19
RO	54.5	67.5	69.1	52.8	50.3	34.7	71.3	25	22	25	25	23	21	27
SI	67.6	73.0	83.7	56.6	72.9	53.0	87.8	12	15	12	18	7	13	13
SK	56.0	66.8	75.1	61.6	46.3	30.7	85.5	24	25	18	12	25	23	18
FI	75.3	75.5	87.9	61.9	77.4	74.3	89.5	5	8	4	11	4	4	10
SE	83.9	83.1	85.4	75.2	90.1	84.5	94.6	1	1	10	1	1	1	1

## **Table 6.** Gender Equality Index scores and ranks, by domain and EU Member State, 2019

		Score (points)																
Member		C	Domain	of work	ς				Partici	oation			S	egregat	ion and	quality	of wor	k
Sidle	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
EU	69.7	70.2	70.6	71.1	71.4	71.6	77.6	78.3	79.2	80.4	80.9	81.3	62.6	62.9	62.9	62.9	62.9	63.1
BE	72.7	72.8	73.8	74.1	74.7	74.9	75.7	75.4	77.5	78.2	79.5	80.2	69.8	70.4	70.2	70.2	70.1	69.9
BG	67.9	68.7	68.6	69.0	69.0	69.6	81.3	82.0	82.7	83.5	83.5	84.6	56.7	57.6	56.9	57.0	57.0	57.3
CZ	64.9	65.3	66.1	67.0	67.0	67.4	78.9	79.9	81.8	83.5	84.3	84.5	53.3	53.3	53.5	53.7	53.3	53.8
DK	79.8	79.7	79.2	79.6	79.7	79.4	88.5	88.3	87.2	88.3	88.7	88.4	71.9	72.1	72.0	71.8	71.5	71.4
DE	70.0	70.6	71.4	72.1	72.1	72.4	79.0	80.2	81.9	83.3	83.6	84.2	62.1	62.1	62.2	62.3	62.2	62.3
EE	71.2	71.4	72.1	71.5	72.1	72.5	87.3	87.7	88.6	89.8	90.6	90.8	58.1	58.1	58.7	57.0	57.5	57.9
IE	73.5	73.7	73.9	75.5	75.9	76.5	77.4	77.3	78.3	81.7	82.4	82.8	69.8	70.2	69.7	69.8	69.9	70.6
EL	63.6	63.6	64.2	64.2	64.4	65.3	71.1	69.4	71.0	71.4	71.6	72.7	57.0	58.4	58.0	57.7	58.0	58.7
ES	71.8	72.3	72.4	72.9	73.2	73.7	77.0	77.5	78.0	79.1	79.3	80.2	66.9	67.4	67.3	67.1	67.5	67.8
FR	71.5	71.9	72.1	72.4	72.8	73.2	81.1	81.4	82.3	82.4	83.5	83.7	63.1	63.5	63.2	63.5	63.5	63.9
HR	67.2	68.3	69.4	69.2	69.9	70.1	75.0	75.5	78.5	78.9	79.6	79.7	60.3	61.8	61.4	60.7	61.4	61.6
IT	61.3	62.4	62.4	63.1	63.3	63.7	64.9	66.7	66.7	68.2	68.6	69.1	57.8	58.5	58.4	58.5	58.5	58.6
CY	70.5	68.9	70.7	70.7	70.8	70.6	85.2	83.4	84.7	84.9	86.2	86.0	58.3	56.9	59.0	58.8	58.2	57.9
LV	72.6	74.3	73.6	74.2	74.0	74.3	86.9	86.9	87.8	89.3	90.1	89.9	60.7	63.5	61.8	61.7	60.8	61.4
LT	72.6	72.6	73.2	73.6	74.1	74.2	86.0	86.8	88.2	89.7	90.7	91.1	61.3	60.8	60.7	60.4	60.4	60.4
LU	70.9	72.5	74.0	74.1	75.2	76.3	74.8	77.7	81.3	82.4	83.5	83.3	67.3	67.7	67.4	66.7	67.6	69.8
HU	66.0	66.4	67.2	67.4	68.0	68.0	75.8	76.9	79.6	81.0	81.3	81.1	57.5	57.4	56.7	56.0	56.9	57.0
MT	65.1	68.2	71.0	73.3	75.4	76.8	58.6	63.2	68.9	73.1	76.9	79.8	72.3	73.7	73.1	73.5	74.0	73.9
NL	76.3	76.2	76.7	77.4	77.8	78.3	78.5	78.6	79.2	80.7	81.7	82.8	74.1	73.9	74.3	74.2	74.2	73.9
AT	75.3	75.6	76.1	76.6	76.4	76.8	80.3	80.9	81.4	82.4	82.4	82.7	70.6	70.6	71.2	71.2	70.7	71.4
PL	66.3	66.6	66.8	67.0	67.3	67.2	77.9	78.3	79.5	80.2	80.8	80.6	56.5	56.5	56.2	56.0	56.1	56.0
PT	71.4	71.4	72.0	72.5	72.9	73.2	85.6	84.1	85.4	86.6	87.8	88.2	59.5	60.6	60.8	60.7	60.6	60.8
RO	67.9	67.8	67.1	67.7	67.6	67.5	78.8	78.5	77.5	79.0	78.8	78.8	58.6	58.5	58.1	58.0	58.0	57.9
SI	71.9	71.3	71.8	73.3	73.1	73.0	84.4	83.7	83.5	86.5	86.7	87.2	61.3	60.7	61.7	62.1	61.6	61.1
SK	64.8	64.9	65.5	66.5	66.6	66.8	79.0	78.8	80.6	82.6	82.7	83.2	53.1	53.4	53.2	53.5	53.7	53.7
FI	74.5	74.8	74.7	74.9	75.4	75.5	88.9	89.2	89.2	88.9	90.0	90.1	62.4	62.7	62.6	63.1	63.2	63.3
SE	80.4	81.4	82.6	83.0	82.9	83.1	91.9	93.8	95.4	95.7	95.8	95.9	70.4	70.6	71.5	71.9	71.7	72.0

## Table 7. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of work and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019

							Score (points)												
Member		D	omain o	of mone	ey 📃			Fir	nancial	resourc	es			Ec	onomic	situatio	n		
Jiale	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	
EU	79.1	79.1	80.1	81.1	81.6	82.4	70.6	71.2	73.9	74.9	75.5	76.9	88.7	88.0	86.7	88.0	88.1	88.3	
BE	85.5	85.6	87.5	88.3	88.7	89.9	77.9	78.6	82.7	83.3	83.8	84.6	94.0	93.3	92.6	93.6	93.8	95.4	
BG	60.8	60.5	61.9	61.8	62.3	64.5	44.7	44.2	48.2	50.2	49.6	54.6	82.8	82.7	79.5	76.1	78.2	76.1	
CZ	73.8	74.0	75.9	76.7	76.8	78.9	55.1	55.8	58.8	59.8	60.4	63.8	98.7	98.1	98.1	98.2	97.6	97.5	
DK	83.6	85.7	86.6	87.1	86.8	89.1	78.3	80.4	82.4	83.2	83.3	85.8	89.3	91.4	91.1	91.2	90.5	92.4	
DE	83.2	84.0	84.2	86.0	84.9	86.0	77.1	78.1	81.2	82.1	82.9	84.5	89.8	90.2	87.4	90.1	86.9	87.5	
EE	65.5	64.9	66.7	69.4	70.0	73.2	49.5	50.2	56.4	58.3	59.3	63.6	86.7	84.0	79.0	82.5	82.7	84.1	
IE	85.5	84.4	84.7	85.5	86.5	87.8	81.1	80.7	81.0	81.7	83.3	82.6	90.2	88.2	88.6	89.5	89.8	93.3	
EL	75.3	71.1	70.7	71.4	72.5	73.7	66.7	62.7	61.4	61.3	61.4	62.2	84.9	80.7	81.4	83.2	85.6	87.3	
ES	77.1	76.0	75.9	76.7	77.8	78.4	70.4	69.6	71.0	72.2	72.3	73.5	84.4	82.9	81.2	81.4	83.6	83.7	
FR	83.5	83.7	86.1	86.4	87.0	86.3	75.9	77.2	80.4	81.0	80.9	80.8	91.8	90.6	92.3	92.1	93.5	92.1	
HR	68.6	68.9	69.9	72.2	72.6	74.0	56.2	55.7	57.1	60.1	60.6	62.1	83.8	85.2	85.6	86.9	86.9	88.1	
IT	78.9	78.7	78.6	78.8	79.0	79.4	72.5	72.8	73.0	74.4	74.8	75.8	86.0	85.1	84.6	83.5	83.4	83.1	
CY	80.7	81.7	79.2	80.8	81.7	82.6	74.8	76.4	72.1	72.8	72.8	76.0	87.1	87.4	87.1	89.7	91.6	89.8	
LV	58.9	59.6	64.3	65.5	65.2	68.7	43.5	43.5	51.9	53.7	54.6	59.4	79.8	81.5	79.5	80.0	78.0	79.4	
LT	60.8	64.3	65.6	64.7	66.1	69.9	47.8	48.4	53.5	55.0	56.0	60.9	77.3	85.5	80.4	76.1	78.0	80.4	
LU	91.8	92.1	94.4	91.8	90.0	92.4	91.2	91.6	97.0	96.8	97.3	98.0	92.5	92.7	92.0	87.2	83.2	87.2	
HU	70.8	69.8	70.7	71.6	72.0	73.3	51.0	52.5	55.2	55.5	56.2	58.2	98.3	92.9	90.5	92.5	92.2	92.2	
MT	79.2	80.6	82.4	82.5	82.6	84.2	68.6	69.5	73.3	74.4	74.8	77.6	91.3	93.3	92.8	91.4	91.1	91.4	
NL	86.6	87.0	86.8	86.7	86.2	87.0	77.7	77.6	79.1	80.4	80.4	80.9	96.5	97.5	95.4	93.5	92.4	93.5	
AT	82.8	83.6	85.9	86.4	86.7	87.7	74.7	75.8	79.8	81.4	80.9	82.8	91.8	92.2	92.5	91.7	93.1	92.9	
PL	69.5	70.3	73.3	75.1	75.5	76.7	54.6	56.2	61.4	62.8	63.0	65.1	88.5	88.0	87.5	89.9	90.5	90.4	
PT	71.8	71.7	70.9	72.1	72.8	73.6	60.4	60.7	60.3	61.2	61.2	62.3	85.3	84.8	83.5	84.8	86.8	87.0	
RO	59.8	59.2	59.4	62.0	63.0	69.1	42.5	42.7	45.7	47.2	49.3	60.1	84.2	82.1	77.3	81.6	80.4	79.5	
SI	80.3	81.3	81.6	82.4	83.0	83.7	67.3	68.3	69.8	70.0	70.7	71.6	95.8	96.7	95.5	97.1	97.4	97.9	
SK	70.2	72.1	74.0	74.2	75.1	75.1	51.9	53.9	56.4	56.8	57.1	57.5	95.1	96.4	97.2	96.9	98.8	98.2	
FI	84.1	84.8	86.4	87.6	87.1	87.9	74.6	76.2	78.5	79.2	79.4	80.4	94.9	94.4	95.2	96.9	95.5	96.1	
SE	85.3	85.3	87.5	86.8	86.8	85.4	75.9	77.4	82.3	82.1	82.0	81.9	95.8	93.9	93.1	91.9	91.9	88.9	

### Table 8. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of money and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019

									Score (	ooints)								
Member State		Don	nain of	knowle	dge			Attainn	nent and	d partic	ipation				Segreg	gation		
Juic	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
EU	59.8	61.1	62.4	62.6	62.8	62.7	66.0	68.2	71.2	71.8	72.2	72.5	54.2	54.7	54.7	54.5	54.5	54.1
BE	70.6	70.6	71.1	71.3	71.4	70.8	73.3	72.5	73.3	74.3	73.8	74.0	68.1	68.8	68.9	68.4	69.0	67.7
BG	50.4	51.9	53.3	53.2	54.9	55.2	53.9	54.6	56.1	55.4	57.3	56.3	47.1	49.3	50.7	51.0	52.7	54.1
CZ	55.4	57.7	57.3	59.0	58.4	58.5	61.4	66.3	66.9	69.9	67.7	66.4	50.0	50.2	49.2	49.8	50.3	51.6
DK	73.2	71.3	73.6	72.3	71.3	71.0	81.7	80.5	82.1	81.8	79.5	80.7	65.6	63.1	66.0	64.0	64.0	62.5
DE	56.3	57.1	52.9	53.7	54.0	54.7	59.9	62.7	61.0	62.4	63.2	64.3	53.0	51.9	45.9	46.2	46.2	46.6
EE	51.6	53.8	53.2	55.5	56.3	57.3	67.4	70.5	67.9	70.1	72.1	73.7	39.5	41.1	41.7	44.0	44.0	44.5
IE	65.3	67.7	66.4	66.9	67.3	67.4	72.7	74.0	74.1	77.8	79.3	80.2	58.6	62.0	59.6	57.6	57.2	56.7
EL	53.4	54.3	55.6	55.7	54.8	54.9	59.8	60.7	63.9	66.3	66.8	67.3	47.7	48.5	48.4	46.8	45.0	44.8
ES	63.5	64.2	65.3	67.4	67.6	67.9	71.8	73.0	73.3	76.0	76.6	76.4	56.2	56.6	58.1	59.7	59.7	60.3
FR	62.0	62.4	66.1	66.0	66.3	67.0	67.9	69.7	77.5	78.5	79.6	80.3	56.6	55.8	56.4	55.6	55.2	55.9
HR	49.9	48.5	49.8	50.4	51.6	51.8	57.5	58.7	59.3	59.2	60.6	60.1	43.3	40.0	41.8	42.9	43.9	44.7
IT	53.8	56.7	61.4	61.2	61.9	59.0	53.7	54.4	56.1	57.0	58.0	58.3	53.9	59.2	67.1	65.8	66.0	59.7
CY	55.5	58.2	58.5	56.5	56.2	56.0	73.6	73.2	73.3	73.2	73.1	71.1	41.9	46.2	46.6	43.5	43.3	44.1
LV	49.2	48.8	48.9	49.7	49.3	50.9	60.5	62.2	59.1	62.3	61.1	65.6	40.0	38.3	40.5	39.7	39.7	39.4
LT	54.3	54.7	55.8	55.9	56.2	56.1	65.0	66.2	68.4	69.4	70.0	71.0	45.4	45.3	45.4	45.0	45.0	44.3
LU	66.3	68.7	69.4	69.5	70.0	70.8	74.8	78.6	84.1	84.5	85.9	88.7	58.7	60.1	57.2	57.1	57.1	56.5
HU	54.5	54.3	56.9	56.9	57.4	57.2	59.2	59.6	64.6	63.4	64.1	63.2	50.1	49.5	50.0	51.0	51.5	51.8
MT	65.4	66.3	65.2	65.8	67.1	65.2	59.2	60.2	61.3	65.9	67.0	67.3	72.3	73.0	69.5	65.8	67.3	63.2
NL	66.9	66.9	67.3	67.1	67.3	67.4	77.1	78.0	80.9	83.4	84.1	85.5	58.1	57.5	56.0	53.9	53.9	53.1
AT	58.9	59.9	63.2	64.1	63.8	64.3	61.2	61.8	72.0	74.1	73.3	73.6	56.6	58.1	55.5	55.5	55.5	56.2
PL	57.8	56.5	56.0	56.5	57.2	57.6	62.3	61.5	61.3	61.5	63.0	62.8	53.6	51.9	51.1	51.9	51.9	52.9
PT	50.1	54.9	54.8	55.1	55.7	56.5	50.8	59.1	59.5	60.4	61.3	62.6	49.5	51.0	50.6	50.3	50.7	51.0
RO	47.2	50.2	51.8	51.5	52.4	52.8	50.1	52.7	52.9	52.4	52.6	53.4	44.4	47.9	50.7	50.7	52.2	52.1
SI	55.0	54.9	55.0	56.0	55.9	56.6	68.4	67.1	67.4	66.9	66.6	67.5	44.2	45.0	44.9	46.9	46.9	47.4
SK	59.5	59.6	60.0	60.4	61.2	61.6	59.1	58.8	58.8	59.7	60.9	60.9	59.9	60.3	61.2	61.1	61.5	62.4
FI	58.6	59.5	61.3	61.1	61.6	61.9	78.3	79.5	81.4	83.0	83.6	84.2	43.9	44.6	46.1	45.0	45.5	45.5
SE	70.7	70.9	72.8	73.8	74.2	75.2	74.4	75.6	78.5	80.2	80.5	82.6	67.1	66.6	67.5	67.9	68.4	68.4

## Table 9. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of knowledge and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019

									Score (	points)								
Member		[	Domain	of time					Care ac	tivities				2	Social a	tivities		
State	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
EU	65.2	68.1	64.9	64.9	64.9	64.9	65.4	71.3	69.1	69.1	69.1	69.1	65.0	65.0	61.0	61.0	61.0	61.0
BE	70.3	71.8	65.3	65.3	65.3	65.3	72.6	75.7	68.9	68.9	68.9	68.9	68.1	68.1	61.9	61.9	61.9	61.9
BG	43.9	47.4	42.7	42.7	42.7	42.7	48.6	56.6	55.7	55.7	55.7	55.7	39.7	39.7	32.6	32.6	32.6	32.6
CZ	53.8	55.5	57.3	57.3	57.3	57.3	55.8	59.4	56.8	56.8	56.8	56.8	51.9	51.9	57.7	57.7	57.7	57.7
DK	80.4	85.4	83.1	83.1	83.1	83.1	75.8	85.5	86.1	86.1	86.1	86.1	85.3	85.3	80.2	80.2	80.2	80.2
DE	69.8	67.8	65.0	65.0	65.0	65.0	70.1	66.1	71.3	71.3	71.3	71.3	69.6	69.6	59.3	59.3	59.3	59.3
EE	73.7	70.1	74.7	74.7	74.7	74.7	80.7	73.0	85.9	85.9	85.9	85.9	67.2	67.2	65.0	65.0	65.0	65.0
IE	70.8	76.5	74.2	74.2	74.2	74.2	69.9	81.6	76.2	76.2	76.2	76.2	71.8	71.8	72.1	72.1	72.1	72.1
EL	35.6	45.2	44.7	44.7	44.7	44.7	34.2	55.1	50.9	50.9	50.9	50.9	37.1	37.1	39.3	39.3	39.3	39.3
ES	60.8	65.8	64.0	64.0	64.0	64.0	60.9	71.4	74.5	74.5	74.5	74.5	60.6	60.6	55.0	55.0	55.0	55.0
FR	66.6	70.3	67.3	67.3	67.3	67.3	70.3	78.5	70.4	70.4	70.4	70.4	63.0	63.0	64.4	64.4	64.4	64.4
HR	49.8	54.7	51.0	51.0	51.0	51.0	53.0	63.9	54.4	54.4	54.4	54.4	46.7	46.7	47.9	47.9	47.9	47.9
IT	55.1	61.4	59.3	59.3	59.3	59.3	54.5	67.6	61.2	61.2	61.2	61.2	55.7	55.7	57.4	57.4	57.4	57.4
CY	45.9	45.9	51.3	51.3	51.3	51.3	52.6	52.7	65.7	65.7	65.7	65.7	40.0	40.0	40.0	40.0	40.0	40.0
LV	62.0	60.8	65.8	65.8	65.8	65.8	78.2	75.1	89.8	89.8	89.8	89.8	49.2	49.2	48.2	48.2	48.2	48.2
LT	52.2	55.7	50.6	50.6	50.6	50.6	65.4	74.5	64.0	64.0	64.0	64.0	41.7	41.7	40.0	40.0	40.0	40.0
LU	70.2	71.5	69.1	69.1	69.1	69.1	72.1	74.8	79.4	79.4	79.4	79.4	68.3	68.3	60.2	60.2	60.2	60.2
HU	54.1	55.2	54.3	54.3	54.3	54.3	68.7	71.6	65.0	65.0	65.0	65.0	42.6	42.6	45.4	45.4	45.4	45.4
MT	54.3	58.7	64.2	64.2	64.2	64.2	49.7	57.9	69.0	69.0	69.0	69.0	59.4	59.4	59.8	59.8	59.8	59.8
NL	85.9	86.7	83.9	83.9	83.9	83.9	76.5	78.0	79.3	79.3	79.3	79.3	96.4	96.4	88.7	88.7	88.7	88.7
AT	56.0	65.3	61.2	61.2	61.2	61.2	44.9	61.0	62.7	62.7	62.7	62.7	69.8	69.8	59.7	59.7	59.7	59.7
PL	54.2	55.3	52.5	52.5	52.5	52.5	63.0	65.6	64.1	64.1	64.1	64.1	46.5	46.5	43.0	43.0	43.0	43.0
PT	38.7	46.0	47.5	47.5	47.5	47.5	49.3	69.5	63.3	63.3	63.3	63.3	30.4	30.4	35.7	35.7	35.7	35.7
RO	50.6	53.2	50.3	50.3	50.3	50.3	70.9	78.1	70.7	70.7	70.7	70.7	36.2	36.2	35.8	35.8	35.8	35.8
SI	68.3	72.4	72.9	72.9	72.9	72.9	64.5	72.3	69.5	69.5	69.5	69.5	72.4	72.4	76.4	76.4	76.4	76.4
SK	39.9	43.4	46.3	46.3	46.3	46.3	52.7	62.5	56.5	56.5	56.5	56.5	30.2	30.2	37.9	37.9	37.9	37.9
FI	80.1	81.0	77.4	77.4	77.4	77.4	84.2	86.0	82.2	82.2	82.2	82.2	76.3	76.3	72.9	72.9	72.9	72.9
SE	84.5	83.5	90.1	90.1	90.1	90.1	84.6	82.6	90.9	90.9	90.9	90.9	84.3	84.3	89.3	89.3	89.3	89.3

### Table 10. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of time and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019

NB: Scores for the domain of time have not changed since the previous edition of the Index because of a lack of new data.

											S	core (	points	)										
Member		Do	main o	of pow	/er				Polit	tical					Econ	omic					Soc	ial		
	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
EU	41.9	43.6	48.4	51.6	53.1	55.0	47.5	49.0	53.0	55.0	56.8	58.5	29.0	31.9	39.2	43.0	45.9	48.8	53.2	53.2	54.5	58.2	57.4	58.2
BE	47.9	50.5	53.4	55.2	55.7	61.0	65.8	70.0	70.2	67.8	68.1	72.0	32.8	36.0	38.0	40.2	41.8	53.3	50.9	51.0	57.1	61.7	60.8	59.2
BG	45.8	49.4	56.0	59.9	61.5	60.2	50.3	53.4	49.2	53.8	56.5	58.8	27.6	32.7	53.2	59.9	60.0	60.2	69.3	69.3	67.0	66.8	68.5	61.8
CZ	31.0	32.0	22.6	26.1	27.7	28.1	30.7	31.7	36.6	37.8	40.0	43.2	27.4	29.0	9.2	13.6	16.4	17.1	35.6	35.6	34.2	34.3	32.5	30.1
DK	58.0	57.5	61.5	64.9	66.2	66.8	75.1	76.1	71.2	74.2	76.0	75.3	47.5	45.6	55.7	56.5	56.0	55.1	54.8	54.8	58.7	65.3	68.3	71.8
DE	38.3	46.0	53.0	56.6	59.5	62.8	60.2	59.9	71.5	69.6	67.8	66.7	19.0	33.0	42.1	49.7	56.5	64.4	49.2	49.1	49.5	52.4	55.0	57.5
EE	21.9	22.0	28.2	34.6	36.1	36.6	34.9	33.7	44.9	48.5	49.3	47.3	21.6	22.7	23.2	23.4	24.2	27.5	13.9	13.9	21.4	36.5	39.4	37.8
IE	37.2	40.7	48.6	53.4	55.8	58.4	32.9	37.0	39.8	44.1	45.3	47.0	21.7	25.4	39.9	46.4	50.0	55.6	72.1	71.7	72.4	74.5	76.8	76.1
EL	22.3	22.3	21.7	24.3	27.0	27.0	34.3	30.7	34.7	35.8	36.5	36.1	13.6	15.3	12.1	14.9	20.4	21.1	23.8	23.6	24.2	27.0	26.4	25.7
ES	52.6	52.9	57.0	62.0	69.4	76.9	73.7	69.7	72.3	76.8	82.5	86.5	33.3	35.8	43.5	53.4	64.8	70.1	59.4	59.2	58.9	58.1	62.7	75.1
FR	52.4	55.1	68.2	78.3	79.8	81.4	64.1	70.8	77.1	80.8	83.1	84.9	41.2	43.2	70.2	82.9	84.6	85.4	54.6	54.6	58.4	71.7	72.3	74.2
HR	28.4	27.3	28.5	34.8	41.4	45.3	40.2	40.0	38.7	42.2	45.1	46.3	24.8	22.2	19.0	19.8	28.6	37.2	22.9	22.9	31.6	50.2	55.1	54.2
IT	25.2	29.4	45.3	47.6	48.8	52.2	31.7	35.8	47.4	47.9	49.3	52.8	10.6	14.8	44.7	53.1	54.9	56.7	47.8	47.8	43.7	42.5	43.1	47.5
CY	15.4	17.4	24.7	28.2	29.8	30.0	30.1	30.2	25.8	27.5	29.9	32.3	4.7	6.8	22.6	23.0	23.0	22.9	25.9	25.7	25.8	35.6	38.6	36.6
LV	34.8	37.9	39.0	44.1	49.4	50.4	38.1	43.7	40.5	36.7	40.6	43.4	37.5	42.1	44.2	45.6	46.1	48.2	29.5	29.5	33.2	51.4	64.3	61.2
LT	32.9	27.7	36.6	32.5	34.1	39.3	34.0	34.8	40.0	40.9	45.5	48.5	23.7	13.9	30.1	18.5	18.1	24.5	44.3	44.2	40.9	45.3	48.2	51.2
LU	25.6	34.9	43.5	44.8	48.4	53.4	45.3	47.6	51.1	48.9	51.5	54.6	5.2	12.5	23.5	28.2	32.1	37.5	71.5	71.2	68.2	65.2	68.6	74.2
HU	23.5	21.9	18.7	20.6	22.2	22.9	16.1	15.9	14.3	15.0	17.8	21.8	37.8	31.0	22.1	23.1	23.7	23.0	21.4	21.5	20.9	25.1	25.8	24.1
MT	20.9	25.0	27.4	32.2	32.8	37.5	30.0	29.1	30.5	32.9	33.1	35.3	12.4	21.9	24.4	24.0	24.2	29.9	24.5	24.6	27.5	42.2	44.2	49.8
NL	56.9	56.6	52.9	50.0	57.2	64.0	69.5	66.0	70.6	70.6	71.9	73.4	40.4	41.8	33.1	29.3	45.9	58.7	65.8	65.8	63.4	60.2	56.7	60.7
AT	28.4	30.8	34.9	39.9	44.2	48.2	60.3	60.3	59.1	61.1	65.9	74.7	9.3	11.8	17.4	21.1	24.4	28.0	40.7	40.8	41.1	49.3	53.7	53.6
PL	30.6	34.8	35.1	29.1	30.0	31.5	36.6	43.5	46.1	43.6	44.3	45.6	27.5	33.8	38.2	33.1	34.1	35.7	28.6	28.6	24.4	17.0	17.8	19.2
PT	34.9	29.7	33.9	46.7	51.1	53.6	41.9	42.4	48.7	56.7	59.0	62.6	20.4	12.6	16.4	36.3	44.9	47.9	49.6	49.3	48.9	49.4	50.4	51.4
RO	30.8	28.8	33.2	38.8	37.5	34.7	23.5	26.5	32.9	40.8	41.6	41.0	28.0	20.4	21.4	20.5	21.5	19.0	44.4	44.4	51.8	69.7	59.3	53.6
SI	41.1	51.5	60.6	57.6	55.0	53.0	44.5	46.3	65.4	67.3	64.4	59.2	29.9	56.4	61.5	50.4	44.7	45.1	52.3	52.3	55.3	56.2	57.7	55.8
SK	29.5	25.4	23.1	26.8	29.6	30.7	31.0	28.4	29.0	35.3	36.9	37.2	34.1	23.7	14.6	17.9	23.3	26.3	24.3	24.4	29.1	30.4	30.0	29.6
FI	69.1	73.2	65.3	66.7	71.9	74.3	86.1	86.3	84.8	78.8	83.9	90.4	52.5	62.0	47.6	52.5	59.2	60.8	73.1	73.2	68.9	71.5	74.8	74.6
SE	77.8	75.2	79.5	83.4	84.2	84.5	92.1	93.0	93.9	95.1	94.9	95.0	58.7	52.6	60.8	69.4	71.7	70.7	87.1	87.1	87.8	87.9	87.8	89.8

## Table 11. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of power and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019
											S	core (	points	5)										
Member		Dor	nain (	of hea	alth				Sta	tus					Beha	viour					Acc	ess		
State	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019	2010	2012	2015	2017	2018	2019
EU	86.7	86.7	87.1	87.8	87.8	87.8	90.4	90.6	90.9	91.9	92.0	92.1	74.8	74.8	74.8	74.8	74.8	74.8	96.2	96.2	97.0	98.3	98.3	98.2
BE	86.5	86.4	86.3	86.3	86.5	86.3	92.6	93.4	93.3	93.3	93.6	93.3	70.3	70.3	70.3	70.3	70.3	70.3	99.3	98.1	98.0	97.9	98.4	98.1
BG	75.3	75.8	76.4	77.1	77.2	77.2	88.1	88.4	88.1	89.0	89.1	89.1	52.3	52.3	52.3	52.3	52.3	52.3	92.6	94.1	96.9	98.5	98.5	98.8
CZ	85.7	85.7	86.0	86.3	86.3	86.3	89.1	89.0	89.6	90.0	90.0	89.9	72.3	72.3	72.3	72.3	72.3	72.3	97.9	98.0	98.2	98.7	98.9	98.9
DK	90.3	90.2	89.6	89.9	89.7	89.5	92.2	92.6	91.6	92.4	91.1	91.6	81.7	81.7	81.7	81.7	81.7	81.7	97.8	96.9	96.2	96.3	96.8	95.9
DE	89.3	89.4	90.5	90.5	90.6	90.7	90.4	90.2	91.8	92.0	92.3	92.5	80.9	80.9	80.9	80.9	80.9	80.9	97.5	97.9	99.7	99.7	99.7	99.8
EE	82.7	82.1	81.5	81.9	81.6	82.2	83.4	83.2	84.1	83.9	83.8	85.2	70.1	70.1	70.1	70.1	70.1	70.1	96.8	94.7	91.9	93.5	92.6	92.9
IE	90.7	90.4	90.6	90.9	91.3	91.3	96.5	96.5	96.8	97.1	97.6	97.7	79.0	79.0	79.0	79.0	79.0	79.0	98.0	97.0	97.3	97.9	98.8	98.6
EL	84.3	83.9	83.1	83.5	84.0	84.3	94.1	93.5	93.4	93.3	94.4	95.2	66.6	66.6	66.6	66.6	66.6	66.6	95.7	94.8	92.3	93.8	94.1	94.5
ES	88.6	89.1	89.6	90.1	90.1	90.3	92.4	93.6	93.2	94.1	94.4	95.2	78.6	78.6	78.6	78.6	78.6	78.6	95.7	96.2	98.3	98.9	98.7	98.6
FR	86.7	86.8	87.1	87.4	87.4	87.4	91.0	91.6	91.6	91.9	92.1	92.1	74.0	74.0	74.0	74.0	74.0	74.0	96.8	96.6	97.6	98.1	97.9	98.1
HR	81.5	82.8	83.3	83.7	83.7	83.8	85.1	85.7	86.4	87.5	87.4	87.6	68.3	68.3	68.3	68.3	68.3	68.3	93.1	97.0	97.8	98.1	98.3	98.3
IT	86.3	86.5	86.3	88.7	88.4	88.4	91.1	91.3	91.3	95.1	94.3	94.4	74.2	74.2	74.2	74.2	74.2	74.2	94.9	95.5	94.8	99.0	98.6	98.6
CY	86.4	87.1	88.2	88.4	88.0	87.9	93.7	94.4	95.5	96.1	94.8	94.6	73.0	73.0	73.0	73.0	73.0	73.0	94.4	96.0	98.4	98.4	98.4	98.4
LV	77.3	77.9	78.4	78.3	78.4	79.3	80.0	80.5	79.8	79.0	79.9	80.4	65.5	65.5	65.5	65.5	65.5	65.5	88.3	89.7	92.3	92.9	92.1	94.6
LT	80.4	79.6	79.1	79.8	80.0	80.3	81.9	79.7	78.5	80.0	81.0	81.2	64.8	64.8	64.8	64.8	64.8	64.8	98.1	97.7	97.5	98.2	97.8	98.3
LU	89.8	90.0	89.0	89.6	89.5	89.9	93.8	94.4	92.0	91.9	91.5	93.0	78.5	78.5	78.5	78.5	78.5	78.5	98.3	98.4	97.7	99.7	99.7	99.7
HU	85.4	85.9	86.0	86.6	87.0	86.7	84.2	85.9	85.8	86.6	87.6	86.9	76.8	76.8	76.8	76.8	76.8	76.8	96.3	96.0	96.5	97.6	97.9	97.6
MT	90.6	91.6	91.8	92.1	92.0	92.3	93.8	95.3	95.6	96.2	95.8	96.4	81.7	81.7	81.7	81.7	81.7	81.7	97.0	98.6	99.0	99.6	99.4	99.8
NL	90.3	89.7	89.9	90.0	90.0	90.2	93.6	91.8	91.7	92.1	92.2	92.8	79.3	79.3	79.3	79.3	79.3	79.3	99.2	99.3	99.9	99.9	99.9	99.6
AT	91.1	91.5	91.7	91.7	91.9	91.9	91.0	91.7	91.3	91.5	91.8	91.9	84.6	84.6	84.6	84.6	84.6	84.6	98.1	98.8	99.8	99.7	99.9	99.7
PL	81.6	81.7	82.2	83.2	83.1	83.3	85.8	85.9	86.6	87.3	87.4	87.7	67.9	67.9	67.9	67.9	67.9	67.9	93.4	93.6	94.5	97.0	96.7	97.2
PT	84.3	84.4	83.6	84.5	84.6	84.8	83.3	84.6	82.6	84.0	84.2	84.5	75.5	75.5	75.5	75.5	75.5	75.5	95.2	94.2	93.9	95.2	95.2	95.8
RO	69.9	70.2	70.4	71.1	71.2	71.3	87.9	88.5	88.6	88.6	88.7	89.2	42.5	42.5	42.5	42.5	42.5	42.5	91.6	92.1	92.9	95.7	96.0	95.9
SI	86.8	87.3	87.7	87.1	86.9	87.8	86.3	87.9	89.1	89.4	88.3	90.7	75.9	75.9	75.9	75.9	75.9	75.9	99.8	99.8	99.8	97.5	97.8	98.2
SK	84.8	85.0	85.3	85.8	85.5	85.5	85.4	86.1	87.4	88.1	87.8	87.7	73.1	73.1	73.1	73.1	73.1	73.1	97.6	97.5	97.3	98.0	97.4	97.6
FI	89.5	89.3	89.7	89.7	89.3	89.5	90.5	90.2	91.1	90.9	90.3	90.5	81.9	81.9	81.9	81.9	81.9	81.9	96.6	96.4	96.8	96.8	96.3	96.6
SE	93.2	93.0	94.1	94.7	94.5	94.6	95.7	95.7	97.4	96.9	96.3	96.4	89.3	89.3	89.3	89.3	89.3	89.3	94.5	94.2	95.8	98.0	98.1	98.2

## Table 12. Gender Equality Index scores in the domain of health and its subdomains, by EU Member State, 2010, 2012, 2015, 2017, 2018 and 2019

# Annex 3. Indicators included in the Gender Equality Index 2021

## **Table 13.** Indicators included in the domain of work, by EU Member State

				Partici	pation								Segregat	ion and	quality	of work				
MS	FTE er	nploym	ient (%, 1	5+)	Duration	of work	ing life (	years)	Employed   human hea activities	people alth and (%, 15+	in educa d social v · employ	tion, vork ed)	Ability to during wo of personal	o take 1 rking ho or fami emplo	or 2 hou ours to ta ly matte yed)	rs off ake care rs (%,15+	Career Prosp	ect Inde	ex (0–10)	) points)
	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap
EU	41.5	57.3	49.0	- 15.8	33.4	38.3	35.9	- 4.9	29.6	8.1	17.9	21.5	21.7	25.7	23.8	- 4.0	61.5	63.1	62.4	- 1.6
BE	40.0	53.4	46.3	- 13.4	31.6	35.4	33.6	- 3.8	39.1	10.7	24.0	28.4	29.5	33.2	31.5	- 3.7	66.2	66.5	66.4	- 0.3
BG	46.7	58.2	52.1	- 11.5	32.3	35.6	34.0	- 3.3	18.5	4.3	10.9	14.2	20.3	31.3	25.8	- 11.0	65.6	62.3	63.9	3.3
CZ	49.1	66.6	57.6	- 17.5	33.2	39.2	36.3	- 6.0	25.0	5.4	14.1	19.6	11.0	10.6	10.8	0.4	60.9	65.4	63.1	- 4.5
DK	46.6	58.1	52.1	- 11.5	38.2	41.7	40.0	- 3.5	43.0	13.0	27.0	30.0	31.8	50.1	41.4	- 18.3	70.4	72.9	71.7	- 2.5
DE	42.8	61.0	51.6	- 18.2	36.9	41.1	39.1	- 4.2	32.3	9.3	20.0	23.0	15.8	18.2	17.0	- 2.4	65.5	67.9	66.7	- 2.4
EE	51.2	65.9	58.0	- 14.7	38.5	39.5	39.0	- 1.0	26.6	5.1	15.5	21.5	15.4	15.8	15.6	- 0.4	65.8	64.8	65.3	1.0
IE	45.0	61.5	52.8	- 16.5	33.9	40.7	37.4	- 6.8	33.9	8.9	20.4	25.0	37.1	43.4	40.4	- 6.3	64.6	64.1	64.3	0.5
EL	32.6	50.4	41.1	- 17.8	29.6	36.6	33.2	- 7.0	22.7	8.6	14.6	14.1	14.4	16.1	15.4	- 1.7	51.0	52.2	51.6	- 1.2
ES	38.6	52.4	45.1	- 13.8	33.1	37.4	35.3	- 4.3	24.4	7.9	15.4	16.5	32.9	35.3	34.2	- 2.4	56.1	57.3	56.8	- 1.2
FR	42.5	52.7	47.2	- 10.2	33.8	37.0	35.4	- 3.2	34.3	10.6	22.1	23.7	17.9	22.1	20.0	- 4.2	63.8	66.7	65.3	- 2.9
HR	40.6	53.4	46.7	- 12.8	30.5	34.5	32.5	- 4.0	26.4	5.7	15.2	20.7	25.1	29.4	27.3	- 4.3	59.8	61.0	60.4	- 1.2
IT	31.4	51.5	40.9	- 20.1	27.3	36.4	32.0	- 9.1	25.7	7.2	15.0	18.5	19.3	22.0	20.8	- 2.7	51.9	55.7	54.0	- 3.8
CY	49.2	62.4	55.5	- 13.2	34.4	40.5	37.5	- 6.1	19.0	6.1	12.2	12.9	17.5	18.5	18.0	- 1.0	53.0	50.8	51.9	2.2
LV	50.3	62.9	55.9	- 12.6	36.8	36.8	36.8	0.0	26.0	4.9	15.5	21.1	24.9	26.0	25.4	- 1.1	62.7	60.7	61.8	2.0
LT	52.3	62.1	56.7	- 9.8	37.5	36.7	37.1	0.8	27.6	6.2	17.0	21.4	19.0	21.0	19.9	- 2.0	61.9	63.2	62.5	- 1.3
LU	46.4	59.9	53.0	- 13.5	31.6	36.0	33.9	- 4.4	26.5	11.6	18.4	14.9	22.7	30.0	26.5	- 7.3	70.1	72.5	71.3	- 2.4
HU	45.7	63.6	54.1	- 17.9	31.2	37.4	34.4	- 6.2	25.6	6.0	14.8	19.6	16.5	13.4	15.0	3.1	64.4	63.5	64.0	0.9
MT	44.9	66.7	56.0	- 21.8	31.8	41.1	36.5	- 9.3	30.4	10.6	18.6	19.8	36.5	37.8	37.3	- 1.3	69.0	67.0	67.8	2.0
NL	39.1	58.3	48.1	- 19.2	38.6	43.3	41.0	- 4.7	35.9	9.4	21.8	26.5	48.5	56.3	52.6	- 7.8	61.0	62.4	61.7	- 1.4
AT	42.5	61.2	51.3	- 18.7	35.3	39.8	37.6	- 4.5	27.9	8.5	17.6	19.4	35.5	36.4	35.9	- 0.9	64.3	65.4	64.9	- 1.1
PL	45.0	63.1	53.6	- 18.1	30.7	36.3	33.6	- 5.6	24.8	4.9	13.8	19.9	16.1	18.8	17.4	- 2.7	60.1	59.2	59.7	0.9
PT	47.3	57.7	52.1	- 10.4	36.8	39.6	38.2	- 2.8	29.9	6.9	18.2	23.0	23.4	28.3	25.7	- 4.9	55.6	57.0	56.3	- 1.4
RO	42.7	61.4	51.7	- 18.7	30.3	37.0	33.8	- 6.7	16.6	3.4	9.1	13.2	18.2	20.2	19.2	- 2.0	66.0	67.1	66.6	- 1.1
SI	48.0	59.4	53.6	- 11.4	34.7	37.0	35.9	- 2.3	27.5	5.7	15.7	21.8	25.1	31.8	28.5	- 6.7	60.4	61.5	61.0	- 1.1
SK	47.4	62.9	54.9	- 15.5	31.6	36.6	34.2	- 5.0	28.1	4.9	15.4	23.2	11.0	15.1	13.0	- 4.1	65.7	66.8	66.2	- 1.1
FI	47.4	55.4	51.2	- 8.0	38.3	39.6	38.9	- 1.3	39.5	9.1	23.8	30.4	26.7	50.7	38.5	- 24.0	65.4	66.7	66.1	- 1.3
SE	59.3	66.9	63.0	- 7.6	41.0	42.9	42.0	- 1.9	41.9	12.1	26.3	29.8	34.9	47.1	41.3	- 12.2	66.7	68.1	67.4	- 1.4
	59.3 66.9 63.0 – Source: Eurostat, EU-LFS, 2019 Authors' calculation			Source: Eurostat, EU	-LFS (lfs	i_dwl_a),	2019	Source: Eurostat, EU-	LFS (lfsa	a_egan2),	2019	Source: Eurofound, E Authors' calo	WCS, 20 culation	)15		Source: Eurofound, E' Authors' calci	WCS, 20 <sup>°</sup> ulation	15		

MS		thly earnings population)														
	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap
EU	2 333	2 819	2 587	- 486	19 495	20 420	19 942	- 925	83.0	84.7	83.8	- 1.7	20.0	20.1	20.0	- 0.1
BE	2 778	3 075	2 927	- 297	23 204	24 609	23 892	- 1 405	85.5	87.0	86.2	- 1.5	28.2	27.2	27.7	1.0
BG	1 078	1 256	1 168	- 178	10 612	11 641	11 106	- 1 029	76.3	80.2	78.2	- 3.9	12.9	11.9	12.3	1.0
CZ	1 463	1 845	1 669	- 382	15 050	16 207	15 612	- 1 157	87.7	92.6	90.1	- 4.9	29.7	30.5	29.9	- 0.8
DK	2 868	3 479	3 160	- 611	24 706	25 316	25 006	- 610	87.3	86.9	87.1	0.4	25.3	23.7	24.4	1.6
DE	2 765	3 461	3 135	- 696	24 645	26 152	25 380	- 1 507	83.9	85.5	84.7	- 1.6	19.7	21.3	20.4	- 1.6
EE	1 461	1 896	1 653	- 435	15 282	16 093	15 658	- 811	75.0	80.0	77.3	- 5.0	20.2	19.2	19.7	1.0
IE	2 597	3 084	2 833	- 487	23 138	23 829	23 477	- 691	85.7	88.8	87.2	- 3.1	24.6	25.0	24.8	- 0.4
EL	1 669	1 971	1 829	- 302	11 154	11 470	11 306	- 316	82.3	82.9	82.6	- 0.6	19.8	19.3	19.6	0.5
ES	1 961	2 290	2 135	- 329	18 664	19 069	18 861	- 405	80.2	81.0	80.6	- 0.8	16.5	17.1	16.8	- 0.6
FR	2 282	2 798	2 548	- 516	24 130	24 717	24 409	- 587	86.7	88.0	87.3	- 1.3	23.1	23.8	23.4	- 0.7
HR	1 572	1 783	1 681	- 211	11 654	12 070	11 854	- 416	80.2	82.8	81.4	- 2.6	20.8	21.2	21.0	- 0.4
IT	2 201	2 620	2 435	- 419	19 324	20 402	19 844	- 1 078	79.6	81.8	80.6	- 2.2	16.9	16.4	16.6	0.5
CY	1 941	2 303	2 123	- 362	21 910	22 652	22 269	- 742	84.6	87.0	85.7	- 2.4	21.5	22.2	21.8	- 0.7
LV	1 349	1 697	1 514	- 348	12 483	13 517	12 946	- 1 034	72.8	78.4	75.3	- 5.6	15.2	15.4	15.3	- 0.2
LT	1 316	1 549	1 427	- 233	13 622	14 888	14 197	- 1 266	77.0	83.4	79.9	- 6.4	15.9	15.3	15.5	0.6
LU	3 497	3 625	3 576	- 128	34 056	35 613	34 832	- 1 557	83.5	84.6	84.0	- 1.1	18.7	18.7	18.7	0.0
HU	1 408	1 677	1 546	- 269	10 314	10 776	10 532	- 462	86.9	87.8	87.3	- 0.9	24.1	23.2	23.6	0.9
MT	2 238	2 660	2 474	- 422	20 663	21 426	21 053	- 763	82.1	85.1	83.6	- 3.0	24.1	23.7	23.9	0.4
NL	2 374	2 938	2 663	- 564	23 859	25 032	24 439	- 1 173	86.5	87.1	86.8	- 0.6	26.1	24.8	25.4	1.3
AT	2 343	3 018	2 738	- 675	26 442	27 666	27 041	- 1 224	85.9	88.1	87.0	- 2.2	24.1	24.1	24.0	0.0
PL	1 677	2 018	1 855	- 341	13 633	14 091	13 852	- 458	83.5	84.5	84.0	- 1.0	23.4	22.3	22.9	1.1
PT	1 367	1 541	1 452	- 174	13 534	13 928	13 718	- 394	82.2	83.5	82.8	- 1.3	19.7	19.1	19.4	0.6
RO	1 732	1 782	1 758	- 50	8 361	8 756	8 552	- 395	75.9	78.9	77.4	- 3.0	14.2	14.1	14.1	0.1
SI	1 847	2 084	1 972	- 237	17 698	18 374	18 033	- 676	86.5	89.1	87.8	- 2.6	29.5	29.6	29.5	- 0.1
SK	1 285	1 628	1 461	- 343	11 073	11 482	11 271	- 409	89.0	89.8	89.4	- 0.8	30.5	29.3	29.9	1.2
FI	2 419	2 953	2 667	- 534	22 728	23 531	23 120	- 803	87.5	88.4	88.0	- 0.9	27.3	26.9	27.1	0.4
SE	2 628	3 024	2 822	- 396	21 940	23 091	22 515	- 1 151	83.2	84.5	83.9	- 1.3	24.5	21.8	23.1	2.7
	2 628 3 024 2 822 – Source: Eurostat, SES (earn_ses18_20), 2018 EL, 2014			Source: Eurostat, EU-SILC (il	c_di03), 2019			Source: Eurostat, EU-SI	LC (ilc_li02), 201	19		Source: Eurostat calcula	itions, EU	-SILC, 2019		

# Table 14. Indicators included in the domain of money, by EU Member State

# Table 15. Indicators included in the domain of knowledge, by EU Member State

		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			Segreg	ation						
MS	Gradu	uates of tertiary	v education (%, 1	5+)	People partici	oating in formal training	or non-formal e (%, 15+)	ducation and	Tertiary stud welfare, hur	dents in the field nanities and art	ls of education, l (tertiary studen	health and ts) (%, 15+)
	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap
EU	25.6	24.6	25.1	1.0	17.4	16.3	16.9	1.1	42.9	20.8	32.7	22.1
BE	33.9	29.5	31.7	4.4	15.1	14.7	14.9	0.4	53.9	29.8	43.2	24.1
BG	26.2	18.9	22.7	7.3	8.3	8.8	8.5	- 0.5	36.2	19.4	28.5	16.8
CZ	19.5	18.8	19.2	0.7	15.2	14.8	15.0	0.4	44.4	19.5	33.7	24.9
DK	34.0	27.6	30.8	6.4	36.0	27.9	31.9	8.1	52.5	26.6	41.2	25.9
DE	21.1	29.0	25.0	- 7.9	13.7	14.8	14.3	- 1.1	41.0	17.4	28.9	23.6
EE	44.7	27.5	36.4	17.2	22.9	20.7	21.9	2.2	42.8	15.9	31.7	26.9
IE	39.6	34.3	37.0	5.3	21.4	18.8	20.1	2.6	48.9	23.3	36.6	25.6
EL	23.6	23.6	23.6	0.0	11.3	11.3	11.3	0.0	36.4	15.7	25.8	20.7
ES	31.1	29.7	30.4	1.4	17.3	16.3	16.8	1.0	49.2	25.0	38.0	24.2
FR	31.0	28.6	29.9	2.4	28.2	23.3	25.8	4.9	41.4	21.2	32.2	20.2
HR	21.8	18.8	20.4	3.0	10.5	10.1	10.3	0.4	34.9	14.9	26.3	20.0
IT	16.2	13.6	15.0	2.6	13.0	12.9	12.9	0.1	44.7	23.7	35.3	21.0
CY	38.6	31.5	35.2	7.1	12.7	11.7	12.2	1.0	43.5	16.3	30.7	27.2
LV	37.4	25.3	31.7	12.1	15.2	13.0	14.1	2.2	39.8	13.4	28.7	26.4
LT	37.8	29.1	33.8	8.7	13.9	13.4	13.6	0.5	42.3	15.9	30.8	26.4
LU	37.1	37.6	37.3	- 0.5	24.1	24.9	24.5	- 0.8	38.8	21.2	30.3	17.6
HU	23.2	18.9	21.2	4.3	13.0	13.1	13.0	- 0.1	41.1	19.3	31.1	21.8
MT	23.9	21.3	22.6	2.6	16.7	15.0	15.8	1.7	50.1	26.5	39.7	23.6
NL	31.7	33.6	32.6	- 1.9	25.4	24.8	25.1	0.6	37.7	19.4	29.0	18.3
AT	26.5	30.2	28.3	- 3.7	19.6	17.4	18.5	2.2	40.6	21.4	31.5	19.2
PL	28.4	21.6	25.1	6.8	11.4	11.2	11.3	0.2	39.5	19.1	31.2	20.4
PT	22.2	16.5	19.6	5.7	15.4	16.2	15.8	- 0.8	39.0	18.6	29.5	20.4
RO	14.1	13.6	13.8	0.5	8.4	9.0	8.7	- 0.6	33.1	17.9	26.1	15.2
SI	29.2	22.7	26.0	6.5	17.2	15.3	16.2	1.9	42.6	17.3	31.9	25.3
SK	23.2	19.2	21.2	4.0	10.9	10.7	10.8	0.2	49.3	25.7	39.6	23.6
FI	39.9	31.3	35.7	8.6	36.2	29.1	32.6	7.1	51.2	18.1	35.6	33.1
SE	42.8	30.8	36.7	12.0	45.8	31.6	38.6	14.2	53.9	29.7	44.3	24.2
	Source: Authors' calculatio	ons, Eurostat, EL	J-LFS, 2019		Source: Authors' calculat	ions, Eurostat, El	J-LFS, 2019		Source: Eurostat, educati BG, EE, EL, LT, RC	on statistics (edu ), FI, ED5 – short-o	c_uoe_enrt03), 2 cycle tertiary edu	018 lication n/a

				Care ad	ctivities							Social a	ctivities			
MS	People cari or grand dis	ng for and ec dchildren, eld abilities, ever	lucating the erly or peo ry day (%, 1	eir children ple with 8+)	People cook	ng and/or o day (%	doing housev 6, 18+)	work, every	Workers o activities o several	doing sportir outside their l times a week	ng, cultural o home, at lea : (%, 15+, em	or leisure ast daily or aployed)	Workers in activities	volved in vo , at least on emplo	oluntary or c ce a month oyed)	haritable (%, 15+,
	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap
EU	37.0	24.6	31.0	12.4	77.9	31.6	55.6	46.3	26.6	31.3	29.0	- 4.7	12.0	11.4	11.7	0.6
BE	43.1	28.7	36.1	14.4	81.2	32.5	57.5	48.7	32.3	38.7	35.7	- 6.4	9.5	9.9	9.7	- 0.4
BG	38.5	25.8	32.4	12.7	72.9	13.0	44.1	59.9	11.7	19.5	15.6	- 7.8	2.9	2.4	2.7	0.5
CZ	33.2	19.8	26.7	13.4	67.4	15.8	42.3	51.6	22.6	27.8	25.2	- 5.2	12.3	11.3	11.8	1.0
DK	25.0	21.3	23.2	3.7	82.3	55.0	68.9	27.3	52.8	50.5	51.6	2.3	17.3	20.3	18.9	- 3.0
DE	25.5	18.7	22.2	6.8	72.3	29.1	51.3	43.2	21.8	25.2	23.5	- 3.4	15.8	13.3	14.5	2.5
EE	34.6	31.0	32.9	3.6	75.8	47.4	62.8	28.4	33.5	38.4	35.7	- 4.9	12.5	11.4	12.0	1.1
IE	44.1	30.5	37.5	13.6	88.7	48.0	68.9	40.7	40.4	48.4	44.6	- 8.0	15.4	17.9	16.7	- 2.5
EL	38.2	20.2	29.6	18.0	85.3	16.0	52.0	69.3	11.0	17.6	14.7	- 6.6	6.6	5.7	6.1	0.9
ES	39.8	27.7	33.9	12.1	84.5	41.9	63.8	42.6	39.3	45.5	42.6	- 6.2	5.7	3.8	4.7	1.9
FR	45.6	29.4	37.9	16.2	79.6	35.6	58.6	44.0	32.1	39.0	35.6	- 6.9	12.3	14.1	13.2	- 1.8
HR	34.9	21.3	28.4	13.6	62.4	11.9	38.2	50.5	12.5	19.1	15.9	- 6.6	10.8	10.3	10.5	0.5
IT	34.1	24.0	29.3	10.1	80.9	19.7	51.6	61.2	23.6	28.2	26.1	- 4.6	12.8	10.8	11.7	2.0
CY	50.1	34.1	42.4	16.0	80.8	26.6	54.8	54.2	9.7	21.7	15.8	- 12.0	8.8	8.0	8.4	0.8
LV	39.9	38.0	39.0	1.9	81.7	56.6	70.5	25.1	17.4	22.6	19.9	- 5.2	8.5	7.4	7.9	1.1
LT	41.3	24.2	33.6	17.1	79.0	28.8	56.4	50.2	13.5	17.9	15.5	- 4.4	5.2	4.4	4.9	0.8
LU	41.5	35.6	38.5	5.9	78.3	38.6	58.5	39.7	36.8	45.8	41.5	- 9.0	10.4	22.2	16.5	- 11.8
HU	30.1	24.5	27.5	5.6	55.8	13.8	36.3	42.0	16.6	12.5	14.6	4.1	11.3	8.7	10.0	2.6
MT	42.3	24.9	33.7	17.4	80.5	37.3	59.1	43.2	25.4	26.2	25.9	- 0.8	10.0	10.7	10.4	- 0.7
NL	38.5	28.2	33.5	10.3	81.4	47.4	64.7	34.0	56.0	58.3	57.2	- 2.3	22.3	22.3	22.3	0.0
AT	35.6	20.8	28.4	14.8	83.3	28.4	56.8	54.9	24.6	25.3	24.9	- 0.7	11.6	14.8	13.1	- 3.2
PL	47.0	25.0	36.5	22.0	81.7	33.5	58.7	48.2	16.9	21.3	19.0	- 4.4	6.5	4.7	5.7	1.8
PT	36.5	28.1	32.5	8.4	78.1	18.8	50.4	59.3	10.3	19.6	14.7	- 9.3	6.9	5.1	6.1	1.8
RO	45.8	25.0	35.8	20.8	75.3	40.6	58.5	34.7	6.3	8.4	7.4	- 2.1	6.1	7.6	6.9	- 1.5
SI	35.2	27.5	31.4	7.7	81.0	27.5	54.7	53.5	41.4	42.7	42.0	- 1.3	18.0	21.5	19.8	- 3.5
SK	35.3	19.2	27.5	16.1	59.5	15.7	38.6	43.8	10.6	19.9	15.2	- 9.3	8.6	6.3	7.4	2.3
FI	36.3	26.3	31.4	10.0	85.7	57.2	71.8	28.5	60.1	44.5	52.4	15.6	14.9	15.9	15.4	- 1.0
SE	29.5	26.7	28.1	2.8	73.6	56.1	64.9	17.5	51.0	55.0	53.1	- 4.0	27.2	29.8	28.5	- 2.6
	Source: Authors' cal	culations, Euro	ofound, EQL	S, 2016	Source: Authors' calc	ulations, Eur	rofound, EQL	S, 2016	Source: Authors' cal	culations, Eur	ofound, EWC	S, 2015	Source: Authors' calc	ulations, Eur	ofound, EWC	S, 2015

# Table 16. Indicators included in the domain of time, by EU Member State

# **Table 17.** Indicators included in the domain of power, by EU Member State

	Political						Econo	omic				So	cial			
MS	Share of m	iinisters (%)	Share of n parlian	nembers of nent (%)	Share of n regional as	nembers of semblies (%)	Share o of board quoted superviso board of	f members ls in largest companies, ory board or directors (%)	Share of n central	nembers of bank (%)	Share of r of public fundir	nembers research ıg (%)	Share o members owned bro organisa	f board in publicly oadcasting tions (%)	Share of n of highest making bo national Oly organisat	nembers decision- dy of the mpic sport ions (%)
	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men	Women	Men
EU	30.7	69.3	31.5	68.5	29.3	70.7	27.7	72.3	23.1	76.9	38.1	61.9	36.4	63.6	16.2	83.8
BE	27.9	72.1	41.3	58.7	41.7	58.3	34.7	65.3	20.0	80.0	47.5	52.5	31.6	68.4	11.8	88.2
BG	39.1	60.9	26.5	73.5	27.2	72.8	15.9	84.1	57.1	42.9	41.9	58.1	33.3	66.7	22.1	77.9
CZ	24.6	75.4	20.8	79.2	21.0	79.0	16.9	83.1	0.0	100.0	24.1	75.9	14.8	85.2	7.0	93.0
DK	37.8	62.2	38.2	61.8	38.2	61.8	31.0	69.0	24.7	75.3	41.8	58.2	48.3	51.7	18.8	81.2
DE	40.2	59.8	31.6	68.4	30.7	69.3	34.7	65.3	31.3	68.8	39.5	60.5	33.3	66.7	15.3	84.7
EE	21.1	78.9	28.8	71.2	28.6	71.4	8.5	91.5	21.9	78.1	14.3	85.7	37.0	63.0	11.0	89.0
IE	21.5	78.5	24.8	75.2	25.5	74.5	23.4	76.6	33.3	66.7	46.2	53.8	50.0	50.0	20.3	79.7
EL	15.5	84.5	20.0	80.0	21.3	78.7	10.8	89.2	11.1	88.9	12.5	87.5	17.6	82.4	9.9	90.1
ES	46.5	53.5	40.8	59.2	46.7	53.3	25.8	74.2	46.7	53.3	48.6	51.4	45.5	54.5	22.2	77.8
FR	49.0	51.0	37.2	62.8	48.1	51.9	44.6	55.4	45.5	54.5	39.0	61.0	46.4	53.6	32.3	67.7
HR	23.6	76.4	21.7	78.3	28.1	71.9	23.2	76.8	16.0	84.0	28.6	71.4	57.1	42.9	9.5	90.5
IT	26.7	73.3	35.1	64.9	21.1	78.9	36.6	63.4	22.6	77.4	30.4	69.6	30.0	70.0	13.9	86.1
CY	16.0	84.0	18.9	81.1	15.3	84.7	10.4	89.6	13.0	87.0	24.2	75.8	25.9	74.1	6.6	93.4
LV	25.1	74.9	26.8	73.2	23.4	76.6	29.0	71.0	26.7	73.3	37.9	62.1	66.7	33.3	23.5	76.5
LT	29.8	70.2	23.0	77.0	29.8	70.2	12.6	87.4	15.4	84.6	37.0	63.0	33.3	66.7	16.3	83.7
LU	27.1	72.9	28.2	71.8	25.9	74.1	14.6	85.4	22.2	77.8	51.9	48.1	44.4	55.6	18.3	81.7
HU	10.1	89.9	12.0	88.0	12.7	87.3	13.5	86.5	11.1	88.9	0.0	100.0	28.6	71.4	9.7	90.3
MT	9.9	90.1	14.1	85.9	26.3	73.7	9.6	90.4	18.6	81.4	43.2	56.8	21.1	78.9	7.7	92.3
NL	44.4	55.6	34.1	65.9	33.1	66.9	32.9	67.1	26.7	73.3	33.3	66.7	32.4	67.6	26.5	73.5
AT	45.2	54.8	37.7	62.3	32.4	67.6	28.3	71.7	0.0	100.0	28.7	71.3	40.0	60.0	13.8	86.2
PL	18.3	81.7	26.8	73.2	27.2	72.8	21.7	78.3	16.0	84.0	26.2	73.8	0.0	100.0	3.3	96.7
PT	36.3	63.7	37.7	62.3	28.6	71.4	23.2	76.8	29.4	70.6	40.0	60.0	33.3	66.7	10.8	89.2
RO	25.8	/4.2	19./	80.3	18.4	81.6	11.9	88.1	/.4	92.6	44.9	55.1	27.3	/2./	11.0	89.0
SI	34.2	65.8	22.6	77.4	32.3	67.7	25.1	74.9	20.0	80.0	42.9	57.1	36.4	63.6	4.7	95.3
SK ==	22.8	//.2	21.2	/8.8	14.1	85.9	26.9	/3.1	0.0	100.0	15.4	84.6	22.2	//.8	8.3	91./
FI	48.6	51.4	44.3	55.8	45.7	54.3	34.4	65.6	27.8	72.2	42.5	57.5	42.9	57.1	29.1	70.9
SE	52.2	47.8	47.1	52.9	47.5	52.5	37.2	62.8	33.3	66.7	56.9	43.1	57.0	43.0	48.4	51.6
	Source: Authors' calci EIGE, Gender Database, WI average, 2018 National gove (all ministers ministers +se ministers)	ulations, Statistics MID (3-year 3-2019–2020) ernments junior nior	Source: Authors' ca EIGE, Geno Statistics D WMID (3-y average, 2 2020) National pa (both hous	alculations, der Database, ear 018–2019– arliaments es)	Source: Authors' calc EIGE, Gende Database, W average, 201 2020). BG, EE, IE, C\ MT, SI: local I (2020)	ulations, r Statistics MID (3-year 8–2019– /, LT, LU, evel is used	Source: Authors' ca EIGE, Gena Database, average, 2 2020)	alculations, der Statistics WMID (3-year 018–2019–	Source: Authors' ca EIGE, Genc Database, <sup>1</sup> (3-year ave 2018–2019	lculations, ler Statistics MMID rage, -2020)	Source: Authors' calc EIGE, Gende Database, W average, 201 2020). IT, RO: break series (only 2	ulations, r Statistics MID (3-year 8–2019– in time 2018)	Source: Authors' cald EIGE, Gende Database, W average, 201 2020)	culations, er Statistics 'MID (3-year  8–2019–	Source: Authors' calcı EIGE, Gender Database, Wi average, 2018 2020)	ulations, Statistics MID (3-year 3–2019–

	Status											Beha	viour							Acc	ess							
MS	Self-perc or ver	eived y goo	health, d (%, 1	good 6+)	Life absolu	expect te valu (year	tancy in ie at bii s)	rth	Healtl absolut	hy life e valu (year	years i le at bi s)	in rth	Popu not sm invol <sup>y</sup> drin	lation oke ar /ed in king (9	who d id are i harmfi %, 16+)	o not ul	Pop physica or cons vege	ulatior al activ uming tables	n doing vities a fruits (%, 16-	nd/ and ŀ)	Popu unmet n exami	lation leeds f nation	withou for mea (%, 16	it dical (+)	Popu unmet exami	lation needs nation	withou for de i (%, 16	ut ntal 5+)
	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap	Women	Men	Total	Gap
EU	66.2	71.1	68.5	-4.9	84.0	78.5	81.3	5.5	65.1	64.2	64.6	0.9	72.4	52.0	62.6	20.4	35.4	39.5	37.3	-4.1	96.7	97.2	96.9	-0.5	95.8	96.2	96.0	-0.4
BE	71.8	76.3	74.0	-4.5	84.3	79.8	82.1	4.5	62.8	62.1	62.5	0.7	68.3	50.1	59.5	18.2	29.5	36.4	32.9	-6.9	97.4	97.9	97.7	-0.5	94.9	94.4	94.7	0.5
BG	63.0	71.5	67.1	-8.5	78.8	71.6	75.1	7.2	68.4	64.4	66.4	4.0	67.5	46.7	57.9	20.8	9.4	18.2	13.5	-8.8	97.7	97.6	97.6	0.1	97.1	97.6	97.4	-0.5
CZ	60.5	63.9	61.9	-3.4	82.2	76.4	79.3	5.8	62.6	61.7	62.2	0.9	72.7	54.2	63.8	18.5	30.1	37.5	33.6	-7.4	97.5	97.8	97.6	-0.3	97.4	97.4	97.4	0.0
DK	67.3	72.0	69.6	-4.7	83.5	79.5	81.5	4.0	58.8	59.0	58.9	-0.2	60.7	43.7	52.3	17.0	68.2	59.1	63.6	9.1	92.3	91.4	91.8	0.9	92.7	93.9	93.3	-1.2
DE	64.6	66.4	65.5	-1.8	83.7	79.0	81.3	4.7	67.1	65.4	66.3	1.7	63.3	46.6	55.1	16.7	50.8	53.1	51.9	-2.3	99.3	99.2	99.3	0.1	98.9	99.0	99.0	-0.1
EE	54.2	59.1	56.5	-4.9	83.0	74.5	79.0	8.5	57.7	53.9	55.8	3.8	74.0	43.2	58.2	30.8	35.4	35.8	35.6	-0.4	80.1	85.2	82.5	-5.1	94.6	95.0	94.8	-0.4
IE	83.8	84.1	83.9	-0.3	84.7	80.8	82.8	3.9	70.5	68.6	69.6	1.9	65.8	46.5	56.3	19.3	48.4	47.2	47.8	1.2	97.4	98.2	97.8	-0.8	96.5	97.0	96.8	-0.5
EL	77.2	81.2	79.1	-4.0	84.2	79.2	81.7	5.0	66.4	65.6	66.0	0.8	70.4	54.2	62.8	16.2	19.8	24.7	22.2	-4.9	89.4	92.2	90.7	-2.8	90.0	91.0	90.5	-1.0
ES	72.7	77.7	75.2	-5.0	86.7	81.1	84.0	5.6	70.4	69.4	69.9	1.0	75.9	61.6	68.9	14.3	36.1	46.0	40.9	-9.9	99.6	99.7	99.7	-0.1	93.9	94.2	94.0	-0.3
FR	64.9	68.5	66.6	-3.6	85.9	79.9	83.0	6.0	64.6	63.7	64.2	0.9	69.7	54.2	62.2	15.5	32.0	38.7	35.2	-6.7	97.0	96.7	96.9	0.3	94.9	95.3	95.1	-0.4
HR	58.2	62.6	60.3	-4.4	81.6	75.5	78.6	6.1	58.5	56.4	57.5	2.1	72.5	57.2	65.3	15.3	21.1	28.0	24.4	-6.9	95.9	95.5	95.8	0.4	98.4	97.3	97.8	1.1
IT	69.9	76.0	72.8	-6.1	85.8	81.4	83.7	4.4	68.6	68.1	68.4	0.5	79.9	65.6	73.1	14.3	24.5	30.4	27.3	-5.9	97.7	98.4	98.0	-0.7	96.5	97.3	96.9	-0.8
CY	76.5	79.1	77.7	-2.6	84.4	80.3	82.3	4.1	63.0	62.1	62.6	0.9	81.4	53.9	68.4	27.5	33.0	38.6	35.7	-5.6	98.5	99.1	98.8	-0.6	94.9	94.7	94.8	0.2
LV	42.8	52.5	47.1	-9.7	80.1	70.9	75.7	9.2	54.1	52.2	53.2	1.9	76.4	43.5	61.9	32.9	28.7	34.0	31.1	-5.3	92.0	92.2	92.1	-0.2	86.7	86.2	86.5	0.5
LT	42.4	51.9	46.1	-9.5	81.2	71.6	76.5	9.6	59.1	56.0	57.6	3.1	81.5	45.0	65.0	36.5	27.6	33.6	30.3	-6.0	97.7	98.3	98.0	-0.6	95.7	97.0	96.3	-1.3
LU	70.1	73.4	71.7	-3.3	85.2	80.2	82.7	5.0	61.9	63.2	62.6	-1.3	65.1	45.6	55.3	19.5	48.0	51.5	49.7	-3.5	99.4	98.8	99.1	0.6	99.1	99.1	99.1	0.0
HU	54.8	62.1	58.2	-7.3	79.7	73.1	76.5	6.6	62.8	60.7	61.8	2.1	75.7	59.4	68.1	16.3	32.7	37.7	35.1	-5.0	93.7	93.3	93.5	0.4	96.7	97.1	96.9	-0.4
MT	71.9	76.0	74.0	-4.1	84.6	81.2	82.9	3.4	73.5	72.9	73.2	0.6	70.0	56.3	63.2	13.7	42.7	45.1	43.9	-2.4	99.6	99.6	99.6	0.0	98.7	98.9	98.8	-0.2
NL	72.5	77.1	74.8	-4.6	83.7	80.6	82.2	3.1	59.4	62.5	61.0	-3.1	72.2	58.4	65.4	13.8	37.0	41.0	38.9	-4.0	99.1	98.5	98.8	0.6	99.4	99.2	99.3	0.2
AT	70.5	72.0	71.2	-1.5	84.2	79.7	82.0	4.5	58.0	56.7	57.4	1.3	65.3	53.3	59.4	12.0	51.5	54.7	53.1	-3.2	99.3	99.4	99.3	-0.1	98.9	98.8	98.8	0.1
PL	57.2	63.0	59.8	-5.8	81.9	74.1	78.0	7.8	64.1	60.9	62.5	3.2	74.5	51.9	64.1	22.6	23.4	26.2	24.7	-2.8	91.4	91.6	91.5	-0.2	96.6	96.6	96.6	0.0
PT	45.3	55.4	50.0	-10.1	84.8	78.7	81.9	6.1	57.8	60.6	59.2	-2.8	84.5	62.6	74.3	21.9	29.7	35.0	32.2	-5.3	97.0	97.7	97.3	-0.7	86.5	87.4	86.9	-0.9
RO	66.8	75.9	71.2	-9.1	79.5	71.9	75.6	7.6	60.6	59.9	60.3	0.7	73.4	36.2	55.4	37.2	7.4	16.3	11.7	-8.9	91.8	94.5	93.1	-2.7	92.8	93.6	93.2	-0.8
SI	63.7	69.7	66.6	-6.0	84.5	78.7	81.6	5.8	61.2	60.8	61.0	0.4	72.2	54.0	63.3	18.2	37.0	45.6	41.3	-8.6	96.8	96.6	96.7	0.2	95.5	95.4	95.4	0.1
SK	61.2	69.2	65.1	-8.0	81.2	74.3	77.8	6.9	56.3	56.0	56.2	0.3	75.6	53.2	64.8	22.4	33.0	39.7	36.2	-6.7	93.7	94.2	94.0	-0.5	95.8	95.9	95.9	-0.1
FI	67.7	68.9	68.3	-1.2	84.8	79.3	82.1	5.5	54.8	57.7	56.3	-2.9	69.9	45.7	58.4	24.2	60.1	56.9	58.6	3.2	93.3	95.6	94.5	-2.3	93.5	93.8	93.6	-0.3
SE	73.1	78.8	76.0	-5.7	84.8	81.5	83.2	3.3	72.7	73.8	73.3	-1.1	76.3	61.3	68.8	15.0	58.0	55.8	56.9	2.2	95.1	96.2	95.7	-1.1	97.6	97.3	97.4	0.3
	Source: Eurostat, silc_01), 2	EU-SII 019	LC, hlth		Source: Eurostat, ([hlth_hly	Morta e), 201	lity data 9		Source: Eurostat, ([hlth_hly BE: break	Morta e), 201 in tim	lity dat 9 e serie	a	Source: Eurostat' EHIS, 201 FR, NL: E EU: Non-	s calcu 4 GE est weight	lations, imatior ed aver	n rage	Source: Eurostat' EHIS, 201 BE, NL: E EU: Non-'	s calcu 4 IGE est weight	lations, timation ed aver	n age	Source: Eurostat, silc_08), 2	EU-SIL 2019	.C (hlth	_	Source: Eurostat, silc_09), 2	EU-SIL 2019	_C (hlth	)_ _

# Table 18. Indicators included in the domain of health, by EU Member State

# Annex 4. Indicators of health

 Table 19. Self-perceived health (very good and good) by type of intersecting inequalities and groups, EU (%), different years

Group type and source	Groups	Women/girls	Men/boys
	Single	50.2	61.4
Type of family (16+)	Lone parents	71.0	75.1
Authors' calculations based on EU-SILC microdata, 2019	Couple without children	58.4	57.8
	Couple with children	83.3	83.2
	11–13–15	30.1	39.2
Age (11–13–15) (1)	16-24	91.6	93.6
HBSC, 2017–2018 Age (16+)	25-49	82.1	84.1
Authors' calculations based on EU-SILC microdata, 2019	50-64	60.6	62.9
	65+	36.9	42.5
	Low	50.5	62.1
Education level (16+) Authors' calculations based on EU-SILC microdata, 2019	Medium	68.0	70.6
	High	80.7	79.8
	Native born	65.4	70.4
Country of birth (16+)	Foreign born	68.5	72.2
Authors' calculations based on EU-SILC microdata, 2019	EU born	70.8	74.4
	Non-EU born	71.5	75.7
	EU-27 countries except reporting country	75.6	76.9
Citizenship (16+) Eurostat, EU-SILC (hlth silc 24) 2019	Non-EU-27 countries nor reporting country	73.5	76.0
	Reporting country	65.7	70.7

Group type and source	Groups	Women/girls	Men/boys
Disability status (16+)	With disabilities	18.9	21.1
Authors' calculations based on EU-SILC microdata, 2019	Without disabilities	82.7	84.6
	First quintile	55.5	61.9
	Second quintile	60.0	64.6
Income (16+) Eurostat, EU-SILC (blth_silc_10), 2019	Third quintile	66.9	71.1
	Fourth quintile	72.5	75.5
	Fifth quintile	78.6	80.6
	Employed persons	79.9	82.2
	Employees	79.7	82.2
	Employed persons except employees	81.7	82.2
Labour status (16+)	Not employed persons	54.5	55.6
	Unemployed persons	66.5	67.6
	Retired persons	39.9	44.5
	Other inactive persons	67.3	72.9
	Cities	68.0	72.8
Degree of urbanisation (16+) Eurostat ELL SILC (bltb. silc. 01), 2019	Towns and suburbs	67.1	72.1
	Rural areas	63.0	67.8
	Lesbian/gay	82.7	85.9
Respondent category (15+)	Bisexual	75.5	83.1
Authors' calculations based on LGBT II FRA survey, 2019	Trans	64	.9
	Intersex	67	.0

Group type and source	Groups	Women/girls	Men/boys
	Turkey	79.0	80.0
	North Africa	72.0	74.0
	Sub-Saharan Africa	71.0	82.0
Immigrants and descendants of immigrants (²) FRA's Second European Union Minorities and Discrimination Survey (EU-	South Asia and Asia	76.0	78.0
MIDIS II), 2016	Recent immigrants from other non-EU/non-European Free Trade Association (EFTA) countries	90.0	94.0
	Russian minorities	47.0	56.0
	Roma	66.0	71.0

NB:

(1) EU: unweighted average, CY n/a. 'Response: very good'.

(2) EU not available; data collected in only some EU Member States (and the UK).

Turkey (in six EU Member States – BE, DK, DE, NL, AT, SE).

North Africa (in five EU Member States - BE, ES, FR, IT, NL).

Sub-Saharan Africa (in 11 EU Member States + the UK –DK, DE, IE, FR, IT, LU, MT, AT, PT, FI, SE).

South Asia and Asia (in three EU Member States + the UK – EL, IT, CY).

Other non-EU/non-European Free Trade Association (EFTA) countries (in two EU Member States – PL, SI).

Russian minorities (in three EU Member States – EE, LV, LT).

Roma (in nine EU Member States – BG, CZ, EL, ES, HR, HU, PT, RO, SK).

# **Table 20.** Excess mortality in 2020–2021, compared with 2016–2019, by sex and EU Member State (%, overall population)

		Excess	s mortality	
Member State	Women	Men	Gap	Last data available in 2021 (¹)
CZ	22.2	29.6	- 7.4	W19
PL	22.4	25.6	- 3.2	W23
SK	22.5	24.9	- 2.4	W21
BG	18.5	22.6	- 4.1	W23
IT	15.6	19.5	- 3.9	W13
RO	15.2	19.4	- 4.2	W16
SI	17.6	18.4	- 0.8	W20
ES	16.0	17.7	- 1.7	W22
MT	16.0	17.6	- 1.6	W19
EU*	13.6	16.6	- 3.0	W13 (all Member States)
NL	8.9	15.8	- 6.9	W21
PT	15.8	14.9	0.9	W22
HU	14.0	14.8	- 0.8	W20
AT	8.5	14.2	- 5.7	W20
CY	14.3	13.4	0.9	W18
BE	11.2	13.3	- 2.1	W23
LT	11.7	12.8	- 1.1	W23
HR	10.3	12.6	- 2.3	W17
FR	10.8	12.6	- 1.8	W22
LU	9.3	11.5	- 2.2	W17
SE	3.5	9.6	- 6.1	W23
EE	8.1	9.0	- 0.9	W23
EL	9.2	9.0	0.2	W17
DE	5.0	8.8	- 3.8	W23
LV	7.3	5.9	1.4	W22
DK	0.8	3.6	- 2.8	W23
FI	1.4	3.1	- 1.7	W23

Source: EIGE's elaboration, based on deaths by week and sex [demo\_r\_mwk\_ts], extracted on 25 June 2021.

NB:

Excess mortality indicator is expressed as a percentage of additional deaths in a week (average of 2020–2021) compared with a baseline period.

The baseline is given by average weekly deaths for 2016–2019.

The higher the value, the more additional deaths have occurred, compared with the baseline.

2021: provisional data.

2020: provisional data, except for BG, LV, LT, LU, NL, RO, FI, SE.

2019: provisional data for RO.

IE: 2016–2019 n/a.

(1) Last week in 2021 for which data is available. EU calculated using W13, available for all Member States.

(\*) EU: only 26 Member States.

## **GETTING IN TOUCH WITH THE EU**

### **IN PERSON**

All over the European Union there are hundreds of Europe Direct information centres. You can find the address of the centre nearest you at: https://europa.eu/european-union/contact\_en

#### ON THE PHONE OR BY EMAIL

Europe Direct is a service that answers your questions about the European Union.

You can contact this service:

- by freephone: 00 800 6 7 8 9 10 11 (certain operators may charge for these calls),
- at the following standard number: +32 22999696, or
- by email via: https://europa.eu/european-union/contact\_en

## FINDING INFORMATION ABOUT THE EU

### ONLINE

Information about the European Union in all the official languages of the EU is available on the Europa website at: https://europa.eu/european-union/index\_en

### **EU PUBLICATIONS**

You can download or order free and priced EU publications from: https://publications.europa.eu/en/ publications. Multiple copies of free publications may be obtained by contacting Europe Direct or your local information centre (see https://europa.eu/european-union/contact\_en).

## EU LAW AND RELATED DOCUMENTS

For access to legal information from the EU, including all EU law since 1952 in all the official language versions, go to EUR-Lex at: http://eur-lex.europa.eu

### **OPEN DATA FROM THE EU**

The EU Open Data Portal (http://data.europa.eu/euodp/en) provides access to datasets from the EU. Data can be downloaded and reused for free, for both commercial and non-commercial purposes.



www.eige.europa.eu

